


bon
;Y:":“
2 i
) S
’iﬂﬂ),«;;,;%:r
o




In 2001, |
“through our
dedication,

- experience

- .and resources,
‘we built a better
company for our

- shareholders
‘and employees.




~ .-méafi li iy and

By ninimizing

- maxim zing
the p@s_em al of
e Qur core bUSIneSSES;

- we've positioned

- ourselves for consistent
. _Iong-term growth.

- Now, it seems, the
.sky Is our only limit.
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This is a

small book with
a big story to tell
and even bigger
numbers to show.




Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. (“Impac” or “the
Company”) is a mortgage Real Estate Investment

Trust "REIT” which operates three businesses: (1) the
Long-Term Investment Operations, (2) the Mortgage
Operations, and (3) the Warehouse Lending Operations.
The Long-Term Investment Operations invests primarily
in non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans. The Mortgage



Operations acquires, originates, sells and securitizes
primarily non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans, and

the Warehouse Lending Operations provides short-term
financing to originators of mortgage loans. The Company
is organized as a REIT for tax purposes, which allows

it generally to pass through earnings to stockholders
without federal income tax at the corporate level.
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We've

expanded .. m




fn 2001, we took steps to
maximize the potential of our
core businesses: the Long-Term
Investment Operations, the
Mortgage Operations, and the
Warehouse Lending Operations.
As the numbers show, we
emerged a stronger and more
profitable organization.

Our Long-Term Investment
Operations invests primarily

in non-conforming Alt-A
mortgage loans and generates
income based on the difference
between the interest it earns
on its investment portfolio

and the expenses associated
with its financing.
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Over the past year, our Long-Term Investment Operations increased
its mortgage acquisitions by 232 percent. It acquired $1.5 billion
of primarily adjustable-rate non-conforming Alt-A mortgages from
our Mortgage Operations in 2001 as compared to $450.7 million
acquired during the previous year which resulted in the balance
sheet growing to an all time high of $2.9 billion at year end.

The Long-Term Investment Operations is focused on providing con-
sistent and reliable cash flows in changing interest rate environments.
Our non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans have historically had low
annualized loss rates with prepayment penalty features mitigating

the effect of early refinancing activity. Non-conforming Alt-A mortgage
loans consist primarily of first lien mortgage loans made to borrowers
whose credit.is generally within Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac guidelines,
but have loan characteristics, such as lack of documentation or
verifications, which make them ineligible under their guidelines.

Our Mortgage Operations generates income by securitizing and
selling primarily non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans to permanent
investors, including our Long-Term Investment Operations. it also
earns revenues from fees associated with mortgage servicing rights,
master service agreements, and interest income earned from loans
held-for-sale.
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With net earnings up $12.8 million and a 52 percent increase in
loan production over the previous year, our Mortgage Operations
had an outstanding year in 2001. We saw the continued reduction
in our per loan acquisition and origination costs, as a result of the
increased efficiency of our centralized operations and technology
initiatives. We also benefited from the expansion of our wholesale
lending business. Wholesale originations in 2001 were 25% of
overall loan production as compared to 13% in 2000. Wholesale
originations reduce the overall weighted average premium we pay for
mortgage loans and increase profitability upon the subsequent sale.

Our Warehouse Lending Operations provides short-term financing
to loan originators. Through this operation, we fund mortgage
loans from their closing date until they are sold to pre-approved
investors. A consistent contributor to the Company’s overall
earnings, again this year the Warehouse Lending Operation's
performance remained strong. Thanks to our automation initiatives
completed during the year, it increased its average finance
receivables to non-affiliates by 53% in 2001 -$205.5 miilion

as compared to $134.7 million in 2000.




impac Martgage Holdings, lnc

We've

MINIMIZED our

volatility
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QOver the past year, we have made
significant efforts to minimize risk
in order to maximize consistency
of earnings and dividends.
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minimized

To create a more consistent and reliable ifcome stream from
our Long-Term Investment Operations, we finance our long term
borrowings with collateralized mortgage obligations (CMQ's).

In addition, we have acquired various financial instruments

to hedge and protect our net interest margins against changes
in short term interest rates. As a result of this hedging policy,
we have given up some of the potential gain from further rate
reductions in order to generate more consistent earnings

in various rising interest rate scenarios.
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To mitigate the effect of early payoffs or runoff aggravated by
declining interest rates, we continue to acquire adjustable rate
non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans with prepayment penalty

features. By year-end 2001, 54% of our CMO portfolio had

prepayment penalties as compared to 36% at year end 2000,
Furthermore, with as much as 65% of 2001 loan production
having prepayment penalties in conjunction with similar trends
for 2002, we expect continued increases in the percentage of
loans in our investment portfolio with prepayment penalties.
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Minimizing credit risk has been a key objective for us in 2001.
Impac’s primary defense against credit loss is in its strategy to invest
in non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans that were acquired from, or
originated by, our Mortgage Operations and which have shown superior
historical performance. At year end 2001, the Company’s investment
portfolio was approximately 95% Alt-A credit with an average loan size
of approximately $179,000 and an average loan to value of 83%.

Furthermore, in light of the uncertainty in the economic environment,
over the past year we felt it was prudent to increase our allowance for
loan fosses to $11.7 million or 43 basis points of the portfolio as

compared to $5.1 million or 28 basis points of the portfolic in 2C00.

The healthy credit characteristics of Impac's portfolio and the substan-
tial increase in provision for loan losses should insulate the Company
from significant credit guality erosion.
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During 2001, Impac once again proved itself to
be a low cost operation that can take advantage
of market opportunities.

Through its centralized operating platform, the
Company can react quickly to changing market
conditions and competitive environments with

- minimal increases of resources and personnel,
As a result, we have developed an impressive
track record for being able to adjust product mix
to take advantage of current market conditions
and to react to the demands of our customers.
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To accomplish this not only requires keen cbservation, deep
experience, and the ability to move quickly, but it alsoc requires
the scalability, quality control and cost efficiencies afforded

us by our streamlined centralized operations.

During 2001, we continued to implement technology initiatives

to increase efficiencies and enhance our competitive advantage.
Our proprietary Web-based system, Impac Direct Access System for
Lending ("IDASL") now automates the entire underwriting process,
enabling our customers to pre-qualify borrowers for various loans,
lock-in loan rates, receive automated loan approval decisions, and
if necessary, obtain mortgage insurance approvals. The system is
also being expanded under a new name IDASL GenZz. With an
expected launch in Fall of 2002, the new system will provide
improved functionality and reporting capabilities, automated

loan level pricing and further improved response times.




Anpuat Report 200

IDASL allows for broader access to markets nationwide, and pro-
vides us with a low:cost centralized operating network with which
to expandfgébgraphically. In addition, and perhaps more impor-
tantly, it improves our customer relationships and enhances client a
satisfaction with faster approval process that results from the
automated system.

Virtually all of our correspondents are underwriting loans through
IDASL and 100% of all wholesale loans delivered by brokers are
directly underwritten through {DASL. This technology continues to
enable us to expand and grow our loan volume, improve margins
and fower the cost of originations. Competitively-speaking, it also
serves as a barrier of entry to those who may not have the capital,
resources or experience to build such a system themselves.
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At Impac,

- we understand

that consistency

of performance is
important. Over the
past year, we have
taken significant

steps to ensure

our consistency.
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A strong balance sheet has become the cornerstone of our
consistent performance. The Company has focused on investing ;
primarily in its own high credit quality, non-conforming Alt-A :
adjustable rate mortgages and funding them through collateralized
mortgage obligations (“CMOs”). We have also invested in various
financial instruments that will help insulate the Company to maintain
its net interest margins from rising interest rates. Furthermore,
impac continues to require prepayment penalties which mitigate

the adverse affect of refinancing activity.
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To reduce our exposure to interest rate risk and pricing volatility
during the accumulation period of our loans, the Company securitizes
more frequently. Loans are generally sold servicing released and
recorded as cash gains, which provide additional liquidity that

can be deployed in our operations.
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As a result of all of these measures coupled with more aggressive
reserve building, we believe Impac is better positioned than

ever before to deliver more consistent performance for the
foreseeable future.

Finally, consistency of performance is greatly enhanced by quality
and longevity of management. impac’s executive management team
has been directing the Company's mortgage operations since 1992,
and the majority of senior management has been with the organi-
zation for seven years or more — an astounding accomplishment
given the highly competitive and dynamic nature of the mortgage
banking industry. This accounts for our ability to chart a course
and stay with it, which is paying off with the impressive results

we have been able to achieve over the past year.
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We
continue to

Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.
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Impac was among the first companies to focus on
non-conforming Alt-A mortgages, those not currently
meeting the stringent purchase guidelines of govern-
ment-sponsored entities such as Freddie Mac and
Fannie Mae. Since 1995, we have become a dominant
force in the non-conforming Alt-A mortgage market.
We believe that Alt-A non-conforming investment
grade Joans provide an attractive net earnings profile,
producing higher yields without commensurately
higher credit risk.
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We have become a leader in our markets by embracing innovation
in everything we do as a company, starting with questioning the
basic assumptions of making mortgage loans. We have maintained
our strong prese'nce by continuing to deliver innovative products
that marry the needs of our customers with those of the secondary
market investors.

Cur tegacy of innovation began with our SMART series loan
products, which provided mortgage originators across the country
with among the first loan programs designed to compete directly
with the traditional portfolio lenders, banks and thrifts. Among our
mast innovative products ever is our Progressive Express™ Series,
with a streamlined application, no income or asset verification
requirement and same-day credit approval, based on the borrower’s
credit score, an electronic evaluation of past and present accounts
on the borrower’s credit bureau report.
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At Impac, innovation is fueled by a corporate culture and fiat
management structure that support proactive, “self” thinking.

Our employees are’among the best-in the industry, because we
do everythmg we can to nurture thelr commitment and dedication
at every: |evet of ‘our business: More rmportant we give them the
authonty to.make decrsrons and take: ownershlp of their actions.
We believe it is this commitment to personal empowerment that
is. responsrble for the longer tenures, increased efficiencies and
rnnovatrve 1deas that are the nerm in our- Company.

Our Company is atways Iookmg for new-ways to better serve

and command a growing.share of the non-conforming Alt-A
mortgage Ioan industry — and to. complete transactions faster
and easier. Our products will continue to meet a wide spectrum
of borrowers’ ‘needs, and -provide more profitable alternatives
for our customers,.and_ ultimately deliver consistent and reliable
earnings for. our shareholders.
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Letter to

SHAREHOLDERS
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

Last year was an overwhelming success for us.
We set out to implement a business plan that
would allow us to improve profitability, reduce
volatility of earnings and position ourselves for
future growth. We are pleased to announce that
we executed the plan flawlessly. We grew the
balance sheet during 2001, by $1.0 billion

to an all-time high of $2.9 billion with high
quality non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans
from our Mortgage Operations. Our net income
in 2001 increased impressively to $33.2
million as compared to a loss in 2000, our
taxable income increased to $46.4 million

and we declared common stock dividends

of $0.69 per common share.
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A year of sizeable accomplishments.

Looking back, there is a great deal of
accomplishments to be proud of. We caused
conversion of all of our outstanding preferred
stock to common stock. We retired our senior
subordinated debt more than two years before
maturity. We completed a record number of
12 mortgage securitizations or $3.2 billion.
We resumed the regular payment of common
stock dividends, six months ahead of schedule.
We raised additional capital by selling 5.1
million new shares of common stock. We
iIncreased our allowance for loan losses by
129% to $11.7 million and increased loan
production by 52% over the prior year. And
Impac ended the year with combined available
liguidity of $37.9 million.
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If there was one word to describe
our results in 2001, it would have to be
consistency. We focused on growing our
balance sheet, minimizing interest rate risk,
strengthening the credit quality of our port-

folio, and developing a steadier stream of

income. Here, too, we made impressive
gains. As a result of our increased loan
production and acquisitions, the size and
credit quality of our Long-Term Investment
portfolio has improved dramatically. Today,
95% or $2.1 billion of the Company’'s CMO
collateral is high credit quality, Alt-A non-
conforming mortgages with an average credit
score of 678 as compared to 90% or $1.3
billion and 675 for last year, respectively.
Scores above 640 are considered “A” quality.
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As a result of the performance of our Alt-A
mortgage loans, credit rating agencies are re-
quiring us to invest less capital in our securities,
allowing the Company to utilize more leverage.
Consequenﬂy, we have been successful in grow-
ing the balance sheet with more efficient use of
capital. To minimize volatility in.our earnings from
changes in interest rates, we maintained stringent
risk management policies. To reduce the effect
of refinancing activity during decreasing interest
rate environments, the Company continues to
acquire adjustable rate non-conforming Alt-A
mortgages with prepayment penalties and pays
reduced premiums for loans. Furthermore, the
Company purchases various financial instruments
to hedge and protect our net interest margins
against rising short- term interest rates.




As a result of these measures, we believe
our Long-Term [nvestment portfolio will provide
a more consistent and reliable income stream
despite changes in interest rates.

Looking Ahead

We remain committed to the same initia-
tives we carried out so successfully in 2001.
We will continue to offer innovative, non-
conforming Alt-A loan programs and operate
under a low cost model with our centraliza-
tion strategy being a key component in our
ability to efficiently and effectively scale
our operations up or down. We will also
continue to sustain stringent standards

for maintaining high credit quality and
reduced interest rate risk.
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In 2002, we expect the Long-Term
Investment Portfolio to grow to $3.7 billion,
investing only in loan products originated or
- acquired by our Mortgage Operations. We intend
to continue to grow our Mortgage Operations,
with special focus on the expansion of the
wholesale lending division. This area grew
significantly in 2001 and continues to offer
tremendous opportunity for us because it allows
us to get closer to the customer, which lends
itself to lower premiums and greater profitability.
At the same time, we plan to expand our Ware-
house Lending Operations which has a been a
consistent contributor to earnings.




In closing, on behalf of the Board and
our entire executive management team, we
want to thank our shareholders for their con-
tinued support and to express our renewed
commitment to growing this Company for
years to come. We have made enormous
strides this year, and we plan to continue
this momentum in the future.

Respectfully yours,

Joseph R. Tomkinson
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

William S. Ashmore
President and Chief Operating Officer
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Financial Highlights

For the year ended December 31, { in thousands, except per shave data )

Total Assets

Net Earnings

Revenues

Diluted Earnings Per Share
Dividends Declaved Per Share
Return on Equity

Return on Assets

Diluted Book Value Per Share @
Market Capitalization

Fully Diluted Shares Qutstanding @

(1) Net earnings and earuings per share are siated before a non-recurring charge relared 1o the
buyout of the Company’s managentent agreeinent on December 19, 1997,

(2] Diluted Book ialue per share calculated assiming conversion of the Company’s Cromilative
Convertible Preferred Stock into cammon stock.

(3) Al references 1o outstanding shares and carnings per share data give retroactive effeet 1o the

Company's 3 for 2 common stock split effective November 24, 1997.
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2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
$2,854,734  $ 1,898,838  §1,675.430 §$1,665504 $1,752,812
$ 33,178 $  (54.233) § 22317 $  (5,933) § 283460
$ 173,994 § 149592 § 126,360  $ 150,119 % 119,839
$ 119  § (2.70) % 076 % ©25) % 1740
$ 0.69 .36 % 048 - § 1.46 3% 1.68
17.40% (27.049% 9.29%, (2.48)% 17.38% (1
1.48% (2.93)% 1.38% ©.29)% 2.07% M
$ 635 § 6.67 % 8.60 % 822 3§ 10.16
$ 272,017 % 78959 0§ 114636 3 139618 % 403,000
27.952 26,766 27.757 30,618 22546




Selected Consolidated Financial Data
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Year Ended December 31, { in thousands, except per shave data )

Statement of Operations Data:
Net interest income:
Total interest income
Total interest expense

Net interest income
Provision for loan losses

Net interest income after loan loss provision

Non-interest income:
Equity in net earnings (loss) of JFC
Equity in net loss of ICH
Loss on sale of mortgage loans
Gan on sale of securities
Other income

Total non-interest income

Non-interest expense:
Write-down on securities avatlable-for-sale
General and administrative and other operating expense
Mark to market loss - SFAS 133
Loss on equity investment of ICH
Advisory fees

Ternnauon agreement expense

Total non-interest expense

~ Net carmings (loss)

~ Net earnmings (Joss) per share — basic

Net carnings (Joss) per share — diluted

B Dividends declared per share

Cumulatve effect of change in accounting principle and exeraordinary iem

Net carnings (loss) per share befor

(1) Per share amounts exclude the effect of expenses related to the rermination i December 1997

Y

(the “lerminarion Agreement Expense

Jof the Company’s Management Agrcersent with
Tmperial Credit Advisors, Inc. (“LCAL"), an affiliare of Tmperial Credir Indusivies, Ine. (*{CH").
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2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

$ 156,615 % 147,079 § 119458 -~ § 163,658 $ 109,533
112,012 124096 89,795 121,695 76,577
44,603 22,983 29,663 41,963 32,936
16,813 18.839 5,547 4,361 6.843
27,790 4,144 24,116 37.602 26,113
10,912 (1,762) 4,292 (13,876) 8.316

- - - (998) (239)

- - —~ (3,111 -

- - 93 427 648

6,467 4,275 2,517 4,019 1601
17,379 2,513 6,902 (13,539) 10,326
2,217 53,576 2,037 14,132 -
4,330 7,314 6,664 6,788 1,851
3,821 - - - -

- - - 9,076 -

- - - - 6,242

= - - 44575

10,368 61,890 8,701 20,996 32468

$  (1,623) $ - 8 - % - 3 -
$ 33178 % (54.233) § 22317 0§ (5.933) $ (16,029
$ 134 s 2.70) % 083 § (0.25) 5 (11.99)
g 119 3§ 270 % 076§ 023 % (.99
$ 069 § 036 % 048 % 146 % 1.08
$ 1719 % 2.70) $ 076 % 025 $ 1.74
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Selected Consolidated Financial Data

At December 31, ( in thousands )

Balance Sheet Data:

Investment securities available-for-sale

Mortgage loans held-for-investment and CMO collateral
Finance receivables '
Investment in Impac Funding Corporation’
Investment i lmpac Commercial Holdings, Inc
Tortal assets

CMO borrowings

Reverse repurchase agreements

Total liabilities

Toral stockholders” equity




2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

$ 32989 0§ 36921 0§ 93206 § 93486 § 67011
2249246 1389716 1,313,112 LIS1847 1,032,610

460,649 - 305,438 197.119 311,571 533101
19,126 15.762 17.372 13.246 27,122
- - - - 17,985
2,854,734 1,898,838 1,675,450 1,605,504 1,732,812
2,151,400 1,291,284 850,817 072,516 741,907
469,491 398,653 539,687 323.625 735,539
2,651,369 1,720,398 1,436,586 1,413,398 1523782
203,365 178,440 238,844 251,000 229,030
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Corporate Information
Common-Stock Listing
American Stock
Exchange Symbol: {MH

Transfer Agent

American Stock Transfer Agent
40 Wall Street .
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(800) 937 5449

{nvestor:Relations.
Tania Jernigan,

Vice President, Investor Relations

tjernigan@impaccompanies.com
(949) 475 3722 '
www.impaccompanies.com

Web' Site v
Please visit our web site at
www,impaccompanies.com
to-obtain information on the
Company.and its subsidiaries.

Form 10K

‘A copy of the Company's
-annual report on Form 10K

as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission
is available to stockholders
without charge by contacting
the Company's investor
refations-department or by
accessing our web site at
www.impaccompanies.com.




Forwarvd Looking‘ Statements

This matters discussed in-this annual report to stockholders include forward-
fooking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995, which can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology

"o

such as “may”, “Will”, “intend”, “expect”, “anticipate”,“estimate” or-“continue”
or the negatives thereof or other comparable terminology. The Company’s actuai
results could differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking
statements as a result of certain factors,- including but not limited to, changes in
the origination and resale pricing of mortgage loans, changes in management's
estimates and expectations, product demand, general financial markets and
economic conditions; stateand federal regulations and other risks as described
under “Business Risk Factors” in‘our Form 10K provided herein and as filed with
the Securities and' Exchange Commission. The financial information presented in
this document pertaining to.actual results should not be taken to predict future
earnings, as the Company may not expierience similar earnings in future periods.
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PART I

Forward-Lobking Information

This Annual Report contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Forward-looking statements, some of
which are based on various assumptions and events that are beyond our control, may be identified by reference to a
future period or periods or by the use of forward-looking terminology, such as "may," "will," "believe," "expect,”
“anticipate,” "continue," or similar terms or variations on those terms or the negative of those terms. Actual results
could differ materially from those set forth in forward-looking statements due to a variety of factors, including, but not
limited to, adverse economic conditions, changes in interest rates, changes in the difference between short-term and
long-term interest rates, changes in prepayment rates, changes in assumptions regarding estimated fair value amounts,
the availability of financing and, if available, the terms of any financing. For a discussion of the risks and uncertainties
that could cause actual results to differ from those contained in the forward-looking statements, see "Risk Factors" and
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," in this Annual Report. We
do not undertake, and specifically disclaim any obligation, to publicly release the results of any revisions that may be
made to any forward-looking statements to reflect the occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated events or
circumstances after the date of such statements.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms "Company,” "we," "us," and "our" refer to Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc., a Maryland corporation incorporated in August 1995, and its subsidiaries, IMH Assets Corp., or "IMH
Assets," Impac Warehouse Lending Group, Inc., or "IWLG," and its affiliate Impac Funding Corporation, or "IFC,"
together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries Impac Secured Assets Corp. and Novelle Financial Services, Inc.
References to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc., or "IMH," are made to differentiate IMH, the publicly traded company,
as a separate entity from IMH Assets, IWLG and IFC.

General

We are a mortgage real estate investment trust, or "REIT." Together with our subsidiaries and affiliate, IFC, we are
a nationwide acquirer and originator of non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans. "Alt:A" mortgage loans consist
primarily of mortgage loans that are first lien mortgage loans made to borrowers whose credit is generally within typical
Federal National Mortgage Association, or "Fannie Mae," and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, or
"Freddie Mac," guidelines, but that have loan characteristics that make them non-conforming under those guidelines.
For instance, the loans may have higher loan-to-value, or "LTV," ratios than allowable or may have excluded certain
documentation or verifications. Therefore, in making our credit decisions, we are more reliant upon the borrower's
"credit score" and the adequacy of the underlying collateral. We believe that non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans
provide an attractive net earnings profile by producing higher yields without commensurately higher credit losses than
other types of mortgage loans. Since 1999, we have acquired and originated primarily non-conforming Alt-A mortgage
loans. We also provide warehouse and repurchase financing to originators of mortgage loans. Our goal is to generate
consistent reliable income for distribution to our stockholders primarily from the earnings of our core businesses.

We operate three core businesses:

¢ long-term investment operations;
e  mortgage operations; and

o warehouse lending operations.

Our long-term investment operations invest primarily in non-conforming Alt-A mortgages. This business primarily
generates net interest income on its mortgage loan and investment securities portfolios. Our investment in non-




conforming Alt-A mortgage loans is financed with collateralized mortgage obligations, or "CMO," financing,
warehouse facilities and proceeds from the sale of capital stock.

Our mortgage operations acquire, originate, sell and securitize primarily non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans.
Our mortgage operations generate income by securitizing and selling loans to permanent investors, including our long-
term investment operations. This business also earns revenues from fees associated with mortgage servicing rights,
master servicing agreements and interest income earned on loans held for sale. Our mortgage operations primarily use
warehouse lines of credit to finance the acquisition and origination of mortgage loans.

Our warehouse lending operations provide short-term financing to mortgage loan originators by funding mortgage
loans from their closing date until they are sold to pre-approved investors, including our long-term investment
operations. Our warehouse lending operations earn fees, as well as a spread, from the difference between its cost of
borrowings and the interest earned on advances. :

Generally, we seek to acquire non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans funded with facilities provided by our
warehouse lending operations, which provides synergies with our long-term investment operations and mortgage
operations.

Long-Term Investment Operations

The long-term investment operations, conducted by IMH and IMH Assets, a wholly-owned specialty purpose entity
through which IMH conducts its CMO borrowings, invests primarily in non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans and
mortgage-backed securities secured by or representing interests in mortgage loans. Non-conforming Alt-A mortgage
loans are residential mortgages that generally do not qualify for purchase by government-sponsored agencies such as
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Some of the principal differences between conforming loans and non-conforming Alt-A
mortgage loans are as follows:

e  credit and income histories of the mortgagor;
¢ documentation required for approval of the mortgagor; and

s applicable loan-to-value ratios.

Income is primarily earned from net interest income received by the long-term investment operations on mortgage
loans and mortgage-backed acquired and held in its investment portfolio. Mortgage loans and mortgage-backed
securities are financed with borrowings provided from CMOs, warehouse facilities, which are referred to as reverse
repurchase agreements, borrowings secured by mortgage-backed. securities and capital.. The mortgage operations
supports the investment objectives of the long-term investment operations by supplying mortgage loans at prices that
are comparable to those available through investment bankers and other third parties. We believe that purchasing our
loans acquired and originated by our mortgage operations affords us a competitive advantage because of our historical
understanding of the underlying credit of these loans and the extensive information on the performance and prepayment
patterns of these types of loans.

Mortgage Loan Investment Portfolio

The long-term investment operations primarily invest in non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans that are acquired
from our mortgage operations. We believe that non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans provide an attractive net earnings
profile by producing higher yields without commensurately higher credit risks than other types of mortgage loans. We
primarily acquire and originate non-conforming "A" or "A-" credit quality loans, collectively, Alt-A loans. As defined
by us, A credit quality mortgage loans generally have a credit score of 640 or better and A- credit quality mortgage
loans generally have a credit score of between 600 and 639. We believe that by improving the overall credit quality of
our mortgage loan investment portfolio we can more consistently generate a higher level of future cash flow and
earnings. To a lesser extent, the long-term investment operations acquire "B" and "C" credit quality mortgage loans,
collectively, "B/C loans.” B/C loans generally have a credit score of 599 and below.

Non-conforming Alt-A mortgages that we acquire for long-term investment are primarily adjustable-rate mortgage
loans, or "ARMSs," and hybrid adjustable-rate mortgage loans, or "hybrid ARMs." ARMs are generally fully amortizing




mortgage loans with maturity periods ranging from 15 to 30 years. The interest rate on ARMs are typically tied to an
index, such as six-month London Interbank Offered Rate, or "LIBOR," plus a spread and adjust periodically. ARMs are
typically subject to lifetime interest rate caps and periodic interest rate and payment caps. The interest rates on ARMs
are typically lower than the average comparable fixed-rate mortgage loan, or "FRM," initially, but may be higher than
average comparable FRMs over the life of the loan. Hybrid ARMs are generally fully amortizing loans with maturity
periods also ranging from 15 to 30 years. Hybrid ARMs have an initial fixed-rate period, generally ranging from two to
five years, which subsequently adjust to ARMs.

Investments in Morigage-Backed Securities

Since 1998, our investment strategy has been to only acquire or invest in mortgage-backed securities that are
secured by non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans underwritten and acquired and originated by our mortgage operations
due to our understanding of the underlying credit of these loans and their historical performance. However, since 1999,
we have acquired no mortgage-backed securities from the mortgage operations and pursuant to our current investment
policy, we no longer acquire or invest in interest-only, principal-only or subordinate mortgage-backed securities. Prior
to 1998 and in connection with the issuance of mortgage-backed securities by the mortgage operations in.the form of
real estate mortgage investment conduits, or "REMICs," the long-term investment operations acquired senior or
subordinated securities as regular interests on a short-term or long-term basis. Also, prior to 1998, the long-term
investment operations acquired subordinated mortgage-backed securities issued by third parties. These securities or
investments may subject us to credit, interest rate and prepayment risks. In general, subordinated classes of a particular
series of securities bear all losses prior to the related senior classes. Losses in excess of expected losses at the time such
securities are purchased would adversely affect our yield on these securities and could result in failure to recoup our
initial investment.

Financing
We primarily finance our Jong-term investment portfolio as follows:
s issuance of CMOs; |
s  short-term borrowings under reverse repurchase agreements;
¢ borrowings secured by mortgage-backed securities; and
¢ proceeds from the sale of capital stock.

Collateralized Mortgage Obligations. As we accumulate mortgage loans in our long-term investment portfolio, we
may issue CMOs secured by the loans as a means of financing our long-term investment operations. The decision to
issue CMOs is based on our current and future investment needs, market conditions and other factors. For accounting
and tax purposes, the mortgage loans financed through the issuance of CMOs are treated as assets, and the CMOs are
treated as debt, when for accounting purposes the CMO qualifies as a financing arrangement. Each issue of CMOs is
fully payable from the principal and interest payments on the underlying mortgage loans collateralizing such debt, any
cash or other collateral required to be pledged as a condition to receiving the desired rating on the debt, and any
investment income on loan collateral. The long-term investment operations earn net interest spread between interest
income on mortgage loans securing CMOs and interest and other expenses associated with CMO financing. Net interest
spreads may be directly impacted by levels of early prepayment of underlying mortgage loans and, to the extent each
CMO class has variable rates of interest, may be affected by changes in short-term interest rates.

When we issue CMOs for financing purposes, we seek an investment grade rating for our CMOs by a nationally
recognized rating agency. To secure such a rating, it is often necessary to pledge collateral in excess of the principal
amount of the CMOs to be issued, or to obtain other forms of credit enhancements such as additional mortgage loan
insurance. The need for additional collateral or other credit enhancements depends upon factors such as the type of
collateral provided, the interest rates paid, the geographic concentration of the mortgaged property securing the
collateral, and other criteria established by the rating agencies. The pledge of additional collateral reduces our capacity
to raise additional funds through short-term secured borrowings or additional CMOs, and diminishes the potential
expansion of our investment portfolio. As a result, our objective is to pledge additional collateral for CMOs only in the




Effectiveness of the hedges is measured by the fact that both the hedged item, CMO borrowings, and the hedging
instrument is based on one-month LIBOR. As both instruments are tied to the same index, the hedge is expected to be
highly effective both at inception and on an ongoing basis. We assess the effectiveness of the hedging instruments at
the inception of the hedge and at each reporting period. Based on the fact that, at inception, the critical terms of the
hedges and forecasted CMO borrowings are the same, we have concluded that the changes in cash flows attributable to
the risk being hedged are expected to be completely offset by the hedging derivatives, subject to subsequent
assessments that the critical terms have not changed.

Mortgage Operations

The mortgage operations, conducted by IFC, Impac Lending Group, or "ILG," a division of IFC, and Novelle
Financial Services, Inc., or "NFS," a subsidiary of IFC, primarily acquire and originate non-conforming Alt-A mortgage
loans and B/C loans from correspondents, mortgage brokers and retail customers. IFC is the mortgage operations and
includes correspondent business along with wholesale and retail business from ILG. After acquiring and originating
loans through its production channels, the mortgage operations subsequently securitizes and sells loans to permanent
investors, including the long-term investment operations. All mortgage loans acquired and originated by the mortgage
operations are made available for sale to the long-term investment operations at prices that are substantially comparable
to those available through third parties at the date of their sale and subsequent transfer.

ILG began operations in January of 1999 and markets, underwrites, processes and funds mortgage loans for both
wholesale and retail customers. ILG works directly with mortgage brokers to originate, underwrite and fund their
mortgage loans. Many of ILG's wholesale customers cannot conduct business with the mortgage operations as
correspondents because they do not meet the higher net worth requirements. Through the retail division, ILG markets
mortgage loans directly to the public. ILG offers all of the same loan programs to its mortgage brokers and retail
customers, including Progressive Series and Progressive Express, which are offered by IFC. NFS began operations in
September of 2001 and primarily originates B/C loans and subsequently sells its loans to third party investors for cash
gains. ‘

We can compete effectively with other non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loan conduits through our efficient loan
purchasing process, flexible purchase commitment options and competitive pricing and by designing non-conforming
Alt-A mortgage loans to suit the needs of our correspondents and mortgage brokers and their borrowers, which is
intended to provide sufficient credit quality to our investors. As a non-conforming Alt-A mortgage conduit, the
mortgage operations acts as an intermediary between the originators of mortgage loans that do not currently meet the
guidelines for purchase by government-sponsored entities, such as, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, that guarantee
mortgage-backed securities and permanent investors in mortgage-backed securities secured by or representing an
ownership interest in mortgage loans. The mortgage operations also acts as a bulk purchaser of primarily non-
conforming Alt-A mortgage loans.

We believe that non-conforming Alt-A mortgages provide an attractive net earnings profile by producing higher
yields without commensurately higher credit risks when compared to other types of mortgage loans. In addition, based
on our experience in the mortgage banking industry and in the mortgage conduit business, we believe we provide
mortgage loan correspondents and mortgage brokers with an expanded and competitively priced array of non-
conforming Alt-A mortgages, timely purchasing of loans, mandatory, best efforts and optional rate-lock commitments,
and flexible master commitments.

Marketing and Production

Marketing Strategy. Our principle strategy is to expand our market position as a low-cost nationwide acquirer and
originator of non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans, while continuing to emphasize an efficient centralized operating
structure. To help accomplish this, we have developed a web-based automated underwriting system called Impac Direct
Access System for Lending, or "IDASL." IDASL substantially increases efficiencies for our customers and our
mortgage operations by significantly decreasing the processing time for a mortgage loan, while improving employee
productivity and maintaining superior customer service. We seek to increase our mortgage loan acquisitions and
originations by providing innovative products, competitive pricing and superior customer service. We also focus on
expansion opportunities to attract correspondent originators and mortgage brokers to our nationwide network in order to
increase mortgage loan acquisitions and originations in a controlled manner. This allows us to shift the high fixed costs




of interfacing with the homeowner to our correspondents and mortgage brokers. This marketing strategy is designed to
accomplish three objectives, which are as follows:

»  attract a geographically diverse group of both large and small correspondent originators and mortgage brokers;

s establish relationships with correspondents and mortgage brokers that facilitate their ability to offer a variety of
loan products designed by the mortgage operations; and

o purchase loans and securitize and sell them in the secondary market or to the long-term investment operations.

As of March 13, 2002, we maintained relationships with 205 correspondent sellers and 1,695 mortgage brokers.
Correspondents originate and close mortgage loans under our mortgage loan programs. Correspondents include
mortgage bankers, savings and loan associations and commercial banks.

In order to accomplish our production objectives, we design and offer loan products that are attractive to potential
non-conforming Alt-A borrowers and to end-investors in non-conforming Alt-A loans and mortgage-backed securities.
We have historically emphasized and continue to emphasize flexibility in our mortgage loan product mix as part of our
strategy to attract and establish long-term relationships with our correspondents and mortgage brokers. We also
maintain relationships with numerous end-investors so that we may develop products that may be of interest to them as
market conditions change, which in turn may be offered through our correspondent network.

t

In response to the needs of our correspondents, and as part of our strategy to facilitate the sale of our mortgage
loans through the mortgage operations, our marketing strategy offers efficient response time in the purchase process,
direct and frequent contact with our correspondents and mortgage brokers through a trained sales force and flexible
commitment programs. Finally, due to the price sensitivity of most homebuyers, we are competitive in pricing our
products in order to attract sufficient numbers of mortgage loans.

Impac Direct Access Systém for Lending (“IDASL”). IDASL is not a lead generator for mortgage brokers, but is an
interactive internet system that allows our customers to automatically underwrite loans, enabling our customers to pre-
qualify borrowers for various loan programs and receive automated loan approval decisions. IDASL is intended to
increase efficiencies not only for our customers but also for the mortgage operations by significantly decreasing the
processing time for a mortgage loan. IDASL improves employee production and maintains superior customer service,
which together leads to higher closing ratios, improved profit margins and increased profitability at all levels of our
business operations. Most importantly, IDASL allows us to move closer to our correspondents and mortgage brokers
with minimal future capital investment while maintaining centralization, a key factor in the success of our operating
strategy.

During 2001, average monthly volume of loans submitted through IDASL increased by 127% over loan
submissions during 2000. Loan submissions during 2001 averaged $794.9 million per month in total loan volume as
compared to $350.1 million per month during 2000. All of our correspondents submit loans through the use of IDASL
and all wholesale loans delivered by mortgage brokers are directly underwritten through IDASL.

The Progressive Series Loan Program. The underwriting guidelines utilized in the Progressive Series Loan
Program, or "Progressive Series," as developed by the mortgage operations, are intended to assess the borrower’s ability
and willingness to repay the mortgage loan obligation and to assess the adequacy of the mortgaged property as collateral
for the mortgage loan. Progressive Series is designed to meet the needs of borrowers with excellent credit, as well as
those with credit that has been adversely affected. Progressive Series consists of six mortgage loan programs. Each
program has different credit criteria, reserve requirements, qualifying ratios and LTV restrictions. Series I is designed
with credit history and income requirements typical of A credit quality borrowers. In the event a borrower does not fit
the series I criteria, the borrower’s mortgage loan may be placed into either series II, III, IV, V or VI, depending on
which series’ mortgage loan parameters meets the borrower’s unique credit profile. Series II, III, IV, V or V1 allow for
less restrictive standards because of certain compensating or offsetting factors such as a lower LTV, verified liquid
assets, job stability, and, in the case of refinance mortgage loans, length of time owning the mortgaged property. The
philosophy of Progressive Series is that no single borrower characteristic should automatically determine whether an
application for a mortgage loan should be approved or disapproved. Lending decisions are based on a risk analysis
assessment after the review of the entire mortgage loan file. Each mortgage loan is underwritten with emphasis placed
on the overall quality of the mortgage loan. All Progressive Series borrowers are required to have debt service-to-




income ratios not to exceed 45% to 60% depending on the mortgage loan program, which is calculated on the basis of
monthly income, depending on the LTV of the mortgage loan.

The Progressive Express Loan Program. We also developed an additional program to the Progressive Series,
called the Progressive Express Loan Program, or "Progressive Express." The concept of Progressive Express is to
underwrite loans focusing on the borrower’s credit score, the borrower’s ability and willingness to repay the mortgage
loan obligation, and assessment of the adequacy of the mortgage property as collateral for the loan. Progressive Express
offers six levels of mortgage loan programs. Progressive Express has a minimum credit score that must be met by the
borrower’s primary wage earner and does not allow for exceptions to the credit score requirement. The credit score
requirement is as follows: .

* Progressive Express I - above 680;

e Progressive Express II - 620-679;

®  Progressive Express I1I - 601-619;

®  Progressive Express IV - 581-600;

e  Progressive Express V - 551-580; and

e Progressive VI - 500-550.

Each Progressive Express program has different credit score requirements, credit criteria, reserve requirements, and
LTV restrictions. Progressive Express 1 is designed for credit history and income requirements typical of A credit
quality borrowers. In the event a borrower does not fit the Progressive Express I criteria, the borrower’s mortgage loan
may be placed into either Progressive Express II, III, IV, V or VI, depending on which series” mortgage loan parameters
meets the borrowers unique credit profile.

Mortgage Loans Acquired. A majority of mortgage loans acquired and originated by the mortgage operations are
non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans. Currently, the maximum principal balance for a conforming loan is $300,700.
Loans that exceed such maximum principal balance are referred to as "jumbo loans.” Non-conforming Alt-A mortgage
loans generally consist of jumbo loans or other loans that are acquired and originated in accordance with underwriting
or product guidelines that differ from those applied by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Non-conforming AK-A mortgage
loans may involve greater risk as a result of different underwriting and product guidelines. A portion of mortgage loans
purchased through the mortgage operations are B/C loans, which may entail greater credit risks than non-conforming
Alt-A mortgage loans. We generally do not acquire or originate mortgage loans with principal balances above $750,000
for Alt-A credit quality loans and $500,000 for B/C loans.

Non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans acquired and originated by the mortgage operations pursuant to our
underwriting programs typically differ from those purchased pursuant to the guidelines established by Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac. These differences are primarily with respect to documentation required for approval of the borrower,
credit and income histories of the borrower and applicable loan-to-value ratios. To the extent that these programs
reflect underwriting standards different from those of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, the performance of loans made may
reflect higher delinquency rates and credit losses.

Mortgage loans acquired by the mortgage operations are generally secured by first liens and, to a lesser extent,
second liens on single family residential properties with either fixed or adjustable interest rates. FRMs have a constant
interest rate over the life of the loan, which is generally 15 or 30 years. The interest rate on ARM:s are typically tied to
an index, such as six-month LIBOR plus a spread and adjust periodically. ARMs are typically subject to lifetime
interest rate caps and periodic interest rate and payment caps. The interest rates on ARMs are typically lower than the
average comparable FRM initially, but may be higher than average comparable FRMs over the life of the loan.
Currently, we acquire or originate loans with the following most common loan characteristics:

s  FRMs that have original terms to maturity ranging from 15 to 30 years with two- to five-year prepayment
penalty periods;




*  ARMs that adjust based on six-month LIBOR with terms to maturity ranging from 15 to 30 years with one- to
five-year prepayment penalty periods; and

® two- and three-year FRMs with terms to maturity ranging from 15 to 30 years that subsequently adjust to six-
month LIBOR ARMs with one- to five-year prepayment penalty periods.

Substantially all mortgage loans purchased by the mortgage operations fully amortize over their remaining terms,
however, we may purchase mortgage loans with other interest rate and maturity characteristics.

The credit quality of loans acquired and originated by the mortgage operations varies depending upon the specific
program which loans are purchased. For example, a principal credit risk inherent in ARMs is the potential "payment
shock™ experienced by the borrower as rates rise, which could result in increased delinquencies and credit losses. As a
general rule, mortgage loans with higher LTV ratios are vulnerable to higher delinquency rates given the borrower’s
lower equity investment in the underlying property. Limited documentation mortgage loans, by contrast, must meet
more rigorous criteria for borrower credit quality in order to compensate for the reduced level of lender review with
respect to the borrower’s earnings history and capacity.

In general, B/C loans are residential mortgage loans made to borrowers with lower credit ratings than borrowers of
higher quality, Alt-A mortgage loans and are normally subject to higher rates of loss and delinquency than other non-
conforming Alt-A mortgage loans acquired and originated by the mortgage operations. As a result, B/C loans normally
bear a higher rate of interest and are typically subject to higher fees, including greater prepayment fees, than non-
conforming Alt-A mortgage loans. In general, greater emphasis is placed upon the value of the mortgaged property and,
consequently, the quality of appraisals, and less upon the credit history of the borrower in underwriting B/C loans than
in underwriting Alt-A mortgage loans. In addition, B/C loans are generally subject to lower LTV ratios than Alt-A
mortgage loans. Under the mortgage operations' B/C loan programs, underwriting authority is delegated only to
correspondents who meet strict underwriting guidelines established by the mortgage operations.

Our loan purchase activities are expected to continue to focus on those regions of the country where higher volumes
of non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans are originated, including California, Florida, Georgia, Texas, Illinois,
Colorado, Washington, New Jersey, New York, and Virginia. The highest concentration of non-conforming Alt-A
mortgage loans acquired and originated by the mortgage operations relates to properties located in California and
Florida because of generally higher property values and mortgage loan balances. During the years ended December 31,
2001 and 2000, mortgage loans secured by California and Florida properties accounted for approximately 56% and
10%, respectively, and 40% and 13%, respectively, of mortgage loan acquisitions and originations.

Of the $3.2 billion in mortgage loans acquired and originated during the year ended December 31, 2001, $1.3
billion, or 41%, were acquired from our top ten correspondents. During the year ended December 31, 2001, Express
Lending accounted for $530.8 million, or 17%, of mortgage loans acquired and originated by the mortgage operations.
No other sellers accounted for more than 10% of the total mortgage loans acquired and originated by the mortgage
operations during the year ended December 31, 2001.

The following table presents our loan acquisitions and originations by loan characteristic, excluding net premiums
paid, for the periods shown (dollars in thousands):




For the Year Ended, December 31,

2001 2000
Principle Principle
Balance % Balance %
By Loan Type: .
FIXEA TALE ...ttt st ettt st eresaeenesnseabenns $ 1,570,225 50 $ 1,539,741 74
AdJUSLADIE TALE .....oovceiveeeicre e e 1,541,368 49 487,346 23
Second trust deed ...........ccovvevecvreieereient e 43,074 ! 51,737 3
TOtAl VOIUME.........ccoviiriiireeeceiriereneenietisiere et ev b ssns e nsenan $ 3,154667 100 $ 2,078824 100
By Program: :
Progressive EXPress. .. ooucieeeneieirieeetieeenieeereeseseesseseseseessennns $ 2,256,523 72§ 1,668,802 80
Progressive SETIEs .....oovvieeviiieiveie et 758,565 24 286,422 14
OHNET......ovvoivirerierieies et ess et st st 139,579 4 123,600 6
TOtal VOIUINE.........cooveveeeiieiceieeteeriiei ettt ve e enenas $ 3,154667 100 § 2,078,824 100

By Production Channel:

Correspondent aCqUISITIONS ........c.c.eerrreviviimireereirerrce e reesncans $ 2383018 75 § 1,731,351 . 83

Wholesale and retail originations .............cocoeeveriveecrvcreenseeeennnes 683,059 22 276,190 13

Novelle Financial Services......ocouvvvevervvveeecevniceevese e cresesrenne 88,590 3 —_ 0

BulK aCQUISTHONS ........ccvvvvvereevee et es et teeenns — 0 71,283 4
TOtAl VOIUME .....vv..ovooo oo se s essssesen $§ 3,154667 100 $ 2078824 100
By Credit Quality:

A=A LOBIS cov.oooeeeeee e ses s sees e $ 3,046298 97 § 1999246 96

B/C JOBNS .....coivmeeiniieeiceee et e st ren 108,369 3 79,578 4
Total VOIUIME.....c.ovvivcricirierce et er st st nsesieans $ 3154667 100 $ 2,073,824 100
By Purpose:

PUTCRASE ......covneierre vttt v sen et sb s seas § 1938715 61 $ 1,675,893 8]

REFINANCE. .......vocveeeo e seeeees s aes st ssssnrosssnees 1215952 39 402,931 19
TOtAl VOIUIME .......ovr.evereeevereeeessseessenresssseeeessessses e essssensssssensees $§ 3,154,667 100 § 2078824 100
By Prepayment Penalty: '

With prepayment penalty .........co.ocveeveiievrnioeceeerenieeerceesessessesnas $ 2,058,785 65 $ 1,104,154 53

Without prepayment penalty ...........coo.overeeveememreressersereresssnnes 1,095,882 35 974,670 47
TOtAl VOIUINC ... es s esnesssss oo $§ 3,154667 100 § 2078824 100

High Loan-to-Value Loans. High loan-to-value loans, or "125 loans,” consist of second mortgage loans to qualified
borrowers who have limited access to traditional mortgage-related financing generally because of a lack of equity in
their homes. The loans are typically closed-end, usually 15 years, fixed rate, fully-amortizing loans secured by a second
lien on the borrower’s primary residence, and are typically used by consumers to pay-off credit card and other
unsecured indebtedness. Almost all of these loans are made in excess of the value of the underlying collateral available
to secure such loans, up to a maximum of 125% of the property’s LTV ratio. Since December 31, 1997, we did not
acquire or originate any 125 loans.

Purchase Commitment Process and Pricing

Master Commitments. As part of our marketing strategy, we have established mortgage loan purchase
commitments, or "Master Commitments,” with sellers that, subject to certain conditions, entitle the seiler to sell and
obligate us to purchase a specified dollar amount of mortgage loans over a period generally ranging from six months to
one year. The terms of each Master Commitment specify whether a seller may sell loans to us on a mandatory, best
efforts or optional rate-lock basis. Master Commitments do not generally obligate us to purchase loans at a specific
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price, but rather provide the seller with a future outlet for the sale of its originated loans based on our quoted prices at
the time of purchase. Master Commitments specify the types of mortgage loans the seller is entitled to sell to us and
generally range from $2 million to $250 million in aggregate committed principal amount. The provisions of our
seller/servicer guide are incorporated in each of the mortgage operations' Master Commitments and may be modified by
negotiations between the parties. In addition, there are individualized Master Commitment options available to sellers,
which include alternative pricing structures or specialized loan products. In order to obtain a Master Commitment, a
seller may be asked to pay a non-refundable up-front or non-delivery fee, or both. As of December 31, 2001, we had
outstanding Master Commitments with 156 sellers to purchase mortgage loans in the aggregate principal amount of $2.5
billion over periods ranging from six months to one year, of which $1.3 billion had been purchased or committed to be
purchased pursuant to rate-locks.

Sellers who have entered into Master Commitments may sell mortgage loans to us by executing individual, bulk or
other rate-locks, or "rate-lock.” Each rate-lock, in conjunction with the related Master Commitment, specifies the terms
of the related sale, including the quantity and price of the mortgage loans or the formula by which the price will be
determined, the rate-lock type and the delivery requirements. Historically, the up-front fee paid by a seller to. obtain a
Master Commitment on a mandatory delivery basis is often refunded pro rata as the seller delivers loans pursuant to
rate-locks. We retain any remaining fee after the Master Commitnient expires.

Bulk and Other Rate-Locks. We also acquire mortgage loans from sellers that are not purchased pursuant to Master
Commitments. These purchases may be made on an individual rate-lock basis. Bulk rate-locks obligate the seller to
sell and the mortgage operations to purchase a specific group of loans, generally ranging from $500,000 to $125
million in aggregate committed principal amount, at set prices on specific dates. Bulk rate-locks enable us to acquire
substantial quantities of loans on a more immediate basis. The specific pricing, delivery and program requirements of
these purchases are determined by negotiation between the parties but are generally in accordance with the provisions of
our seller/servicer guide. Due to the active presence of investment banks and other substantial investors in this area,
bulk pricing is extremely competitive. Loans are also purchased from individual sellers, typically smaller originators of
mortgage loans, who do not wish to sell pursuant to €ither a Master Commitment or bulk rate-lock. The terms of these
individual purchases are based primarily on our seller/servicer guide and standard pricing provisions.

Mandatory, Best-Efforts and Optional Rate-Locks. Mandatory rate-locks require the seller to deliver a specified
quantity of loans to the mortgage operations over a specified period of time regardless of whether the loans are actually
originated by the seller or whether circumstances beyond the seller’s control prevent delivery. We are required to
purchase all loans covered by the rate-lock at prices established at the time of rate-lock. If the seller is unable to deliver
the specified loans, it may instead deliver comparable loans approved by us within the specified delivery time. Failure
to deliver the specified mortgage loans or acceptable substitute loans under a mandatory rate-lock obligates the seller to
pay us a penalty. In contrast, mortgage loans sold on a best-efforts basis must be delivered to us only if they are
actually originated by the seller. The best-efforts rate-lock provides sellers with an effective way to sell loans during
the origination process without any penalty for failure to deliver. Optional rate-locks give the seller the option to
deliver mortgage loans to us at a fixed price on a future date and require the payment of up-front fees. We retain any
up-front fees paid in connection with optional rate-locks if the loans are not delivered.

Pricing. We set purchase prices at least once every business day for mortgage loans we acquire based on prevailing
market conditions. Different prices are established for the various types of loans, rate-lock periods and types of rate-
locks, either mandatory or best-efforts. Our standard pricing is based on the anticipated price we receive upon sale or
securitization of loans, the anticipated interest spread realized during the accumulation period, the targeted profit margin
and the anticipated issuance, credit enhancement, and ongoing administrative costs associated with sale or
securitization. The credit enhancement cost component of pricing is established for individual mortgage loans or pools
of mortgage loans based upon the characteristics of loans or loan pools. As the characteristics of the loans or loan pools
vary, this cost component is correspondingly adjusted upward or downward to reflect the variation. We periodically
review the adjustments to reflect changes in the costs of credit enhancement. Adjustments standard pricing may also be
negotiated on an individual basis under Master Commitments or bulk or individual rate-locks with sellers.

Hedging Activities
The mortgage operations hedge interest rate risk and price volatility on its mortgage loan portfolio during the time

it commits to acquire or originate mortgage loans at a pre-determined rate and the time it sells or securitizes mortgage
loans. To mitigate interest rate and price volatility risks, the mortgage operations enters into forward commitments and
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futures transactions. The nature and quantity of hedging transactions are determined based on various factors, including
market conditions and the expected volume of mortgage loan acquisitions and originations. :

The mortgage operations enter into forward commitments and futures transactions to mitigate changes in the value
of its "locked pipeline.” The locked pipeline are mortgage loans that have not yet been acquired, however, the mortgage
operations has committed to acquire the mortgage loans in the future at pre-determined rates through rate-lock
commitments. The mortgage operations records the value of its locked pipeline as it qualifies as a derivative instrument
under the provisions of SFAS 133, however, it does not qualify for hedging treatment. Therefore, the locked pipeline
and the related value of forward and future contracts is marked to market each reporting period along with a
corresponding entry to non-interest income or expense.

The mortgage operations also enter into forward commitments and futures transactions to lock in the forecasted sale
profitability of fixed rate loans held for sale. The mortgage operations generally sells call or buys put options on U.S.
Treasury bonds and mortgage-backed securities to hedge against adverse movements of interest rates affecting the value
of forecasted cash flow on the sale of mortgage loans. The risk in writing a call option is that the mortgage operations
gives up the opportunity for profit if the market price of the mortgage loans increases and the option is exercised. The
mortgage operations has the additional risk of not being able to enter into a closing transaction if a liquid secondary
market does not exist. The risk of buying a put option is limited to the premium we pay for the put option. These
hedges are treated as cash flow hedges under the provisions of SFAS 133 to hedge forecasted transactions with the
entire change in market value of the hedges recorded through other comprehensive income.

Purchase Guidelines, Underwriting Methods, Seller Eligibility and Quality Control

Purchase Guidelines. We have developed comprehensive purchase guidelines for the acquisition and origination of
mortgage loans. Each loan underwritten assesses the borrower’s credit score, ability and willingness to repay the
mortgage loan obligation and the adequacy of the mortgaged property as collateral for the mortgage loan. Subject to
certain exceptions and the type of loan product, each purchased loan must conform to the loan parameters and eligibility
requirements specified in our seller/servicer guide with respect to, among other things, loan amount, type of property,
LTV ratio, mortgage insurance, credit history, debt service-to-income ratio, appraisal and loan documentation. We also
perform a full legal documentation review prior to the purchase of all loans. All mortgage loans acquired or originated
under our loan programs are underwritten either by our employees or by contracted mortgage insurance companies or
delegated sellers.

Underwriting Methods. Under all of our underwriting methods, loan documentation requirements for verifying the
borrower’s income and assets vary according to LTV ratios and other factors. Generally, as the standards for required
documentation are lowered, the borrowers® down payment requirements are increased and the required LTV ratios are
decreased. The borrower is also required to have a stronger credit history, larger cash reserves and an appraisal of the
property that may be validated by an enhanced desk or field review, depending on the loan program. Lending decisions
are based on a risk analysis assessment after the review of the entire mortgage loan file. Each mortgage loan is
individually underwritten with emphasis placed on the overall quality of the mortgage loan.

Under the Progressive Series program, we underwrite one-to-four family mortgage loans with LTV ratios at
origination of up to 100% of the property’s appraised value, depending on, among other things, a borrower’s credit
history, repayment ability and debt service-to-income ratio, as well as the type and use of the mortgaged property.
Second lien financing of the mortgaged properties may be provided by lender’s other than the mortgage operations at
origination, however, the combined LTV ratio generally may not exceed 100% of the property’s appraised value.
Progressive Express has a minimum credit score that must be met by the borrower’s primary wage earner and does not
allow for exceptions to the credit score requirement. Each Progressive Express program has different credit score
requirements, credit criteria, reserve requirements, and LTV ratio restrictions. Under the Progressive Express program,
IFC underwrites single family dwellings with LTV ratios at origination of up to 100% of the property’s appraised value.
In order for the property to be eligible for the Progressive Express, it must be a single family residence, one unit only,
condominium, and/or planned unit development. Under Progressive Express, the borrower must disclose employment
and assets on the application, however, there is no verification of the information.

We use program parameters as guidelines only. On a case-by-case basis, we may determine that the prospective

mortgagor warrants an exception outside the standard program guidelines. An exception may be allowed if the loan
application reflects certain compensating factors, including the following:
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e the prospective mortgagor has demonstrated an ablhty to save and devote a greater portion of income to basic
housing needs;

» the prospective mortgagor may have a potential for increased earnings and advancement because of education
or special job training, even if the prospective mortgagor has just entered the job market;

s the prospective mortgagor has demonstrated an ability to maintain a debt free position;

e the prospective mortgagor may have short term income that is verifiable but could not be counted as stable
income because it does not meet the remaining term requirements; and

o the prospective mortgagor’s net worth is substantial enough to suggest that repayment of the loan is within the
prospective mortgagor’s ability.

We do not publish an approved appraiser list for our correspondent sellers. Mortgage sellers may select any
appraiser of choice, regardless of the LTV ratio of the related loan, from the seller’s approved appraiser list. At the
discretion of the underwriter an enhanced desk review appraisal or a field review appraisal may be required.

Seller Eligibility Requirements. Mortgage loans acquired by the mortgage operations are originated by various
sellers, including mortgage bankers, savings and loan associations and commercial banks. Sellers are required to meet
certain regulatory, financial, insurance and performance requirements established by us before they are eligible to
participate in our mortgage loan purchase program. Sellers must also submit to periodic reviews to ensure continued
compliance with these requirements. Our current criteria for seller participation generally includes a minimum tangible
net worth requirement of $500,000, approval as a Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac seller/servicer in good standing, a
Housing and Urban Development, or "HUD," approved mortgagee in good standing or a financial institution that is
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or "FDIC," or comparable federal or state agency, and that the
seller is examined by a federal or state authority, In addition, sellers are required to have comprehensive loan
origination quality control procedures. In connection with its qualification, each seller enters into an agreement that
generally provides for recourse by us against the seller in the event of a breach of representations or warranties made by
the seller with respect to mortgage loans sold to us, which includes but is not limited to any fraud or misrepresentation
during the mortgage loan origination process or upon early payment default on loans.

The underwriting program consists of three separate subprograms. The mortgage operations principal delegated
underwriting subprogram is a fully delegated program designed for loan sellers that meet higher financial and
performance criteria than those applicable to sellers generally. Generally, qualifying sellers have tangible net worth of
at least $1.5 million and are granted delegated underwriting authority to a maximum loan amount of $500,000 for all
mortgage products under this subprogram. The second subprogram is a delegated program pursuant to which sellers
have tangible net worth of $500,000 to $1.5 million and are granted delegated underwriting authonty to a maximum
loan amount of $300,000. The third program is for sellers with tangible net worth of $500,000 in which sellers
participate in non-delegated underwriting programs.

We have established a delegated underwrltmg program which is similar in concept to the delegated underwriting
programs established by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Under this program, qualified sellers are required to underwrite
loans in compliance with our underwriting guidelines as set forth in our seller/servicer guide and by individual Master
Commitment. In order to determine a seller’s eligibility to perform under its delegated underwriting program, an
internal review is undertaken by our loan committee. In connection with its approval, the seller must represent and
warrant that all mortgage loans sold to us will comply with .our underwriting guidelines. The current financial,
historical loan quality and other criteria for seller participation in this program generally include a minimum net worth
requirement and verification of the seller’s good standing, including the seller’s experience and demonstrated
performance, with Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac or HUD. We periodically review sellers participating in our delegated
underwriting program and will retain those sellers that we believe are productive. )

Mortgage loans acquired under our non-delegated underwriting program are either fully underwritten by our
underwriting staff or involve the use of contract underwriters. We have contracted with several national mortgage
insurance firms that conduct contract underwriting for mortgage loan acquisitions. Under these contracts, we rely on
the credit review and analysis of the contract underwriter, as well as their own pre-purchase eligibility review to ensure
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that the loan meets program acceptance, their own follow-up quality control procedures, and the representations and
warranties of the contract underwriter. Loans that are not acquired under either delegated or contract underwriter
methods are fully underwritten by our underwriting staff. In such cases, we perform a full credit review and analysis to
ensure compliance with our loan eligibility requirements. This review specifically includes, among other things, an
analysis of the underlying property and associated appraisal, and an examination of the credit, employment and income
history of the borrower. Under all of these methods, loans are purchased only after completion of a legal documentation
and eligibility criteria review.

Quality Control. We perform a post-closing quality control review on a minimum of 25% of the mortgage loans
acquired or originated under the Progressive Series and Progressive Express programs for complete re-verification of
employment, income and liquid assets used to qualify for mortgage loans. Reviews also include procedures intended to
detect evidence of fraudulent documentation and/or imprudent activity during the processing, funding, servicing or
selling of mortgage loans. Verification of occupancy and applicable information is made by regular mail.

Securitization and Sale Process

General. We primarily utilize warehouse lines of credit and equity to finance the acquisition and origination of
mortgage loans from our customers. When a sufficient volume of mortgage loans with similar characteristics has been
accumulated, generally $200 million to $350 million, we will securitize them through the issuance of mortgage-backed
securities in the form of REMICs or resell them as bulk whole loan sales. The period of time between when we commit
to purchase mortgage loans and the time we sell or securitize mortgage loans generally ranges from 10 to 90 days,
depending on certain factors including the length of the purchase commitment period, the loan volume by product type
and the securitization process. Any decision to issue REMICs or to sell loans in bulk is influenced by a variety of
factors. REMIC transactions are generally accounted for as sales of the mortgage loans and can eliminate or minimize
any long-term residual investment in such loans. REMIC securities consist of one or more classes of "regular interests"
and a single class of "residual interest." The regular interests are tailored to the needs of investors and may be issued in
multiple classes with varying maturities, average lives and interest rates. These regular interests are predominantly
senior securities but, in conjunction with providing credit enhancement, may be subordinated to the rights of other
regular interests. The residual interest represents the remainder of the cash flows from the mortgage loans, including, in
some instances, reinvestment income, over the amounts required to be distributed to the regular interests. In some
cases, the regular interests may be structured so that there is no significant residual cash flow, thereby allowing us to
sell our entire interest in the mortgage loans. As a result, in some cases, all of the capital that we originally invested in
the mortgage loans is re-deployed into our operations.

Each series of mortgage-backed securities is typically fully payable from the underlying mortgage assets and the
recourse of investors is limited to such assets and any associated credit enhancement features, such as
senjor/subordinated structures. To the extent we hold subordinated securities that are secured by mortgage loans created
from our REMICs, we generally bear all losses prior to the related senior security holders. Generally, any losses in
excess of the credit enhancement obtained are borne by the security holders. In the case of a breach of the standard
representations and warranties made by us when mortgage loans are securitized, such securities are non-recourse to us.
Typically, we have recourse to the sellers of loans for any such breaches, but there are no assurances of the sellers’
abilities to honor their respective obligations.

Credit Enhancement. REMICs created by us are structured so that one or more of the classes of securities are rated
investment grade by at least one nationally recognized rating agency. In contrast to agency certificates, or pass-through
certificates guaranteed by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac in which the principal and interest payments are guaranteed by
the U.S. government or one of its agencies, securities created by us do not benefit from any such guarantee. The ratings
for our REMICs are based upon the perceived credit risk by the applicable rating agency of the underlying mortgage
loans, the structure of the securities and the associated level of credit enhancement. Credit enhancement is designed to
provide protection to the security holders in the event of borrower defaults and other losses including those associated
with fraud or reductions in the principal balances or interest rates on mortgage loans as required by law or a bankruptcy
court.

We can utilize multiple forms of credit enhancement, including special hazard insurance, private mortgage
insurance reserve funds, letters of credit, surety bonds, over-collateralization and subordination or any combination of
the foregoing. In determining whether to provide credit enhancement through subordination or other credit
enhancement methods, we take into consideration the costs associated with each method. Ratings of mortgage-backed
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securities are based primarily upon the characteristics of the pool of underlying mortgage loans and associated credit
enhancement. A decline in the credit quality of such pools, including delinquencies and/or credit losses above initial
expectations, or of any third-party credit enhancement, or adverse developments in general economic trends affecting
real estate values or the mortgage industry, could result in downgrades of such ratings.

In connection with the securitization of B/C loans, the levels of subordination required as credit enhancement for
the more senior classes of securities issued are higher than those with respect to non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans.
Similarly, in connection with the securitization of mortgage loans secured by second liens, the levels of subordination
required as credit enhancement for the more senior classes of securities issued are higher than those with respect to
mortgage loans secured by first liens. Thus, to the extent that we retain any of the subordinated securities created in
connection with securitizations and losses with respect to pools of B/C loans or mortgage loans secured by second liens
are higher than expected, our future earnings could be adversely affected.

Master Servicing and Servicing
Master Servicing

General. We generally perform the function of master servicer with respect to mortgage loans we securitize. Our
function as master servicer includes collecting loan payments from other loan servicers and remitting loan payments,
less master servicing fees receivable and other fees, to a trustee or other purchaser for each series of mortgage-backed
securities or loans master serviced. In addition, as master servicer, we monitor compliance with our servicing
guidelines and are required to perform, or to contract with a third party to perform, all obligations not adequately
performed by any loan servicer. A master servicer typically employs loan servicers to carry out primary servicing
functions. In addition, we act as the master servicer for all loans acquired by the long-term investment operations. With
respect to [IFC's function as a master servicer for loans owned by IMH, IFC and IMH have entered into agreements with
terms substantially similar to those described below for servicing agreements. Master servicing fees are generally 0.03%
per annum on the declining principal balances of the loans serviced. As of December 31, 2001, IFC owned master
servicing rights on $5.6 billion in principal balance of outstanding mortgage loans and $4.0 billion as of December 31,
2000.

We offer our correspondents the right to retain servicing. In the case of servicing retained mortgage loans, we will
enter into servicing agreements with the sellers of mortgage loans to service the mortgage loans they sell to us. Each
servicing agreement will require the servicer to service our mortgage loans as required under our servicing guide, which
is generally consistent with Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac guidelines and procedures. Each servicer will collect and
remit principal and interest payments, administer mortgage escrow accounts, submit and pursue insurance claims and
initiate and supervise foreclosure proceedings on the mortgage loans serviced. Each servicer will also provide us with
required accounting and reporting services for loans serviced. The servicer will be required to follow collection
procedures as are customary in the industry. The servicer may, at their discretion, arrange with a defaulting borrower a
schedule for the liquidation of delinquencies, provided primary mortgage insurance coverage is not adversely affected.
Each servicing agreement will provide that the servicer may not assign any of its obligations with respect to the
mortgage loans serviced for us, unless receiving our consent.

The following table presents the amount of delinquent loans in our master servicing portfolio (dollars in millions):

At December 31,2001 At December 31, 2000
% of % of
Principal Master Principal Master
Balance  Servicing  Balance  Servicing
of Loans Portfolio of Leans  Portfolio

Loaps delinquent for:

60-89 daYs ....c.eorreriietcee et $ 725 1.30% $§ 658 1.63%
90 days ANA OVET ..........covvrerreereeeereerersssersse s sscensnssesaseens 72.5 1.30 26.0 0.64
Total 60 days and OVET ........ccoccvvirciiiciiiiineeecrce e 145.0 2.60 91.8 2.27
Foreclosures pending..........cocecvreeeeirnienicenrcoccrerneeas 132.6 2.38 57.1 0.56
Bankruptcies Pending .............eeeeerumeerrecnceeninieeisnienensins 22.1 0.40 22.5 141
Total delinquencies, foreclosures and bankruptcies.......... § 2997 538% § 1714 4.24%
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Master Servicing Fees. We expect to retain master servicing fees on loans sold. Master servicing fees receivable
have characteristics similar to "interest-only" securities. Accordingly, master servicing fees receivable have many of
the same risks inherent in "interest-only” securities, including the risk that they will lose a substantial portion of their
value as a result of rapid prepayments occasioned by declining interest rates. Master servicing fees receivable represent
the present value of the difference between the interest rate on mortgage loans purchased by us and the interest rate
received by investors who purchase the securities backed by such loans, in excess of the normal loan servicing fees
charged by either the mortgage operations on loans acquired "servicing released” or correspondents who sold loans to
the mortgage operations with "servicing retained.” We intend to hold the master servicing fees receivable for
investment. Accordingly, if we had to sell these receivables, the value received may or may not be at or above the
values at which we carried them on our balance sheet. In determining present value of future cash flows, we will use a
market discount rate. Prepayment assumptions will be based on recent evaluations of the actual prepayments of our
servicing portfolio or on market prepayment rates on new portfolios and the interest rate environment at the time the
master servicing fees receivable are created. We believe that, depending upon the level of interest rates from time to
time, investments in current coupon master servicing fees receivable may be prudent, and if interest rates rise, these
investments will mitigate declines in income that may occur.

Servicing

General. We subcontract all of our servicing obligations to independent third parties pursuant to sub-servicing
agreements. We believe that the selection of third-party sub-servicers or the sale of servicing rights is more effective
than establishing a servicing department within our mortgage operations. However, part of our responsibility is to
continually monitor the performance of the sub-servicers or servicers through monthly performance reviews and regular
site visits. Depending on sub-servicer reviews, we may in the future rely on our internal collection group to take an ever
more active role to assist the sub-servicer in the servicing of loans. Servicing includes collecting and remitting loan
payments, making required advances, accounting for principal and interest, holding escrow or impound funds for
payment of taxes and insurance, if applicable, making required inspections of the mortgaged property, contacting
delinquent borrowers, and supervising foreclosures and property dispositions in the event of unremedied defaults in
accordance with our guidelines. Servicing fees range from 0.25% per annum for FRMs to 0.50% per annum for B/C
loans and 0.375% for ARMSs on the declining principal balances of loans serviced. Additionally, we eam interest, or
"float," on principal and interest payments we receive from our borrowers until those payments are remitted to the
investors in those loans. As of December 31, 2001, IFC owned servicing rights on $1.8 billion in principal balance of
outstanding mortgage loans as compared to $2.4 billion as of December 31, 2000.

We generally acquire all of our loans on a servicing released basis. To the extent IFC finances the acquisition of
loans with its warehouse line with IWLG, IFC pledges loans and the related servicing rights to IWLG as collateral. As a
result, IWLG has an absolute right to control the servicing of such loans, including the right to collect payments on the
underlying mortgage loans, and to foreclose upon the underlying real property in the case of default. Typically, IWLG
delegates its right to service the mortgage loans securing the warehouse line to IFC.

The following table presents information regarding our servicing portfolio for the periods shown (dollars in

millions, except average loan size):
Year ended Year ended

December 31,2001 December 31, 2000

Beginning servicing portfolio...........ccccvimveriniinicieceree e h) 2,428.9 5 2,393.4
Add: Loan aCquiSitions........ccocovueeiiicerereceieericieiieeeectcve e eteeeen e 3,154.7 2,078.8
Less: Servicing transferred ............coocvveiivveiiiicriee e eernens (2,866.1) (1,266.0)
Principal paydowns P............ooovuivvoeereerereeeereeeer e (963.1) (777.3)
Ending Servicing POItfOlio ... eeeereeererseeerereeeremesseseeereeesesesereserene. $ 1,7544 8 2,428.9
Number of 10ans SErviced .......couvvivviniereciiiiiece e eanens 14,570 20,644
AVETAZE 101 SIZE......veeveiriereeeicriiee ettt fa et b $ 120,000 $ 118,000
Weighted aVerage COUPON.......evruvvrurreerrereriiriieieresee e ereeessesssaenes 8.80% 9.88%

(1) Includes normal principal runoff and principal prepayments.
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Mortgage Servicing Rights. When we acquire and originate loans which include the associated servicing rights, the
allocated price paid for the servicing rights is reflected on our financial statements as mortgage servicing rights, or
"MSRs." MSRs differ from master servicing fees receivable primarily by the required amount of servicing to be
performed, the loss exposure to the owner of the instrument, and the financial liquidity of the instrument. In contrast to
MSRs, where the owner of the instrument acts as the servicer, master servicing fees receivable do not require the owner
of the instrument to service the underlying mortgage loan. In addition, master servicing fees receivable subject their
owners to greater loss exposure from delinquencies or foreclosure on the underlying mortgage loans than MSRs because
a master servicer stands behind the servicer and potentially the owner of the mortgage loan in priority of payment. Both
MSRs and master servicing fees receivable are purchased and sold in the secondary markets. However, MSRs are
generally more liquid and can be sold at less of a discount as compared to master servicing fees receivable. During
periods of declining interest rates, prepayments of mortgage loans increase as homeowners look to refinance at lower
rates, resulting in a decrease in the value of our MSRs. Mortgage loans with higher interest rates are more likely to
result in prepayments.

Warehouse Lending Operations

The Warehouse Lending Operations, conducted by IWLG, provide reverse repurchase financing to affiliated
companies and to approved mortgage banks, some of which are correspondents of the mortgage operations, to finance
mortgage loans during the time from the closing of the loans to their sale or other settlement with pre-approved
investors. The warehouse lending operations relies mainly on the sale or liquidation of the mortgage loans as a source
of repayment. Any claim of the warehouse lending operations as a secured lender in a bankruptcy proceeding may be
subject to adjustment and delay. Borrowings under the warehouse facilities are presented on our balance sheets as
finance receivables. The mortgage operations outstanding warehouse line balances on the warehouse lending operations
balance sheet are structured to qualify under REIT asset tests and to generate income qualifying under the 75% gross
income test. Terms of affiliated warehouse lines are based on Bank of America’s prime rate with advance rates between
90% and 98% of the fair value of the mortgage loans outstanding. Outstanding warehouse line balances to non-
affiliates on the warehouse lending operations balance sheet may not qualify under REIT asset tests and may not
generate income qualifying under the 75% gross income test. Terms of non-affiliated warehouse lines, including the
commitment amount, are determined based upon the financial strength, historical performance and other qualifications
of the borrower.

Regulation

Rules and regulations applicable to the mortgage operations prohibit discrimination. We establish underwriting
guidelines that include provisions for inspections and appraisals, require credit reports on prospective borrowers and
determine maximum loan amounts. Mortgage loan acquisition and origination activities are subject to, among other
laws, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, Federal Truth-in-Lending Act and the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act
and regulations promulgated that prohibit discrimination and require the disclosure of certain basic information to
mortgagors concerning credit terms and settlement costs. IFC is an approved Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac seller and/or
servicer. IFC is subject to the rules and reguiations of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac with respect to acquiring,
processing, selling and servicing conforming mortgage loans. In addition, IFC is required annually to submit to Fannie
Mae and Freddie Mac audited financial statements, and each regulatory entity has its own financial requirements for
sellers/servicers. For any conforming mortgage loan activities, IFC’s affairs are also subject to examination by Fannie
Mae and Freddie Mac at any time to assure compliance with applicable regulations, policies and procedures.
Additionally, there are various state and local laws and regulations affecting the mortgage operations. The mortgage
operations may also be subject to applicable state usury statutes.

Competition

In purchasing and acquiring non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans and issuing securities backed by such loans, we
compete with established mortgage conduit programs, investment banking firms, savings and loan associations, banks,
thrift and loan associations, finance companies, mortgage bankers, insurance companies, other lenders and other entities
purchasing mortgage assets. Consolidation in the mortgage banking industry may also reduce the number of current
sellers available to the mortgage operations, reducing our potential customer base and resulting in the mortgage
operations acquiring and originating a larger percentage of mortgage loans from a smaller number of sellers. Changes
of this nature could negatively impact our businesses.
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Mortgage-backed securities issued by the mortgage operations and the long-term investment operations face
competition from other investment opportunities available to prospective investors. We face competition in our
mortgage operations and warehouse lending operations from other financial institutions, including but not limited to
banks and investment banks. OQur competitors include IndyMac Bancorp, Inc., Greenpoint Financial Corporation,
Residential Funding Corporation, Aurora Loan Services, Inc. and Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation. Competition
can take place on various levels, including convenience in obtaining a mortgage loan, service, marketing, origination
channels and pricing. We depend primarily on correspondents and independent mortgage brokers for the acquisition and
origination of our mortgage loans. These independent mortgage brokers deal with multiple lenders for each prospective
borrower. We compete with these lenders for the independent brokers' business on the basis of price, service, loan fees,
costs and other factors. Our competitors also seek to establish relationships with such brokers, who are not obligated by
contract or otherwise to do business with us. Many of the institutions with which we compete in our mortgage
operations and warehouse lending operations have significantly greater financial resources than we have. However, we
can compete effectively with other non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loan conduits through our efficient loan purchasing
process, flexible purchase commitment options and competitive pricing and by designing non-conforming Alt-A
mortgage loans that suit the needs of our correspondents and their borrowers, which is intended to provide sufficient
credit quality to our investors.

Employees

As of December 31, 2001, we had 361 full- and part-time employees and temporary and contract employees. The
mortgage operations employed 339 full- and part-time employees and temporary and contract employees, of which 80
were employed by Novelle Financial Services, and the warehouse lending operations employed 22 full- and part-time
employees and temporary and contract employees. Employees and operating management of the long-term investment
operations and mortgage operations are employed by IFC while employees of the warechouse lending operations are
employed by IWLG. Management believes that relations with its employees are good. The Company is not a party to
any collective bargaining agreement.

Future Revisions in Policies and Strategies

Our board of directors has established our investment and operating policies and strategies. Our core operations
involve the acquisition and origination of mortgage loans and their subsequent securitization and sale. We also act as a
warehouse lender providing financing facilities to mortgage loan originators. These operations, their associated policies
and strategies, are further described herein. Our board of directors has delegated our asset/liability management to the
Asset/Liability Committee, or "ALCO," which reports to the board of directors at least quarterly. See a further
discussion of ALCO in "Management’s Discussion of Financial Condition and Results of Operations." Any of our
policies, strategies and activities may be modified or waived by our board of directors without stockholder consent.
Developments in the market which affect the policies and strategies mentioned herein or which change our assessment
of the market may cause our board of directors to revise our policies and financing strategies.

We have elected to qualify as a REIT for tax purposes. We have adopted certain compliance guidelines, which
include restrictions on the acquisition, holding and sale of assets. Prior to the acquisition of any asset, we determine
whether the asset meets REIT requirements. Substantially all of the assets that we have acquired and will acquire for
investment are expected to qualify as REIT assets. This requirement limits our investment strategies.

IMH primarily invests in non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans that are acquired from our mortgage operations.
To a lesser extent, IMH acquires B/C loans. Our mortgage operations generally do not acquire or originate mortgage
loans with principal balances above $750,000 for non-conforming Alt-A credit quality loans and $500,000 for B/C
loans. IMH does not have a limit on the proportion of its assets that may be invested in each type of mortgage loan.
Our goal is that mortgage-backed securities do not consist more than 10% of our total assets.

We closely monitor our acquisition and investment in mortgage assets and the sources of our income, including
income from our hedging strategies, to ensure at all times that we maintain our qualifications as a REIT. We have
developed certain accounting systems and testing procedures to facilitate our ongoing compliance with the REIT
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. No changes in our investment policies and operating strategies, including
credit criteria for mortgage asset investments, may be made without the approval of our board of directors.

We may at times and on terms that our board of directors deems appropriate:
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e [ssue senior securities - In December 1999, we issued $30.0 million of Series B 10.5% Convertible Preferred
Stock. In February 2000, all shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock were exchanged for Series C
10.5% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock and the conversion rate was adjusted to $4.72 per share from
$4.95 per share convertible into 5.29661 shares of common stock from 5.050505 shares of common stock. In
August 2001, the shares of Series C Preferred Stock were converted to common stock;

* Borrow money - We finance our operations in large part through the issuance of CMOs, short-term borrowings
under reverse repurchase agreements and borrowings secured by mortgage-backed securities. In addition, in
March 1999, certain of our stockholders exchanged 1,359,507 shares of our common stock held by them, at an
average price of $5.70 per share, for our 11% senior subordinated debentures due February 15, 2004. The
debentures bore interest at 11% per annum and mature on February 15, 2004, Commencing on February 15,
2001, the debentures became redeemable at our option, and, in June 2001, we redeemed all of the debentures at
a price equal to the face amount of the debentures plus accrued and unpaid interest;

e  Make loans to other persons;
e Invest in securities of other issuers for the purpose of exercising control;

» Engage in the purchase and sale of investments - In connection with the issuance of mortgage-backed
securities by our mortgage operations in the form of REMICs, our long-term investment operations may retain
senior or subordinated securities on a short-term or long-term basis;

e  Offer securities in exchange for property - In March 1999, certain of our stockholders exchanged 1,359,507
shares of their common stock at an average price of $5.70 per share for 11% senior subordinated debentures;
and,

* Repurchase or otherwise reacquire our shares or other securities in the future - In October 1998, we adopted a
repurchase plan to repurchase up to $5.0 million of our common stock in the open market. In 1999, the board
of directors approved common stock repurchases up to an additional $5.0 million, or a total of $10.0 million.
During 1999, we repurchased 2.0 million shares of our common stock for $9.9 million. During 2000, we
adopted a repurchase plan to repurchase up to $3.0 million of our common stock in the open market. During
2000, we repurchased 991,000 shares for $2.3 million and did not repurchase any shares during 2001.

We may also underwrite the securities of other issuers, although we have not done so in the past and have no

present intention to do so. Historically, we have and intend to continue to distribute annua} reports to our stockholders,
including financial statements certified by independent auditors, describing our current business and strategy.

RISK FACTORS

A prolonged economic downturn or recession would likely result in a reduction of our mortgage origination
activity which would adversely affect our financial results

Although we have not operated during a period of prolonged general economic downturn or a recession, these
events have historically resulted in a reduction in mortgage origination activity and an increase in the rate of mortgage
defaults. An economic downturn or a recession may have a significant adverse impact on our operations and our
financial condition. For example, a reduction in new mortgages will adversely affect our ability to expand our mortgage
portfolio, our principal means of increasing our earnings. In addition, a decline in new mortgage activity will likely
result in reduced activity for our warehouse lending operations and our long-term investment operations. In the case of
our mortgage operations, a decline in mortgage activity may result in fewer loans that meet its criteria for purchase and
securitization, thus resulting in a reduction in interest income and fees and gain on sale of loans. We may also
experience larger than previously reported losses on our investment portfolio due to a higher level of defaults on our
mortgage loans.
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If we are unable to generate sufficient liquidity we will be unable to conduct our operations as planned

If we cannot generate sufficient liquidity, we will be unable to continue to grow our operations, grow our asset
base, maintain our current hedging policy and pay dividends. We have traditionally derived our liquidity from four
primary sources:

» financing facilities provided to us by others to acquire or originate mortgage assets;
¢ whole loan sales and securitizations of acquired or originated mortgage loans;
e our issuance of equity and debt securities; and

e earnings from operations.

We cannot assure you that any of these alternatives 'will be available to us, or if available, that we will be able to
negotiate favorable terms. Our ability to meet our long-term liquidity requirements is subject to the renewal of our
credit and repurchase facilities and/or obtaining other scurces of financing, including additional debt or equity from
time to time. Any decision by our lenders and/or investcrs to make additional funds available to us in the future wiil
depend upon a number of factors, such as our compliance with the terms of our existing credit arrangements, our
financial performance, industry and market trends in our various businesses, the lenders’ and/or investors’ own
resources and policies concerning loans and investments, and the relative attractiveness of alternative investment or
lending opportunities. If we cannot raise cash by selling debt or equity securities, we may be forced to sell our assets at
unfavorable prices or discontinue various business activit'ies. Our inability to access the capital markets could have a
negative impact on our earnings and hence, our ability to pay dividends.

Any significant margin calls under our financing facilities would adversely affect our liquidity and may
adversely affect our financial results

Prior to the fourth quarter of 1998, we generally had no difficulty in obtaining favorable financing facilities or in
selling acquired mortgage loans. However, during the fourth quarter of 1998, the mortgage industry experienced
substantial turmoil as a result of a lack of liquidity in the secondary markets. At that time, investors expressed
unwillingness to purchase interests in securitizations due, it part, to:

s the lack of financing to acquire these securitization interests;

s the widening of returns expected by institutional investors on securitization interests over the prevailing
Treasury rate; and

s  market uncertainty.

As a result, many mortgage loan originators, including our company, were unable to access the securitization
market on favorable terms. This resulted in some companies declaring bankruptcy. Originators, like our company,
were required to sell loans on a whole loan basis and liquidate holdings of mortgage-backed securities to repay short-
term borrowings. However, the large amount of loans available for sale on a whole loan basis affected the pricing
offered for these loans, which in turn reduced the value of the collateral underlying the financing facilities. Therefore,
many providers of financing facilities initiated margin calls. Margin calls resulted when our lenders evaluated the
market value of the collateral securing our financing facilities and required us to provide them with additional equity or
collateral to secure our borrowings.

Our financing facilities were short-term borrowings ard due to the turmoil in the mortgage industry during the
latter part of 1998 many traditional providers of financing facilities were unwilling to provide facilities on favorable
terms, or at all. Our current financing facilities continue to te short-term borrowings and we expect this to continue. If
we cannot renew or replace maturing borrowings, we may have to sell, on a whole loan basis, the loans securing these
facilities which, depending upon market conditions, may result in substantial losses.
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We incurred losses for fiscal years 1997, 1998 and 2000 and may incur losses in the future

During the year ended December 31, 2000, we experienced a net loss of $54.2 million. The net loss incwred
during 2000 included non-cash accounting charges of $68.9 million. The non-cash accounting charges were the result
of write-downs of non-performing investment securities secured by mortgages and additional increases in allowance for
loan losses to provide for the deteriorating performance of collateral supporting specific investment securities. During
the year ended December 31, 1998, we experienced a net loss of $5.9 million. During the year ended December 31,
1997, we experienced a net loss of $16.0 million. The net loss incurred during 1997 included a non-cash accounting
charge of $44.4 million that was the result of expenses related to the termination and buyout of our management
agreement with Imperial Credit Advisors, Inc. We cannot be certain that revenues will remain at current levels or
improve or that we will be profitable in the future, which could prevent us from effectuating our business strategy.

If we are unable to complefe securitizations, we would face a liquidity shortage which would adversely affect our
operating results B

We rely significantly upon securitizations to generate cash proceeds to repay borrowings and to create credit
availability. Any reduction in our ability to complete securitizations may require us to utilize other sources of
financing, which, if available at all, may be on unfavorable terms. In addition, delays in closing securitizations of our
mortgage loans increase our risk by exposing our company to credit and interest rate risks for this extended period of
time. Furthermore, gains on sales from our securitizations represent a significant portion of our earnings. Several
factors could affect our ability to complete securitizations of our mortgages, including:

e conditions in the securities and secondary markets;

e  credit quality of the mortgage loans acquired or originated through our mortgage opérations;
*  volume of our mortgage loan acquisitions and originations;

e our ability to obtain credit enhancements; and

» lack of investors purchasing higher risk components of the securities.

If we are unable to profitably securitize a significant number of our mortgage loans in a particular financial
reporting period, then we could experience lower income or a loss for that period. As a result of turmoil in the
securitization market during the latter part of 1998, many mortgage lenders, including our company, were required to
sell mortgage loans on a whole loan basis under adverse market conditions in order to generate liquidity. Many of these
sales were made at prices lower than our carrying value of the mortgage loans and we experienced substantial losses.
We cannot assure you that we will be able to continue to profitably securitize or sell our loans on a whole loan basis, or
at all. ’ '

The market for first loss risk securities, which are securities that take the first loss when mortgages are not paid by
the borrowers, is generally limited. In connection with our REMIC securitizations, we endeavor to sell all securities
subjecting us to a first loss risk. If we cannot sell these securities, we may be required to hold them for an extended
period, subjecting us to a first loss risk.

Our borrowings and use of substantial leverage may cause losses
Our use of collateralized mortgage obligations may expose our operations to credit losses

To grow our investment portfolio, we borrow a substantial portion of the market value of substantially all of our
investments in mortgage loans in the form of CMOs. Historically, we have borrowed approximately 98% of the market
value of such investments. There are no limitations on the amount we may borrow, other than the aggregate value of
the underlying mortgage loans. We currently use CMOs as financing vehicles to increase our leverage, since mortgage
loans held for CMO collateral are retained for investment rather than sold in a secondary market transaction. Retaining
mortgage loans as collateral for collateralized mortgage obligations exposes our operations to greater credit losses than
does the use of other securitization techniques that are treated as sales because as the equity holder in the security, we
are allocated losses from the liquidation of defaulted loans first prior to any other security holder. Although our liability
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under a collateralized mortgage obligation is limited to the collateral used to create the collateralized mortgage
obligation, we generally are required to make a cash equity investment to fund collateral in excess of the amount of the
securities issued in order to obtain the appropriate credit ratings for the securities being sold, and therefore obtain the
lowest interest rate available, on the CMOs. If we experience greater credit losses than expected on the pool of loans
subject to the CMO, the value of our equity investment will decrease and we would have to increase the allowance for
loan losses on our financial statements.

The cost of our borrowings may exceed the return on our assets

The cost of borrowings under our financing facilities corresponds to a referenced interest rate plus or minus a
margin. The margin varies depending on factors such as the nature and liquidity of the underlying collateral and the
availability of financing in the market. We will experience net interest losses if the returns on our assets financed with
borrowed funds fail to cover the cost of our borrowings, and we did not implement any applicable financial hedges.

If we default under our financing facilities, we may be forced to liguidate the collateral at prices less than the
amount borrowed

If we default under our financing facilities, our lenders could force us to liquidate the collateral. If the value of the
collateral is less than the amount borrowed, we could be required to pay the difference in cash. If we were to declare
bankruptcy, some of our reverse repurchase agreements my obtain special treatment and our creditors would then be
allowed to liquidate the collateral without any delay. On the other hand, if a lender with whom we have a reverse
repurchase agreement declares bankruptcy, we might experience difficulty repurchasing our collateral, or enforcing our
claim for damages, and it is possible that our claim could be repudiated and we could be treated as an unsecured
creditor. If this occurs, our claims would be subject to significant delay and we may receive substantially less than our
actual damages or nothing at all.

If we are forced to liguidate we may have few unpledged assets for distribution to unsecured creditors

We have pledged a substantial portion of our assets to secure the repayment of collateralized mortgage obligations
issued in securitizations, our financing facilities and our otlier borrowings. We will also pledge substantially all of our
current and future mortgage loans to secure borrowings perding their securitization or sale. The cash flows we receive
from our investments that have not yet been distributed, pledged or used to acquire mortgage loans or other investments
may be the only unpledged assets available to our unsecurec! creditors and you if our company was liguidated.

Interest rate fluctuations may adversely affect our opersting results

Our operations, as a portfolio manager, a mortgage loan acquirer and originator or a warchouse lender, may be
adversely affected by rising and falling interest rates. Higher interest rates may discourage potential borrowers from
refinancing mortgages, borrowing to purchase homes or seeking second mortgages. This may decrease the amount of
mortgages available to be acquired or originated by our mortgage operations and decrease the demand for warehouse
financing provided by our warehouse lending operations. If short-term interest rates exceed long-term interest rates,
there is a higher risk of increased loan prepayments, as borrowers may seek to refinance their fixed and adjustable rate
mortgage loans at lower long-term fixed interest rates. Increased loan prepayments could lead to a reduction in the
number of loans in our investment portfolio and reduce our net interest income.

We are subject to the risk of rising mortgage interest rates between the time we commit to purchase mortgages at a
fixed price through the issuance of individual, bulk or other rate-locks and the time we sell or securitize those
mortgages. An increase in interest rates will generally result in a decrease in the market value of mortgages that we
have committed to purchase at a fixed price, but have not been sold or securitized or have not been properly hedged. As
aresult, we may record a smaller gain, or even a loss, upon the sale or securitization of those mortgage loans.

We may experience losses if our liabilities re-price at different rates than our assets
Our principal source of revenue is net interest income or net interest spread from our investment portfolio, which is
the difference between the interest we earn on our interest carning assets and the interest we pay on our interest bearing

liabilities. The rates we pay on our borrowings are independent of the rates we earn on our assets and may be subject to
more frequent periodic rate adjustments. Therefore, we c¢ould experience a decrease in net interest income or a net
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interest loss because the interest rates on our borrowings could increase faster than the interest rates on our assets. If
our net interest spread becomes negative, we will be paying more interest on our borrowings than we will be earning on
our assets and we will be exposed to a risk of loss.

Additionally, the rates paid on our borrowings and the rates received on our assets may be based upon different
indices, for instance, LIBOR, U.S. Treasuries, etc. If the index used to determine the rate on our borrowings increases
faster than the index used to determine the rate on our assets, we will experience a declining net interest spread, which
will have a negative impact on our profitability, and may result in losses.

An increase in our adjustable interest rate borrowings may decrease the net interest margin on our adjustable
rate mortgages

As of December 31 2001, 67% of the mortgage loans held by our long-term investment operations were hybrid
ARMs. These are mortgages with fixed interest rates for an initial period of time, which then become mortgages with
variable or adjustable interest rates or begin bearing interest based upon short-term interest rate indices, or ARMs. We
generally fund mortgages with variable interest rate borrowings that are indexed to. short-term interest rates and adjust
periodically at various intervals. To the extent that there is an increase in the interest rate index used to determine our
adjustable interest rate borrowings and that increase is not offset by various interest rate hedges that we have in place at
any given time, our net interest margin will decrease or become negative. As of December 31, 2001, hybrid ARMs in
our long-term investment portfolio had a weighted average months to interest rate adjustment of 15 months.

We may suffer a net interest loss on our adjustable rate mortgages that have interest rate caps if the interest rates
on our related borrowings increase

Adjustable rate mortgages typically have interest rate caps, which limit interest rates charged to the borrower
during any given period. Our borrowings are not subject to similar restrictions. As a result, in a period of rapidly
increasing interest rates, the interest rates we pay on our borrowings could increase without limitation, while the interest
rates we earn on our adjustable rate mortgage assets would be capped. If this occurs, our net earnings could be
significantly reduced or we could suffer a net interest loss.

Increased levels of prepayments of our adjustable rate mortgage loans may accelerate our expenses and decrease
our net income

Mortgage prepayments generally increase on our adjustable rate mortgages when fixed mortgage interest rates fall
below the then-current interest rates on outstanding adjustable rate mortgage loans. Prepayments on mortgage loans are
also affected by the terms and credit grades of the loans, conditions in the housing and financial markets and general
economic conditions. Most of the adjustable rate mortgages that we acquire are originated within three months of the
time we purchased the mortgages and generally bear initial interest rates that are lower than their fully-indexed amount
(the applicable index plus the margin). If we acquire these mortgages at a premium and they are prepaid prior to or
soon after the time of adjustment to a fully-indexed rate without payment of any prepay penalty, we would not have
received interest at the fully-indexed rate during such period and we must expense the unamortized premiuvm that was
paid for the loan at the time of the prepayment. This means we would lose the opportunity to earn interest at that rate
over the expected life of the mortgage. Also, if prepayments on our adjustable rate mortgage loans increase when
interest rates are declining, our net interest income may decrease if we cannot reinvest the prepayments in mortgage
assets bearing comparable rates. Prepayments on fixed rate mortgages will also decrease our net interest income when
interest rates are declining. As of December 31, 2001, 54% of mortgage loans held by our long-term investment
operations had active prepayment penalty features. .

We generally acquire mortgages on a servicing released basis, meaning we acquire both the mortgages and the
rights to service them. This strategy requires us to pay a higher purchase price or premium for the mortgages. If the
mortgage loans that we acquire at a premium prepay faster than originally projected, generally accepted accounting
principles require us to write down the remaining capitalized premium amounts at a faster speed than was originally
prOJected which would decrease our current net interest income.
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The value of our portfolio of mortgage-backed securities raay be adversely affected by unforeseen events

Qur prior investments in residual interest and suborcinated debt investments exposed us to greater risks as
compared to senior mortgage-backed securities

Prior to 1998, we invested in mortgage-backed securities known as interest-only, principal-only, residual interest or
other subordinated securities. Investments in residual interest and subordinated securities are much riskier than
investments in senior mortgage-backed securities because these subordinated securities bear all credit losses prior to the
related senior securities. The risk associated with holding rzsidual interest and subordinated securities is greater than
holding the underlying mortgage loans directly due to the concentration of losses attributed to the subordinated
securities.

If the projected value of our portfolio of residual interest and subordinated debt instruments is incorrect we would
have to write down the value of these securities.

We estimate future cash flows from these securities and value them utilizing assumptions based in part on projected
discount rates, mortgage loan prepayments and credit losses. If our actual experience differs from our assumptions, we
would be required to reduce the value of these securities. The market for our asset-backed securities is extremely
limited and we cannot assure you that we could sell these s:curities at their reported value, or at any value or that we
could recoup our initial investment.

In addition, we may not obtain our anticipated yield or we may incur losses if the credit support available within
certain mortgage-backed securities is inadequate due to unanticipated levels of losses, or due to difficulties experienced
by the credit support provider. Delays or difficulties encountered in servicing the mortgages in mortgage-backed
securities may cause greater losses and, therefore, greater resort to credit support than was originally anticipated, and
may cause a rating agency to downgrade certain classes of our mortgage-backed securities, which might then equate to a
reduction of the value of the security.

We undertake additional risks by acquiring and investing in mortgage loans
We may be subject to losses on mortgage loans for which we do not obtain credit enhancements

We do not obtain credit enhancements such as mortgage pool or special hazard insurance for all of our mortgage
loans and investments. Generally, we require mortgage insurance on any loan with a loan-to-value ratio greater than
80%. During the time we hold mortgage loans for investment, we are subject to risks of borrower defaults and
bankruptcies and special hazard losses that are not covered by standard hazard insurance. If a borrower defaults on a
mortgage loan that we hold, we bear the risk of loss of principal to the extent there is any deficiency between the value
of the related mortgaged property and the amount owing on the mortgage loan and any insurance proceeds available to
us through the mortgage insurer. In addition, since defaulted mortgage loans, which under our financing arrangements
are mortgage loans that are generally 60 to 90 days delinquent in payments, may be considered ineligible collateral
under our borrowing arrangements, we could bear the risk of being required to own these loans without the use of
borrowed funds until they are ultimately liquidated or possibly sold at a loss.

Non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans expose us to greater credit risks

We are an acquirer and originator of non-conforming; Alt-A residential mortgage loans. These are residential
mortgages that do not qualify for purchase by government sponsored agencies such as the Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.
Our operations may be negatively affected due to our investments in non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans. Credit
risks associated with non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans are greater than conforming mortgage loans. The interest
rates we charge on non-conforming Alt-A loans are often higher than those charged for conforming loans in order to
compensate for the higher risk and lower liquidity. Lower levels of liquidity may cause us to hold loans or other
mortgage-related assets supported by these loans that we otherwise would not hold. By doing this, we assume the
potential risk of increased delinquency rates and/or credit losses as well as interest rate risk. Additionally, the
combination of different underwriting criteria and higher rates of interest leads to greater risk, including higher
prepayment rates and higher delinquency rates and/or credit losses.
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Lending to non-conforming Alt-A borrowers may expose us to a higher risk of delinquencies, foreclosures and
losses ‘

As a lender of non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans, our market includes borrowers who may be unable to obtain
morigage financing from conventional mortgage sources. Loans made to such non-conforming Alt-A borrowers
generally entail a higher risk of delinquency and higher losses than loans made to borrowers who utilize conventionai
mortgage sources. Delinquency, foreclosures and losses generally increase during economic slowdowns or recessions.
The actual risk of delinquencies, foreclosures and losses on loans made to non-conforming Alt-A borrowers could be
higher under adverse economic conditions than those currently experienced in the mortgage lending industry in general.
Further, any material decline in real estate values increases the loan-to-value ratios of loans previously made by us,
thereby weakening collateral coverage and increasing the possibility of a loss in the event of a borrower default. Any
sustained period of increased delinquencies, foreclosures or losses after the loans are sold could adversely affect the
pricing of our future loan sales and our ability to sell or securitize our loans in the future. In the past, certain of these
factors have caused revenues and net income of many participants in the mortgage industry, including us, to fluctuate
from quarter to quarter.

Our use of second mortgages exposes us to greater credit risks

Our security interest in the property securing second mortgages is subordinated to the interest of the first mortgage
holder and the second mortgages have a higher cumulative loan-to-value ratio. If the value of the property is equal to or
less than the amount needed to repay the borrower’s obligation to the first mortgage holder upon foreclosure, our second
mortgage loan will not be repaid. As of December 31, 2001, 1% of mortgage loans held by our long-term investment
operations were second mortgages.

The geographic concentration of our mortgage loans increases our exposure to risks in those areas

We do not set limitations on the percentage of our mortgage asset portfolio composed of properties located in any
one area (whether by state, zip code or other geographic measure). Concentration in any one area increases our
exposure to the economic and natural hazard risks associated with that area. For instance, certain parts of California
have experienced an economic downturn in past years and California and Florida have suffered the effects of certain
natural hazards. During 2001, mortgage loans secured by California and Florida properties accounted for approximately
56% and 10%, respectively, of mortgage loan acquisitions and originations. As of December 31, 2001, 63% and 5% of
mortgage loans held by our long-term investment operations were secured by properties located in California and
Florida, respectively.

Representations and warranties made by us in our loan sales and securitizations may subject us to liability

In connection with our securitizations, we transfer loans acquired or originated by us into a trust in exchange for
cash and, in the case of a CMO, residual certificates issued by the trust. The trustee will have recourse to us with
respect to the breach of the standard representations and warranties made by us at the time such loans are transferred.
While we generally have recourse to our customers for any such breaches, there can be no assurance of our customers’
abilities to honor their respective obligations. Also, we engage in bulk whole loan sales pursuant to agreements that
generally provide for recourse by the purchaser against us in the event of a breach of one of our representations or
warranties, any fraud or misrepresentation during the mortgage loan origination process, or upon early default on such
mortgage loan. We generally limit the potential remedies of such purchasers to the potential remedies we receive from
the people from whom we acquired or originated the mortgage loans. However, in some cases, the remedies available
to a purchaser of mortgage loans from us may be broader than those available to us against the sellers of the loans and
should a purchaser enforce its remedies against us, we may not always be able to enforce whatever remedies we have
against our customers.

In the ordinary course of our business, we are subject to claims made against us by borrowers and trustees in our
securitizations arising from, among other things, losses that are claimed to have been incurred as a result of alleged
breaches of fiduciary obligations, misrepresentations, errors and omissions of our employees, officers and agents
(including our appraisers), incomplete documentation and our failure to comply with various laws and regulations
applicable to our business. Any claims asserted against us may result in legal expenses or liabilities that could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial.condition.
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We face conflicts of interests based on the ownership of the voting stock of Impac Funding Corporation by
certain officers and directors of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.

We are subject to conflicts of interest arising from our relationship with Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc., our-long-
term investment operations, Impac Funding Corporation, our mortgage operations, and their officers and directors. Our
long-term investment operations acquires non-confirming Alt-A mortgage loans from our mortgage operations. Impac
Mortgage Holdings, Inc. owns all of the preferred stock, and 99% of the economic interest in, Impac Funding
Corporation, Joseph R. Tomkinson, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, William S. Ashmore, our Chief
Operating Officer, President and a director, and Richard J. Johnson, our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer, are holders of all of the outstanding voting stock: of, and 1% of the economic interest in, Impac Funding
Corporation. They have the right to elect all directors of Impac Funding Corporation and the ability to control the
outcome of all matters for which the consent of the holders of the common stock of Impac Funding Corporation is
required. Messer’s Tomkinson, Ashmore and Johnson are also the sole directors of Impac Funding Corporation.
Decisions made by these officers at one company may be at conflict with and have an adverse affect on the operations
of the other. :

A substantial interruption in our use of IDASL may adversely affect our level of mortgage loan acquisitions and
originations

We utilize the Internet in our business principally for the implementation of our automated loan origination
program, IDASL, which stands for Impac Direct Access System for Lending. IDASL is not a lead generator for
mortgage brokers. IDASL allows our customers to pre-qualify borrowers for various loan programs based on criteria
requested from the borrower and renders an automated underwriting decision by issuing an approval of the mortgage
loan or a referral for further review or additional information. All of our correspondents submit loans through IDASL
and all wholesale loans delivered by mortgage brokers zre directly underwritten through IDASL. IDASL may be
interrupted if the Internet experiences periods of poor performance, if our computer systems or the systems of our third-
party service providers contain defects, or if customers are reluctant to use or have inadequate connectivity to the
Internet. Increased government regulation of the Interret could also adversely affect our use of the Internet in
unanticipated ways and discourage our customers from using our services. If our ability to use the Internet in providing
our services is impaired, our ability to originate or acquire loans on an automated basis could be delayed or reduced.
Any substantial delay and reduction in our mortgage loan acquisitions and originations will reduce our net earnings for
the applicable period.

We are subject to risks of operational failure that are beyond our control

Substantially all of our operations are located in Newport Beach, California. Our systems and operations are
vulnerable to damage and interruption from fire, flood, telecommunications failure, break-ins, earthquake and similar
events. Our operations may also be interrupted by power disruptions, including rolling black-outs implemented in
California due to the state’s continuing acute power shortage. We do not maintain alternative power sources.
Furthermore, our security mechanisms may be inadequate to prevent security breaches to our computer systems,
including from computer viruses, electronic break-ins and similar disruptions. Such security breaches or operational
failures could expose us to liability, impair our operations, result in losses, and harm our reputation.

Our reliance on third-party software for the implementation of IDASL exposes us to risks .

We have a licensing agreement with a third-party vendor for the use of hardware and software for IDASL. All of
our correspondents are submitting loans through IDASL and all of our wholesale loans delivered by mortgage brokers
are directly underwritten through the use of IDASL. The termination or impairment of this license could result in
delays and reductions in the acquisition and origination of mortgage loans until equivalent hardware and software could
be licensed and integrated, if at all possible, which may harm our business. In addition, we would be harmed if the
provider from whom we license software ceases to deliver and support reliable products, enhance their current products
or respond to emerging industry standards. If the hardware or software provided by our vendor fails for any reason, and
the back-up hardware and software is not implemented in a timely manner, it may also delay and reduce those mortgage
loan acquisitions and originations done through IDASL. The third-party hardware and software also may not continue
to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Any substantial delay and reduction in our mortgage
loan acquisitions and originations will reduce our net earnings for the applicable period.
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Competition for mortgage loans is intense and may adversely affect our operations

We compete in acquiring and originating non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans and issuing mortgage-backed
securities with: ‘

» other mortgage conduit programs;
s investment banking firms;
"~ e savings and loan associations;

¢ banks;

o thrift and loan associations;

s finance companies;

* mortgage bankers;

e  insurance companies;

e other lenders; and

e other entities purchasing mortgage assets.

Some of our competitors are larger and have greater resources than we do.

Consolidation in the mortgage banking industry may adversely affect us by reducing the number of current
customers of our mortgage operations and our potential customer base. As a result, we may have to purchase a larger
percentage of mortgage loans from a smaller number of customers, which may reduce our profit margins, or increase
the cost to acquire these types of loans.

We are exposed to potential credit losses in providing warehouse financing

As a warehouse lender, we lend money to mortgage bankers on a secured basis and we are subject to the risks
associated with lending to mortgage banks, including the risks of fraud, borrower default and bankruptcy, any of which
could result in credit losses for us. Our claims as a secured lender in a bankruptcy proceeding may be subject to
adjustment and delay.

We may not pay dividends to stockholders

REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code generally require that we distribute to our stockholders at least 90%
of all of our taxable income. These provisions restrict our ability to retain earnings and thereby renew capital for our
business activities. We may decide at a future date to terminate our REIT status, which would cause us to be taxed at
the corporate level, and cease paying regular dividends.

In addition, for any year that we do not generate taxable income, we are not required to declare and pay dividends
to maintain our REIT status. For instance, due to losses incurred in 2000, we did not declare any dividends from
September 2000 until September 2001.

To date, a portion of our taxable income and cash flow has been attributable to our receipt of dividend distributions
from Impac Funding Corporation, our mortgage operations affiliate. Impac Funding Corporation is not a REIT and is
not, therefore, subject to the above-described REIT distribution requirements. Because Impac Funding Corporation is
seeking to retain earnings to fund the future growth of our mortgage operations business, its board may decide that

Impac Funding Corporation should cease making dividend distributions in the future. This would materially reduce the
amount of our taxable income and in turn, would reduce the amount we would be required to distribute as dividends.
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If we fail to maintain our REIT status, we may be subject to taxation as a regular corporation

We believe that we have operated and intend to continue to operate in a manner that enables us to meet the
requirements for qualification as a REIT for federal inccme tax purposes. We have not requested, and do not plan to
request, a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service that we qualify as a REIT.

Moreover, no assurance can be given that legislation, new regulations, administrative interpretations or court
decisions will not significantly change the tax laws with respect to qualification as a REIT or the federal income tax

consequences of such qualification. Our continued qualification as a REIT will depend on our satisfaction of certain
asset, income, organizational and stockholder ownership requirements on a continuing basis.

If we fail to qualify as a REIT, we would not be allowed a deduction for distributions to stockholders in computing
our taxable income and would be subject to federal incoms tax at regular corporate rates. We also may be subject to the
federal alternative minimum tax. Unless we are entitled t> relief under specific statutory provisions, we could not elect
to be taxed as a REIT for four taxable years following the year during which we were disqualified. Therefore, if we
lose our REIT status, the funds available for distribution to you would be reduced substantially for each of the years
involved. Failure to qualify as a REIT could adversely affzct the value of our common stock.

Delayed mortgage loan sales or securitization closings could have a material adverse affect on our operations

A delay in closing a particular mortgage loan sale or securitization would increase our exposure to interest rate
fluctuations by lengthening the period during which our variable rate borrowings under our warehouse facilities are
outstanding. If we were unable to sell a sufficient number of mortgage loans at a premium during a particular reporting
period, our revenues for that period would decline, which could have a material adverse affect on our operations.

Our share prices have been and may continue to be volatile

Historically, the market price of our common stock tas been volatile. During 2001, our stock reached a high of
$9.35 per share on December 24th and a low of $2.85 per share on January 2nd. The market price of our common stock
is likely to continue to be highly volatile and could be significantly affected by factors including:

o the amount of dividends paid;

o availability of liquidity in the securitization marke’;

¢ loan sale pricing;

¢ calls by warehouse lenders or changes in warehouse lending rates;

* unanticipated fluctuations in our operating results;

e prepayments on mortgages,

e valuations of securitization related assets;

¢ cost of funds; and

e general market conditions.

In addition, significant price and volume fluctuations in the stock market have particularly affected the market
prices for the common stock of mortgage REIT companies such as ours. These broad market fluctuations have
adversely affected and may continue to adversely affect the market price of our common stock. If our results of

operations fail to meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors in a future quarter, the market price of our
common stock could also be materially adversely affected and we may experience difficulty in raising capital.
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If actual prepayments or defahlts with respect to mortgage loans serviced occurs more quickly than originally
assumed, the value of our mortgage servicing rights would be subject to downward adjustment

When we purchase loans that include the associated servicing rights, the allocated cost of the servicing rights is
reflected on our financial statements as mortgage servicing rights. To determine the fair value of these servicing rights,
we use assumptions to estimate future net servicing income including projected discount rates, mortgage loan
prepayments and credit losses. If actual prepayments or defaults with respect to loans serviced occur more quickly than
we originally assumed, we would have to reduce the carrying value of our mortgage servicing rights. We do not know
if our assumptions will prove correct.

Our operating results may be adversely affected by the results of our hedging activities

To offset the risks associated with our mortgage operations, we enter into transactions designed to hedge our
interest rate risks. To offset the risks associated with our long-term investment operations, we attempt to match the
interest rate sensitivities of our adjustable rate mortgage assets held for investment with the associated financing
liabilities. Our management determines the nature and quantity of the hedging transactions based on various factors,
including market conditions and the expected volume of mortgage loan purchases. We do not limit management’s use
of certain instruments in such hedging transactions. While we believe that we have properly hedged our interest rate
risk, the accounting for such hedging activities may not, and in some cases do not, qualify for hedge accounting as
established by FASB under the provisions of SFAS 133. The effect of our hedging strategy may result in some
volatility in its quarterly earnings as interest rates go up or down. While we believe we properly hedge interest rate risk,
we cannot assure you that our hedging transactions will offset the risk of adverse changes in net interest margins.

A reduction in the demand for residential mortgage loans and our non-conforming Alt-A loan products may
adversely affect our operations

Thé availability of sufficient mortgage loans meeting our criteria is dependent in part upon the size and level of
activity in the residential real estate lending market and, in particular, the demand for non-conforming Alt-A mortgage
loans, which is affected by:

s interest rates;

e national economic conditions;

e residential property values; and

s regulatory and tax developments.

If our mortgage loan purchases decrease, we will have:

¢ decreased economies of scale;

¢ higher origination costs per loan;

¢ reduced fee income;

¢ smaller gains on the sale of non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans; and

¢ an insufficient volume of loans to generate securitizations which thereby causes us to accumulate loans over a
longer period.

Our delinquency ratios and our performance may be adversely affected by the performance of parties who sub-
service our loans

We contract with third-party sub-servicers for the sub-servicing of all the loans in which we retain servicing rights,
including those in our securitizations. Our operations are subject to risks associated with inadequate or untimely
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servicing. Poor performance by a sub-servicer may result in greater than expected delinquencies and losses on our
loans. A substantial increase in our delinquency or foreclosure rate could adversely affect our ability to access the
capital and secondary markets for our financing needs. Also, with respect to loans subject to a securitization, greater
delinquencies would adversely impact the value of any interest-only, principal-only and subordinated securities we hold
in connection with that securitization.

In a securitization, relevant agreements permit us to be terminated as servicer or master servicer under specific
conditions described in these agreements, such as the fzilure of a sub-servicer to perform certain functions within
specific time periods. If, as a result of a sub-servicer’s failure to perform adequately, we were terminated as servicer of
a securitization, the value of any servicing rights held by us would be adversely affected.

Potential characterization of distributions or gain on sale as unrelated business taxable income to tax-exempt
investors

If (1) all or a portion of our assets are subject to the rules relating to taxable mortgage pools, (2) we are a “pension-
held REIT,” (3) a tax-exempt stockholder has incurred debt to purchase or hold our common stock, or (4) the residual
REMIC interests we buy generate “excess inclusion income,” then a portion of the distributions to and, in the case of a
stockholder described in (3), gains realized on the sale of common stock by such tax-exempt stockholder may be subject
to Federal income tax as unrelated business taxable income under the Internal Revenue Code.

Classification as a taxable mortgage pool could subject us to increased taxation

If we have borrowings with two or more maturities end, (1) those borrowings are secured by mortgage loans or
mortgage-backed securities and, (2) the payments made on the borrowings are related to the payments received on the
underlying assets, then the borrowings and the pool of mortgage loans or mortgage backed securities to which such
borrowings relate may be classified as a taxable mortgage pool under the Internal Revenue Code. If any part of our
company were to be treated as a taxable mortgage pool, then our REIT status would not be impaired, but a portion of
the taxable income we recognize may, under regulations to be issued by the Treasury Department, be characterized as
“excess inclusion” income and allocated among our stockholders to the extent of and generally in proportion to the
distributions we make to each stockholder. Any excess inclusion income would:

* not be allowed to be offset by a stockholder’s net operating losses;
e  be subject to a tax as unrelated business income if a stockholder were a tax-exempt stockholder;

e be subject to the application of federal income tax withholding at the maximum rate (without reduction for any
otherwise applicable income tax treaty) with respe::t to amounts allocable to foreign stockholders; and

¢ be taxable (at the highest corporate tax rate) to us, rather than to our stockholders, to the extent the excess
inclusion income relates to stock held by disqualified organizations (generally, tax-exempt companies not
subject to tax on unrelated business income, including governmental organizations).

Based on advice of our tax counsel, we take the position that our existing financing arrangements do not create a
taxable mortgage pool.

Our operations may be adversely affected if we are subjzct to the Investment Company Act

We intend to conduct our business at all times so as not to become regulated as an investment company under the
Investment Company Act. The Investment Company Act exempts entities that are primarily engaged in the business of
purchasing or otherwise acquiring mortgages and other liens; on and interests in real estate.

In order to qualify for this exemption we must maintain at least 55% of our assets directly in mortgage loans,
qualifying pass-through certificates and certain other qualifying interests in real estate. Our ownership of certain
mortgage assets may be limited by the provisions of the ‘nvestment Company Act. If the Securities and Exchange
Commission adopts a contrary interpretation with respect to these securities or otherwise believes we do not satisfy the
above exception, we could be required to restructure our activities or sell certain of our assets. To insure that we
continue to qualify for the exemption we may be required at times to adopt less efficient methods of financing certain of
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our mortgage assets and we may be precluded from acquiring certain types of higher-yielding mortgage assets. The net
effect of these factors will be to lower at times our net interest income. If we fail to qualify for exemption from
registration as an investment company, our ability to use leverage would be substantially reduced, and we would not be
able to conduct our business as described. Our business will be materially and adversely affected if we fail to qualify
for this exemption.

If we conduct future offerings the market price of our securities may be adversely affected

We may elect to increase our capital resources by making additional private or public offerings of securities in the
future. We do not know:

¢ the actual or perceived effect of these offerings;

¢ the timing of these offerings;

o the dilution of the book value or earnings per share of our securities then outstanding; and
¢ the effect on the market price of our securities then outstanding.

Sales of additional common stock may adversely affect its market price

The sale or the proposed sale of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market could materially
adversely affect the market price of our common stock or other outstanding securities. Based on a Schedule 13G filed
with the SEC, as of February 15, 2002 HBK Master Fund L.P. beneficially owned 3,843,888 shares of our common
stock, all of which are registered with the SEC for sale to the public pursuant to an effective registration statement. The
sale of a large amount of shares by HBK Master Fund L.P., or the perception that such sales may occur, could adversely
affect the market price for our common stock or other outstanding securities.

We are a defendant in purported class actions and may not prevail in these matters

We are a defendant in seven purported class actions pending in six different state courts; two cases in the United
States District Court for the Western District of Tennessee and one in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Illinois. All, except for the Illinois matter, allege generally that the loan originator improperly charged fees
in violation of various state lending or consumer protection laws in connection with mortgage loans that we acquired.
The Iilinois matter alleges that we charged fees for services that constitute the unauthorized practice of law and that
were not proper charges. Although the suits are not identical, they generally seek unspecified compensatory damages,
punitive damages, pre- and post-judgment interest, costs and expenses and rescission of the loans, as well as a return of
any improperly collected fees. These actions are in the early stages of litigation and, accordingly, it is difficult to
predict the outcome of these matters. We believe we have meritorious defenses to the actions and intend to defend
against them vigorously; however, an adverse judgment in any of these matters could have a material adverse effect on
us.

We may be subject to possible adverse consequences as a result of limits on ownership of our shares

Our charter limits ownership of our capital stock by any single stockholder to 9.5% of our outstanding shares unless
waived by the board of directors. Our board of directors may increase the 9.5% ownership limit. In addition, to the
extent consistent with the REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, our board of directors may, pursuant to our
articles of incorporation, waive the 9.5% ownership limit for a stockholder or purchaser of our stock. In order to waive
the 9.5% ownership limit our board of directors must require the stockholder requesting the waiver to provide certain
representations to the Company to ensure compliance with the REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. Our
charter also prohibits anyone from buying shares if the purchase would result in us losing our REIT status. This could
happen if a share transaction results in fewer than 100 persons owning all of our shares or in five or fewer persons,
applying certain broad attribution rules of the Internal Revenue Code, owning more than 50% (by value) of our shares.
If you or anyone else acquires shares in excess of the ownership limit or in violation of the ownership requirements of
the Internal Revenue Code for REITs, we:

o will consider the transfer to be null and void;
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¢ will not reflect the transaction on our books;

e may institute legal action to enjoin the transactin;

* will not pay dividends or other distributions with respect to those shares;
*  will not recognize any voting rights for those shares;

* may redeem the shares; and

will consider the shares held in trust for the benefit of a charitable beneficiary as designated by us.

The trustee shall sell the shares held in trust and the owner of the excess shares will be entitled to the lesser of:
(a) the price paid by the owner;

(b) if the owner did not purchase for the excess shares, the closing price for the shares on the national securities
exchange on which the company is listed; or

(c) the price received by the trustee from the sale of :he shares.
Limitations on acquisition and change in control owne:ship limit

The 9.5% ownership limit discussed above may have the effect of precluding acquisition of control of our company
by a third party without consent of our board of directors.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our primary executive and administrative offices are located in Newport Beach, California. We have a 10-year
lease expiring May 2008 to use approximately 74,000 square feet of office space at a rate of $156,000 per month. We
believe that these facilities will adequately provide for our future growth needs.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On September 1, 2000, a complaint captioned Michael P. and Shellie Gilmor v. Preferred Credit Corporation and
Impac Funding Corporation, et. al. was filed in the United States District Court for the Western District of Missouri,
Case No. 4-00-00795-SOW, as a purported class action lawsuit alleging that the defendants violated Missouri’s Second
Loans Act and Merchandising Practices Act. In July 2001, the Missouri complaint was amended to include IMH and -
other IMH-related entities. The plaintiffs in the Gilmor lavssuit are also alleging a defendant class action. On July 26,
2001, a complaint captioned James and Jill Baker, et al. v. Century Financial Group, Inc., et al., was filed in the Circuit
Court of Clay County, Missouri, Case No. CV100-4294CC as a purported class action. This lawsuit alleges violations
of Missouri’s Second Loans Act and Merchandising Praciices Act. The plaintiffs in the Baker action also allege a
defendant class action. The Company has filed a Motion 1o Dismiss this action and the Plaintiffs have agreed not to
oppose the motion and to allow the matter to be dismissed without prejudice. On August 2, 2001, a complaint
captioned Frazier, et al. v. Preferred Credit, et al., was filed in the Circuit Court of Tennessee for the Thirtieth Judicial
District at Memphis, Case No. CT004762-01. This is also stated as a purported class action lawsuit alleging violations
of Tennessee’s usury statute and Consumer Protection Act. On August 8, 2001, a complaint captioned Mattie L. Street
v. PSB Lending Corp., et al., was filed in the Circuit Court of Tennessee for the Thirtieth Judicial District at Memphis,
Case No. CT004888-01. The Street action is also stated as a purported class action lawsuit alleging violations of
Tennessee’s usury statute and Consumer Protection Act. On October 2, 2001, a complaint captioned Deborah Searcy,
Shirley Walker, et. al. vs. Impac Funding Corporation, Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. et. al. was filed in the Wayne
County Circuit Court, State of Michigan, as a purported class action lawsuit alleging that the defendants violated
Michigan’s Secondary Mortgage Loan Act, Credit Reform Act and Consumer Protection Act. Except for the Searcy
case in Michigan, all of the foregoing cases have been removed to federal court, On October 10, 2001 a complaint
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captioned Hayes v Impac Funding Corporation, et al was filed in the Circuit Court of Vanderburgh County, Indiana as
Case No. 82C01-0110-CP580. This is stated as a purported class action lawsuit alleging a violation of the Indiana
Uniform Consumer Credit Code when the loans were originated. On November 30, 2001 a complaint captioned Garry
Lee Skinner and Judy Cooper Skinner, et al. v. Preferred Credit, et al. was filed in the Superior Court of Durham
County, North Carolina as Case No. 1CV-05596. This is stated as a purported class action alleging a violation of the
North Carolina Interest Statutes and Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act when the secondary mortgage loans were
originated by the defendants.

All of the purported class action lawsuits are similar in nature in that they allege that the mortgage loan originators
violated the respective state’s statutes by charging excessive fees and costs when making second mortgage loans on
residential real estate. The complaints allege that IFC was a purchaser, and is a holder, along with other IMH-related
entities, of second mortgage loans originated by other lenders. The plaintiffs in the lawsuits are seeking damages that
include disgorgement, restitution, rescission, actual damages, statutory damages, exemplary damages, and punitive
damages. Damages are unspecified in each of the complaints,

Additionally, on November 26, 2001, a complaint captioned Sumner N. Doxie v. Impac Funding Corp. was filed in
the Circuit Court of Cook County, Hlinois as Case No. 01L.015153, which was subsequently removed to the United
States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, as Case No. 01C9835. This is stated as a
purported class action alleging consumer fraud in connection with the defendant’s practice of charging appraisal review
fees on its mortgage loans, and alleging violations of the Illinois Consumer Fraud Act for the unauthorized practice of
law by performing document preparation services for a fee in connection with its mortgage loans. The plaintiffs in the
lawsuit are seeking damages that include punitive damages, compensatory damages, attorney’s fees, and litigation costs.

The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the above claims and intends to defend these claims
vigorously. Nevertheless, litigation is uncertain, and the Company may not prevail in the lawsuits and can express no
opinion as to its ultimate outcome. ’

The Company is a party to litigation and claims, which are normal in the course of its operations. While the results

of such litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company believes the final outcome of such matters
will not have a material adverse effect on the Cotpany.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to the security holders to be voted on during the fourth quarter of 2001.
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PART 11

ITEMS. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Our common stock is listed on the American Stock Exchange, or "AMEX," under the symbol IMH. The following
table summarizes the high, low and closing sales prices for our common stock as reported by the AMEX for the periods
indicated:

_ 2001 2000

__Hligh Low Close High Low Close
First QUArEr ......cccooveerreererriceoiiieieseeenerrereeeeeseesneseaens $ 149 $§ 285 $§ 419 $ 425 § 313 § 350
Second QUATET ......ccvveeevviereiie e e see e ereerae e s eiae s 7.25 3.89 7.15 438 3.06 4.31
Third QUATET .......ccvveiieeiereecveree e esetesaesreenne 8.15 5.76 7.44 4.19 2.38 2.70
Fourth Quarter...........cccvcvvieveeeeneruenne eenrereren e e seanees 9.35 6.85 8.50 3.20 1.83 - 2.95

On March 27, 2002, the last reported sale price of our common stock on the AMEX was $9.40 per share. As of
March 27, 2002, there were 579 holders of record, including holders who are nominees for an undetermined number of
beneficial owners, of our common stock.

Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan. In July 1999, we suspended our dividend reinvestment and stock
purchase plan, or "DRSPP" or "Plan." Prior to suspension »f the Plan, stockholders could acquire additional shares of
our common stock by reinvesting their cash dividends at a 0% to 5% discount of the average high and low market prices
as reported on the AMEX on the investment date, as described in the Plan, to the extent shares are issued by us.
Stockholders could also purchase additional shares of our common stock through the cash investment option at a 0% to
5% discount of the average high and low market prices as reported on the AMEX during the three trading days
preceding the investment date. We are exploring the possibility of amending the existing Plan or adopting a new plan.

Share Repurchase Program. During 2000, our board of directors authorized us to repurchase up to $3.0 million of
our common stock, $.01 par value, in open market purchases from time to time at the discretion of management; the
timing and extent of the repurchases were dependent on market conditions. During 2001, we did not repurchase any
shares of our common stock. During 2000, we repurchased 991,000 shares of our common stock for $2.3 million. The
acquired shares were canceled.

Stockholder Rights Plan. On October 7, 1998, our board of directors adopted a stockholder rights plan in which
preferred stock purchase rights were distributed as a diviclend at the rate of one right for each outstanding share of
common stock. The dividend distribution was made on October 19, 1998 payable to stockholders of record on that date.
The rights are attached to our common stock. The rights will be exercisable and trade separately only in the event that a
person or group acquires or announces the intent to acquire 10 percent or more of our common stock (unless the offer to
acquire the shares is approved by a majority of the board of directors who are not affiliates of the acquirer). Each right
will entitle stockholders to buy one-hundredth of a share of a new series of junior participating preferred stock at an
exercise price of $30.00. If we are acquired in a merger or other transaction after a person has acquired 10 percent or
more our outstanding common stock, each right will entitle the stockholder to purchase, at the right’s then-current
exercise price, a number of the acquiring company’s common shares having a market value of twice such price. In
addition, if a person or group acquires 10 percent or more of our common stock, each right will entitle the stockholder,
other than the acquiring person, to purchase, at the right’s then-current exercise price, a number of shares of our
common stock having a market value of twice such price. Following the acquisition by a person of 10 percent or more
of our common stock and before an acquisition of 50 percent or more of the common stock, the board of directors may
exchange the rights, other than the rights owned by such person, at an exchange ratio of one share of common stock per
right. Before a person or group acquires beneficial ownership of 10 percent or more of our common stock, the rights are
redeemable for $.0001 per right at the option of the board of directors. The rights will expire on October 19, 2008. The
rights distribution is not taxable to stockholders. The rights are intended to enable all of our stockholders to realize the
long-term value of their investment in our Company.
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Distributions

To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we intend to make annual distributions to stockholders equal to or greater
than 90% of our taxable income in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code, which may not necessarily equal net
earnings as calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, or "GAAP." Our dividend policy is
subject to revision at the discretion of the board of directors. All distributions in excess of those required to maintain our
REIT status will be made at the discretion of the board of directors and will depend on our taxable income, financial

“condition and other factors as the board of directors deems relevant. The board of directors has not established a
minimum distribution level.

Distributions to stockholders will generally be taxable as ordinary income, although a portion of such distributions
may be designated by us as capital gain or may constitute a tax-free return of capital. We annually furnish to each of our
stockholders a statement setting forth distributions paid during the preceding year and their characterization as ordinary
income, capital gain or return of capital. Of the total dividends paid during 2001 and 2000, none and approximately
$13.7 million, respectively, represented a tax-free return of capital.

The following table presents our dividends paid or declared for the periods indicated:

Per Share
Stockholder Dividend
Period Covered Record Date Amount
Quarter ended March 31, 2000.......... et ee oot ate et et b s rane s enn st nn e ieen April 10, 2000 $0.12
Quarter ended June 30, 2000 .......coovieiireniiireeri e er e e July 6, 2000 $0.12
Quarter ended September 30, 2000 ........cccoovirreiimennirnerr s October 11, 2000 $0.12
Quarter ended September 30, 2001 .........ccooeeoiiviiiiieerceeeee e October 1, 2001 and $0.25
November 1, 2001 ™
Quarter ended December 31, 2001 ...........vuoeeeeeeeoreeeeerreeeeeeeeseeees s January 2, 2002 @ $0.44

(l) Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. declared a dividend of $0.25 per share for the third quarter of 2001, payable in two
installments: the first installment of $0.13 was paid on October 15, 2001 to stockholders of record on October 1,
2001, and the second installment of $0.12 per share was paid on November 15, 2001 to stockholders of record on
November 1, 2001.

(2) Consisted of a regular cash dividend of $0.37 per share and a special cash dividend of $0.07 per share.

We did not declare a dividend for the quarters ended December 31, 2000, March 31, 2001, and June 30, 2001.

ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated statements of operations data for each of the years in the five-year period
ended December 31, 2001, and the consolidated balance sheet data for the five-year period ended December 31, 2001
were derived from the consolidated financial statements of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. and Impac Funding
Corporation and were audited by KPMG LLP, or "KPMG," independent auditors, whose reports appear on pages F-2
and F-36, respectively. Such selected financial data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and the notes to the consolidated financia! statements starting on page F-1 and with Item 7. "Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC.

Statements of Operations
(dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

_ Year Ended December 31,
___ 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Net interest income:
Total interest iNCOME ....ovocveverreineereriereeieane s $1356,615 $ 147,079 § 119,458 § 163,658 $109,533
Total interest EXPENSe ......covvevveeriereecerenrecenrireerinns 112,012 124,096 89,795 121,695 76,577
Net interest iNCOME cvvvrrererverirerearenrerisresansesrererns 44,603 22,983 29,663 41,963 32,956
Provision for loan losses..................... [ 16,813 18,839 5,547 4,361 6,843
Net interest income after loan loss provision....... 27,790 4,144 24,116 37,602 26,113
Non-interest income:
Equity in net earnings (loss) of IFC............cccc....... 10,912 (1,762) 4,292 (13,876) 8,316
Equity in net [oss Of [ICH .......ccoovvivencinicrii, — — — (998) 239
Loss on sale of mortgage loans..........cccocevcevienenene. — — — (3,111) —
Gain on sale of SECUrIties........ccooveerveirrecnrenriririnn, 312 — 93 427 648
Other ICOME .....veeeiviviviveie ettt __ 6,155 4275 2,517 4,019 1,601
Total non-interest income (10SS) .........coeverveennan. 17,379 2,513 6,902 (13,539) 10,326
Non-interest expense:
Write-down on securities available-for-sale ............ 2,217 53,576 2,037 14,132 —
General and administrative and other expenses....... 6,261 5,500 4,505 5,081 2,284
Mark-to-market loss - SFAS 133......ccccvvervievinnen, 3,821 — — —_ —
(Gain) loss on disposition of real estate owned........ (1,931) 1,814 2,159 1,707 (433)
Loss on equity investment of ICH .........c.ccocevnnn. — — — 9,076 —
AdVISOTY fEeS....conieiicccircc — — — — 6,242
Termination agreement €XPEnSe .........c.corerrvrvrennens e — — — 44,375
Total non-interest expense..........c.coeereerrrrinane. __ 10,368 60,890 8,701 29,996 52,468
Earnings (loss) before extraordinary item and
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . 34,801 (54,233) 22,317 (5.933) (16,029)
Extraordinary item........cocccovreeencmveircercenreseeressnsanens '1,006) — — — —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
PrNCIPIE. ... (617 — — — —
Net earnings (10SS) .oovivvereiiiieierecce e $ 53178 § (54,233) § 22317 § (5,933) $(16,029)
Net earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary
item and cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle:
BaSIC ..ottt $ 141 $ (270) $ 083 § (025 $ (0.99
DiAlUted ..ottt § 125 § (270 § 076 § (025 § (099
Net earnings (loss) per share: 4
BaSiC.cvvireririciete e $§ 134 § (270) $ 083 § (025 § (0.99
Diluted ..ot $§ 119 § (270) $ 076 § (025 § (099
Dividends declared per share...........ccccvvvirieceeeerennne, $§ 069 S 036 § 048 § 146 § 1.68
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC.

Selected Balance Sheet Data
(dollar amounts in thousands)

At December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Investment securities available-for-sale ...................... $ 32989 $§ 36921 § 93206 § 93,486% 67,011
Mortgage loans held-for-investment and

CMO collateral .........ccoovvvveveevriecrierenrene e, 2,249,246 1,389,716 1,313,112 1,181,847 1,052,610
Finance receivables ..., 466,649 405,438 197,119 311,571 533,101
Investment in Impac Funding Corporation.................. 19,126 15,762 17,372 13,246 27,122
Investment in Impac Commercial Holdings, Inc.............. — — — — 17,985
Due from affiliates............ccooeveeeirevrceninreiree e 14,500 14,500 14,500 17,904 16,679
Total assets 2,854,734 1,898,838 1,675,430 1,665,504 1,752.812
CMO bOITOWINES.....o.cvereeeeeiiririereeieierrrnesr s eee e 2,151,400 1,291,284 850,817 1,072,316 741,907
Reverse repurchase agreements............cocececeveviernnnne. 469,491 398,653 539,687 323,625 755,559
Total lHabilities..........cccvvievirieieeeeceeeee e 2,651,369 1,720,398 1,436,586 1,413,898 1,523,782
Total stockholders’ equity .......c.ccccoovvericrevenriereiinnne 203,365 178,440 238,844 251,606 229,030
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IMPAC FUNDING CORPORATION

(dollar amounts in thousands, except Operating Data)

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Statement of Operations Data:
Net interest income:
Total INterest iNCOME .......o.cereveereeerrirreeerenrenerenins $ 24,175 $ 28649 § 21,225 § 48510 § 48,020
Total interest EXPense ........cocvveeeeverrerrisreeenennens 20,865 30,056 20,953 40,743 41,628
Net interest income (EXPeNse) .........cccvrevervrrevneen 3,310 (1,407) 272 7,767 6,392
Non-interest income:
Gain (loss) on sale of loans..........cccoevcecvvccncrirnene. 46,949 19,727 27,098 (11,663) 19,414
Loan servicing income..........ccccvuveeverereiernsrneruenens 2,140 6,286 - 5,221 7,071 4,109
Gain (loss) on sale of investment securities........... 3,710 51 — (706) 550
Mark-to-market loss on investment securities....... — — — (805) —
Other INCOME ........cveveeerirreerrereninecerereneeere e 1,295 1,054 979 420 93
Total non-interest income (1085) ......c.covevccnenne. 34,094 27,118 33,298 (5,683) 24,166
Non-interest expense: _
General and administrative and other operating
EXPEIISE -.vvverarrarererserersesesebeseresesroreseressnsnsnnens 28,911 19,634 14,965 14,385 10,047
Amortization of mortgage servicing rights............ 4,519 5,179 5,331 6,361 2,827
Write-down of securities available-for-sale........... — 1,537 4,252 — —
Provision for repurchases ..........ccoeeeveerereerenennn. 3,498 371 385 367 3,148
Mark-to-market loss - SFAS 133 ... 346 — — — —
Impairment of mortgage servicing rights............... 825 — 1,078 3,722 —
Total non-interest EXPense.............ecveereeeeeviennnn 38,099 26,721 26,011 24,835 16,022
Eamings (loss) before income taxes............cocerverene. 19,305 (1,010) 7,559 (22,751) 14,536
Income taxes (benefit) ........coceeveremreecrerenrereenrienn, 8,300 770 3,227 (8,738) 6,136
Earnings (loss) before cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle .........cccoevvveceereinerenenivenenn. 11,005 (1,780) 4,332 (14,013) 8,400
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
PrNCIPIE ..ottt 17 — — — —
Net earnings (loss) after cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle ........ccocevveuerereeacnneee $ 1,022 § (1,780) $ 4,332 $(14,013) $ 8400
At December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Balance Sheet Data:
Mortgage loans held-for-sale...........ccoccovvieericrencnnenenn. $174172 § 275570 § 68,084 § 252,568 § 620,549
Mortgage servicing rights.........cccocvveeeverrivecrniniernnns 8,468 10,938 15,621 14,062 15,568
TOtaAl @SSELS ..ovevveurevirircereeereirereest e isreeeees e saeeneaeena 259,802 317,163 116,246 313,872 656,944
Borrowings from IWLG ........cocooveverienreriererennnns 174,136 266,994 66,125 192,900 454,840
Other bOTTOWINGS..........ccccverviveinerineceiee e — — 181 67,058 148,307
Due to affiliates .........coevereriveeeeieeceee e 14,500 14,500 14,500 24,382 6,198
Total liabilities......c.ccvvvverrereercerreeeeeseee e, 220,482 301,242 98,698 301,009 629,548
Total sharcholders’ equity ..........ccocveeenvrnnrecrinneen 19,320 15,921 17,548 12,863 27,396
Operating Data (in millions):
Mortgage loan acquisitions .............coceeevvrvvvreresene. $ 3204 $ 2,113 $§ 1672 $ 2249 $§ 2,571
Master servicing portfolio at period-end ................... 5,569 4,043 2,879 3,714 3,029
Servicing portfolio at period-end.......c..coevvvvereinnnns 1,754 2,429 2,393 3,714 3,029
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Forward-Looking Information

This Annual Report contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Forward-looking statements, some of
which are based on various assumptions and events that are beyond our control, may be identified by reference to a
future period or periods or by the use of forward-looking terminology, such as "may," "will," "believe," "expect,"
"anticipate,” "continue,” or similar terms or variations on those terms or the negative of those terms. Actual results
could differ materially from those set forth in forward-looking statements due to a variety of factors, including, but not
limited to, adverse economic conditions, changes in interest rates, changes in the difference between short-term and
long-term interest rates, changes in prepayment rates, changes in assumptions regarding estimated fair value amounts,
the availability of financing and, if available, the terms of any financing. For a discussion of the risks and uncertainties
that could cause actual results to differ from those contained in the forward-looking statements, see "Risk Factors” in
this Annual Report. We do not undertake, and specifically disclaim any obligation, to publicly release the results of any
revisions that may be made to any forward-looking statements to reflect the occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated
events or circumstances after the date of such statements.

General

Together with our subsidiaries and related companies, we primarily operate three core businesses:

e the long-term investment operations, which primarily invest in non-conforming Alt-A residential mortgage
loans, acquired and originated by our mortgage operations, and mortgage-backed securities;

» the mortgage operations, which acquire, originate, sell and securitize primarily non-conforming Alt-A
residential mortgage loans; and

s the warehouse lending operations, which provide warehouse and repurchase financing to originators of
mortgage loans.

We elect to be taxed as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, which generally allows us to pass through income
to stockholders without payment of federal income tax at the corporate level. IMH is entitled to 99% of the earnings or
losses of IFC, IMH's non-consolidated REIT qualified subsidiary, through its ownership of all of the non-voting
preferred stock of IFC. As such, IMH records its investment in IFC using the equity method. Under this method,
original investments made to IFC are recorded at cost and adjusted by IMH's share of earnings or losses.

Relationships with Impac Entities

" Many of the officers and directors of IMH are officers, directors and owners of IFC. IMH owns all of the preferred
stock of, and 99% of the economic interest in, IFC, while Joseph R. Tomkinson, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
William S. Ashmore, President and Chief Operating Officer, and Richard J. Johnson, Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer, are the holders of all of the outstanding voting stock of, and 1% of the economic interest in,
IFC.

Significant Transactions
Common Stock Exchange Offering

In March 1999, certain stockholders of IMH exchanged 1,359,507 shares of their common stock, at an average
price of $5.70 per share, for 11% senior subordinated debentures due to mature on February 15, 2004. The debentures
were unsecured obligations of IMH subordinated to all indebtedness of IMH's subsidiaries. The debentures bore interest

at 11% per annum from their date of issuance, payable quarterly, commencing May 15, 1999, until the debentures were
paid in full. Commencing on February 15, 2001, the debentures were redeemable, at IMH's option, in whole at any time
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or in part from time to time, at the principal amount to be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest. On June 20, 2001,
IMH redeemed all of the senior subordinated debentures.

Exchange of Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock for Series C Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock

In February 2000, all shares of series B 10.5% cumulative convertible preferred stock, or "Series B Preferred
Stock," was exchanged for series C 10.5% cumulative coavertible preferred stock, or "Series C Preferred Stock," and
the conversion rate was adjusted to $4.72 per share from $4.95 per share convertible into 5.29661 shares of common
stock from 5.050505 shares of common stock or an aggr:gate of 6,355,932 shares of common stock from 6,060,606
shares of common stock. In August 2001, all of the outstanding shares of Series C Preferred Stock were converted into
common stock. ‘

Collateralized Mortgage Obligations
During 2001, the long-term investment operations, conducted by IMH and IMH Assets, a wholly-owned specialty

purpose entity through which IMH conducts its CMO borrowings, issued CMOs totaling $1.5 billion. The following
table presents selected information on the issuance of CMQs during 2001 (dollars in millions):

Issue Issuance
Date Issuance Name Amount
05/23/01 Impac CMB Trust Series 2001-1 ...c.....coeeverenrrrnnean. $ 3578
08/27/01 Impac CMB Trust Series 2001-2..........ccceonerereenenee. 400.5
10/25/01 Impac CMB Trust Series 2001-3 ........ccocevvrrverennnns 397.0
12/17/01 Impac CMB Trust Series 2001-4..........ccoecvrreneneenn. 345.6

Real Estate Mortgage Investment Conduits

During 2001, the mortgage operations issued REMICs totaling $1.7 billion. The following table presents selected
information on the issuance of REMICs during 2001 (dollars in millions):

Issue Issuance
Date Issuance Naine Amount
01/25/01 Impac Secured Assets Trust 2001-1 ......cccoeerirvnenn $ 2000
03/26/01 Impac Secured Assets Trust 2001-2 .......cccooeveveneeneee 250.1
-04/23/01 Impac Secured Assets Trust 2001-3 .......cocovverevenenne. 200.0
05/25/01 Impac Secured Assets Trust 20014 ...........ccoue.e.e. 202.3
07/25/01 Impac Secured Assets Trust 2001-5 .......c.ocoevrnennnes 207.9
09/25/01 Impac Secured Assets Trust 2001-6 ..........cocverenen.e. 200.0
10/25/01 Impac Secured Assets Trust 2001-7 ......ccovevevirrenne 200.0
12/20/01 Impac Secured Assets Trust 2001-8 .......ccccocvveernnee. 196.7

Financial Condition

During the fourth quarter of 1998, the financial markets experienced a liquidity crisis as a result of deterioration in
the capital and mortgage-backed securitization markets. We suffered margin calls on our warehouse and reverse
repurchase facilities. To meet margin calls, we sold mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities at prices that were
less than their original purchase prices and suffered substantial losses. In response to those events, we made a number
of strategic changes in our businesses that we believe have improved operating performance and cash flows, increased
the credit quality of our long-term investment portfolio and reduced our exposure to interest rate risks. These strategic
changes include:

¢ expansion of our mortgage operations;
e introduction of prepayment penalties on our loan programs;

e increased frequency of securitization;
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* stricter investment guidelines for our long-term investment operations;

» improved hedging policies; and

* adjustment of pre-1998 investment securities available-for-sale.

As a result of the successful execution of these strategies, each quarter over the last three-year period we have
reported positive core operating earnings, which excludes one-time non-recurring items and the effect of fair market
valuations of derivative instruments. Our business plan coupled with a favorable interest rate environment produced
positive asset growth and earnings during 2001. During 2001, we accomplished the following:

e reported earnings of $33.2 million, or $1.19 per diluted common share, and generated estimated taxable
income of $46.4 million, or $1.66 per diluted common share;

¢ increased total assets to $2.9 billion, or 53% over prior year;

e resumed the regular payment of common stock dividends six months ahead of original expectations by
declaring total dividends of $0.69 per common share;

e increased loan production to $3.2 billion, or 52% over prior year, retained $1.5 billion of primarily non-
conforming Alt-A ARMs for long-term investment and completed non-conforming Alt-A securitizations
totaling $3.2 billion;

e increased average finance receivables by 53% over prior year;

e converted all of our outstanding 10.5% preferred stock to common stock and retired all of our 11% senior
subordinated debentures almost three years before maturity; and

e sold 5.1 million newly issued shares of common. stock.

As of December 31, 2001, our total assets were $2.9 billion as compared to total assets of $1.9 billion as of
December 31, 2000 and $1.7 billion as of December 31, 1999. Our mortgage loan investment portfolio of $2.2 billion,
primarily included high credit quality, non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans that were acquired and originated by our
mortgage operations since 1999. Another $466.6 million of mortgage assets as of December 31, 2001 were outstanding
warehouse line advances, referred to as finance receivables, made to affiliates and third party investors to provide short-
term warehouse financing. This compares to finance receivables of $405.4 million as of December 31, 2000 and $197.1
million as of December 31, 1999. As of December 31, 2001, $33.0 million, or 1% of total assets, consisted of
mortgage-backed securities as compared to $36.9 million, or 2% of total assets, as of December 31, 2000 and $93.2
million, or 6% of total assets, as of December 31, 1999. During 2000, we wrote-off investment securities that were
secured by high loan-to-value second trust deeds, securities that were secured by franchise receivables and certain sub-
prime subordinated securities that were acquired prior to 1998. We have acquired no mortgage-backed securities for
long-term investment since 1999.

Substantially all of our growth since 1998 was accomplished with liquidity generated from our core operations. In
December 2001, our CMO portfolio was generating cash flows of $7.2 million per month as compared to cash flows of
$1.5 million per month in December 2000. Cash flow on our CMO portfolio improved as net interest margins widened
and the portfolio grew. With increased liquidity generated from our core operating businesses, we were able to increase
assets by $1.0 billion through well-managed growth, retire $7.7 million of high cost senior subordinated debentures and
resume the payment of regular common stock dividends. We believe that in order for us to continue to generate positive
cash flows and earnings we must successfully manage credit, prepayment and interest rate risks. To accomplish these
objectives, we acquire and originate and retain for long-term investment high credit quality, non-conforming Alt-A
mortgage loans with prepayment penalty features and acquire hedges to mitigate adverse changes in interest rates.

During 2001, we acquired and originated $3.2 billion of mortgage loans and retained $1.5 billion of non-
conforming Alt-A mortgage loans from our mortgage operations for long-term investment. We are committed to

41




acquiring mortgages for long-term investment with favorabie credit profiles and with prepayment penalty features. Our
non-conforming Alt-A mortgage products have historically had favorable annualized loss rates while prepayment
penalty features have mitigated the effect of early payoffs. 3ecause of the credit profile, historical loss performance and
prepayment characteristics of our non-conforming Alt-A mortgages, we have been able to borrow a higher percentage
against mortgage loans securing CMOs, which we use as long-term financing for our mortgage loan investment
portfolio. As of December 31, 2001, total equity invested in our CMO portfolio was $79.6 million, or 3.64% of CMO
collateral, as compared to total equity invested of $84.1 million, or 6.31% of CMO coilateral, as of December 31, 2000.

We employ a leveraging strategy to increase our assets by financing our mortgage loan and investment securities
portfolios and then using the proceeds to acquire additional mortgage assets. We believe that by maintaining adequate
leverage we are protected from having to sell mortgage assets during periods when the value of mortgage assets are
declining, which may result in margin calls by our lenders. We also securitize our loans more frequently so that we
reduce our exposure to margin calls on warehouse or reve:se repurchase facilities by obtaining long-term financing in
the form of CMOs and reducing the accumulation period that mortgage loans are outstanding on short-term warehouse
or reverse repurchase facilities. As of December 31, 2001, total assets to total equity, or "leverage ratio," was 14.05 to 1
as compared to 10.64 to 1 as of December 31, 2000. As we were able to borrow a higher percentage against mortgage
loans securing CMOs, the leverage ratio of the CMO portfolio increased to 28.00 to 1 as of December 31, 2001 as
compared to 16.33 to 1 as of December 31, 2000. This means that as a percentage of the total CMO portfolio, we have
less equity at risk and we are not subject to margin calls on mortgage loans securing CMO borrowings. With this
increased leverage, we have been able to grow our balance sheet by efficiently using our currently available capital. We
continually monitor our leverage ratio and liquidity levels to insure that we are adequately protected against adverse
changes in market conditions.

In addition to increasing the credit quality of our mortgage loan investment portfolio, as of December 31, 2001,
54% of mortgage loans held as CMO collateral had prepayment penalty features as compared to 36% with prepayment
penalty features as of December 31, 2000. When actual prepayments exceed expectations due to sustained increased
prepayment activity, we have to amortize our capitalized premium and securitization costs over a shorter period of time,
resulting in a reduced yield to maturity on our mortgage loan portfolio. Conversely, if actual prepayment experience is
less than expected prepayment rates, the premium would be: amortized over a longer period of time, resulting in a higher
yield to maturity. We monitor our prepayment experience on a monthly basis in order to adjust the amortization of our
costs. Constant prepayment rates, or "CPR," on CMO ccllateral increased to 34% CPR during 2001 as compared to
25% CPR during 2000. However, in light of the refinancing boom that occurred during 2001, we believe that
prepayment rates would have been much higher absent the levels of prepayment protection in our mortgage loan
investment portfolio. Although constant prepayment rates were higher during 2001, net interest margins were less
affected by amortization of capitalized premium and securitization costs as we reduced these costs as a percent of CMO
collateral. As of December 31, 2001, capitalized preminm and securitization costs were 215 basis points of CMO
collateral as compared to 277 basis points of CMO collateral as of December 31, 2000. This resulted in premium and
securitization cost amortizations during 2001 of $15.0 million on average CMO collateral of $1.5 billion as compared to
$15.3 million on average CMO collateral of $1.2 billion during 2000,

The following table presents selected information about mortgage loans held as CMO collateral for the periods
shown (dollars in thousands):
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As of December 31,

2001 2000
Unpaid principal Balance........ccoveeovieiiiiieie ittt enes $ 2,128,236 § 1,293,791
Percent of Alt-A I0ANS ..ottt et enens 95% 90%
Weighted aVErage COUPOI «....ovirririiirtirieieieteieriee et et ecan e enebe e esseesatre s seanseaneee 7.92% 9.33%
Weighted AVErage MAIZIN ........ceovcvivvvieiveeiecieieeteie s iees et st neaseeesst e st e res e © 3.42% 4.15%
Weighted average original LTV .......occoceiiioeeeese e RN 83% 85%
Weighted average original credit SCOTE ......oovviereciiieieeie e 678 675
Percent with prepayment PERalty.........cvrviveiiiiiient et er e 54% 36%
Prior 3 month prepayment rate .................... et eren ettt b e et et ebe st st b ere st e s enetenea 28% 23%
Prior 12 month prepayment Fate ..........c.coooiiii i e 34% 25%
Lifetime prepayment rate.........c........ bttt b et bbb et 34% 31%
Weighed average months until prepayment penalty eXpiration...........oceecevevrreeenrierenenes 22 27
Percent Of ARMS ..ottt ettt eb bbb e b ettt 87% 65%
Percent of hybrid ARMS.....coiirieiieset ettt 68% 65%
Weighted average months until hybrid ARMs interest rate adjustment ........................ 15 16
Percent of mortgage loans in California..........cccooiiieiiieiinicnneec e 63% 53%
Percent of purchase transactions..........cceiieeiiiniinieie e e s s esb e esneee 70% 74%
Percent of owner occupied ..........ccccveeeiee et et st e et he et eer et b e s e s e s banteeareneenabesaaenes 94% 96%
Percent of first lien ..ol e ettt ettt b e a b as s et saene 99% 95%

We follow a hedging program intended to limit our exposure to the effect of changes in interest rates associated
with the following: :

e changes in one-month LIBOR which is the index used to re-price our adjustable rate CMO borrowings on a
monthly basis;

¢ mortgage loans that we have committed to acquire at pre-determined rates through rate-lock commitments, or
"locked pipeline;” and

o the value of proceeds from the sale of our fixed rate mortgage loans held-for-sale.

Our primary objective is to hedge our exposure to the variability in future cash flows attributable to the variability
of one-month LIBOR, which is the underlying index of our CMO borrowings. Our hedging program is formulated with
the intent to offset the potential adverse effects of changing interest rates resulting from the following:

*  interest rate adjustment limitations on mortgage loans due to periodic and lifetime interest rate caps; and
¢ mismatched interest rate adjustment periods of mortgage loans and related borrowings.

Our goal is to lock in a reliable stream of cash flows when interest rates fall below or rise above certain levels.
When interest rates rise or fall, our borrowing costs increase or decrease at greater speeds than the underlying collateral
supporting the borrowings. Hedges are allocated to borrowings to provide a hedge against a rise in interest rates. Cash
flow derivative instruments hedge the variability of forecasted cash flows attributable to interest rate risk by providing
cash flows at certain triggers during changing interest rate environments.

As we acquire and originate mortgage loans, we purchase caps at interest rate strike prices that are tied to a forward
yield curve to hedge forecasted borrowings. We purchase caps at strike prices over the one-month LIBOR forward
yield curve to correspond to our borrowing costs, which are indexed to one-month LIBOR. A cap allows the yield on
an ARM to rise in an increasing interest rate environment just as the cost of related borrowings would rise as we receive
cash payments if one-month LIBOR were to reach the contractual strike price of the cap. The cap would provide
protection for (1) periodic and lifetime cap limitations on the mortgage loan that are absent on the related borrowings,
and (2) mismatched interest rate adjustment periods. Simultaneously with the purchase of caps, we may also sell floors,
or "collars," at interest rate strike prices that are below the one-month LIBOR forward yield curve. The sale of a floor
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allows us to offset the cost that we pay for the cap. Our yield on ARMs would decrease in a decreasing interest rate
environment just as the cost of related borrowings wouk! decrease as we make cash payments if one-month LIBOR
were to reach the contractual strike price of the floor. We also purchase swaps whereby we receive cash payments
based on one-month LIBOR and make cash payments at a fixed rate. Swaps have the effect of fixing our borrowing
costs on a similar amount of swaps and, as a result, we can reduce the interest rate variability of our borrowings. The
purchase of caps, collars and swaps allows us to protect net interest income during periods of increasing interest rates
while maintaining a steady stream of cash flows if interest rates decline.

At December 31, 2001, caps allocated to CMO borrovvings had a remaining notional balance of $1.6 billion with a
weighted average maturity of approximately 28 months. Pursuant to the terms of the caps, we will receive cash
payments if one-month LIBOR reaches certain strike prices, ranging from 1.66% to 10.25%, with a weighted average
strike price of 4.65% over the life of the caps. At December 31, 2001, collars allocated to CMO borrowings had a
remaining notional balance of $758.9 million with a weighted average maturity of approximately 25 months. Pursuant
to the terms of the collars, we will receive cash payments if one-month LIBOR reaches strike prices, ranging from
1.91% to 6.52%, with a weighted average strike price of 4.04% over the life of the collars. We will make cash
payments if one-month LIBOR reaches strike prices, ranging from 1.16% to 5.88%, with a weighted average strike
price of 3.38%. At December 31, 2001, swaps allocated to CMO borrowings had a remaining notional balance of $71.8
million with a weighted average maturity of approximately 19 months. Pursuant to the terms of the swaps, we will
receive cash payments based on one-month LIBOR and make cash payments at fixed rates ranging from 4.83% to
5.18%, with a weighted average fixed rate of 4.93% over the life of the swaps. The notional amounts of caps, collars
and swaps are amortized according to projected prepayment rates on the mortgage loans securing the CMO borrowings.
However, regarding the floor component of the collar, the notional amount equals the actual principal balance of the
CMO collateral. As of December 31, 2001, the fair market value of the caps, collars and swaps was $(4.4) million.
These hedges are marked to market each reporting period with the entire change in market value being recognized in
other comprehensive income on the balance sheet.

During 2001, we purchased a collar at strike prices tied to the one-month LIBOR forward yield curve to protect
cash flows on CMO borrowings that are secured by hybrid loans with remaining fixed terms, which did not have
allocated hedges. The balance sheet hedge protects cash fows on CMO borrowings with hedges just as interest rate
hedges would protect cash flows on CMO structures with allocated hedges. As of December 31, 2001, the balance
sheet hedge had a notional amount of $815.6 million with a one-month LIBOR cap strike price of 4.38% and a weighted
average strike price of 4.79% over the life of the cap. The balance sheet hedge has a one-month LIBOR floor strike
price of 3.98% and a weighted average strike price of 4.42% over the life of the floor. The balance sheet hedge matures
on March 25, 2004. The notional amount of the balance sheet hedge is amortized according to projected prepayment
rates on CMO borrowings. As of December 31, 2001, the fair market value of the balance sheet hedge was $5.1 million.
The balance sheet hedge is marked to market each reporting period with the entire change in market value being
recognized in other comprehensive income on the balance shzet.

We record monthly provisions for estimated loan losses on our long-term mortgage investment portfolio as an
increase to allowance for loan losses. The provision for estimated loan losses is primarily based on a migration analysis
based on historical loss statistics, including cumulative loss percentages and loss severity, of similar loans in our long-
term mortgage investment portfolio. The loss percentage is used to determine the estimated inherent losses in the
mortgage investment portfolio. Provision for loan losses is a/so based on management’s judgment of net loss potential,
including specific allowances for known impaired loans, changes in the nature and volume of the portfolio, the value of
the collateral and current economic conditions that may affect the borrowers’ ability to pay.

We recorded loan loss provisions of $16.8 million during 2001 as compared to $18.8 million during 2000.
However, our allowance for loan losses increased to $11.7 million as of December 31, 2001 as compared to $5.1 million
as of December 31, 2000 as actual loan losses declined. As of December 31, 2001, allowance for loan losses was 43
basis points of total loan receivables, which include our mortzage loan investment portfolio and finance receivables, as
compared to 28 basis points as of December 31, 2001. During 2001, actual loan losses were $10.2 million as compared
to $17.8 million during 2000. Actual loan losses were higher during 2000 as we wrote-off high loan-to-value second
trust deeds, or "125 loans." In addition to lower actual losses during 2001, we recorded gain on disposition of real
estate owned of $1.9 million as compared to a loss on disposition of real estate owned of $1.8 million during 2000. The
credit quality of our mortgage loan investment portfolio improved as 95% of CMO collateral was non-conforming Alt-
A mortgage loans that had a weighted average original credit score of 678 as of December 31, 2001 as compared to
90% and 675, respectively, as of December 31, 2000.
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We continue to focus on successfully building our core operating businesses. We believe that we have developed
non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loan products that meet the needs of originators of mortgage loans and borrowers, as
well as those of capital market investors. Total non-conforming Alt-A loan production by our mortgage operations
increased 52% to $3.2 billion during 2001 as compared to $2.1 billion during 2000. During 2001, the long-term
investment operations acquired $1.5 billion of primarily non-conforming Alt-A ARMs from the mortgage operations for
long-term investment as compared to $454.0 million acquired during 2000. Our warehouse lending operations
increased average outstanding finance receivables to non-affiliated companies by 53% to $205.5 million during 2001 as
compared to $134.7 million during 2000. As of December 31, 2001, the warehouse lendmg operations had warehouse
advances outstanding to non- aff' liated companies of $300.6 million.

During 1999, we began to expand the scope of our mortgage operations to include wholesale and retail lending. By
expanding into these origination channels we positioned ourselves closer to our customers, which increases the quality
of our mortgage loans and decreases the premiums that we pay for acquiring and originating mortgage loans. During
2001, 22% of total loan production was originated through our wholesale and retail channels at a premium of 157 basis
points as compared to 13% of total loan production at a premium of 163 basis points during 2000. The decrease in
premiums paid for acquiring and originating mortgage loans was more significant considering that we acquired and
originated 65% of mortgage loans with prepayment penality features during 2001 as compared to 53% during 2000.
Mortgage loans with prepayment penalty features are generally more costly to acquire and originate than mortgage
loans without prepayment penalties. We expanded our correspondent, wholesale and retail origination channels while
maintaining our centralized operations, which we believe is a key factor in ensuring quality control and being a low-cost
acquirer and originator of mortgage loans. We also believe that technology can provide operational efficiencies and
allow us to increase market share, expand our customer base, provide high levels of customer service and reduce per
loan operating costs. To accomplish this, we have developed IDASL, an automated underwriting and loan approval
system, and a delivery tracking system for our warehouse lending operations.

The following table presents certain information about mortgage loan acquisitions and originations by our mortgage
operations and our long-term investment operations for the periods shown, excluding net premiums paid (dollars in
thousands):

Mortgage Operations o Long-Term Operations @
2001 2000 1999 2001 2000 1999
Total acquisitions...............c....... $3,066,077 $2,078,824 $1,647,718 $1,486,343 $450,712 $637,390
Percent of Alt-A loans................ -~ 99% 96% 90% 99% 93% 81%
Weighted average coupon .......... 8.05% 9.78% 8.87% 7.42% 9.41% 8.99%
Weighted average margin........... 3.16% 4.10% 4.19% 3.20% 4.11% 4.15%
Weighted average original LTV. 81% 85% 87%. 83% 87% 91%
Weighted avg orig credit score... 681 676 680 680 673 679
Percent with prepay penalty ....... 64% 53% 39% 59% 51% 35%
Percent of ARMs loans............... 48% 23% 35% 99% 91% 78%
Percent of hybrid loans............... 35% 23% 33% 74% 88% 71%
Percent of mortgages in Calif..... 56% 40% 44% 70% 64% 64%
Percent of purchase transactions. 62% 81% 77% 67% 82% 70%
Percent of owner occupied ......... 91% - 96% 97% 93% 99% 98%
Percent of first lien ...........cccc...... 99% 98% 100% 99% 98% 97%

(1) Excludes loan production from Novelle Financial Services, Inc.
(2) All acquisitions were from our mortgage operations.

In order to minimize risks associated with the accumulation of our mortgage loans, we seek to securitize our
mortgage loans more frequently by creating smaller securitizations of our loans, thereby reducing our exposure to
interest rate risk and price volatility during the accumulation period of our loans. During 2001, we completed 12 FRM
and ARM securitizations for $3.2 billion as compared to total securitizations of $2.2 billion during 2000. In addition,
we currently have in place a forward commitment for the securitization of our mortgage loans and the related mortgage
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servicing rights created from these securities, This gives us the ability to securitize without substantial reliance on the
secondary markets and allows us to realize all cash gains on these sales transactions.

All of our businesses actively work together to deliver comprehensive mortgage investment and lending services to
our correspondent sellers, mortgage brokers, retail customers and capital market investors through a wide array of
mortgage loan programs, web-based technology and centralized operations so that we can provide high levels of
customer service at low per loan costs.

We believe the following are critical accounting policies that require the most significant estimates and
assumptions that are particularly susceptible to significant change in the preparation of our financial statements:

¢ allowance for loan losses. For further informatior: see discussion of allowance for loan losses under Results of
Operations—Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. ancl Note A of the consolidated financial statements of Impac
Mortgage Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries.

e mortgage servicing rights. We value our mortzage servicing rights utilizing significant assumptions and
estimates. For further information see Note A and Note L of the consolidated financial statements of Impac
Funding Corporation and subsidiaries

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS—
IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 AS COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000
Results of Operations

Our net earnings increased to $33.2 million, or $1.19 per diluted share, for 2001 as compared to a loss of $54.2
million, or $(2.70) per diluted share, for 2000. Our net earnings increased over prior year results as follows:

e  net interest income, before provision for loan losses, increased $21.6 million, or 94%, to $44.6 million during
2001 as compared to net interest income of $23.0 million during 2000;

e  equity in net earnings of IFC increased $12.7 millicn to $10.9 million during 2001 as compared to equity in net
loss of IFC of $1.8 million; and

e non-interest expense decreased $50.5 million to $10.4 million during 2001 as compared to $60.9 million
during 2000.

We also generated estimated taxable income of $46.4 million, or $1.66 per diluted share, during 2001 compared to
a taxable loss of $43.9 million, or $(2.07) per diluted share, during 2000. As a REIT, we are required to distribute a
minimum of 90% of our estimated taxable income to our stockholders by the time we file our applicable tax returns. As
of December 31, 2001, we met all of our dividend distribution requirements. When we file our annual tax returns there
are certain adjustments that we make to net earnings as repoited based on GAAP. For instance, for tax purposes we can
only deduct loan loss provisions to the extent that we incurred actual loan losses. Because we pay dividends based on
taxable income, dividends may be more or less than GAAP earnings.

Our board of directors declared regular cash dividends of $0.62 per share and a special cash dividend of $0.07 per
share during 2001. The special dividend was the result of a non-recwrring recovery of previously charged-off assets,
which we received during the fourth quarter of 2001, anc increased our overall taxable income. The regular cash
dividend of $0.37 per share and the special cash dividend of $0.07 per share that was declared in 2001, but paid in 2002,
represents a 2002 dividend distribution, ‘

The following table presents a reconciliation of estimated taxable income to GAAP earnings (dollars in thousands,
except per share amounts):
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For the Year Ended,
December 31,

2001 2000
Net earnings (0SS} ..veueiviveioeniiirrireret ettt s s ee et re s $ 33,178 $ (54,233)
Adjustments to earnings (loss):
Mark-to-market 10ss - SFAS 133 ...c....overumrrrrrrrnnnen. e 3,821 —
Write-down of investment securities available-for-sale ...........cocooooveorevecviceeeees 2,217 18,866
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ........coooeiiieroiricvvnenneceen. T 617 —
Alternative MinIMUIN t8X.......coiieerviriereresinrreseerreneete oo beseses s see s sreersessoreeressesserses 550 —
L0aN 108S PrOVISION ...ovoviiiiieieiiiciciieeete ettt ettt ee et v e eretens e 16,813 18,839
Dividends frOmM IFC ........oooemiieeeeee et eneneens 8,894 —
Cash received from previously charged-off assets ..........ccooiveeiiiiiiiieeneceennnen. 1,773 —
Tax deduction for actual 10an 10SSES .........coveveerveieciieeieeectiier e (10,211) (17,778)
Gain on sale of investment securities available-for-sale .............c.cccovvivvivveriiennes (12) —
Equity in net {earnings) 1085 0f IFC ..o (10,912) 1,762
Other miscellaneous adjustments ........co.e.eeiouevivricioiiininctiie e e — (520)
Estimated taxable €arnings ™ ...........oo.evvovveererorereeeeeeeescsereeess e sseeereeseeees $ 46,428 $ (33,064)
Estimated taxable earnings per diluted share O T SN $ 166 $ (1.20)

(1) Excludes annual tax deductions of approximately $10.9 million for amortization of the termination of our
management agreement in 1997, the deduction for dividends paid and the availability of a deduction attributable to
net operating loss carryforwards. After 2001, we will have completely deducted amortization of our management
agreement from taxable income.

We also report earnings on a core basis to reflect recurring earnings from operations. Core operating earnings
exclude one-time non-recurring revenue and expense items and the effect of fair value accounting for derivative
instruments and hedging activities as required by SFAS 133. Depending on non-recurring and fair value accounting
adjustments, core operating earnings may at times be more or less than GAAP earnings. Core operating earnings is a
non-GAAP concept and may not be comparable to other Company's core operating earnings. The following table
presents a reconciliation of core operating earnings to GAAP earnings (dollars in thousands, except per share amounts):

For the Year Ended,
December 31,
2001 2000
Net €arnings (LOSS) ueeceeeeeiereeriniririeie et ettt ettt en s e bseresbassenns $ 33,178 $ (54,233)
Adjustments to earnings (loss):
Mark-to-market 1055 - SFAS 133 ..ottt et seresaare s 3,821 —
Write-down of investment securities available-for-sale............coovveevveevrereeeeenne, 2,217 53,576
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ...........ccoveeviveiiveieceresrirennenes 617 —_
Alternative MinImMUM tAX......ccoerrureertriniiereniee ettt ve e sese s et esneeas 550 —
Write-off of discounts upon retirement of senior subordinated debentures............ 1,006 —
Excess loan loss provisions to allow for write-down of non-performing loans ..... — 14,499
Tax-effected write-down of investment securities available-for sale owned by
IFC and write-off of bank related start-up costs incurred by IFC...........ccc.....e. —_ 1,836
Tax effected recovery of previously charged-off ssets...........c.ccovevevecrererecsinirnnens (2,813) —
Core Operating EaIMINGS.......c..eieeeerieerererrreetiise et ereteeeseseseere e sesees s ber e seseststeneanssenas $ 38576 § 15,678
Core operating earnings per diluted share ...........c..c.cccoooiiiieiieinc e $ 138 § 0.57

Net Interest Income

We earn interest income primarily on mortgage assets, and to a lesser degree, interest income earned on cash and
cash equivalents and due from affiliates. Interest expense is primarily interest paid on borrowings on mortgage assets
and includes interest expense paid on due to affiliates and senior subordinated debt. We also receive or make cash
payments on our hedges as an adjustment to the yield on mortgage assets depending on whether certain specified
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interest rate levels are reached. Mortgage assets include CMO collateral, mortgage loans held-for-investment, finance
receivables and investment securities available-for-sale. Borrowings on mortgage assets include CMO borrowings,
reverse repurchase agreements and borrowings on investnient securities available-for-sale.

Net interest income, before provision for loan losses, increased 94% to $44.6 million during 2001 as compared to
$23.0 million during 2000. The increase in net interest income during 2001 was primarily due to short-term interest rate
reductions that occurred throughout 2001 and significantly reduced our CMO borrowing costs. As interest rates rapidly
declined, our adjustable rate CMO borrowing costs declined at a faster rate than coupons on mortgage loans as our
CMO borrowings are not subject to the same periodic inerest rate caps as our mortgage loans. In addition, adjustable -
rate CMO borrowings are subject to interest rate adjustments on a monthly basis as compared to mortgage loans which
may have fixed interest rates or are subject to interest ratz adjustments every six months. Net interest income was also
higher as average mortgage assets increased 22% to $2.2 billion during 2001 as compared to $1.8 billion during 2000.
The combination of lower borrowing costs and a larger portfolio of mortgage assets resulted in higher net interest
income during 2001.

Net interest margins on mortgage assets increased '5 basis points to 1.98% during 2001 as compared to 1.23%
during 2000 as the yield on borrowings on mortgage assets decreased 203 basis points to 5.45% from 7.48%,
respectively, while the yield on mortgage assets declined only 94 basis points to 7.11% from 8.05%, respectively. The
primary reason for the widening of interest rate margins was a 154 basis point increase in net interest margins on CMO
collateral. Net interest margins on CMO collateral increzsed to 2.01% during 2001 as compared to 0.47% during 2000
as rapidly decreasing short-term interest rates reduced yelds on CMO borrowings. CMO borrowing costs decreased
191 basis points to 5.39% during 2001 from 7.30% during 2000. Average one-month LIBOR, which is the primary
index used to re-price CMO borrowings, averaged 3.88% during 2001 as compared to 6.42% during 2000.

Additionally, our mortgage loan investment portfclio benefited from a steeper yield curve during 2001. A
steepening of the yield curve results when there is a wider interest rate spread differential between short-term interest
rates and long-term interest rates. A steeper yield curve bznefits our mortgage loan investment portfolio as interest rates
on mortgage loan acquisitions and originations are determined by using the ten-year Treasury rate plus a margin as
compared to new CMO borrowings which are determined by using one-month LIBOR plus a margin.

The impact of hedges reduced net interest income and net interest margins during 2001. Net hedge cash payments
and amortization of hedge costs were $5.2 million during 2001 as compared to $237,000 during 2000. Excluding the
effect of hedges, net interest margins on mortgage assets would have been 2.22% during 2001 as compared to actual net
interest margins of 1.98%. During 2000, net interest margins would have been 1.21%, excluding hedges, as compared
to actual net interest margins of 1.23%. We believe that the Federal Reserve Bank's policy of short-term interest rate
reductions during 2001 to provide relief to a faltering economy was exacerbated by the events of September 11, 2001
and precipitated further interest rate cuts by the Federal Reserve Bank. We believe that our current hedging policy is
sound and that as the economy recovers from the current recession and when interest rates rise in the future we will
benefit from positive cash flows generated by our hedges.

The following table summarizes average balance, interest and weighted average yield on mortgage assets and
borrowings on mortgage assets for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 (dollars in thousands):

48



For the year ended December 31, 2001 For the year ended December 31, 2000

Weighted Weighted
Average Avg. % of Average Avg. % of
Balance Interest Yield Portfolio Balance Interest Yield Portfolio

MORTGAGE ASSETS
Subordinated securities

Collateralized by mortgages § 34,199 $ 3,517 1028%  1.58% §$ 57651 $ 7249 1257 %  321%
Subordinated securities :

Collateralized by other loans — — — — 2,871 273 9.51 0.16
Total investment securities 34,199 3,517 10.28 1.58 60,522 7,522 12.43 3.37
Loan receivables:
CMO collateral 1,519,702 108,328 7.13 70.19 1,198,478 85,923 7.17 66.69
Mortgage loans
held-for-investment 137,130 8,188 597 6.33 119,326 8,966 7.51 6.64
Finance receivables: .
Affiliated 268,718 18,362 6.83 1241 284,070 28,044 9.87 15.80
Non-affiliated 205,474 15,556 7.57 9.49 134,741 14,280 10.60 7.50
Total finance receivables 474,192 33,918 7.15 21.90 418,811 42324 10.11 23.30
Total loan receivables 2,131,024 150,434 7.06 98.42 1,736,615 137,213 7.90 96.63
Total mortgage assets $2,165223 § 153,951 711 % 100.00% $ 1,797,137 $ 144,735 8.05 % 100.00 %
BORROWINGS
CMO borrowings $ 1,444,033 § 77813 5.39 % 70.72 % $ 1,100,151 § 80,287 730 % 67.06 %
Reverse repurchase
agreements—mortgages 580,605 30,804 5.31 28.44 513,987 39,216 7.63 31.33
Borrowings secured by
investment securities 17,199 2,566 14.92 0.84 26,350 3,217 12.21 1.61
Total borrowings on
mortgage assets $ 2,041,837 $ 111,183 545 % 100.00% $ 1,640488 § 122720 7.48 %  100.00 %
Net Interest Spread ¥ 1.66 % _ 0.57 %
Net Interest Margin 1.98 % 123 %

(1) Calculated by subtracting the yield on total borrowings on mortgage assets from the yield on total mortgage assets.
(2) Calculated by subtracting interest on total borrowings on mortgage assets from interest on total mortgage assets
and dividing the result by the average balance of total mortgage assets.

Interest Income on Mortgage Assets

CMO collateral. Interest income on CMO collateral increased 26% to $108.3 million during 2001 as compared to
$85.9 million during 2000 as average CMO collateral increased 25% to $1.5 billion as compared to $1.2 billion,
respectively. Average CMO collateral increased as the long-term investment operations issued four CMOs during 2001
totaling $1.501 billion, which were secured by $1.513 billion of mortgage loans. In comparison, the long-term
investment operations issued CMOs totaling $943.6 million, which were secured by $952.8 million of mortgage loans,
during 2000. The issuance of CMOs was partially offset by CMO collateral prepayments of $581.4 million during
2001, a 12-month prepayment rate of 34% CPR. During 2000, CMO collateral prepayments were $309.7 million, a 12-
month prepayment rate of 25% CPR. CMO collateral prepayment rates increased as interest rates declined during 2001,
however, we believe that absent prepayment penalties, early loan prepayments would have been much higher. The
long-term investment operations acquired mortgage loans with prepayment penalty features of $876.8 million, or 59%
of mortgage loans acquired, during 2001 as compared to $231.0 million, or 51% of mortgage loans acquired, with
prepayment penalties during 2000. We believe that a higher percentage of mortgages acquired for long-term investment
with prepayment penalties will to lead to less volatility in net interest income and provide consistent income streams.

The weighted average yield on CMO collateral decreased 4 basis points to 7.13% during 2001 as compared to

7.17% during 2000 even though mortgage rates declined to all-time lows dunng 2001. The primary reasons for the
slight decrease in yield on CMO collateral was as follows:
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e $1.1 billion, or 74% of mortgage loan acquisitions, were hybrid loans that were fixed throughout 2001;
e periodic interest rate adjustment cap limits on ARMs lagged market interest rate declines; and
o the cost basis of capitalized premiums was lower during 2001 as compared to 2000.

During 2001, average capitalized premiums were 164 basis points of average CMO collateral as compared to 225
basis points of average CMO collateral during 2000. This resulted in premium amortization and a corresponding
reduction to interest income of $8.4 million during 2001 &s compared to $10.6 million during 2000. Capitalized cost of
premiums paid on loan acquisitions as of December 31, 2001 was $35.4 million as compared to capitalized premiums of
$22.8 million as of December 31, 2000.

On August 10, 2001, the Derivatives Implementation Group, or "DIG," of the Financial Accounting Standards
Board, or "FASB," published DIG G20, which further interpreted SFAS 133. On October 1, 2001, we adopted the
provisions of DIG G20 and net income and accumulated other comprehensive income were adjusted by the amount
needed to reflect the cumulative impact of adopting the provisions of DIG G20. As of October 1, 2001, we started
amortizing the fair market value of capitalized hedge costs as a reduction to interest income. However, for tax
purposes, we will amortize the historical cost of our hsdges on our tax returns. As of December 31, 2001, the
capitalized carrying value of our hedges was $6.6 millior, or 30 basis points of CMO collateral, as compared to $2.6
million, or 20 basis points of CMO collateral, as of December 31, 2000.

Mortgage loans held-for-investment. Interest income on mortgage loans held-for-investment decreased 9% to $8.2
million during 2001 as compared to $9.0 million during 2000 as the weighted average yield decreased to 5.97% from
7.51%, respectively. The yield decreased primarily as non-performing loans from a collapsed CMO structure was
reclassified on our balance sheet as mortgage loans held-for-investment during 2001. CMO borrowings can be
collapsed, or called, when the current principal balance of CMO collateral securing a specific CMO structure reaches a
certain level, generally 20% to 25% of the original principal balance of the pool of mortgage loans securing the CMO
borrowings. When we call a CMO structure we have to repay CMO borrowings. The CMO collateral that secured the
repaid CMO borrowings can be used in a new CMO structure if the CMO collateral is not more than 30 days past due.
When we collapsed the CMO structure during 2001, we rerained non-performing loans that could not be used for CMO
collateral and which was reclassified on our balance sheet as mortgage loans held-for-investment. We did not accrue
interest income on non-performing mortgage loans, which results in a lower yield.

Finance receivables. Interest income on finance reczivables decreased 20% to $33.9 million during 2001 as
compared to $42.3 million during 2000 as the weighted average yield decreased to 7.15% as compared to 10.11%,
respectively. The yield on finance receivables decreased as average prime declined to 6.91% during 2001 as compared
to 9.23% during 2000. Prime is the index we use to determine interest rates on finance receivables. The decrease in
interest income, which was caused by a decline in prime, was partially offset by higher average finance receivable
balances. Average finance receivables increased 13% to 5474.2 million during 2001 as compared to $418.8 million
during 2000 as loan production by our mortgage operations increased, as well as warehouse financing activity by
customers of our warehouse lending operations. Average finance receivables to non-affiliated customers increased 53%
to $205.5 million during 2001 as compared to $134.7 million during 2000.

Investment securities available-for-sale. Interest income on investment securities available-for-sale decreased 53%
to $3.5 million during 2001 as compared to $7.5 million during 2000 as average investment securities decreased 43% to
$34.2 million as compared to $60.5 million, respectively. Average investment securities decreased as we wrote-off
$52.6 million of investment securities during the first six months of 2000. The weighted average yield on investment
securities decreased to 10.28% during 2001 as compared to 12.43% during 2000.

Interest Expense on Borrowings

CMO borrowings. Interest expense on CMO borrowings decreased 3% to $77.8 million during 2001 as compared
to $80.3 million during 2001 as the weighted average yiekl decreased to 5.39% as compared to 7.30%, respectively.
The yield on CMO borrowings decreased as short-term interest rates declined during 2001. Average one-month
LIBOR, which is the index used to determine interest rates o:1 adjustable rate CMO borrowings, was 3.88% during 2001
as compared to 6.42% during 2000. Adjustable rate CMO borrowings adjust every month to an interest rate that is
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equal to one-month LIBOR as of the pricing date of the previous month, generally the 25th of each month, plus a
spread. The decrease in interest expense on CMO borrowings which was caused by interest rate reductions during 2001
was partially offset by higher average CMO borrowing balances. Average CMO borrowings increased 27% to $1.4
billion during 2001 as compared to $1.1 billion during 2000 as we issued CMOs totaling $1.5 billion during 2001.

Interest expense on CMO borrowings was adversely affected by an increase of amortization of capitalized
securitization costs. Securitization costs are incurred when CMOs are issued and securitization costs are capitalized and
amortized over the life of the CMO borrowings as an adjustment to the yield. During 2001, we amortized securitization
costs of $6.5 million as compared to $4.7 million during 2000. However, capitalized securitization costs were $11.6
million, or 53 basis points of CMO collateral, as of December 31, 2001 as compared to $14.1 million, or 106 basis
points of CMO collateral as of December 31, 2000.

Reverse repurchase agreements. Interest expense on reverse repurchase agreements, which are used to fund the |
acquisition of mortgage loans and finance receivables, decreased 21% to $30.8 million during 2001 as compared to
$39.2 million during 2000 as the weighted average yield decreased to 5.31% as compared to 7.63%, respectively. The
yield on reverse repurchase agreements decreased during 2001 as interest rates declined. The decrease in interest
expense on reverse repurchase agreements that was caused by interest rate reductions during 2001 was partially offset
by higher average balances. Average reverse repurchase agreements increased 13% to $580.6 million during 2001 as
compared to $514.0 million during 2000 as more loans were acquired by our long-term investment operations, our
mortgage banking operations had higher loan production and our warehouse lending operations had increased
warehouse activity from its customers.

Borrowings secured by investment securities. Interest expense on borrowings secured by investment securities
decreased 19% to $2.6 million during 2001 as compared to $3.2 million during 2000 as average borrowings decreased
35% to $17.2 million as compared to $26.4 million, respectively. The weighted average yield on borrowings secured by
investment securities increased to 14.92% during 2001 as compared to 12.21% during 2000.

Non-Interest Income

Non-interest income increased to $17.4 million during 2001 as compared to $2.5 million during 2000 primarily due
to an increase in equity in net earnings (loss) of IFC. IMH records 99% of the earnings or losses from IFC, as IMH
owns 100% of IFC’s preferred stock, which represents 99% of the economic interest in IFC. Equity in net earnings of
IFC increased $12.7 million to $10.9 million during 2001 as compared to equity in net loss of IFC of $(1.8) million
during 2000. The increase in net earnings of [FC was primarily the result of increased gain on sale of mortgage loans.
Gain on sale of mortgage loans increased to $46.9 million during 2001 as compared to $19.7 million during 2000 due to
the following:

¢  higher sales volume of mortgage loans;
e sale of mortgage loans at slightly higher prices; and
¢ sale of mortgage servicing rights on ARMs sold to the long-term investment operations.

For more information on the results of operations of IFC, refer to "—Results of Operations—Impac Funding
Corporation.”

Non-Interest Expense

Non-interest expense decreased to $10.4 million during 2001 as compared to $60.9 million during 2000 primarily
due to $53.6 million of write-downs of investment securities available-for-sale during 2000. Non-interest expense also
includes fair valuation adjustments on hedges of $3.8 million during 2001. Excluding tota) write-downs of investment
securities available-for-sale and the effect of mark-to-market loss - SFAS 133, non-interest expense decreased 41% to
$4.3 million during 2001 as compared to $7.3 million during 2000. The primary reason for the decrease in non-interest
expense during 2001 was gain on disposition of real estate owned of $1.9 million as compared to a loss on disposition
of real estate owned of $1.8 million during 2000.
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Credit Exposures
Non-performing Assets

Non-performing assets consist of loans that are 90 days or more delinquent, or "non-accrual loans," including loans
in foreclosure and delinquent bankruptcies, and real estate acquired in settlement of loans, or other real estate owned. It
is our policy to place a mortgage loan on non-accrual status when a loan becomes 90 days delinquent. Any previously
accrued interest will be reversed from income. Non-accrual loans are included in mortgage loans held-for-sale,
mortgage loans held-for-investment and CMO collateral, or "mortgage loan portfolios." The outstanding unpaid
principal balance of non-performing assets totaled $75.7 million as of December 31, 2001 as compared to $49.9 million
as of December 31, 2000. The increase in non-performing assets was primarily due to an increase in the size of our
mortgage loan investment portfolios. As of December 31, 2001, non-performing assets as a percentage of our mortgage
. loan portfolios was 2.54% as compared to 2.43% as of December 31, 2000. The carrying amount of other real estate
owned, after writing down the mortgage loan to the broker’s price opinion or appraised value, was $8.1 million and $4.7
million at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. We recorded gain on the disposition of other real estate owned of
$1.9 million during 2001 and a loss on disposition of real estate owned of $1.8 million during 2000.

We monitor our sub-servicers to make sure that they perform loss mitigation, foreclosure and collection functions
according to our servicing guide. This includes an effective and aggressive collection effort in order to minimize
mortgage loans from becoming non-performing assets. However, when resolving non-performing assets, sub-servicers
are required to take timely and aggressive action. The sub-servicer is required to determine payment collection under
various circumstances, which will result in maximum financial benefit. This is accomplished by either working with the
borrower to bring the loan current or by foreclosing and liquidating the property. We perform ongoing review of loans
that display weaknesses and believe that we maintain adecuate loss allowance on the mortgage loans. The following
table summarizes the unpaid principal balance of non-performing assets included in our mortgage loan portfolios for the
periods shown (in thousands):

At December 31,
2001 2000
Mortgage Loans Held-for-Sale:
NOTIFACCTUAL ..ottt ete et ste e vesee e e et eeeneseeaaseseeaan raateeseesrsenseeeeeseseee e reeaeseanneones $ 6,432 § 3,680
Other real eState OWNEd .........covvvevemuerienriiierecriiesteit e e e e se et e s st es et e ssnaesen 330 148
Total mortgage loans held-for-sale..........cooooeviiiiiiiiii e 6,762 3,828
Mortgage Loans Held- for-Investment
NOIFACCIUAL ....viiiiicere ettt err e ettt sas e te st e s e s et eaeeraseesesebesotasestbesabessatesenarense 9,922 10,197
IN Process TOTECIOSUIES ....oueuereirirreenriiteinieseeteter sttt st mssaseene e saees 2,002 3,168
Total mortgage loans held-for-investment..........c.eccvveviiviiiire e eeere s 11,924 13,365
CMO collateral:
NOIDFBCCTUAL ....eveeeveee vttt ettt esre et sesss e e et et ot st saes st o e eneesasarerasnsarbenes 51,214 28,798
Other real State OWNEA ......ccoceirieeerinrinieerirenriieceeeeteese e eree e eeassbesaetsessermsssessansessarees 5,805 - 3,883
Total CMO COlALETAL. ... .ot et srrne e e e e e e e s ae s ssaeesennaasaseas 57,019 32,681
Total mortgage 1oan portfolios ..........oeevecverricniiniir et $ 75705 § 49,874
Delinquent Loans

When a borrower fails to make required payments on a loan and does not cure the delinquency within 60 days, we
generally record a notice of default and commence foreclosure proceedings. If the loan is not reinstated within the time
permitted by law for reinstatement, the property may ther: be sold at a foreclosure sale. In foreclosure sales, we
generally acquire title to the property. As of December 31, 2001, our mortgage loan portfolios included 3.84% of
mortgage loans that were 60 days or more delinquent as compared to 4.89% as of December 31, 2000. Loans that are
30 days delinquent may experience seasonality and servicing transfer issues so they are therefore excluded.

The following table summarizes the unpaid principal balance of mortgage loans in our mortgage loan portfohos that
were 60 or more days delmquent for the periods shown (in thyusands):
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At December 31,

2001 2000
Mortgage Loans Held-for-Sale: :

60-89 days dElINQUENL.............cceiiiiriciieece ettt s ve e vt e $ 494 3 861
90 or more days delinquent ... 6,432 3,680
Total mortgage loans held-for-5ale ..o 6,926 4,541

Mortgage Loans Held-for-Investment: ,
60-89 days deliNQUENL...........cvriiirreririetetiri et cnrsest st nssbeters bbb rss st ns st st e s s snarenes 916 115
90 or more days delinquent V) ...........cccoo.ooooimmmirriri e 9,922 10,197
Total mortgage loans held-for-investment......... vttt et e an et et re s sare s st annentn - 10,838 10,312

CMO collateral: :
60-89 days deliNQUENt............ccocoveuirecenetrie e ettt saer s s e esenens 20,904 25,098
90 or more days delinquent ) eeeeeeeeeeeeeee e s e oo s s eees s s s ss s s e s s s e e s e 51,214 28,798
TOtal CMO COLLAIETAL.....ovveeee ettt ee e eee et ee et s e reearee et esseeeeesnseeemeneans . 72,118 53,896
Total mortgage loan portfolios ..o e $ 89,882 § 68,749

(1) Includes loans in foreclosure and delinquent bankruptcies.

Provision for Loan Losses

Total allowance for loan losses expressed as a percentage of gross loan receivables which includes loans held-for-
investment, CMO collateral and finance receivables, increased to 0.43% as of December 31, 2001 as compared to
0.28% as of December 31, 2000. We recorded net loan loss provisions of $16.8 million during 2001 as compared to
$18.8 million during 2000. The amount provided for loan losses decreased during 2001 primarily due to loan loss
provisions made during 2000 for the anticipated loss on disposition or write-off of 125 loans. The allowance for loan
Josses is determined primarily on the basis of management’s judgment of net loss potential including specific
allowances for known impaired loans, changes in the nature and volume of the portfolio, value of the collateral and
current economic conditions that may affect the borrowers’ ability to pay.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000 AS COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1999

Results of Operations

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2000 was $54.2 million, or $(2.70) per diluted common share, compared
to net earnings of $22.3 million, or $0.76 per diluted common share, for 1999. The loss for 2000 was primarily the
result of non-cash accounting charges, or "accounting charges," of $68.9 million. Accounting charges taken during
2000 included the write-down of $52.6 million of investment securities and additional increases in our allowance for
loan loss of $14.5 million due to the continued deterioration in the performance of collateral supporting specific
investment securities.

We wrote-off substantially all remaining book value on specific investment securities during 2000, which included
all investment securities secured by high loan-to-value second trust deeds, investment securities secured by franchise
mortgage receivables and certain sub-prime subordinated securities, all of which were acquired prior to 1998. Starting
in 1998, our investment strategy has been to only acquire or invest in investment securities that are secured by mortgage
loans underwritten and purchased by the mortgage operations due to their superior historical performance. In addition,
based on losses and delinquencies in the high loan-to-value portfolio during 2000, we increased the loan loss allowance
to provide for losses inherent in the remaining high loan-to-value second trust deed portfolio. Lastly, IFC wrote off
substantially all of its remaining investment securities, which were secured by franchise mortgage receivables, resulting
in an after-tax charge of $1.0 million. .

Excluding accounting charges, core operating earnings were $14.7 million, or $0.54 per diluted common share,
during 2000 as compared to core operating earnings of $22.3 million, or $0.76 per diluted commeon share, during 1999.
The decrease in core operating earnings during 2000 was primarily the result of a $6.7 million decrease in net interest
income as compared to 1999. The decrease in net interest income during 2000 was primarily the result of rising short-
term interest rates, which adversely affected net interest margins on mortgage assets.
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Net Interest Income

Net interest income, before provision for loan losses, decreased 23% to $23.0 million during 2000 as compared to
$29.7 million during 1999. The decrease in net interest income during 2000 was primarily the result of smaller net
interest margins on mortgage assets, which decreased to 1.23% during 2000 as compared to 1.84% during 1999. The
decrease in net interest margins was partially offset as average mortgage assets increased 13% to $1.8 billion during
2000 as compared to $1.6 billion during 1999. Net interest margins on average CMO collateral decreased to 0.47%
during 2000 as compared to 0.79% during 1999 as the rapid increase in short-term interest rates during 2000 resulted in
compression of net interest margins. As short-term interest rates increased rapidly during 2000, CMO financing costs,
which are indexed to one-month LIBOR and adjust every month, increased at a faster pace than interest rates on CMO
collateral, which primarily have the following characteristics:

e adjustable rate loans that are indexed to six-month LIBOR and adjust every six months but are subject to
periodic and lifetime interest rate caps; and

s mortgage loans that have fixed interest rates for the first two to three years of the loan and subsequently change
to adjustable interest rate loans.

Short-term interest rates increased during 2000 as one-month and six-month LIBOR averaged 6.42% and 6.65%,
respectively, as compared to 5.25% and 5.53%, respectively, during 1999. In addition, the yield curve during most of
2000 was inverted, which means that interest rates in the short-end of the yield curve were higher than interest rates in
the long-end of the yield curve. This inverted yield curve also contributed to compression of net interest margins as
interest rates on mortgage loans set by the mortgage operations primarily use the ten-year Treasury yield as an index
plus a margin. Therefore, mortgage loan rates were set using interest rates on the ten-year Treasury yield which
increased at a slower rate than short-term interest rates on one-month LIBOR, which is used as the index to establish the
borrowing rates on reverse repurchase agreements and CMC! financing.

The following table summarizes average balance, interest and weighted average yield on mortgage assets and

borrowings for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 and includes interest income on mortgage assets and
interest expense related to borrowings on mortgage assets orly (dollars in thousands):
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For the year ended December 31, 2000 : For the year ended December 31, 1999

Weighted Weighted
Average Avg. % of Average Avg. % of
Balance Interest Yield Portfolio Balance Interest Yield Portfolio

MORTGAGE ASSETS
Subordinated securities

collateralized by morigages § 57651 $§ 7,249 1257 % 320% $ 87,107 $ 12,604 1447 % 5.56 %
Subordinated securities

collateralized by other loans 2,871 273 9.51 0.16 7,433 834 11.22 0.47
Total investment securities 60,522 7,522 12.43 . 337 94,540 13,438 14.21 6.03
Loan receivables:
CMO collateral 1,198,478 85,923 7.17 66.69 1,119,813 74,096 6.62 71.48
Mortgage loans
held-for-investment 119,326 8,966 7.51 6.64 34,767 2,345 6.74 2.22
Finance receivables:
Affiliated 284,070 28,044 9.87 15.80 232,741 19,566 8.41 14.86
Non-affiliated 134,741 14,280  10.60 7.50 - 84,783 7,779 9.18 5.41
Total finance receivables 418,811 42,324 10.11 23.30 317,524 27,345 8.61 20.27
Total loan receivables 1,736,615 137,213 7.90 96.63 1,472,104 103,786 7.05 93.97
Total mortgage assets $ 1,797,137 § 144,735 8.05 % 100.00% $ 1,566,644 $ 117,224 748 % 100.00 %
BORROWINGS
CMO borrowings $ 1,100,151 $ 80,287 730 % 67.06% $ 1,017,992 $ 65212 641 %  7425%
Reverse repurchase ) : ’ i
agreements—mortgages 513,987 39216 763 31.33 331,179 21,545 - 6.51 24.16
Borrowings secured by
investment securities 26,350 3,217 12.21 1.61 6,445 686 10.64 0.47
Reverse repurchase
agreements—securities — —_— — — 15,377 998 6.49 1.12
Total borrowings on
mortgage assets $ 1,640,488 § 122,720 748 % 100.00% $ 1,370,993 § 88,441 6.45 % 100.00 %
Net Interest Spread 0.57 % 1.03 %
Net Interest Margin 1.23 % ‘ 1.84 %

Interest income on Mortgage Assets

CMO collateral: Interest income on CMO collateral increased 16% to $85.9 million during 2000 as compared to
$74.1 million during 1999 as average CMO collateral increased 9% to $1.2 billion as compared to $1.1 billion,
respectively. Average CMO collateral increased as the long-term investment operations issued CMOs totaling $943.6
million during 2000, which were collateralized by $952.8 million of mortgages, as compared to CMOs totaling $298.1
million, which were collateralized by $316.2 million of mortgages, during 1999.

The issuance of new CMO collateral was partially offset by mortgage loan prepayments, which were $309.7
million during 2000 as compared to $490.0 million during 1999. Prepayments on CMO collateral was.25% CPR during
2000 as compared to 37% CPR during 1999 as rising interest rates during 2000 and the acquisition of loans with
prepayment penalties slowed down the pace of loan prepayments during 2000. The acquisiton of $213.9 million, or
51%, of mortgages acquired during 2000 with prepayment penalties and $222.9 million, or 35%, of mortgages acquired
with prepayment penalties during 1999 contributed to less volatility in loan prepayments during 2000. We expect that
the higher percentage of mortgages acquired for long-term investment with prepayment penalties will continue to lead .
to less volatility in loan prepayment rates.

An increase in the weighted average yield on CMO collateral also contributed to an overail increase in interest
income on CMO collateral during 2000 as compared to 1999. The weighted average yield on CMO collateral increased
to 7.17% during 2000 as compared to 6.62% during 1999. The increase in yield on CMO collateral during 2000 was
primarily due to an increase in interest rates and a reduction in prepayment rates and therefore the amortization of net
premiums paid in acquiring the mortgage loans held as CMO collateral. During 2000, we amortized net premiums on
CMO collateral of $10.6 million as compared to $14.4 million during 1999 as loan prepayment rates decreased during
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2000. On a go-forward basis, we have less exposure to pre:mium amortization as net premiums on CMO collateral as of
December 31, 2000 was $22.8 million as compared to $28.3 million at December 31, 1999.

Mortgage loans held-for-investment. Interest income on mortgage loans held-for-investment increased 291% to
$9.0 million during 2000 as compared to $2.3 million during 1999 as average mortgage loans held-for-investment
increased 243% to $119.3 million as compared to $34.3 million, respectively. Average mortgage loans held-for-
investment increased during 2000 as the long-term investment operations held and accumulated mortgage loans over a
longer period of time before completing CMOs as compared to 1999 when our focus was more towards increased
liquidity and reduced leverage. Additionally, the increase in interest income on mortgage loans held-for-investment
during 2000 benefited by an increase in the weighted average yield, which increased to 7.51% during 2000 as compared
to 6.74% during 1999 as interest rates rose. Interest inconie on mortgage loans held-for-investment also includes the
effect of amortization of net premiums paid in acquiring the mortgage loans. As of December 31, 2000, net discounts on
mortgage loans held-for-investment was $208,000 as compared to net premiums of $2.0 million as of December 31,
1999.

Finance receivables. Interest income on finance receivables increased 55% to $42.3 million during 2000 as
compared to $27.3 million during 1999 as average finance receivables increased 32% to $418.8 million as compared to
$317.5 million, respectively. Average finance receivables increased during 2000 as the mortgage operations acquired
and originated $2.1 billion of mortgage loans as compared to loan production of $1.7 billion during 1999, which
resulted in an increase in average finance receivables to $284.0 million as compared to $232.7 million, respectively. In
addition, average finance receivable to non-affiliates increased by 59% to $134.7 million during 2000 as compared to
$84.8 million during 1999 as the warehouse lending ope-ations added customers during 2000. Interest income on
finance receivables was also positively affected by an increase in weighted average yield, which increased to 10.11%
during 2000 as compared to 8.61% during 1999 as averag: prime rose during 2000. The prime rate is the index the
warehouse lending operations uses to determine interest ratzs on finance receivables. Average prime during 2000 was
9.23% as compared to 8.00% during 1999. '

Investment securities available-for-sale. Interest inconie on investment securities decreased 44% to $7.5 million
during 2000 as compared to $13.4 million during 1999 as average investment securities decreased 36% to $60.5 million
as compared to $94.5 million, respectively. Average investinent securities decreased as we wrote-off $52.6 million of
investment securities during 2000. Interest income on invesiment securities was also negatively affected by a decrease
in the weighted average yield on investment securities, which decreased to 12.43% during 2000 as compared to 14.21%
during 1999. The weighted average yield on investment securities decreased during 2000 as we wrote-off higher
yielding investment securities secured by high loan-to-value second trust deed loans, investment securities secured by
franchise mortgage receivables and certain sub-prime subordinated securities, which deteriorated during the first half of

2000.
Interest expense on Borrowings

CMO borrowings. Interest expense on CMO borrowing; increased 23% to $80.3 million during 2000 as compared
to $65.2 million during 1999 as average borrowings on CMD collateral increased 10% to $1.1 billion as compared to
$1.0 billion, respectively. Average CMO borrowings increased as the long-term investment operations issued CMOs
totaling $943.6 million during 2000 as compared to CMOs totaling $298.1 million during 1999. This was partially
offset by mortgage loan prepayments of $309.7 million during 2000 as compared to $490.0 million during 1999.

Interest expense on CMO borrowings also increased as the weighted average yield on CMO borrowings increased
to 7.30% during 2000 as compared to 6.41% during 1999 as average one-month LIBOR, which is the index used to
determine rates on adjustable rate CMO borrowings, was higher during 2000 as compared to 1999. Average one-month
LIBOR was 6.42% during 2000 as compared to 5.25% during 1999. In addition, interest expense on CMO borrowings
is affected by the amortization of securitization costs. Securitization costs are incurred when a CMO is issued and
securitization costs are capitalized and amortized over the life of the CMO borrowings as an adjustment to the yield.
During 2000, we amortized securitization costs of $4.7 million as compared to $4.2 million during 1999 due to the
increase in CMOs issued during 2000. As of December 31, 2000, unamortized securitization costs were $14.1 million as
compared to unamortized securitization costs of $11.9 million at December 31, 1999.

Reverse repurchase agreements. Interest expense on reverse repurchase borrowings, which are used to fund the
acquisition of mortgage loans and finance receivables, increased 82% to $39.2 million during 2000 as compared to
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$21.5 million during 1999 as average reverse repurchase agreements increased 55% to $514.0 million as compared to
$331.2 million, respectively. The increase in average reverse repurchase borrowings was primarily related to the
previously discussed increase in average finance receivables to the mortgage operations and external customers of the
warehouse lending operations.

The warehouse lending operations uses reverse repurchase agreements with investment banks to fund its short-term
loans to affiliates, primarily the mortgage operations, and non-affiliates. The weighted average yield of reverse
repurchase agreements collateralized by mortgage loans increased to 7.63% during 2000 as compared to 6.51% during
1999 as average one-month LIBOR, which is the index used by our lenders to determine interest rates on reverse
repurchase borrowings, increased during 2000 as compared to 1999. ‘

Borrowings secured by investment securities. Interest expense on borrowings secured by investment securities
increased 88% to $3.2 million during 2000 as compared to $1.7 million during 1999 as average borrowings increased
21% to $26.4 million as compared to $21.8 million, respectively. During 1999, we issued notes collateralized by a
portion of our investment securities portfolio to provide a more stable, long-term financing source for these assets as
compared to previously used short-term reverse repurchase agreements. The weighted average yield on borrowings
secured by investment securities increased to 12.21% during 2000 as compared to 10.64% during 1999.

Non-Interest Income

Non-interest income decreased to $2.5 million during 2000 as compared to $6.9 million during 1999. Non-interest
income decreased primarily as follows:

) .equity in net earnings (loss) of IFC decreased to a loss of $1.8 million during 2000 as compared to net earnings
of $4.3 million during 1999;

o servicing income decreased by $680,000 as income from the collection of prepayment penalties decreased in
conjunction with the decrease in loan prepayments; and

e increase of $2.4 million in other income, which was the result of litigation settlement and an increase in fees
_ from increased warehouse line activity by the mortgage operations and external customers of the warehouse
lending operations.

Equity in Net Earnings (Loss) of IFC

Equity in net earnings (loss) of IFC decreased to a net loss of $1.8 million during 2000 as compared to net earnings
of $4.3 million during 1999 primarily due to a decrease of $7.4 million in gain on sale of loans. For more information
on the results of operations of IFC, refer to "—Results of Operations—Impac Funding Corporation."

Non-Interest Expense

Non-interest expense increased to $60.9 million during 2000 as compared to $8.7 million during 1999 primarily
due to a $51.6 million increase in write-down of investment securities. Write-down of investment securities increased to
$53.6 million during 2000 as compared to $2.0 million during 1999 as we substantially wrote-off all remaining book
value of investment securities secured by high loan-to-value second trust deeds, investment securities secured by
franchise mortgage receivables and certain sub-prime subordinated securities, all of which were acquired prior to 1998.
Excluding the write-down of investment securities, non-interest expense increased 9% to $7.3 million as compared to
$6.7 million during 1999, which was the result of a $787,000 write-down of securitization costs from the collapse of
CMOs.

Credit Exposures
Non-performing Assets
The outstanding unpaid principal balance of non-performing assets totaled $49.9 million as of December 31, 2000

as compared to $63.3 million as of December 31, 1999. The decrease in non-performing assets was primarily due to the
sale of delinquent mortgage loans held-for-investment, which included 125 loans, and mortgage loans held-for-sale.
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The carrying amount of other real estate owned, after writiag down the mortgage loan to the broker’s price opinion or
appraised value, was $4.7 million and $8.8 million as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. We recorded
tosses on the disposition of other real estate owned of $1.8 million and $2.2 million during 2000 and 1999, respectively.

The following table summarizes the unpaid principal balance of our non-performing assets included in our
mortgage loan portfolios for the periods shown (in thousands):

At December 31,
2000 1999
Mortgage Loans Held-for-Sale:
NONEACCTUAL ..eovviievee ettt ettt sae st s ese st e st e tessn et saeesentensnsaesessnsaneraons $ 3680 § 2,572
Other real estate OWNEd .......cccceiiieieicir ettt se et er e s eeeene et 148 —
Total mortgage loans held-for-sale.........c..ouvviiiinniniici s 3,828 2,572
Mortgage Loans Held-for-Investment:
INOMEBCCTUAL 1iviiiicre ettt r et ettt et eabesab et s ebteteesesbessbesreearsenesteesaerean 10,197 8,229
IN Process fOreClOSUIES ........covuiieiuiriite ittt er s sa et se e s 3,168 306
Total mortgage loans held-for-investment..........ccovceeieeiiiicrcee e 13,365 8,535
CMO collateral:
NONEACCTUAL .ottt ettt e v et eev e et e ee st e etbssentsesrsennbeerseebeeaenes 28,798 42,792
Other real eState OWNEA ......cccvveieeiee e ncente ettt cee e et ctvesnteebesasesbearnens 3,883 9,411
Total CMO COlIAteral.........covivviieiceniirrieeenn e sres e et e aa e b s 32,681 52,203
Total mortgage 10an POrtfolios ........cceeeeririimieininisrseie e e $ 49,874 $ 63,310
Delinquent Loans.

As of December 31, 2000, mortgage loans included in our mortgage loan portfolios that were delinquent 60 days or
more were 4.89% as compared to 5.43% as of December 31, 1999. Loans that are 30 days delinquent may experience
seasonality and servicing transfer issues so they are therefore excluded.

The following table summarizes the unpaid principal balance of mortgage loans in our mortgage loan portfolios that
were 60 or more days delinquent for the periods shown (in thousands):

At December 31,
2000 1999
Mortgage Loans Held-for-Sale:
60-89 days delINQUENL............ccc.cviiimicmiiniiiiinieie et s nes 861 1,838
90 or more days delINQUENL .......ccecurcerierirrersiererinieiec e sesete e et sses raereseseesanses 3,680 2,572
Total mortgage loans held-for-sale........ccocovienvneiecciiioinciccrecce e 4,541 4,410
Mortgage Loans Held-for-Investment:
60-89 days delinQUENL............ouociieiiiiimiiiiiiince et et e 115 1,453
90 or more days deliQUENL .........ccoerviviiireecennieniete st ettt e 10,197 8,229
Total mortgage loans held-for-investment..............c..co.cveveiviiiccrivenecniieeecee e 10,312 9,682
CMO collateral:
60-89 days delINQUENL...........cccierrerreriierrir e et e et 25,098 12,398
90 or more days deliNUENT .........ovviereriirirririrerene et s s e ee s eereereseaesnereeseatesne 28,798 42,792
Total CMO COHBLETAL......cce ettt et e e e ere et one 53,896 55,190
Total mortgage 10an Portfolios ........oevemveeireverieieririe e eve s $ 68,749 $ 69,282

Provision for Loan Losses

Total allowance for loan losses expressed as a percentage of gross loan receivables increased to 0.28% as of
December 31, 2000 as compared to 0.27% as of December 31, 1999, We recorded net loan loss provisions of $18.8
million during 2000 as compared to $5.5 million during 1999. The amount provided for loan losses during 2000
increased primarily due to the anticipated loss on disposition or write-off of 125 loans.




RESULTS OF OPERATIONS—
IMPAC FUNDING CORPORATION

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 AS COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000
Results of Operations )

Net earnings increased to $11.0 million during 2001 as compared to a net loss of $1.8 million during 2000. Net
earnings increased over prior year results as follows:

® net interest income increased by $4.7 million to $3.3 million during 2001 as compared to net interest loss of
$1.4 million during 2000;

e gain on sale of loans increased by $27.2 million to $46.9 million during 2001 as compared to $19.7 million
during 2000; and

® non-interest expense and income taxes increased by $18.9 million to $46.4 million during 2001 as compared to
$27.5 million during 2000,

Net earnings increased primarily as mortgage loan acquisitions and originations increased 52% to $3.2 billion
during 2001 as compared to $2.1 billion during 2000 and REMIC securitizations increased to $1.7 billion as compared
to $1.3 billion, respectively. In addition, the mortgage operations sold servicing rights on $3.2 billion of non-
conforming Alt-A ARM and FRM securitizations during 2001 as compared to the sale of servicing rights on $1.3 billion
of non-conforming Alt-A FRM securitizations during 2000.

Net Interest Income (Loss)

Net interest income increased to $3.3 million during 2001 as compared to net interest loss of $1.4 million during
2000 as net interest margins increased to 1.20% as compared to (0.37)%, respectively. Net interest margins improved
during 2001 as follows:

o the gap between short-term interest rates, which determine our borrowing costs, and long-term interest rates,
which determine interest rates on our mortgage loans, widened during 2001,

e  interest rates on warehouse financing with the warehouse lending operations was reduced from prime to prime
minus 0.50%; and

e short-term interest rates decreased throughout 2001.

The weighted average yield on interest bearing liabilities decreased 289 basis points to 6.96% during 2001 as
compared to 9.85% during 2000 while the weighted average yield on interest earning assets decreased 152 basis points
to 7.88% as compared to 9.40%, respectively. Average interest earning assets decreased 3% to $293.4 million during
2001 as compared to $302.0 million during 2000 as mortgage loans held-for-sale decreased 6% to $277.3 million as
compared to $294.6 million, respectively. Mortgage loans held-for-sale decreased as the mortgage operations sold and
securitized loans more frequently during 2001 as compared to 2000. Even though loan production increased 52% to
$3.2 billion during 2001 as compared to $2.1 billion during 2000, the mortgage operations completed eight REMICs
during 2001 as compared to five during 2000. In addition, the mortgage operations sold its ARM production to the
long-term investment operations on a monthly basis during 2001. The goal of the mortgage operations is to sell or
securitize mortgage loans more frequently to reduce interest rate risk and price volatility during the mortgage loan
accumulation period.

Non-Interest Income
Non-interest income increased to $54.1 million during 2001 as compared to $27.1 million during 2000 as gain on

sale of loans increased to $46.9 million as compared to $19.7 million, respectively. Gain on sale of loans increased
during 2001 as follows:
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e higher sales volume of mortgage loans;
o sale of mortgage loans at slightly higher prices; and
¢ sale of mortgage servicing rights on ARMs sold to the long-term investment operations.

During 2001, the mortgage operations securitized $1.7 billion of non-conforming Alt-A FRMs, on a servicing
released basis, in the form of REMICs and sold $1.5 billion of primarily non-conforming Alt-A ARMs to the long-term
investment operations. During 2001, the mortgage operations sold and transferred $2.9 billion mortgage servicing
rights under a flow servicing sale agreement as compared to $1.3 billion during 2000.

During 2001, the mortgage operations completed securitizations at net cash gains of 149 basis points of total loan
production as compared to net cash gains of 95 basis points of total loan production during 2000. The mortgage
operations received cash for the sale servicing rights upon the completion of $1.5 billion of CMOs by the long-term
investment operations during 2001. Sale of servicing rights upon the completion of CMOs allowed the mortgage
banking operations to record previously deferred income on sale of mortgage loans to the long-term investment
operations.

Non-Interest Expense

Non-interest expense and income taxes increased to $4¢.4 million during 2001 as compared to $27.5 million during
2000 as follows: ‘

*  personnel expense increased 70% to $16.6 million during 2001 as compared to $9.8 million during 2000;
e  provision for repuréhases increased to $3.5 million during 2001 as compared to $371,000 during 2000;
e income taxes increased to $8.3 million during 2001 as compared to $770,000 during 2000; and

e other recurring operating expenses increased 25% to $12.4 million during 2001 as compared to $9.9 million
during 2000.

During 2001, personnel expense increased 70% to $16.6 million as compared to $9.8 million during 2000 as total
loan production increased 52% over prior year. Personnel expense for 2001 includes $1.4 million in personnel expense
related to NFS. NFS became a subsidiary of the mortgage operations in September 2001. The increase in loan
production led to a 55% increase in total staffing to 339 employees as of December 31, 2001, including 80 employees of
NFS, as compared to 219 employees as of December 31, 2000. Personnel expense during 2001 was 52 basis points of
total loan production as compared to 47 basis points during 2000. However, excluding personnel expense and total loan
production from NFS, personnel expense was 49 basis points of total loan production during 2001 as compared to 47
basis points during 2000. Personnel expense also includes $3.8 million of bonus compensation paid to employees
during 2001 as compared to $630,000 during 2000. Bonus compensation was 12 basis points of total loan production
during 2001 as compared to 3 basis points during 2000. The increase in bonus compensation was primarily due to the
attainment of return on equity targets that triggered the payment of bonus compensation during 2001. Return on equity
targets were not met during 2000.

Provision for repurchases increased to $3.5 million during 2001 as compared to $371,000 during 2000. The
increase was primarily the result of the following: (1) provision for probable mortgage loan repurchases on $271.9
million of mortgage loans brokered by Impac Mortgage Acceptance Corporation, or "IMAC," a division of the
mortgage operations, and (2) fraud losses on loans sold to third party investors which we subsequently repurchased.

Other recurring operating expenses increased 25% to $12.4 million during 2001 as compared to $9.9 million during
2000 as total loan production increased 52% over prior year. Other recurring operating expenses include general and
administrative and other expense, equipment expense, profzssional services, occupancy expense and data processing
expense.
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000 AS COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1999
Results of Operations

Net earnings (loss) decreased to a loss of $1.8 million during 2000 as compared to net earnings of $4.3 million
during 1999. The decrease in net earnings was primarily due to the following:

e decrease of $7.4 million in gain on sale of loans;
o decrease of $1.7 million in net interest income (loss); and
e accrual of $1.6 million tax liability.

Net Interest Income (Loss)

Net interest income (loss) decreased to a loss of $1.4 million during 2000 as compared to net interest income of
$272,000 during 1999 as interest rates rose and interest margins compressed. Average mortgage loans held-for-sale
increased 23% to $294.6 million during 2000 as compared to $240.1 million during 1999 and further contributed to
interest rate margin compression. Average mortgage loans held-for-sale increased as total loan acquisitions and
originations increased by 24% to $2.1 billion during 2000 as compared to $1.7 billion during 1999.

The decrease in net interest income was due to the rapid increase in short-term interest rates, which caused interest
rates on borrowing to increase at a faster rate than yields on mortgage loans could rise. During 2000, the yield on
mortgage loans held-for-sale increased to 9.50% as compared to 8.48% during 1999 while the yield on borrowings
increased to 9.88% as compared to 8.30%, respectively.

Net interest margins on mortgage loans held-for-sale decreased to (0.02)% during 2000 as compared to 0.50%
during 1999. Net interest margins decreased during 2000 due to rapid increases in short-term interest rates and inversion
of the yield curve. The inverted yield curve contributed to compression of net interest margins as interest rates on
mortgage loans set by the mortgage operations primarily use the ten-year Treasury yield as an index plus a margin.
Therefore, mortgage loan rates were set using interest rates on the ten-year Treasury yield, which increased at a slower
rate than short-term interest rates on borrowings.

Non-Interest Income

Non-interest income decreased to $27.1 million during 2000 as compared to $33.3 million during 1999 as gain on
sale of loans decreased to $19.7 million on loan sales and securitizations of $1.4 billion as compared to gains of $27.1
million on loan sales and securitizations of $1.2 billion, respectively. Gain on sale of loans decreased during 2000 as a
result of reduced profitability on loans sold as compared to loan sales closed during 1999.

During 1999, IFC sold mortgage loans on a whole loan basis for cash, as opposed to sales through asset-backed
securitizations, which occurred during 2000. IFC securitized $1.3 billion in REMICs during 2000 as compared to
$360.1 million in REMICs during 1999. The decrease in gain on sale of loans was partially offset by an increase in loan
servicing income during 2000 as compared to 1999. Loan servicing income increased to $6.3 million during 2600 as

compared to $5.2 million during 1999 as the mortgage operations master servicing portfolio increased to $4.0 billion at
December 31, 2000 as compared to $2.9 billion at December 31, 1999.

Non-Interest Expense

Non-interest expense increased to $26.7 million during 2000 as compared to $26.0 million during 1999. Non-
interest expense was positively affected as follows:

o decrease of $2.7 million for write-down of investment securities;

e decrease of $1.1 million in impairment of MSRs;
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s increase of $2.5 million in personnel expense; and
e increase of $1.0 million in general and administrative and other expense.

Write-down of investment securities decreased to $1.5 million during 2000 as compared to $4.3 million during
1999 as IFC wrote-off substantially all remaining bock value of investment securities secured by franchise loan
receivables. Personnel expense increased by 34% to $9.8 million as compared to $7.3 million during 1999 primarily due
to an increase in staff as correspondent and wholesale Ican production volumes increased by 29%. Personnel expense
also includes compensation paid to Bank related persorutel who were terminated during 2000 when [FC withdrew its
application to acquire a Bank. The increase in general and administrative and other expense is primarily the result of
interest on an accrued tax liability.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We recognize the need to have funds available for our operating businesses and our customer's demands for
obtaining short-term warehouse financing until the settlement or sale of mortgage loans with us or with other investors.
It is our policy to have adequate liquidity at all times to ¢over normal cyclical swings in funding availability and loan
demand and to allow us to meet abnormal and unexpected funding requirements. We plan to meet liquidity through
normal operations with the goal of avoiding unplanned szles of assets or emergency borrowing of funds. Toward this
goal, ALCO is responsible for monitoring our liquidity position and funding needs. ALCO is comprised of the senior
executives of IMH. ALCO meets on a weekly basis to review current and projected sources and uses of funds. ALCO
monitors the composition of the balance sheet for changes in the liquidity of our assets in adverse market conditions.
Our liquidity consists of cash and cash equivalents, short-tzrm and marketable investment securities rated AAA through
BBB and maturing mortgage loans, or "liquid assets." Our policy is to maintain a liquidity threshold of 5% of liquid
assets to warehouse borrowings, reverse repurchase agreements, dividends payable and other short-term liabilities.
During 2001, we were in compliance with this policy, which ALCO reports to the board of directors at least quarterly.
As of December 31, 2001, liquidity was 11%.

With increased liquidity generated from our CMO portfolio and core operating businesses we were able to increase
assets by $1.0 billion through well-managed growth, retire $7.7 million of high cost senior subordinated debentures and
resume the payment of regular common stock dividends. We believe that current liquidity levels, available financing
facilities and liquidity provided by operating activities will adequately provide for our projected funding needs and asset
growth. However, any future margin calls and, depending upon the state of the mortgage industry, terms of any sale of
mortgage assets may adversely affect our ability to maintain adequate liquidity levels or may subject us to future losses.
Sources of Liquidity

Our business operations are primarily funded as follows:

e monthly interest and principal payments from our mortgage loan and investment securities portfolios;

e CMO and reverse repurchase agreements secured by mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities;

e proceeds from securitization and whole loan sale o’ mortgage loans; and

o cash from the issuance of securities.

We use CMO borrowings and reverse repurchase agreements to fund substantially all of our mortgage loan and
mortgage-backed securities portfolios. As we accumulate mortgage loans for long-term investment, we issue CMOs
secured by the mortgage loans as a means of providing long-term financing and repaying short-term warehouse
advances. The use of CMOs provides the following benefits:

¢ allows us to lock in our financing cost over the life of the mortgage loans securing the CMO borrowings; and
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o eliminates margin calls on the borrowings that are converted from reverse repurchase agreements to CMO
financing. N

Terms of CMO borrowings require that an independent third party custodian hold mortgage loans as collateral. The
maturity of each CMO bond class is directly affected by the rate of early principal payments on the related collateral.
Interest rates on adjustable rate CMOs can range from a low of 0.26% over one-month LIBOR on "AAA" credit rated
bonds to a high of 3.60% over one-month LIBOR on "BBB" credit rated bonds. As of December 31, 2001, interest
rates on adjustable rate CMOs ranged from 0.26% to 2.40% over one-month LIBOR, or 2.19% to 4.33%. Interest rates
on fixed rate CMOs range from 6.65% to 7.25% depending on the class of CMOs issued. Equity in the CMOs is
established at the time CMOs are issued at levels sufficient to achieve desired credit ratings on the securities from rating
agencies. We also determine the amount of equity invested in CMOs based upon the anticipated return on equity as
compared to estimated proceeds from additional debt issuance. Total credit loss exposure is limited to the equity
invested in the CMOs at any point in time.

During 2001, we completed $1.501 billion of CMOs to provide long-term financing for $1.513 billion of mortgage
loans securing CMOs. Because of the credit profile, historical loss performance and prepayment characteristics of our
non-conforming Alt-A mortgages, we have been able to borrow a higher percentage against mortgage loans securing
CMOs, which means that we have to provide less capital. By decreasing the amount of capital we have to invest in our
CMQOs, we have been able to grow with the liquidity generated from our business operations.

During 2001, our CMO portfolio generated positive cash flows of $44.0 million, on average CMO equity of $77.6
million, as compared to cash flows of $11.0 million, on average CMO equity of $100.0 million, during 2000. Cash flow
on our CMO portfolio improved as net interest margins widened and the portfolio grew. Return on CMO equity was
39% during 2001 as compared to 6% during 2000. As of December 31, 2001, total equity invested in our CMO
portfolio was $79.6 million, or 3.64% of CMO collateral, as compared to total equity invested of $84.1 million, or
6.31% of CMO collateral, as of December 31, 2000.

Before the issuance of CMOs, we finance the acquisition of mortgage loans primarily through borrowings on
reverse repurchase agreements with third party lenders. When we have accumulated a sufficient amount of mortgage
loans, we issue CMOs and convert short-term advances under reverse repurchase agreements to long-term CMO
financing. Since 1995, we have had an uncommitted repurchase facility with a major investment bank to finance the
acquisition of mortgage loans as needed. In order to give us more flexibility in our borrowing arrangements and to
reduce our reliance on one lender, we are currently in negotiations with other investment banks to provide additional
uncommitted reverse repurchase facilities.

Terms of the reverse repurchase agreement require that mortgage loans be held by an independent third party
custodian, which gives us the ability to borrow against a percentage of the outstanding principal balance of the mortgage
loans. The borrowing rates vary from 85 basis points to 200 basis points over one-month LIBOR, depending on the
type of collateral provided. The advance rates on the reverse repurchase agreement is based on the type of mortgage
collateral provided, as well, and generally range from 70% to 98% of the fair market value of the collateral. At
December 31, 2001, we had $469.5 million outstanding on the reverse repurchase facility, which included the funding
of our mortgage loans and those of our customers.

The mortgage operations currently has warehouse line agreements to obtain financing of up to $600.0 million from
the warehouse lending operations to provide interim mortgage loan financing during the period that the mortgage
operations accumulates mortgage loans until the mortgage loans are securitized or sold. The margins on reverse
repurchase agreements are based on the type of collateral provided by the mortgage operations and generally range from
95% to 99% of the fair market value of the collateral. The interest rates on the borrowings are indexed to prime minus
0.50%, which was 4.75% at December 31, 2001. As of December 31, 2001, the mortgage operations had $174.1
million outstanding under the warehouse line agreements.

We expect to continue to use short-term warehouse facilities to fund the acquisition of mortgage loans. If we
cannot renew or replace maturing borrowings, we may have to sell, on a whole loan basis, the loans securing these
facilities which, depending upon market conditions, may result in substantial losses. Additionally, if for any reason the
market value of our mortgage loans securing warehouse facilities decline, our lenders may require us to provide them
with additional equity or collateral to secure our borrowings, which may require us to sell mortgage loans at substantial
losses.
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When the mortgage operations accumulates a sufficient amount of mortgage loans, it sells or securitizes the
mortgage loans. During 2001, the mortgage operations securitized $1.7 billion of mortgage loans as REMICs and sold
$1.5 billion, in unpaid principal balance, of mortgage louns to the long-term investment operations. In addition, the
mortgage operations sold $96.3 million, in unpaid principal balance, of mortgage loans to other investors. The
mortgage operations sold mortgage servicing rights on all ARM and FRM securitizations completed during 2001. This
generated 100% cash gains on securitization and sale of mortgage loans. Cash from the sale of mortgage servicing
rights was deployed in the mortgage operations and used to acquire and originate additional mortgage loans.

In order to mitigate interest rate and market risk, we attempt to securitize our mortgage loans more frequently.
Although securitizing mortgage loans more frequently adds operating and securitization costs, we believe the added cost
is offset as less capital is required and more liquidity is provided with less interest rate and price volatility, as the
accumulation and holding period of mortgage loans is shortened. The mortgage operations currently has agreements in
place for the sale of mortgage loans and mortgage servic ng rights with an investment bank and large mortgage loan
servicer, respectively. This allows the mortgage operations to forward price its REMIC and CMO transactions on a
servicing released basis and achieve greater stability in the execution of its securitizations.

Due to the success of our restructuring since the deterioration of the mortgage-backed securitization market during
the fourth quarter of 1998, increased profitability, payment of regular common stock dividends and a favorable capital
market for mortgage-backed REITs, we were able to complete the sale of 6.5 million shares of our common stock
during 2001. The sale of common stock provided net cash proceeds of $42.8 million which we used to grow our core
operating businesses in addition to being used for general corporate purposes. On December 1, 2001, we filed a
registration statement with the SEC, which allows us to sell up to $300.0 million of securities, including common stock,
preferred stock, debt securities and warrants. This type o registration statement is commonly referred to as a "shelf"
registration process. In conjunction with the filing of the shelf, we completed the sale of 7,402,000 shares of common
stock, which provided net proceeds of approximately $57.4 million.

Uses of Liquidity
Our business operations primarily use funds as follows:
e acquisition and origination of mortgage loans;
o  provide short-term warehouse financing; and
e pay common stock dividends.

During 2001, we acquired and originated $3.2 billion of mortgage loans of which we retained $1.5 billion for long-
term investment. The acquisition and origination of mortgage loans by the mortgage operations during 2001 resulted in
premium costs of 1.55% of the outstanding principal balance of mortgage loans. Our equity investment in mortgage
leans is outstanding until we sell or securitize our mortgage loans, which is one of the reasons we attempt to securitize
our mortgage loans frequently. When we complete CMOs our required equity investment ranges from approximately
3% to 5% of the outstanding principal balance of mortgage loans, depending on our premium costs, securitization costs
and the capital investment required. Since we rely significently upon securitizations to generate cash proceeds to repay
borrowings and to create credit availability, any disruption in our ability to complete securitizations may require us to
utilize other sources of financing, which, if available at all, may be on unfavorable terms. In addition, delays in closing
securitizations of our mortgage loans increase our risk by exposing us to credit and interest rate risks for this extended
period of time. Furthermore, gains on sales from our securitizations represent a significant portion of our earnings.

We utilize our uncommitted warehouse line with a major investment bank to provide short-term warehouse
financing to affiliates and external customers of the warehouse lending operations. The mortgage operations has a
$600.0 million warehouse facility with the warehouse lending operations to fund the acquisition and origination of
mortgage loans until sale or securitization. The warehouse lending operations provides financing to affiliates at prime
minus 0.50%. As of December 31, 2001, affiliates had $174.1 million outstanding on the warehouse line with the
warehouse lending operations. During January 2002, affiliates deposited a total of $8.1 million in pledge accounts with
the warehouse lending operations that allows them to finarice 100% of the fair market value of their mortgage loans.
The warehouse lending operations provides financing to non-affiliates at prime plus a spread. Non-affiliates can
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generally finance between 95% and 98% of the fair market value of the mortgage loans. As of December 31, 2001, the
warehouse lending operations had $447.0 million of approved warehouse lines available to its customers of which
$300.6 million was outstanding. Our ability to meet liquidity requirements and the financing need of our customers is
subject to the renewal of our credit and repurchase facilities or obtaining other sources of financing, if required,
including additional debt or equity from time to time. Any decision our lenders or investors make to provide available
financing to us in the future will depend upon a number of factors, including;:

» our compliance with the terms of our existing credit arrangements;

e our financial performance;

o industry and market trends in our various businesses;

s the general availability of and rates applicable to financing and investments;

o our lenders or investors resources and policies concerning loans and investments; and

s the relative attractiveness of alternative investment or lending opportunities.

We made our first common stock dividend payments during 2001 since the third quarter of 2000. The common
stock dividend was $0.25 per common share, or $6.7 million. In addition, we declared common stock dividends of
$0.44 per common share, or $14.1 million, which was paid in January 2002.

Cash Flows

Operating Activities - During 2001, net cash provided by operating activities was $35.5 million. Net earnings of
$33.2 million provided most of the cash flows from operating activities.

Investing Activities - During 2001, net cash used in investing activities was $961.0 million. Net cash flows of
$923.3 million, including principal repayments, was used in investing activities to acquire and originate mortgage loans.

Financing Activities - During 2001, net cash provided by financing activities was $939.5 million. Net cash flows of
$860.1 million provided by CMO financing was primarily provided by financing activities.

Inflation

The consolidated financial statements and corresponding notes to the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with GAAP, which require the measurement of financial position and operating results in terms
of historical dollars without considering the changes in the relative purchasing power of money over time due to
inflation. The impact of inflation is reflected in the increased costs of our operations. Unlike industrial companies,
nearly all of our assets and liabilities are monetary in nature. As a result, interest rates have a greater impact on our
performance than do the effects of general levels of inflation. Inflation affects our operations primarily through its
effect on interest rates, since interest rates normally increase during periods of high inflation and decrease during
periods of low inflation. During periods of increasing interest rates, demand for mortgage loans and a borrower’s
ability to qualify for mortgage financing in a purchase transaction may be adversely affected. During periods of
decreasing interest rates, borrowers may prepay their mortgages, which in turn may adversely affect our yield and
subsequently the value of our portfolio of mortgage assets.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET
RISK

General

A significant portion of our revenues and earnings are derived from net interest income. We strive to manage our
interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities to generate what we believe to be an appropriate contribution from
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net interest income. When interest rates fluctuate, profitability can be adversely affected by changes in the fair market
value of our assets and liabilities and by the interest spread eamed on interest-earning assets and interest-bearing
liabilities. We derive income from the differential spread berween interest earned on interest-earning assets and interest
paid on interest-bearing liabilities. Any change in interest ratss affects income received and income paid from assets and
liabilities in varying and typically in unequal amounts. Chaaging interest rates may compress our interest rate margins
and adversely affect overall earnings.

Therefore, we seek to control the volatility of profitability due to changes in interest rates through asset/liability
management. We attempt to achieve an appropriate relationship between interest rate sensitive assets and interest rate
sensitive liabilities. Although we manage other risks, such as credit, operational and liquidity risk in the normal course
of business, we consider interest rate risk to be a significant market risk which could potentially have the largest
material effect on our financial condition and results of operations. As we only invest or borrow in U.S. dollar
denominated financial instruments, we are not subject to forzign currency exchange risk.

As part of our asset/liability management process, we perform various interest rate simulations that calculate the
affect of potential changes in interest rates on our interest-carning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and their affect
on overall earnings. This analysis assumes instantaneous paralle! shifts in the yield curve and to what degree those shifts
affect net interest income. In addition, various modeling tecniques are used to value interest sensitive mortgage-backed
securities, including interest-only securities. The value of mortgage-backed securities is determined using a discounted
cash flow model using prepayment rate, discount rate and credit loss assumptions.

Interest Rate Sensitive Assets and Liabilities

Interest rate risk management is the responsibility of ALCO, which reports to the board of director’s on a quarterly
basis. ALCO establishes policies that monitor and coordinate sources, uses and pricing of funds. ALCO also attempts to
reduce the volatility in net interest income by managing the relationship of interest rate sensitive assets to interest rate
sensitive liabilities.

The matching of assets and liabilities may be analyzec by examining the extent to which such assets and liabilities
are "interest rate sensitive" and by monitoring an institution’s interest rate sensitivity "gap." An asset or liability is said
to be interest rate sensitive within a specific time period if it will mature or reprice within that time period. The interest
rate sensitivity gap is defined as the difference between the amount of interest-earning assets maturing or repricing
within a specific time period and the amount of interest-bearing liabilities maturing or repricing within that time period.
A gap is considered positive when the amount of interest rate sensitive assets exceeds that amount of interest rate
sensitive liabilities. A gap is considered negative when the amount of interest rate sensitive liabilities exceeds the
amount of interest rate sensitive assets. During a period of declining interest rates, the net earnings of an institution with
a positive gap, theoretically, may be adversely affected due to its interest-earning assets repricing to a greater extent
than its interest-bearing liabilities. Conversely, during a pc'riod of rising interest rates, theoretically, the net earnings of
an institution with a positive gap position may increase as it is able to invest in higher yielding mterest-eammg assets at
a more rapid rate than its interest-bearing liabilities reprice.

Gap analysis does not take into consideration constraints on the repricing of interest rates of ARM assets in a given
period resulting from periodic and lifetime cap features, the behavior of various indexes applicable to assets and
liabilities or the affects of hedges, on net interest income, see "—Changes in Interest Rates."

We manage interest rate risk as follows:;

e retaining adjustable rate mortgages to be held for long-term investment;

o selling fixed rate mortgages on a whole-loan basis;

* securitizing both adjustable- and fixed rate mortgages through the issuance of CMOs and REMICs; and

e purchasing interest rate hedges.

We retain adjustable rate mortgages, which are generally indexed to six-month LIBOR and reprice every six
months, to be held for investment or as CMO collateral. We also securitize both variable- and fixed rate mortgages as
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CMOs to reduce interest rate risk as CMOs provide a net interest spread between the interest income on the mortgages
and the interest and other expenses associated with the CMO financing. [n addition, we purchase hedges to provide
some protection against any resulting basis risk shortfall on the related liabilities. The hedges are based upon the
principal-balance that would result under an assumed prepayment speed. We do not currently maintain a securities
trading portfolio. As a result, we are not exposed to market risk as it relates to trading activities. Our investment
securities portfolio is available-for-sale, which requires us to perform market valuations of the portfolio in order to
properly record the portfolio at the lower of cost or market. We continually monitor interest rates of our investment
securities portfolio as compared to prevalent interest rates in the market.

The following table summarizes the amount of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities outstanding at
December 31, 2001 (dollar amounts in thousands), which are anticipated to re-price or mature in each of the future time
periods shown. The amount of assets and liabilities shown which re-price or mature during a particular period were
determined in accordance with the earlier of term to repricing or the contractual term of the asset or liability as adjusted
for scheduled and unscheduled repayments. Unscheduled prepayment rates are assumed on substantially all of our
mortgage loan and mortgage-backed securities investment portfolios and are based on historic loan prepayment
experience and anticipated future prepayments. The table does not include assets and liabilities that are not interest rate
sensitive, such as interest receivables and payables, prepaid expenses and accrued expenses.

Over s Fair

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 Years ¥ Total Value

Interest sensitive assets:

Cash equivalents $ . 51887 § — 3 — 3 — $ — 3 — § 51,887 § 51,887
Average interest rate 4.69 % — % — % — % — % — % 4.69 %

Investment securities 3,468 3,619 4,548 5,039 5,876 10,439 32,989 32,989
Average interest rate 9.94 % 10.02 % 912 % 8.69 % 7.89 % 581 % 8.04 %

Finance receivables 466,649 — — — — — 466,649 466,649
Average interest rate 894 % — % — % — % —% —% 894 %

CMO collateral @ 907,316 929,466 146,737 56,383 38,904 150,362 2,229,168 2,339,558
Average interest rate 7.88 % 8.17 % 8.67 % 9.03 % 9.16 % 7.75 % 8.09 %

Loans held-for-investment © 12,677 256 65 51 40 6.989 20,078 12,991
Average interest rate 328 % 10.46 % 1313 % 1371 % 14.35 % 16.77 % 376 %

Due from affiliates 14,500 —_ — — —_ — 14,500 14,500
Average interest rate 9.50 % —% — % — % — % — % 9.50 %

Total interest-sensitive assets $ 1456497 § 933341 § 151350 § 61473 $ 44820 $167,790 $2815271 $29i8,574
Average interest rate 9.80 % 8.18 % 8.68 % 9.01 % 9.00 % 7.30 % 8.00 %

Interest sensitive liabilities:

CMO borrowings $ 2,021,043 $ 130357 $ — 3 — 3 — 3 —  $2,151,400 $2,147.391
Average interest rate 325 % 6.54 % —% — % — % — % 345 %

Reverse repurchase agreements 469,491 —_ —_ — —_ — 469,491 469,491
Average intérest rate 4.02 % — % — % — % — % —% 4.02 %

Borrowings secured by

securities available-for-sale 4,185 3,376 2,722 2,194 520 — 12,997 12,607

Average interest rate 16.94 % 16.95 % 16.97 % 16.99 % 17.02 % — % 17.11 %

Total interest-sensitive liabilities $ 2494719 § 133733 § 2722 $ 2194 § 520 § —  $2,633,888 $2,629,489
Average interest rate 342 % 1049 % 259.32 % 7.72 % 737 % — % 4.07 %

Interest rate sensitivity gap @ $(1,038222) $ 799,608 § 148,628 $ 59279 § 44,301 $167,790 $ 181,384

Cumulative interest rate
sensitivity gap $(1,038,222) $(238,614) 3% (89.986) $ (30,707) $ 13,594 §$ 181384

Cumulative gap ratio % (3688)%  (848)%  (3200%  (1.09) % 0.48 % 6.44 %

(1) The over 5 year category includes "interest-only" securities of $4.9 million.

(2) Includes unamortized net premiums and unamortized securitization costs of $35.4 million and $11.6 million,
respectively.

(3) Includes unamortized net discounts of $8,000.

(4) CMO collateral and loans held-for-investment include non-accrual loans of $51.2 million and $9.9 million,
respectively.

(5) Interest rate sensitivity gap represents the difference between interest-earning assets and interest-bearing
liabilities.
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Interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities as of December 31, 2001 resulted in a negative estimated
interest rate sensitivity gap for 2002. Under this scenario, net interest income could be positively affected by a decrease
in interest rates as more interest-bearing liabilities could reprice downwards during 2002 than interest-bearing assets.
Conversely, an increase in interest rates could have a negative affect on net interest income during 2002 as more
interest-bearing liabilities could reprice upwards than interzst-bearing assets, see "—Changes in Interest Rates." As of
December 31, 2001, the estimated cumulative negative gap of $1.0 billion during the first year compares to an estimated
cumulative negative gap of $396.4 million during the first year as measured at December 31, 2000. The increase in the
negative gap as measured at December 31, 2001 was due to the acquisition of $1.1 billion of hybrid loans during 2001
with fixed periods generally ranging from two to three yeats, which are financed with adjustable rate CMO borrowings.
However, in an increasing interest rate environment the adverse effect to net interest income caused by our negative gap
would be offset by our interest rate hedges.

Since these estimates are based upon numerous assumptions, such as the expected maturities of interest-earning
assets and interest-bearing liabilities and exclude the effect of hedges, actual sensitivity to interest rate changes could
vary significantly if actual experience differs from those assumptions used in making the calculations. In addition, the
estimated impacts of parallel shifts in interest rates and the resulting effect on net interest income does consider
increases or decreases in premium amortization and securitization expenses due to possible increases or decreases in
loan prepayments, which could also vary if actual experience differs from the prepayment assumptions used.

Changes in Interest Rates

Although the static gap methodology is widely accepted in identifying interest rate risk, it does not take into
consideration changes that may occur in investment and financing strategies, changes in the yield curve, changes in
hedging strategy, changes in prepayment speeds and changes in business volumes. Therefore, in addition to measuring
interest rate risk via a gap analysis, we measure the sensi:ivity of our net interest income to changes in interest rates
affecting interest sensitive assets and liabilities using simulations. The simulations consider the effect of interest rate
changes on interest sensitive assets and liabilities as well as hedges. Changes in interest rates are defined as
instantaneous and sustained movements in interest rates in 100 basis point increments. We estimate our net interest
income for the next twelve months assuming no changes in. interest rates from those at period end, which we refer to as
"base case." Once the base case has been estimated, calculations are made for each of the defined changes in interest
rates, to include any associated differences in the anticipated prepayment speed of loans. Those results are then
compared against the base case to determine the estimated change to net interest income.

The following table (dollar amounts in millions) estimates the financial impact to net interest income from various
instantaneous and parallel shifts in interest rates based on our balance sheet structure as of December 31, 2001 and
2000. Since, these estimates are based upon numerous assumptions, such as estimated prepayment rates, the shape of
the yield curve and estimated business volumes, actual sensitivity to interest rate changes could differ significantly as
compared to actual results. '

2002 estimates using 2001 estimates using
balances at 12/31/01 balances at 12/31/00
Changes in Interest Rates Change in Net Change in Net
(in basis points) Interest Income Interest Income
® (%) %) (%)
F200. ettt stba et sasaanee (5.6) (7 (5.0) 19
FLO0.. ...t a e esas e re et e srnesnes (24) 3) 4.D (15)
SO0 e st s se s s e e aaeenaes (3.5 ) 6.2 23
2200 e et sa e s rmaasaans (5.3) (D 12.7 48

(1) The dollar and percentage changes represent net interest income, for the next twelve months, in a stable interest
rate environment versus the change in net interest income in the various instantaneous, parallel rate change
simulations.

We project that in all interest rate change scenarios we will maintain a steady, consistent stream of cash flows
compared to base case net interest income. As a result of purchasing hedges during 2001, in an increasing interest rate
environment, net interest income, as a percentage change o:” base case net interest income, will have a smaller impact on
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earnings during 2002 as compared to 2001. As interest rates rise, interest rate hedges will have a positive effect on
earnings as we will receive cash payments when market interest rates reach certain contractual levels based on our cap
agreements. In a decreasing interest rate environment, we project virtually the same etfect on net interest income as we
will make cash payments when market rates reach certain contractual levels base on our floor agreements

The following table presents the extent to which changes in interest rates and changes in the volume of interest rate
sensitive assets and interest rate sensitive liabilities have affected interest income and interest expense during the
periods indicated. Information is provided on mortgage assets and borrowings on mortgage assets, only, with respect to
the following:

o changes attributable to changes in volume (changes in volume multiplied by prior rate);
s changes attributable to changes in rate (changes in rate multiplied by prior volume);
e changes in interest due to both rate and volume; and

o the net change.

Year Ended December 31,
2001 over 2000
Rate/ Net
Yolume Rate Volume Change
(in thousands)

Increase/(decrease) in:

Subordinated securities collateralized by mortgages..........ccceveveveerneeenennn. $ (2,949) 3 (1,320) $ 537 $ (3,732)
Subordinated securities collateralized by other 10ans.........cc.ccocccvvieiininne (273) {273) 273 (273)
Total INVESIMENE SECUITEIES. ... .veivveeeerecreecereeeete st e (3,222) (1,593) 810 (4,005)
Loan receivables:
CMO COlIAtEral ..ot sttt 23,030 (493) (132) 22,405
Mortgage loans held-for-investment..........c..oovveeeeiiiiiieciccereee e 1,338 (1,841) 275) (778)
Finance receivables:
AFRHALEA ..ottt ettt et nes (1,516) (8,633) 467 (9,682)
NON-AFTIHAEA ..ottt ree e 7,496 (4,079) (2,141 1,276
Total finance receivables...........ooccovvviiiiciiiie et 5,980 (12,712)  (1,674)  (8,406)
Total 10an receivables .............coeiuiieeiiciie ettt eaes 30,348  (15,046) (2,081) 13,221
Change in interest income on mortgage assets...............ccccocooerenne 27,126 (16,639) (1,271) 9,216
CIMO DOITOWINES.....cvcvvererereieeaneetererieseecetneancacbese e eeresnsbasaseseessssesseeasonsseas 25,096  (21,004) (6,565) (2.473)
Reverse repurchase agreements—mortgages ........ccoocovrveeiieiirnrennenrevereenines 5,083 (11,946) (1,548) (8411)
Borrowings secured by investment SECUrItES..........ccocoevirereeieieeeerreesersennes (1,117) 714 (248) (651)
Change in interest expense on borrowings on mortgage assets...... 29,062 (32,236) (8,361) (11,535)
Change in net interest iNCOME................cococoeruiveireronrneenreeseenaees $ (1,936) $ 15,597 $ 7,090 $ 20,751
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Year Ended December 31,
2000 over 1999

Rate/ Net
Volume Rate Volume  Change
(in thousands)
Subordinated securities collateralized by mortgages............ccoovvveieveverennns $ (4,262) $ (1,651) $§ 558 § (5,355)
Subordinated securities collateralized by other foans...........c..cccceevreriicennnes (512) (127) 78 (561)
Total INVeStMENt SECUIILIES...........ccoeoveiieeecvectiete et esee s es e eernns 4,774) (1,778) 636 (5,916)
Loan receivables:
CMO CONAtEral.......ooviieieeeceei ettt r e eenae 5,205 6,186 436 11,827
Mortgage loans held-for-investment.......c..ccooovviivininiin e 5,703 267 651 6,621
Finance receivables:
ATFHALEd ... ottt ettt eeebanes e eaet s e reseeneesennraeaan 4315 3411 752 8,478
NoON-affiliated.......coiieeieieiie e 4,584 1,206 711 6,501
Total fINance receivVabIES.........o.ooooviiiiieeee e et 8,899 4617 1,463 14,979
Total 10an 1eCeiVabIES .....cceeiviivieeeieiice e, 19,807 11,070 2,550 33,427
Change in interest income on mortgage assets.................oc....ocoevnn.. 15,033 9,292 3,186 27,511
CMO DOITOWITIES ....cveeevecveereniineteesire s et srsassse et ss e esssserasbesansescssesnesens 5,263 9,079 733 15,075
Reverse repurchase agreements—mnortBages .......coveeveevveeerariiveseerescrerrsaeens 11,893 3,723 2,055 17,671
Borrowings secured by investment SECUrities.........coovveveririeneeeeiereceerennans 2,119 101 31! 2,531
Reverse repurchase agreements—SeCUrities ..o veriinrnreei vere v eeveenns (998) (998) 998 (998)
Change in interest expense on borrowings on mortgage assets...... 18,277 11,905 4,097 34,279
Change in net interest iNCOME...............coovvceevierevevieerireeeeein, $ (3,244 § (2,613) $ (911) § (6,768)

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information required by this Item 8 is incorporated by reference to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.’s
Consolidated Financial Statements and Independent Auditors’ Report beginning at page F-1 of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMIENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None
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PART IIX

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this ltem 10 is hereby incorporated by reference to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.’s
definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc.’s 2001 fiscal year.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this ltem 11 is hereby incorporated by reference to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.’s
definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc.’s 2001 fiscal year.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT

The information required by this Item 12 is hereby incorporated by reference to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.’s
definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc.’s 2001 fiscal year.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this Item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.’s
definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc.’s 2001 fiscal year.
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PART IV

Item 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K
(a) All schedules have been omitted because they are either not applicable, not required or the information
required has been disclosed in the Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements at page F-1, or otherwise included in this Form 10-K.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

Current Report on Form 8-K, dated October 1, 2001, reporting on Item 9, relating to the posting of Registrant's
unaudited monthly fact sheet.

Current Report on Form 8-K, dated October 22, 2001, reporting on ltems 5 and 7, relating to the sale of the
Registrant's common stock.

Current Report on Form §8-K, dated October 25, 2001, reporting on Items 5 and 7, relating to the issuance of a press
release by the Registrant.

Current Report on Form 8-K, dated December 4, 2011, reporting on Item 9, relating to the posting of Registrant's
unaudited monthly fact sheet.

(c) Exhibits
Exhibit
Number Description

3.1 Charter of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit number to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Forin S-11, as amended (File No. 33-96670), filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on September 7, 1995).

3.1(a) Certificate of Correction of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1(a) of the Registrant’s
10-K for the year ended December 31, 199%).

3.1(b) Articles of Amendment of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1(b) of the Registrant’s
10-K for the year ended December 31, 199¢).

3.1(c) Articles of Amendment for change of name to Charter of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to
exhibit number 3.1(a) of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed February 11, 1998).

3.1(d) Articles Supplementary and Certificate of Correction for Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of
the Registrant (incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1(d) of the Registrant’s 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1998).

3.1{e) Articles Supplementary for Series B 10.5% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of the Registrant
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1b of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
December 23, 1998).

3.1(f) Articles Supplementary for Series C 10.5% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of the Registrant
{(incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit number of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2000).

3.1(g) Certificate of Correction for Series C Preferred Stock of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to the
corresponding exhibit number of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ending
September 30, 2000).




4.1

4.2

4.2(a)

4.3

4.4

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.3(a)

10.3(b)

10.3(c)

104

10.5

Byiaws of the Registrant, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit
number of the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 1998).

Form of Stock Certificate of the Company (incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit number
to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, as amended (File No. 33-96670), filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 7, 1993).

Rights Agreement between the Registrant and BankBoston, N.A. (incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.2
of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on October 14, 1998).

Amendment No. 1 to Rights Agreement between the Registrant and BankBoston, N.A. (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 4.2(a) of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A/A as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on December 23, 1998).

Indenture between the Registrant and IBJ Whitehall Bank & Trust Company, dated March 29, 1999
incorporated by reference to exhibit a(l 1) of the Registrant’s Schedule 13E-4, as amended, filed on
April 9, 1999).

First Supplemental Indenture to Indenture between the Registrant and 1BJ Whitehall Bank & Trust
Company, dated March 29, 1999 (incorporated by reference to exhibit a(12) of the Registrant’s Schedule
[3E-4, as amended, filed on Aprii 9, 1999).

1995 Stock Option, Deferred Stock and Restricted Stock Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ending
March 31, 1998).

Form of Indemnity Agreement between the Registrant and its Directors and Officers (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, as amended (File
No. 33-96670), filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 7, 1995).

Form of Amended and Restated Employment Agreément with ICI Funding Corporation (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as amended, for the quarter
ended June 30, 1998).

List of Officers and terms relating to Form of Amended and Restated Employment Agreement
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.8(a) to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as
amended, for the quarter ended June 30, 1998).

Form of Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Impac Funding
Corporation (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1(a) of the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed June 2, 1998).

List of Officers and terms relating to Form of Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated
Employment Agreement with Impac Funding Corporation (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1(b)
of the Registrant’s Current Report of Form 8-K, filed June 2, 1998).

Form of Loan Purchase and Administrative Services Agreement between the Registrant and Impac
Funding Corporation (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-11, as amended (File No. 33-96670), filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on September 7,1995).

Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to, and the

prospectus included in, the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-3/A (File No. 333-52335), as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 4, 1998).
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10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.9(a)

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

Servicing Agreement effective November 11, 1995 between the Registrant and Impac Funding Corporation
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, as
amended (File No. 333-04011), filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 17, 1996).

[mpac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. 1996 Stock Option Loan Plan (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.15 to
the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996).

Sales Agency Agreement between the Registrant and PaineWebber, Incorporated, dated May 12, 1998
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 1.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed June 2,

1998).

Lease dated June |, 1998 regarding Dove Streei facilities (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.17 of the
Registrant’s 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998).

Second Amendment to Lease dated October 1, 1999 between The Realty Associates Fund V, L.P., the
Registrant and Impac Funding Corporation (incorporated by reference to exhibit number 10.4(d) of the
Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000).

Office Lease, First Amendment to Office Lease, and Assignment, Assumption and Consent to
Assignment of Lease with Property Californiz. OB One Corporation and Assignment to Impac Funding
Corporation regarding San Diego facilities.

Employment Letter between Impac Funding Corporation and Ronald Morrison dated May 28, 1998
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.18 of the Registrant’s 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1998).

Note dated June 30, 1999 between the Registrant and Impac Funding Corporation (incorporated by reference
to exhibit 10.17 of the Registrant's 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999).

Underwriting Agreement dated October 22, 2001 among the Registrant, Impac Funding Corporation and
UBS Warburg LLC (incorporated by reference to exhibit 1.1 of Registrant's Current Report on Form
8-K dated October 22, 2001).

Underwriting Agreement dated February 7, 2002 among the Registrant, HBK MasterFund L.P. and UBS
Warburg LLC (incorporated by reference to exhibit 1.1 of Registrant's Current Report on Form
8-K dated February 8, 2002) .

Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. 2001 Stock Option Plan, Deferred Stock and Restricted Stock Plan
(incorporated by reference to Appendix A of Rzgistrant's Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the SEC

on April 30, 2001).

10.15(a) Amendment fo Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. 2001 Stock Option Plan, Deferred Stock and Restricted

21.1

231

232

24

Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1(a) of the Registrants Form S-8 filed with the SEC
on March 1, 2002).

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of KPMG LLP regarding the Registrant.
Consent of KPMG LLP regarding Impac Funding Corporation.

Power of Attorney (included on signature page).
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Newport
Beach, State of California, on the 1st day of April 2002.

IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC.

by /s/ JOSEPH R. TOMKINSON
Joseph R. Tomkinson
Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer

We, the undersigned directors and officers of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc., do hereby constitute and appoint
Joseph R. Tomkinson and Richard J. Johnson, or either of them, our true and lawful attorneys and agents, to do any and
all acts and things in our name and behalf in our capacities as directors and officers and to execute any and all
instruments for us and in our names in the capacities indicated below, which said attorneys and agents, or either of
them, may deem necessary or advisable to enable said corporation to comply with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, and any rules, regulations, and requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, in connections
with this report, including specifically, but without limitation, power and authority to sign for us or any of us in our
names and in the capacities indicated below, any and all amendments to this report, and we do hereby ratify and confirm
all that the said attorneys and agents, or either of them, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature . Title Date
/s/ JOSEPH R. TOMKINSON Chairman of the Board , Chief April 1, 2002
Joseph R. Tomkinson Executive Officer and Director
/s/ RICHARD J. JOHNSON Chief Financial Officer and Executive April 1, 2002
Richard J. Johnson Vice President
/s/ WILLIAM S. ASHMORE President and Director April 1, 2002

William S. Ashmore

/s/ JAMES WALSH Director April 1, 2002
James Walsh
/s/ FRANK P. FILIPPS Director April 1, 2002

Frank P. Filipps

/s/ STEPHAN R. PEERS Director April 1,2002
Stephan R. Peers

/s/ WILLIAM E. ROSE Director April 1, 2002
William E. Rose

/s/ LEIGH J. ABRAMS Director April 1, 2002
Leigh J. Abrams
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors
Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balanc: sheets of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries as
of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive earnings (loss),
changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2001.
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An aud:t also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evalueting the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Impac Mortgage Holdings, [nc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and
the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2001
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note A to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for
derivative instuments and hedging activities in 2001.

KPMGLLP

Orange County, California

January 28, 2002, except as to Note T to
the consolidated financial statements,
which is as of March 8, 2002



IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(dollar amounts in thousands, except share data)

At December 31,
2001 2000
- ASSETS _
Cash and cash eqQUIVAIENLIS ....c..ocoviiiieeces ettt en et $ 51,887 § 17,944
Investment securities available-for-sale ... 32,989 36,921
Loan Receivables:
CMO CONBLEIAL ...ttt teee et as st teasrtsannanes s 2,229,168 1,372,996
FINANCE TECEIVADIES. ... oo e ee e et e e e e et 466,649 405,438
Mortgage loans held-for-investment...........ocoooiiiiini e 20,078 16,720
ATIOWATICE TOT 10AI 10SSES .. .o veiieeeiitt et ettt et eee e st et e et ereeetbeaavae s saeesseannenen (11,692) (5,090)
NELJOAN TECRIVABIES. ... .ot s e saa e r e st e et e erane b e neee 2,704,203 1,790,064
Investment in Impac Funding Corporation...............ccc.cooevverveeercvenenns et 19,126 15,762
Due from Impac Funding Corporation .........c..ccooveiiioiiiiiiiiciiiee e st eses e neaneas 14,500 14,500
Accrued interest receivable ..o..ovviiiiiie e atererear——eos e et e inanns 14,565 12,988
Other real eState OWNEBA .......coueviieicee it ettt e e eve e sere e saae s s aesan e e sebessaassormasseneaeens 8,137 4,669
DETIVALIVE ASSELS ... .iiuveiieeitiivtiieee e cteeeteeeteessneteueeesseesseestesesisbesabeserssrsssrnbaesstsrstessbessonensoneesseens 5,128 —
DT BSSOLS. v ivteeieetieriteeteetiteseree st e et eeeesesastaeeasaeesseatseenseeees s ebestnsennne sabessbsanseesabasaseen s reesreaeneane 4,199 5,990
TOtal SSELS cuveeiivireiietieiereeeet et ettt et ot e et et et e et e et enneaes $ 2,854,734 $ 1,898,838
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CIMO BOTTOWIRES ....v.veoeiveveteeee e saseeeeteteesan et et s es st etsae s e s e sansssesesasbsebes semasssessnsesarerensesesesn $ 2,151,400 $ 1,291,284
Reverse repurchase agre€ments........oco.iiecveccuiicioninii ettt st s b e en e, 469,491 398,653
Borrowings secured by investment securities available-for-sale..........ccooviiveciniicinninnine. 12,997 21,124
11% senior subordinated debentures ............ccoeviii i et sae e e srae e eee e — 6,979
Accrued dividends payable.........cooiiiiinii e 14,081 788
Oher THADILILIES .......vvieviesieiaeie et e s eite et ate et et e eeee e et ab e e ame st bes e st eseenteresntebeebe st sane st esesrnns 3,400 1,570
TOtA] HABDIHEIES . ..veeiuieeeececete ettt et tes e es e e seereeacearesesaereeas 2,651,369 1,720,398
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 6,300,000 shares authorized; none issued and

outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 2000..............cocevviinieie i — —
Series A junior participating preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 2,500,000 shares

authorized; none issued and outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively...... — —
Series C 10.5% cumulative convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value; liquidation

value $30,000; 1,200,000 shares authorized; none and 1,200,000 issued and

outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.......ccocommiinrvnreieivinininnns — 12
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized; 32,001,997 and .

20,409,956 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively ... 320 204
Additional paid-in CAPItal ........cceoviveieiirii e s 359,279 325,350
Accumulated other COmMPrehensiVe 10SS .....ccocooviiiiiiiiiiie et st aae (19,857) (568)
Notes receivable from common S1OCK SAIES...........cc.oceovvioviierierirrree e s este i e (920) (902)
Net accumulated deficit:

Cumulative dividends declared ........c..c.ooeevieiiiiiie e e (126,952) (103,973)

Accumulated defiCit.........oiieeeiiiiiie e e e she e (8,505) (41,683)

Net accumulated defiCit............cooiviiior it ra et sr e (135,456) (145,656)
Total Stockholders’ BqUILY ......ccvcveiveeieiei ettt evesr s e s 203,365 178,440
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity.......cccooovvviereerernmrrrressnii e $ 2,854,734 $ 1,898,838

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
AND COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS (LOSS)

(in thousands, except per share data)

For the year ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
INTEREST INCOME:
MOTEEAZE ASSEES ..ottt et $153,951 $144,735 §$ 117,224
Other INErest INCOME.......c...icoiit ettt ettt e e es e e e sesane s 2,664 2,344 2,234
Total INtEIESt INCOMIE .......eoveeeiieceeie et e et e eeee e e aeseseeesseneseseseeassererans 156,615 147,079 119,458
INTEREST EXPENSE:
CMO DOITOWINES ....eovvenieiiee ettt ettt e sttt et e s eene 77,813 80,287 65,212
Reverse repurchase agreCments. . .......oovvvevereneeireierecininniere et et ere e sesnaieneas 33,370 42,433 23,229
Other DOTTOWINES ....cvveoveveitie ettt ettt et ns 829 1,376 1,354
Total INTEreSt EXPENSE ..ovevviieeceeieriee ettt ettt e e ee s 112,012 124,096 89,795
NEt INETESt INCOMIE ..evvtiiiiiictierieiereeeecee e et ene et eesne s st st ee e e s eereresaensensons 44,603 22,983 29,663
Provision for [0an L0SSES........ocoiviviiiieiieie ittt en e 16,813 18,839 5,547
Net interest income after provision for loan 10SSes............ccocoveeeeceevicieceena, 27,790 4,144 24,116
NON-INTEREST INCOME:
Equity in net earnings (loss) of Impac Funding Corporat’on............co.cooveeveeevene. 10,912 (1,762) 4,292
SErVICING fEES ...ttt st 751 690 1,370
Gain 0N 5al€ Of SECUIIES ... ...evveriiertiieetieieie ettt se e nennae 312 — 93
OhEr INCOMIE ..ottt ettt st e et et e e et eere e e eseeeeeeeeeeeeaaen e 5,404 3,585 1,147
Total NON-INEreSt INCOME .....covvveinrieieeeiece ettt 17,379 2,513 6,902
NON-INTEREST EXPENSE:
Mark-to-market 1085 - SFAS 133 it e 3,821 —_ —
ProfesSiONAl SEIVICES. .....ccuieeveieectreetricee et ettt ettt e ereeees e seseeeeeeses e eeennen 2,747 2,604 2,678
General and administrative and other eXpense ...........c.c....cocevvvecviesiveieee e 2,303 2,230 1,343
Write-down on investment securities available-for-sale..............c..oooovoiiiieinnne 2,217 53,576 2,037
Personnel EXPENSE .....c..oceririieeriiierieiresen et ce et st aa et eene e 1,211 666 484
(Gain) loss on sale of other real estate owned .............ocoooooveveeeeceeeeeeeeeen. (1,931 1,814 2,159
Total NON-INtETESt EXPEIMSE...verererrerreerrrvereetinrirretisseneiseaetvsseressereemsieseseeessensanens 10,368 60,890 §,701
Eamings (loss) before extraordinary item and cumulative effect of change
IN aCCOUNtING PIINCIPIE. ...vvvverveieeetiiirietireeie ettt et et v e stene s 34,801 (54,233) 22,317
EXtraordinary feM....cccoiiieeconriceeeiiere et ss et e e s n e st seete s (1,006) —_— —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — SFAS 133.........cccovuenneee. (617) — —
Net €arNINES (L0SS) ..oerriieieririeise e sttt ettt et st taer e e s saaneas 33,178 (54,233) 22,317
Less: Cash dividends on cumulative convertible preferred stock .........ccooevoveviviveeeennene. (1,575) (3,150) (3,290)
Net earnings (loss) available to common Stockholders..........coovvvevireveereecreeere, 31,603 (57,383) 19,027
Other comprehensive earnings (loss):
Unrealized gains (losses) on securities:
Unrealized holding gains (losses) arising during year..............cccccccoecrievrrennne. (21,094) (795) (6,423)
Less: Reclassification of gains included in income .............cccooevvvevvirveeenennns. 1,805 7,806 580
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during year ...........cc.ooveveiveeverireeennnnn, (19,289) 7,011 (5,843)
Comprehensive earnings (108S).......cccveeerreinrinirieiienietieieeee et $ 13,889 §$ (47,222) $ 16,474

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
AND COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS (LOSS)>—(continued)

Net earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary item and cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle:

Net earnings (1055) per share-—baSiC ........ccorioiriiiiini e $ 141§ (270) § 0.83

Net earnings (loss) per share—diluted ..............ocooiiiiiii e $ 125 § (270) § 0.76
Net earnings (loss}) per share:

Net earnings (10ss) per share—Dbasic ........ceovriveirriririmicninin e $ 13 $ (270) § 083

Net earnings (loss) per share—diluted .............o.ocoooiiiiiiiiince e $ .19 § 270y § 0.76
Dividends declared per common share............cccooo oo § 069 $ 036 $ 0.48

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-5




"SIUQUIQIE]S [eIoURHL} POJEPI[oSU0d 03 s9jou Futluedurosor 935

cottor § (cos'®) ¢ (ese'oei) § (0ze) _ § (198°61)  § 64T6SE€ § 0T $ 1661002 — § — 1002 ‘1€ Joquiaoa( ‘souereq
(687°61) — — — (68T61) — — — — — $50] 2atsusyaidwod 1oy
8L1°€¢ BLIEE - — — — — — - — e 1002 ‘sSwuwes 19N
AMW ,— V —_— - Aw — V _ - —_— — — e eesssicsmrmessessiittasianaranss mu—&m V—OOMm :oegou
WIOJ] 9[qBAI3D31 S3]0U UO SIDUBAPY
— — - - - (z9) ¥9 7€6'sse'9  (T1) (000°00T 1} e SaIBYS UOWUIOD
0 saaeys paugjard Jo uosIaAu0))
s —_ — — —_ £5S I 601°191 —_ —_ suondo o01S JO 9510J9XI WOLJ SPIIV0I]
mmmnmm —— _— — —_— N”vnmm ﬂm 000aoo~nm —_ e meressssssecsssasssissssinscany wﬂ._mhwsw'wo MQO“W :°EE°U
(¥s) — — — - #s) - (000°s7) - - T 2018 UowWod jo aseyanday
(sLs'n) — (sL8°D) — — — — — — — e $aIeys pat1a)asd uo posejIsp SpUSPIAI(]
ﬁvo.VmﬁNv —— Aﬁown’Nv —_— —_ —_ —_— — —_ e esssssesscscsssstensenteccsvacstetocnaatierienetsecion onumzm
uowwod 43d §9'0$) Pare[odp SPUSPIAL(]
Orv'8LI (£89°1Y) (eL6col)  (206) (899) 0S£'6Ze  ¥0C 956°60¥°0Z  T1 000°00T'E 000T ‘T€ $2quia0a(] ‘douejey
110°L = = — 110, — - = — — - sBuruea sarsusyaduwios OO
AMMN»*WV Ammmnvwv —_— — —_— — —_ —_— — e esssrvsssasicemacsarevsasredcssredsrrvaaarress OOON nmwo~ HUZ
¢ e _ ¢ . || _ . _ e et SO[ES Y0015 UOWWOD
WOJJ I[QRALI0II SIJ0U UO SpudIe]
(z6T'0) — — — — (z82D) (o1 (0s6'066) — — e 3j001s UOWII0D JO 3seydrnday
(0s1°¢) — (0st'¢) - - - - — - - SaIeYs PALISJaId WO PIILIIIP SPUIPIAICE
AM*VN‘FV — AM?\\»NV — —_ — —_ —_— — e semessescesracncacunaresteetestescisniaciirerastitionn Av.—.ﬁ.:w
uotmnes nd 52585 BEOSp SpUIPIAL
PrRET 0ogTl WBU LH) (506) (6L5°L) TE9°LLE ¥iZ 906°00¥°1Z Tl 6661 ‘1€ 1Rquda(] ‘soureg
(c¥8°¢) - — — (£¥8°¢) -~ - - - = e $SO[ 9AISUsYRd 0 12HO
h ~ mrNN N\— MwNN — . —_— — J— — D easasemscsseermascvsssecreircincasases aam— nmwcmﬁv dQZ
¢l = . €l _ . _ . . e SO7ES H90]S UOWWIOD
WO} 9[QBAIIAI S210U UO SJUSWAR J
(1€¥'9) - — — — (81+°9) (€p) (Losesely — — e 199p PaBUIPIOYNS JO1US
10J YO0)S UoWwod Jo a8uedxg
(098'6) — — — — (198°6) (61) (oov'c10'e) — — T J[201S UOWIUI0D JO 3sBYINIY
946 . . _ . 916 e 91917 _ UV RSO ddSH( WOy Spassol]
(067°¢) — (067°¢) — -_ — — - — — Sareys paiayaid uo paredap SpuspIAL(]
AV—Ono—v - AV—©~D~V — - —_— — - — e rsessessssscssssastesesassssiiarasesssrasastiorenaces Aﬂhﬁsm
uowwod 1ad g4 0$) pasejoap spuspiaid
909°15¢ § (L9L°6)$ (oev'eL)s  (816) & (9eL°D) § Sve'Tve § 9vT  § LSYLSSYT T 000°00T‘p e 8661 ‘1€ oquaoa( ‘dueeq
Amby nyaq paIgPAq sajeg (sso']) sdujuaey tende) §I01§  SwpueIsing  JI0JS  SuUIpugIsing
SIIPIOYNI0IS PAB[ANIIY)  SPUIPIA] b RUJIN JAtsuaydidmo)) up-preg uomwo) SAIBYS [HERNCICNE | seys
®101 squiuaey dAgnwIN)  uowwo) 00 feuohippy uowwo)y paLRjIg
pauvie)dy J[QBAIINY  PIABINWNNDY JO JIquny Jo RquINN
SIJON

(eyep ateys 1daoxa ‘spuesnoyl ul SHUNOWE IL}OP)

ALINOE SYAATOHMDOLS NI SEONVHD 40 SINAWALV.LS GALVAITOSNOD
SATAVIAISENS ANV "ONI ‘SONIATOH ADVHLION IVJIINL

F-6



IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

For the year ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Earnings (loss) before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle... $ 33,795 § (54,233) § 22317
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ... (617) — —
Equity in net (earnings) loss of Impac Funding Corporation....................... (10,912) 1,762 (4,292)
Provision for J0an J0SSES......ccouvuiiiiiooe i e, 16,813 18,839 5,547
Amortization of CMO premiums and deferred securitization costs ............ 14,973 15,308 18,593
Net change in accrued interest receivable...............c.ccoovviiviecceieee e, 1,577 (1,779) (1,170)
Write-down of SECUritiZation COSES ........ccoeiiiiiiiieiiiiiccie e ereens 1,006 —_— —
Write-down of investment securities available-for-sale .............c.cccvoveel. 2,217 53,576 2,037
Gain (loss) on sale of other real estate owned ..............cccoooeeiiiiieienc e 1,931 (1,814) (2,159)
Gain on sale of investment securities available-for-sale..................coccoe. 312) — 93
Net change in other assets and liabilities ..o (1,858) (4,939 15,059
Net cash provided by operating activities............c.c.ccoevervrrcieerveee e 55,459 26,720 55,839
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Net change in CMO collateral.............coocoooiviioiciece e (907,189) 312,171 178,519
Net change in finance receivables ..o (61,817) (208,966) 113,969
Net change in mortgage loans held-for-investment...............cccocovviieeeernenn, (16,091)  (433,340) (352,603)
Purchase of investment securities available-for-sale ..............cccoomeiiververeveennn — —_ (18,295)
Sale of investment securities available-for-sale................ccoovovveriiioiiicece, 3,901 5,704 3,803
Dividend Impac Funding Corporation.........c......coceeviereeinriercnreemsesreressesnene 8,894 — —
Issuance of note to Impac Funding Corporation..............cccoveevecnienneiencnnans — — (14,500)
Principal reductions on investment securities available-for-sale..................... 5,542 3,864 6,985
Proceeds from sale of other real estate owned..............cccovvvevmeireecereee e 5,722 18,091 18,027
Net cash used in investing aCtivities ..............coc.ocooiviveieeeee e (961,038) (302,476) (64,095)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Net change in reverse repurchase agreements and other borrowings .............. 62,824  (150,955) 247,395
Proceeds from CMO BOITOWINES ......ovveoeeieirereeeeeeeeeeeeeseseee s vennesenns 1,500,921 943,558 298,076
Repayment of CMO DOITOWINES .....vvevrvereisireceiiceriesicvsisisinsesssse s ssssssasnesns (640,805) (503,091) (519,575)
Dividends Paid.......cccooviveriinierine i (9,686) (13,675)  (22,463)
Retirement of senior subordinated debentures...............ccoooecieveeenieevereceesenenns (7,747) — —
Proceeds from sale of common StOCK ..o oot e 33,533 — 946
Repurchase of COMMON SIOCK .....c.viveciviririienieiiiiieei et esee e s (54) (2,292) (9,860)
Proceeds from exercise 0f Stock Options..............cco.ooviveiieiieveee e - 554 — —
Advances to purchase common StOCK. ... s (18) 3 13
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities........ccocevvervcrvrerercnen. 939,522 273,548 (5,468)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents..................c.oooc e 33,943 (2,208) (13,724)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ............c.ocoovvvveeinivcovncnrnieenn, 17,944 20,152 33,876
Cash and cash equivalents at end 0f Year ................cccconieceniioncennicneneees $ 51,887 § 17944 § 20,152

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS—(continued)

(in thousands)

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:

INtErest PAIA ..ocvoveviveic ittt ettt $ 113,384 $125391 $ 88,989
NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS:
Exchange of common stock for senior subordinated debt..............ccocevirenan, $ — § . — § 6431
Accumulated other comprehensive gain (1088) ... {19,289) 7,011 (5,843)
Transfer of loans held-for-investment to other real estate owned.............cc.e...... 2,522 3,179 1,318
Transfer of CMO collateral to other real estate owned...........c..c.covvevviiiiennins 7,993 8,300 14,431
Transfer of finance receivables to other real estate owned............c.coceveeviveniene 606 647 483
Dividends declared and unpaid...........ccoueeeiimininin e 14,081 788 3,570

_ See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note A—Summary of Business and Significant Accounting Policies
1. Financial Statement Presentation

The financial condition and operations of the Company have been presented in the consolidated financial
statements for the three-year period ended December 31, 2001 and include the financial results of Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc. (IMH), IMH Assets Corporation (IMH Assets) and Impac Warehouse Lending Group (IWLG) as stand-
alone entities and the financial results of IMH's equity interest in net earnings (loss) in Impac Funding Corporation
(IFC) as a stand-alone entity.

The Company is entitled to 99% of the earnings or losses of IFC through its ownership of all of the non-voting
preferred stock of IFC. As such, the Company records its investment in IFC using the equity method. Under this
method, original investments are recorded at cost and adjusted by the Company's share of earnings or losses. Certain
officers and directors of the Company own all of the common stock of IFC and are entitled to 1% of the earnings or
losses of IFC. Gain on the sale of loans or securities by IFC to IMH are deferred and accreted into gain on sale over the
estimated life of the loans or securities using the interest method.

All significant intercompany balances and transactions with IMH’s consolidated subsidiaries have been eliminated
in consolidation. Interest income on affiliated short-term advances, due from affiliates, has been earned at the rate of
8.0% per annum. Interest expense on affiliated short-term borrowings, due to affiliates, has been incurred at the rate of
8.0% per annum. Costs and expenses of the Company and its affiliates have been charged to ICH in proportion to
services provided per the submanagement agreement between FIC Management Inc. (FIC), an affiliate of Fortress
Partners LP (Fortress), IMH and IFC, not to exceed an annual fee of $250,000. The submanagement agreement between
FIC, IMH and IFC expired on December 31, 1999. Certain amounts in the prior periods’ consolidated financial
statements have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation.

Management of the Company has made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets
and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period to prepare these financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Actual results could differ from those
estimates. '

2. Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and money
market mutual funds. The Company considers investments with maturities of three months or less at date of acquisition
to be cash equivalents.

3. Investment Securities Available-for-Sale

The Company classifies investment and mortgage-backed securities as held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, and/or
trading securities. Held-to-maturity investment and mortgage-backed securities are reported at amortized cost,
available-for-sale securities are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses as a separate component of
stockholders’ equity, and trading securities are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses reported in
earnings. The Company’s investment securities are held as available-for-sale, reported at fair value with unrealized
gains and losses reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Gains and losses on sale of investment
securities available-for-sale are based on the specific identification method. ‘As the Company qualifies as a Real Estate
Investment Trust (REIT), and no income taxes are paid, the unrealized gains and losses are reported gross in
stockholders’ equity. Premiums or discounts obtained on investment securities are accreted or amortized to interest
income over the estimated life of the investment securities using the interest method. Such investments may subject the
Company to credit, interest rate and/or prepayment risk.
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

From time to time, IMH purchases residuals created by IFC as a result of the sale of mortgage loans through
securitizations. IFC sells a portfolio of mortgage loans to a special purpose entity that has been established for the
limited purpose of buying and reselling the mortgage loans. IFC then transfers the same mortgage loans to a special
purpose entity or owners trust (the Trust). The Trust issues interest-bearing asset-backed securities generally in an
amount equal to the aggregate principal balance of the mortgzage foans. IFC typicalily sells these certificates at face value
and without recourse. Representations and warranties custoinary to the mortgage banking industry are provided by IFC.
IMH or other investors purchase these certificates from the Trust and the proceeds from the sale of the certificates are
used as consideration to purchase the underlying mortgage loans from the Company. In addition, IFC may provide a
credit enhancement for the benefit of the investors in the form of additional collateral held by the Trust. An over-
collateralization account is required to be maintained at specified levels.

4. CMO Collateral and Mortgage Loans Held-for-Investment

The Company purchases non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans to be held as long-term investment or as collateral
for Collateralized Mortgage Obligations (CMOs). Mortgage loans held-for-investment and CMO collateral are recorded
at cost as of the date of purchase. Mortgage loans held-for-investment and CMO collateral include various types of
fixed and adjustable rate loans secured by mortgages on single-family residential real estate properties and fixed rate
loans secured by second trust deeds on single-family residential real estate properties. Premiums and discounts, which
may result from the purchase or acquisition of mortgage loans in excess of the outstanding principal balance, are
amortized to interest income over their estimated lives using the interest method as an adjustment to the carrying
amount of the loan. Prepaid securitization costs related to the issuance of CMOs are amortized to interest expense over
their estimated lives using the interest method. Mortgage loans are continually evaluated for collectibility and, if
appropriate, the mortgage loans may be placed on non-accrual status, generally when the mortgage is 90 days past due,
and previously accrued interest reversed from income. Cther than temporary impairment in the carrying value of
mortgage loans held-for-investment, if any, will be recognized as a reduction to current operations.

5. Finance Receivables

Finance receivables represent transactions with customers, including affiliated companies, involving residential
real estate lending. As a warehouse lender, the Company is a secured creditor of the mortgage bankers and brokers to
which it extends credit and is subject to the risks inherent in that status including, the risk of borrower default and
bankruptcy. Any claim of the Company as a secured lender in a bankruptcy proceeding may be subject to adjustment
and delay. The Company’s finance receivables represent warehouse lines of credit with mortgage banking companies
collateralized by mortgage loans on single family residences. Finance receivables are stated at the principal balance
outstanding. Interest income is recorded on the accrual basis in accordance with the terms of the loans. Finance
receivables are continually evaluated for collectibility and, if appropriate, the receivable is placed on non-accrual status,
generally when 90 days past due. Future collections of interest income are included in interest income or applied to the
loan balance based on an assessment of the likelihood that the loans will be repaid.

6. Allowance for Loan Losses

The Company maintains an allowance for losses on mortgage loans held-for-investment, collateral for CMOs, and
finance receivables at an amount which it believes is sufficient to provide adequate protection against future losses in
the mortgage loan investment portfolio. The allowance for losses is determined primarily on management’s judgment of
net loss potential including specific allowances for known impaired loans, changes in the nature and volume of the
portfolio, value of the collateral and current economic conditions that may affect the borrowers’ ability to pay. A
provision is recorded for loans deemed to be uncollectible thereby increasing the allowance for loan losses. Subsequent
recoveries on mortgage loans previously charged off are credited back to the allowance.



IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. Premises and Equipment

Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation or amortization. Depreciation on
premises and equipment is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of individual assets,
typically, three to twenty years.

8. CMO Borrowings

The Company issues CMOs, which are primarily secured by non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans on single-
family residential real property, as a means of financing its long-term investment operations. CMOs are carried at their
outstanding principal balances including accrued interest on such obligations. For accounting and tax purposes,
mortgage loans financed through the issuance of CMOs are treated as assets of the Company and the CMOs are treated
as debt of the Company. Each issue of CMOs is fully payable from the principal and interest payments on the
underlying mortgage loans collateralizing such debt and any investment income on such collateral. The Company’s
CMOs typically are structured as one-month London interbank offered rate (LIBOR) “floaters” and fixed rate securities
with interest payable monthly. The maturity of each class of CMO is directly affected by the rate of principal
prepayments on the related CMO collateral. Each CMO series is also subject to redemption according to specific terms
of the respective indentures. As a result, the actual maturity of any class of a CMO series is likely to occur earlier than
the stated maturities of the underlying mortgage loans.

9. Income Taxes

IMH operates so as to qualify as a REIT under the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code (the Code).
Requirements for qualification as a REIT include various restrictions on ownership of IMH’s stock, requirements
“concerning distribution of taxable income and certain restrictions on the nature of assets and sources of income. A REIT
must distribute at least 90% of its taxable income to its stockholders of which 85% must be distributed within the
taxable year in order to avoid the imposition of an excise tax and the remaining balance may extend until timely filing
of its tax return in its subsequent taxable year. Qualifying distributions of its taxable income are deductible by a REIT in
computing its taxable income. If in any tax year IMH should not qualify as a REIT, it would be taxed as a corporation
and distributions to the stockholders would not be deductible in computing taxable income. If IMH were to fail to
qualify as a REIT in any tax year, it would not be permitted to qualify for that year and the succeeding four years. As of
December 31, 2001, the Company has federal net operating loss carryovers of $21.5 million which expire in the year
2020 and state net operating loss carryovers of $21.5 million which expire in the year 2010 that are available to offset
future taxable income.

10. Net Earnings (Loss) per Share

Basic net earnings (loss) per share are computed on the basis of the weighted average number of shares outstanding
for the year divided by net earnings (loss) for the year. Diluted net earnings (loss) per share are computed on the basis of
the weighted average number of shares and dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding for the year divided by net
earnings (loss) for the year.

11. Stock Options

Stock options and awards may be granted to the directors, officers and key employees of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, to the directors, officers and key employees of IFC. The exercise price for any NQSO or ISO granted under
the Stock Option Plans may not be less than 100% (or 110% in the case of ISOs granted to an employee who is deemed
to own in excess of 10% of the outstanding common stock) of the fair market value of the shares of common stock at
the time the NQSO or ISO is granted. Grants under their stock option plans are made and administered by the board of
directors.
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by SFAS No.
137 and SFAS No. 138, collectively, SFAS 133. SFAS 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards for
derivative instruments, including a number of derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, collectively referred
to as derivatives, and for hedging activities. It requires that an entity recognize all derivatives as either assets or
liabilities in the statement of financial position and measure those instruments at fair value. If specific conditions are
met, a derivative may be specifically designated as (1) a2 hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value of a
recognized asset or liability or an unrecognized firm comm:itment; (2) a hedge of the exposure to variable cash flows of
a forecasted transaction; or (3) a hedge of the foreign currency exposure of a net investment in a foreign operation, an
unrecognized firm commitment, an available for sale security or a foreign-currency-denominated forecasted transaction.

On January 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS 133 and the fair market value of derivative instruments are
reflected on the Company's financial statements. On August 10, 2001, the Derivatives Implementation Group (DIG) of
the FASB published DIG G20, which further interpreted 3FAS 133. On October 1, 2001, the Company adopted the
provisions of DIG G20 and net income and accumulated other comprehensive income were adjusted by the amount
needed to reflect the cumulative impact of adopting the provisions of DIG G20.

The Company follows a hedging program intended to limit its exposure to changes in interest rates primarily
associated with its CMO borrowings. The Company's primary objective is to hedge its exposure to the variability in
future cash flows attributable to the variability of one-month LIBOR, which is the underlying index of its CMO
borrowings. The Company also monitors on an ongoing basis the prepayment risks that arise in fluctuating interest rate
environments. The Company's hedging program is formulated with the intent to offset the potential adverse effects of
changing interest rates on CMO borrowings resulting from the following:

¢ interest rate adjustment limitations on mortgage loans due to periodic and lifetime interest rate cap features;
and

» mismatched interest rate adjustment periods of mortgage loans and CMO borrowings.

The Company primarily acquires for long-term investment six-month LIBOR ARMs and hybrid ARMs. Six-month
LIBOR ARMs are generally subject to periodic and lifetime interest rate caps. This means that the interest rate of each
ARM is limited to upwards or downwards movements o2 its periodic interest rate adjustment date, generally six
months, or over the life of the mortgage loan. Periodic caps limit the maximum interest rate change, which can occur
on any interest rate change date to generally a maximum cf 1% per semiannual adjustment. Also, each ARM has a
maximum lifetime interest rate cap. Generally, borrowings are not subject to the same periodic or lifetime interest rate
limitations. During a period of rapidly increasing or decreasing interest rates, financing costs would increase or
decrease at a faster rate than the periodic interest rate adjusiments on mortgage loans would allow, which could effect
net interest income. In addition, if market rates were to exceed the maximum interest rates of our ARMs, borrowing
costs would increase while interest rates on ARMs would remain constant.

The Company's mortgage loan portfolio is also subject to basis risk as the basis, or interest rate index, of mortgage
loans and borrowings are tied to different interest indices. Jor instance, six-month LIBOR ARMs are indexed to six-
month LIBOR while CMO and reverse repurchase borrowings are indexed to one-month LIBOR. Therefore, the
Company receives interest income based on six-month LIBOR plus a spread but pays interest expense based on one-
month LIBOR plus a spread. These indices typically move ir: unison but may vary in unequal amounts.

The Company's mortgage loan portfolio is subject to risk from the mismatched nature of interest rate adjustment
periods on mortgage loans and interest rates on the related torrowings. Six-month LIBOR mortgage loans can adjust
upwards or downwards every six months, subject to periodic cap limitations, while adjustable rate CMO borrowings
adjust every month. Additionally, the Company has hybrid ARMs which have an initial fixed interest rate period
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generally ranging from two to three years, and to a lesser extent five years, which subsequently convert to six-month
LIBOR ARMs. Again, during a rapidly increasing or decreasing interest rate environment, financing costs would
increase or decrease miore rapidly than would interest rates on mortgage loans, which would remain fixed until their
next interest rate adjustment date.

To mitigate exposure to the effect of changing interest rates on CMO borrowings, the Company purchases
derivative instruments in the form of interest rate cap agreements, or caps, interest rate floor agreements, or floors, and
interest rate swap agreements, or swaps. The Company also simultaneously purchases caps and floors, which are
referred to as collars. These derivative instruments are referred to collectively as interest rate hedges, or hedges. An
interest rate cap or floor is a contractual agreement for which the Company pays a fee. If prevailing interest rates reach
levels specified in the cap or floor agreement, the Company may either receive or pay cash. An interest rate swap is
generally a contractual agreement that obligates one party to receive or make cash payments based on an adjustable rate
index and the other party to receive or make cash payments based on a fixed rate. Swap agreements have the effect of
fixing borrowing costs on a similar amount of swaps and, as a result, the Company can reduce the interest rate
variability of borrowings. The Company's objective is to lock in a reliable stream of cash flows when interest rates fall
below or rise above certain levels. For instance, when interest rates rise, borrowing costs increase at greater speeds than
the underlying collateral supporting the borrowings. These derivative instruments hedge the variability of forecasted
cash flows attributable to CMO borrowings and protect net interest income by providing cash flows at certain triggers
during changing interest rate environments. In all hedging transactions, counterparties must have a AAA credit rating
as determined by various credit rating agencies.

Caps qualify as derivative instruments under provisions of SFAS 133. The hedging instrument is the specific
LIBOR cap that is hedging the LIBOR based CMO borrowings. The nature of the risk being hedged is the variability of
the cash flows associated with the LIBOR borrowings. Prior to the adoption of DIG G20, the Company assessed the
hedging effectiveness of its caps utilizing only the intrinsic value of the caps. DIG G20 allows the Company to utilize
the terminal value of the caps to assess effectiveness. DIG G20 also aliows the Company to amortize the initial fair
value of the caps over the life of the caps based on the maturity date of the individual caplets. Upon adoption of DIG
G20, net income and accumulated other comprehensive income were adjusted by the amount needed to reflect the
cumulative impact of adopting the provisions of DIG G20. Subsequent to the adoption of DIG G20, caps are considered
effective hedges and are marked to market each reporting period with the entire change in market value being
recognized in other comprehensive income on the balance sheet.

Floors, swaps and collars qualify as cash flow hedges under the provisions of SFAS 133. The hedging instrument
is the specific LIBOR floor, swap or collar that is hedging the LIBOR based CMQ borrowings. The nature of the risk
being hedged is the variability of the cash flows associated with the LIBOR borrowings. Prior to DIG G20, these
derivatives were marked to market with the entire change in the market value of the intrinsic component recognized in
other comprehensive income on the balance sheet each reporting period. The time value component of these
agreements were marked to market and recognized in non-interest expense on the statement of operations. Subsequent
to the adoption of DIG G20, these derivatives are marked to market with the entire change in the market value
recognized in other comprehensive income on the balance sheet.

Effectiveness of the hedges is measured by the fact that both the hedged item, CMO borrowings, and the hedging
instrument is based on one-month LIBOR. As both instruments are tied to the same index, the hedge is expected to be
highly effective both at inception and on an ongoing basis. The Company assesses the effectiveness and ineffectiveness
of the hedging instruments at the inception of the hedge and at each reporting period. Based on the fact that, at
inception, the critical terms of the hedges and forecasted CMO borrowings are the same, the Company has concluded
that the changes in cash flows attributable to the risk being hedged are expected to be completely offset by the hedging
derivatives, subject to subsequent assessments that the critical terms have not changed.
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13. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2000, FASB issued SFAS No. 140 (SFAS 140) to replace SFAS No. 125, “Accounting for Transfers
and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities.” SFAS 140 provides the accounting and
reporting guidance for transfers and servicing of financial assets and extinguishments of liabilities. SFAS 140 will be
the authoritative accounting literature for: (1) securitization ‘ransactions involving financial assets; (2) sales of financial
assets, including loan participations; (3) factoring transactions, (4) wash sales; (5) servicing assets and liabilities; (6)
collateralized borrowing arrangements; (7) securities lending transactions; (8) repurchase agreements; and (9)
extinguishment of liabilities. The accounting provisions arz effective after March 31, 2001. The reclassification and
disclosure provisions are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2001. The Company adopted the
disclosure required by SFAS 140 and has included all appropriate and necessary disclosures required by SFAS 140 in
its financial statements and footnotes. The adoption of the accounting provision did not have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet or results of operations.

Note B—Investment Securities Available-for-Sale

The Company’s mortgage-backed securities are primerily secured by conventional, one-to-four family mortgage
loans. The yield to maturity on each security depends on, among other things, the rate and timing of principal payments,
including prepayments, repurchases, defaults and liquidations, the pass-through rate, and interest rate fluctuations. The
Company’s interest in these securities is subordinated so that, in the event of a loss, payments to senior certificate
holders will be made before the Company receives its payments. During 2000, the Company wrote-off $52.6 million of
investment securities available-for-sale that were investment securities secured by high loan-to-value second trust
deeds, franchise mortgage receivables and certain sub-prim: subordinated securities all of which were acquired prior to
1998. Subsequent to 1997, the Company has only acquired or invested in securities that are secured by mortgage loans
underwritten and purchased by the Company’s mortgage operations. During the years ended December 31, 2001 and
2000, IMH did not acquire any mortgage-backed securities. During the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, the
Company sold investment securities with a carrying value of $3.6 million and $5.7 million, respectively.

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of mortgage-backed securities available-for-sale are presented as
follows:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gain Loss Fair Value
(in thousands)

At December 31, 2001:

‘Mortgage-backed SECUTILIES.......c.eerevervicerirerieererirenreneereaneees $ 26,661 § 7,286 $ 958 $ 32,989
At December 31, 2000:

Mortgage-backed SECUTItIES . .....coovvrrirerrerererererererec e, $ 37,920 $ 2245 § 3244 § 36,921

To determine the fair value of investment securities, tie Company must estimate future rates of loan prepayments,
prepayment penalties to be received, delinguency rates, constant defauit rates and default loss severity and their impact
on estimated cash flows. At December 31, 2001, the Company used a 0.30% to 6.2% constant default rate estimate with
a 10% to 20% loss severity resulting in loss estimates of (.03% to 1.24%. These estimates are based on historical loss
data for comparable loans. The Company estimates prepeyments by evaluating historical prepayment performance of
comparable mortgage loans and trends in the industry. At December 31, 2001, the Company used a constant
prepayment assumption of 18% to 50% to estimate the prepayment characteristics of the underlying collateral. The
Company determines the estimated fair value of the residnals by discounting the expected cash flows using a discount
rate, which it believes is commensurate with the risks involved. At December 31, 2001, the Company used a weighted
average discount rate of approximately 8.09%.
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Retained Interests in Securitizations

From time to time, IMH retains interests in mortgage-backed securities created through the issuance of REMICs by
IFC. IMH uses certain assumptions and estimates in determining the fair value allocated to the retained interest at the
time of initial sale and each subsequent sale in accordance with SFAS 140. These assumptions and estimates include
projections for loan prepayment rates, constant default rates and loss severity commensurate with the risks involved.
These assumptions are reviewed periodically by management. [f these assumptions change, the related asset and income
would be affected. During 2001 and 2000, IMH retained no interests in securitizations created through the issuance of
REMICs by IFC. Key economic assumptions used in measuring the retained interests are as follows:

At At
At time of December 31, December 31,
securitization 2001 2000
Prepayment SPeed.........coeeieivrerereieniieei ettt svenes 16 - 50% 18 -50% 15-65%
LLOSS SEVETILY ..orereverereiierecrerersieststeeetesaeienteracraressasnesensseesessesnes 10-100% 10-130% 8§-18%
Constant default rate..........ooeevvviireicei i eve e 0.01-1% 0.30-62% 0.50-1.0%

The following table presents key economic assumptions and the sensitivity of the current fair value of residual cash
flows on investment securities available-for-sale to immediate 10% and 20% adverse changes in those assumptions
{dollars in thousands):

At December 31,
2001 2000

Carrying amount of investment SECUTITIES ......cc.vvveerricrereisrenicec et e $ 22,297 $ 22,120
Estimated fair value of INVESIMENT SECUTTHES .....cveovviviirereiirrceeeieste et eerrereeereeneneae $ 22,297 $ 20,503
Prepayment Speed Assumptions: 15.2-60 % 15-65 %
Decline in fair value of 10% adverse Change ...........ocoovevivevecieiee et $ (812) § (2,488)
Decline in fair value of 20% adverse change .........c.ccoceeceveerrieenneneecceneasersessane § (1,494 § (3,319
Loss Severity Assumptions: 11-156 % 8§-18%
Decline in fair value of 10% adverse Change ...........ccooveceeeeeriorerimeeeeiiorenneiasernenenies 3 (46) § (1,679
Decline in fair value of 20% adverse Change .............coccoeveeerieicrer e e sseeeseseenns 3 (100) $ (1,752).
Constant Default Rate Assumptions: ‘ 033-744% 0.50-1%
Decline in fair value of 10% adverse change ...............c.cvcveenen. et srereraons $ (706) $ (1,688)
Decline in fair value 0f 20% adverse Change.............ccoccoeeeeeririveneeienircieseneesereeraeenes $ (926) $ (1,778)

These sensitivities are hypothetical and should be used with caution. As the figures indicate, changes in fair value
based on a 10% and 20% variation in assumptions generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the
change in the assumption to the change in fair value may not be linear. Also, the effect of a variation in a particular
assumption on the fair value of the retained interest is calculated without changing any other assumption; in reality,
changes in one factor may result in changes in another, for example, increases in market interest rates may result in
lower prepayments and increased credit losses, which might magnify or counteract the sensitivities.

Quantitative information about delinquencies, credit losses and cash flows related to retained interests are presented
as follows (dollars in thousands):

At December 31,
2001 2000
NEL CIEAIL LOSSES ...vveeveereeitereciiereee et eetev it ettt et sttt sen s e e ees s ssarensasensenesen $ 58 % 936
ACTURL 10SSES 10 ALE .....ovvveverrisrsrereieeiseseesmssesesseress st sss e eseess st eesess s sssessessanssesee 3.01% 3.39%
Projected 1055eS OVer Life.......cocuiiieircrrnccr st 1.14% 1.71%

Cash flows received on retained IMEETESES .......c.eeereeerieeereieteeeeeee e e ereeetestesesseesresans $ 2,224 $ 5078
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Note C—Mortgage Loans Held-for-Investment

Mortgage loans held-for-investment include various types of adjustable rate [oans and fixed rate loans secured by
mortgages on single-family residential real estate properties. During the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, IMH
purchased $1.5 billion and $454.0 million, respectively, of mortgage loans from IFC. At December 31, 2001 and 2000,
approximately 28% and 27%, respectively, of mortgage loans held-for-investment were collateralized by properties
located in California. Mortgage loans held-for-investment consisted of the following:

At December 31,
2001 2000
(in thousands)
Fixed rate loans secured by second trust deeds on single-family residential real estate. § 20,211 § 1,061
Adjustable rate loans secured by single-family residential real estate...........cccoccennnne. 6,875 15,867
Unamortized net discounts on mortgage I0ans ..........oveeeeeievcerermeeveriseencnesscseneceenans (8) (208)

$ 20,078 $ 16,720

At December 31, 2001, and 2000 there were $9.3 million and $13.4 million, respectively, of mortgage loans held-
for-investment which were not accruing interest due to the delinquent nature of the mortgage loans. If interest on such
loans had been accrued for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, interest income would have increased
by $563,000, $1.0 million, and $538,000, respectively.

Note D—CMO Collateral

The long-term investment operations earns the net interest spread between the interest income on the mortgage
loans securing the CMOs and the interest and other expenses associated with CMO financing. Interest income is
reduced by the amortization of loan premiums while interest expense includes the amortization of securitization costs,
which are incurred in obtaining CMO financing. The net interest spread on CMOs may be directly impacted by
prepayment levels of the underlying mortgage loans, and, o the extent each CMO class has variable rates of interest,
may be affected by changes in short-term interest rates.

CMO collateral includes various types of fixed and adjustable rate loans secured by mortgages on single-family
residential real estate properties and fixed rate loans secured by second trust deeds on single-family residential real
estate properties. During the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, $1.501 billion and $943.6 million, respectively,
of CMOs were issued and collateralized by $1.513 billion and $952.8 million, respectively, of mortgage loans. At
December 31, 2001 and 2000, approximately 63% and 53%, respectively, of CMO coliateral was collateralized by
properties located in California. At December 31, 200! and 2000, the underlying principal balance of mortgages
supporting CMO borrowings of $2.2 billion and $1.3 billion, respectively, which represented approximately $2.2 billion
and $1.3 billion, respectively, of adjustable and fixed rate mortgage loans with varying grade quality and approximately
$24.9 million and $66.1 million, respectively, of second mortgage loans. Collateral for CMOs consisted of the

following:

At December 31,
2001 2000
' (in thousands)
Adjustable and fixed rate loans secured by single-family residential real estate............ $ 2,161,645 § 1,267,350
Fixed rate loans secured by second trust deeds on single-family residential real estate. 24,916 66,138
Unamortized net premitms 0N LOAIS ..ovicviereiieeiciciers e vt evacrevaeasessarane e reneresneas 35,397 22,758
Capitalized SECUTItIZAtION COSLS......c.iviirererierieie st ee st bevencsseerssessassesssnssraens 11,582 14,123
Fair value of hedging inStrUMeNnts .......cco.ooeeiiviiiririeieiere et seres et saeresees s erssessesenses (4,372) 2,627

$ 2,229,168 $ 1,372,996
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Note E—Finance Receivables

The terms of IWLG’s affiliated warehouse lines are based on Bank of America’s prime rate, which was 4.75% and
9.50% as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, with advance rates between 75% and 99% of the fair value of
the mortgage loans outstanding. The terms of IWLG’s non-affiliated warehouse lines, including the maximum
warehouse line amount and interest rate, are determined based upon the financial strength, historical performance and
other qualifications of the borrower. The warehouse lines have maturities that range from on-demand to one year and
are generally collateralized by mortgages on single-family residential real estate. At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the
Company had $1.7 billion and $1.0 billion, respectively, of warehouse lines of credit available to 57 and 55 borrowers,
respectively, of which $466.6 million and $405.4 million, respectively, was outstanding. IWLG finances its warehouse
lending operations through reverse repurchase agreements and equity. Finance receivables consisted of the following:

At December 31,
2001 2000
(in thousands)
Due from other mortgage banking COmMpanies.............covveenirrenene i ecrieeennc e $ 300,571 8 138,405
Due fTOm TFC ..ottt ettt s s et b ssabe e enrenanas 106,940 219,102
Due from Impac Lending Group (ILG) ...ocvovvvriceiriirceeierierecvnnrecvvcisvvsonnen 34,907 47,931
Due from Novelle Financial Services, Inc. (NFS)......cc.cocoovriirivvricrin e cenennens 24,231 ~—

$ 466,649 § 405,438

Note F—Allowance for Joan losses

Activity for allowance for loan losses was as follows: '
For the year ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(in thousands)
Balance, beginning 0f YEaT....c...coccvevieereiveeiececnee e eesasssseanse v tarasee e $ 509 $ 4029 $ 6,959
Provision for 10an JOSSES.......ccoiiieiiveiiir ittt sr e sessn et es 16,813 18,839 5,547
Charge-offs, net Of TECOVEIIES. ... .coovvvvieieereeceicecec et e (9,339) (16,496) (7,152)
Loss on sale of delinquent [0ANS ............ccooeiroerieerieiicceecnceeee e (872) (1,282) (1,325)
Balance, end OF YEAT .....ccvvevinvvcieeicie ettt ettt $ 11692 $ 5090 $ 4,029

Note G—Reverse repurchase agreements

The Company enters into reverse repurchase agreements with major brokerage firms to finance its warehouse
lending operations and to fund the purchase of mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities. Mortgage loans and
mortgage-backed securities underlying reverse repurchase agreements are delivered to dealers that arrange the
transactions. The Company’s reverse repurchase agreements are uncommitted lines, which may be withdrawn at any
time by the lender, with interest rates that range from one-month LIBOR plus 0.85% to 2.00% depending on the type of
collateral provided.

Prior to October of 1999, the Company used reverse repurchase agreements to fund the purchase of its mortgage-
backed securities and to provide the Company additional working capital. In October of 1999, the Company repaid
short-term reverse repurchase agreements secured by mortgage-backed securities with long-term financing on a portion
of its mortgage-backed securities portfolio (see Note [-Borrowings Secured by Investment Securities Available-for-
Sale). The Company’s interest expense on reverse repurchase agreements to fund the purchase of its mortgage loans for
the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $30.8 million, $39.2 million, and $22.5 million, respectively.
The Company’s interest expense on borrowings secured by investment securities available-for-sale for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $2.6 million, $3.2 million, and $686,000, respectively. The following tables
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present information regarding the Company’s reverse repurchase agreements as of December 31, 2001 and 2000
(dollars in thousands):

Reverse
Type of Repurchase Underlying Maturity
Collateral Committed _ Liability Collateral Date
December 31, 2001 ................ Mortgages No $ 469491 $ 489,113 N/A
December 31, 2000................ Mortgages No $ 398653 $§ 414,748 N/A

At December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2000, reverse repurchase agreements includes accrued interest payable
of $488,000 and $2.1 million, respectively. The following table presents certain information on reverse repurchase

agreements, excluding accrued interest payable:
For the year ended
December 31,

2001 2000

(dollars in thousands)
Maximum month-end outstanding balance............o.cceeicvererenenns e § 663,306 $ 832,758
Average balance outStanding............coceeeenieiniiiecn e 580,605 513,987
Weighted aVETage TAte .....oveieiiiiie e et e et 5.31% 7.63%

Note H—CMO Borrowings

The Company’s CMOs are guaranteed for the holders by a mortgage loan insurer giving the CMOs the highest
rating established by a nationally recognized rating agency. Each issue of CMOs is fully payable from the principal and
interest payments on the underlying mortgage loans collateralizing such debt, any cash or other collateral required to be
pledged as a condition to receiving the desired rating on the debt, and any investment income on such collateral.
Variable rate CMOs are typically structured as one-month 1LIBOR “floaters.” Interest on variable and fixed rate CMOs
is payable to the certificate holders monthly. The Company completed $1.5 billion and 943.6 million in CMOs during
the vears ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999,
interest expense on CMO borrowings was $77.8 million, $80.3 million, and $65.2 million, respectively. The following
table presents CMOs issued, CMOs outstanding as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and certain interest rate
information (dollars in millions):
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Range of Range of
CMOs Range of Interest Rate Interest Rate
) ‘ Outstanding Fixed Margins Over Optional Margins After
Issue Issuance as of Interest One-Month Redemption Adjustment
Date Issnance Name Amount  12/31/01 12/31/00  Rates (%) LIBOR (%) Date Date (%)
01/27/98 Impac CMB
Trust Series 1998-1 ..... 362.8 91.7 145.5 6.65-7.25 N/A N/A N/A
03/24/98 Impac CMB :
Trust Series 1998-2 ..... 220.2 62.2 95.8 6.70-7.25 N/A N/A N/A
02/23/99 Impac CMB
Trust Series 1999-1 ..... 183.1 —_ 102.1 N/A 0.40-0.63  3/2006 " 0.80-1.26
06/24/99 Impac CMB
Trust Series 1999-2 ... 115.0 36.1 89.7 N/A 037  7/2006 0.74
01/25/06 Impac CMB
Trust Series 2000-1 ..... 452.0 2038 371.3 N/A 0.32-2.40 2/2010® 0.64-3.60
11/21/00 Impac CMB
Trust Series 2000-2 ..... 4916  303.2 484.5 N/A 0.26-1.90 12/2010 @ 0.52-2.85
05/23/01 Impac CMB
Trust Series 2001-1 ..... 3578 3255 — N/A 0.28-2.00 62011 @ 0.56-3.00
08/27/01 Impac CMB
Trust Series 2001-2 ..... 400.5  386.6 — N/A 028-1.90 920119 0.56-2.85
10/25/01 Impac CMB
Trust Series 2001-3 ..... 397.0 3948 — N/A 0.37-2.00 112011 @ 0.74-3.00
12/17/01 Impac CMB
Trust Series 2001-4 ... 345.6 3456 — N/A 042230 1/2012@ 0.84-3.45
3,325.6 2,1495 1,288.9
Accrued interest........... — 1.9 2.4

$3,325.6 $2,1514 $1,291.3

(1) The optional redemption date is determined upon the earlier of (a) the payment date on which the sum of the
aggregate principal balance of the bonds is less than or equal to 25% of the original bond balance at cut-off date or
(b) the date indicated.

(2) The optional redemption date is determined upon the earlier of (a) the payment date on which the sum of the
aggregate principal balance of the bonds is less than or equal to 20% of the original bond balance at cut-off date or
(b) the date indicated. '

Note I—Borrowings Secured by Investment Securities Available-for-Sale

In October 1999, the Company completed a re-securitization of a portion of its investment securities available-for-
sale portfolio, which raised additional cash liquidity for the Company of approximately $23.4 million, at the time of
execution, after repaying reverse repurchase agreements collateralized by the investment securities available-for-sale.
As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, there was $13.0 million and $21.1 million, respectively, outstanding on the
borrowings, which were secured by $23.9 and $21.9 million, respectively, of investment securities available-for-sale.
The outstanding borrowings are principal only notes with remaining discounts of $3.5 million and $5.7 million as of
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The notes represent senior or subordinated interests in trust funds primarily
consisting of a pool of mortgage loans and are non-recourse obligations of the Company. The terms of the notes are
dependent on the cash flows from the underlying certificates.
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Note J—Senior Subordinated Debentures

In March 1999, certain stockholders of the Company exchanged 1,359,507 shares of their common stock, at an
average price of $5.70 per share, for 11% senior subcrdinated debentures due to mature on February 15, 2004. The
debentures were issued at a discount and amortized to interest expense over the life of the debentures on a straight-line
basis. On June 20, 2001, the Company retired its senior subordinated debentures and wrote-oft $1.0 million of discounts
and securitization costs related to the debentures. Senior subordinated debentures consisted of the following:

At December 31,
2001 2000
(in thousands)
11% senior subordinated debentures ................ccooiriiireoieee e e $ — $ 7,747
Discount on senior subordinated debentures ............c...ccovvnreieneireeeiseeesieeeenienan — (768)
5 — $ 6,979

Note K—Segment Reporting
The Company internally reviews and analyzes its operating segments as follows:

» the long-term investment operations, conducted by IMH and IMH Assets, invests primarily in non-conforming Alt-
A residential mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities secured by or representing interests in such loans and
in second mortgage loans;

¢ the warehouse lending operations, conducted by IWLG, provides warehouse and repurchase financing to affiliated
companies and to approved mortgage banks, most of which are correspondents of IFC, to finance mortgage loans;
and

e the mortgage operations, conducted by IFC, ILG and NFS, purchases and originates non-conforming Alt-A
mortgage loans and second mortgage loans from its network of third party correspondent sellers, mortgage brokers
and retail customers. :

The following table presents reporting segments as of and for the year ended December 31, 2001 (in thousands):

Long-Term Warehouse
Investment Lending (a)
Opsrations  Operations _Eliminations Consolidated

Balance Sheet Items:

CMO collateral $2,229,168 §$ — — $ 2,229,168
Total assets 2,490,564 543,536 (179,366) 2,854,734
Total stockholders’ equity 209,794 72,763 (179,192) 203,365
Income Statement Items:
Interest income 122,502 42,463 (8,350) 156,615
Interest expense 89,485 30,877 (8,350) 112,012
Equity in net earnings of IFC (b) — — 10,912 10,912
Net earnings 11,799 10,467 10,912 33,178
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The following table presents reporting segments as of and for the year ended December 31, 2000 (in thousands):

Long-Term Warehouse
Investment Lending (a)
Operations  Operations Eliminations Consolidated

Balance Sheet Items:

CMO collateral $1,372,996 $ — 5 — $ 1,372,996
Total assets 1,590,776 461,211 (153,149) 1,898,838
Total stockholders’ equity 262,416 62,296 (146,272) 178,440
Income Statement Items:
Interest income 104,591 53,940 (11,452) 147,079
Interest expense 96,325 39,223 (11,452) 124,096
Equity in net loss of IFC (b) — — (1,762) (1,762)
Net earnings (loss) (66,163) 13,612 (1,682) (54,233)

The following table presents reporting segments as of and for the year ended December 31, 1999 (in thousands):

Long-Term  Warehouse
Investment Lending (c) (a)
Operations  Operations _ Other  Eliminations Consolidated

Balance Sheet Items:

CMO collateral $ 949,677 $ — $ — S — $ 949,677
Total assets 1,545,283 588,448 2,945 (461,246) 1,675,430
Total stockholders’ equity . 294,852 48,684 — (104,692) 238,844
Income Statement Items:
Interest income 91,965 31,998 21 (4,526) 119,458
Interest expense 72,704 21,612 5 (4,526) 89,795
Equity in net earnings of IFC (b) — — — 4,292 4,292
Net earnings 6,828 9,939 41 5,509 22,317

(a) Elimination of intersegment balance sheet and income statement items.

(b) The mortgage operations is accounted for using the equity method and is an unconsolidated subsidiary of the
Company

(c) Primarily includes the operations of Dove St. LLC, of which the Company owned a 50% interest, and account
reclassifications

Note L—Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The estimated fair value amounts have been determined by IMH using available market information and
appropriate valuation methodologies, however, considerable judgment is necessarily required to interpret market data to
develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented are not necessarily indicative of the amounts
IMH could realize in a current market exchange. The use of different market assumptions and/or estimation
methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.
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December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Assets (in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents ..............ccocov oo $ 51,887 § 51,887 § 17,944 § 17,944
Investment securities available-for-sale .....................occevee . 32,989 32,989 36,921 36,921
CMO collateral, including allocated derivative assets............ 2,229,168 2,339,558 1,372,996 1,365,893
Finance receivables ..........cooimiiceeiveoe e 466,649 466,649 405,438 405,438
Mortgage loans held-for-investment............ccccoeeeiiiiiiecennnnns 20,078 12,991 16,720 14,698
Due from affiliates............ccooveovieieeiiriiceecece e 14,500 14,500 14,500 14,500
Derivative @SSEIS...c.uuveeeiiiveeceie e e e ettt e et 5,128 5,128 6,795 1,006
Liabilities

CMO borrowings, excluding accrued interest ............c.......... 2,149,545 2,147,391 1,288,901 1,294,545
Reverse-repurchase agreements, excluding accrued interest.. 469,003 469,003 396,572 396,572
Borrowings secured by investment securities available-for-sale. 12,997 12,607 21,124 17,744
Senior subordinated debentures..........cooeevieveieeiini e, — — 6,979 4,955

The fair value estimates as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 are based on pertinent information available to
management as of that date. Although management is nct aware of any factors that would significantly affect the
estimated fair value amounts, such amounts have not been comprehensively revalued for purposes of these consolidated
financial statements since those dates and, therefore, current estimates of fair value may differ significantly from the
amounts presented.

The following describes the methods and assumptions "1sed by IMH in estimating fair values:

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Fair value approximates carrying amounts as these instruments are demand deposits and money market mutual
funds and do not present unanticipated interest rate or credit concerns.

Investment Securities Available-for-Sale

Fair value is estimated using a bond model, which incorporates certain assumptions such as prepayment, yield and
losses.

CMO Collateral
Fair value is estimated based on quoted market prices from dealers and brokers for similar types of mortgage loans.
Finance Receivables

“Fair value approximates carrying amounts due to the short-term nature of the assets and do not present
unanticipated interest rate or credit concerns.

Mortgage Loans Held-for-Investment

Fair value is estimated based on estimates of proceeds the Company would receive from the sale of the underlying
collateral of each loan.
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Due From / To Affiliates

Fair value approximates carrying amount because of the short-term maturity of the liabilities and does not present
unanticipated interest rate or credit concerns.

CMO Borrowings

Fair value of fixed rate borrowings is estimated based on the use of a bond model, which incorporates certain
assumptions such as prepayment, yield and losses.

Reverse Repurchase Agreements

Fair value approximates carrying amounts due to the short-term nature of the liabilities and do not present
unanticipated interest rate or credit concerns.

Borrowings Secured by Investment Securities Available-for-Sale

Fair value is estimated based on quoted market prices from dealers or brokers.
Senior Subordinated Debt

Fair value is estimated based on quoted market price from dealers or brokers.
Derivative Assets and Liabilities

Fair value is estimated based on quoted market prices from dealers or brokers.
Short-term Commitments to Extend Credit

The Company does not collect fees associated with its warehouse lines of credit. Accordingly, these commitments
do not have an estimated fair value.

Note M—Employee Benefit Plans
Profit Sharing and 401 (k) Plan

The Company does not have its own 401(K) or profit sharing plan. As such, employees of IWLG participate in
IFC’s 401(k) plan. Under IFC’s 401(k) plan, employees may contribute up to 15% of their salaries. IWLG will match
50% of the first 4% of employee contributions. Additional contributions may be made at the discretion of IWLG.
IWLG’s matching and discretionary contributions were not material for any period presented.

Note N—Related Party Transactions

Related Party Cost Allocations

In 1995, IMH entered into a services agreement with Imperial Credit Industries, Inc. (ICII) under which ICII
provided various services to the Company, including data processing, human resource administration, general ledger
accounting, check processing, remittance processing and payment of accounts payable. ICII charged fees for each of the
services based upon usage. ICII provided the Company with insurance coverage and self-insurance programs, including
health insurance. This services agreement was replaced with a new ICAI services agreement in December 1997, in
connection with termination of the Company’s management agreement with ICAIL Pursuant to the services agreement
with ICAI, ICAI provided the Company with certain human resource administration and data and phone communication
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services. On December 31, 2000, the Company did not rznew its services agreement with ICAI. The charge to the
Company for insurance coverage was based upon a pro rata portion of costs to ICII for its various policies. Total
charges to the Company for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 were $15,000, and $11,000, respectively.

During 1999, IMH and IWLG were allocated data processing, executive and operations management, and
accounting services that IFC incurred during the normal course of business per IFC’s submanagement agreement with
RALl Advisors Inc. (RAI). IFC, through RAI, charged Impac Commercial Holdings, Inc. (ICH) for management and
operating services based upon usage which management believes was reasonable. In May 1999, the submanagement
agreement with RAI was terminated and IFC entered into a new submanagement agreement with FIC Management,
Inc., pursuant to which IFC continue to provide services to ICH. This agreement expired in December 1999. IMH and
IWLG were allocated data processing, executive and operations management, and accounting services that IFC incurred
during the normal course of business under the Submanagement Agreement with RAI. IFC charged IMH and IWLG for
these services based upon usage, which management believes was reasonable. Total cost allocations charged to IMH
and IWLG by IFC for the year ended December 31, 1999 were $1.2 million.

IFC charges IMH and IWLG for management and operating services based upon usage which management
believes is reasonable. Total cost allocations charged by IFC to IMH and IWLG for the years ended December 31, 2001
and 2000 were $1.7 million and $1.5 mitlion, respectively.

Lease Agreement: IMH and IFC entered into a premises operating sublease agreement to rent approximately
74,000 square feet of office space in Newport Beach, California, for a ten-year term, which expires in May 2008 (see
Note O — Commitments and Contingencies). IMH and IFC pay monthly rental expenses and allocate the cost to
subsidiaries and affiliated companies on the basis of square footage occupied. The majority of occupancy charges
incurred were paid by IFC as most of the Company’s employ/ees are employed by the mortgage operations. Total rental
expense paid by IFC for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 were $2.0 million, $1.6 million, and $1.1
million, of which $121,000, $113,000, and $100,000, respectively, was charged to IWLG and IMH.

Credit Arrangements - Current

IFC maintains a $600.0 million uncommitted warehouse financing facility with IWLG. Advances under the
warehouse facility bears interest at Bank of America’s prim: rate minus 0.50%. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000,
amounts outstanding on IFC’s warehouse line with IWLG were $174.1 million and $267.0 million, respectively.
Interest expense recorded by IFC related to the warehouse line provided by IWLG for the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000, and 1999, was $18.4 million, $28.1 million, and $18.4 million, respectively.

During the normal course of business, the Company may advance or borrow funds on a short-term basis with
affiliated companies. Advances to affiliates are reflected as “Due from affiliates,” while borrowings are reflected as
“Due to affiliates” on the Company’s balance sheet. These siort-term advances and borrowings bear interest at a fixed
rate of 8.0% per annum. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, due from affiliates was none. Interest income recorded by
the Company related to short-term advances with affiliates for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 was
$122,000 $90,000, and $835,000, respectively. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, due to affiliates was none. Interest
expense recorded by the Company related to short-term borrowings with affiliates for the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1999 was $250,000, $25,000, and $399,000, respectively.

During 1999, IMH advanced $14.5 million in cash to [FC at an interest rate of 9.50% per annum due June 30,
2004, in exchange for an interest only note to fund the opzrations of IFC and other strategic opportunities deemed
appropriate by IFC. At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the arnount outstanding on the note was $14.5 million. Interest
income recorded by IMH related to the note as of December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 was $1.4 million, $1.4 million
and $696,000, respectively.
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Indebtedness of Management

In connection with the exercise of stock options by certain directors and employees of the Company, the Company
made loans secured by the related stock. The loans were made for a five-year term with a current interest rate of 4.23%.
Interest on the loans is payable quarterly upon receipt of the dividend payment and the interest rate is set annually by the
compensation committee. At each dividend payment date, 50% of excess quarterly stock dividends, after applying the
dividend payment to interest due, is required to reduce the principal balance outstanding on the loans. The interest rate
on these loans adjusts annually at the discretion of the board of directors. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, total
notes receivable from common stock sales was $920,000 and $902,000, respectively. Interest income recorded by the
Company related to the loans for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $39,000, $50,000, and
$41,000, respectively.

On December 10, 2001, IFC provided William B. Ashmore, President, Chief Operating Officer and Director of the
Company, with a $600,000 adjustable rate loan to provide mortgage financing with an initial interest rate of 4.13%. In
the opinion of management, the loan was in the ordinary course of business, substantially on the same terms, including
interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with unrelated persons.

Credit Arrangements - Expired

In January 1999, ILG obtained a warehouse financing facility with IWLG. Advances under the warehouse facility
bore interest at prime. As of December 31, 1999, amounts outstanding on ILG’s warehouse line with IWLG were $1.2
million. Interest expense recorded by ILG related to its warehouse line provided by IWLG for the year ended
December 31, 1999 was $293,000. At January 1, 2000, ILG became a division of IFC and borrowings from IWLG
were consolidated with IFC's borrowings.

IMH maintained an uncommitted warehouse line agreement with ICCC. The margins on the warehouse line
agreement were at 8% of the fair market value of the collateral provided. Advances under such warehouse facilities bore
interest at Bank of America’s prime rate. As of December 31, 1999, there were no finance receivables outstanding to
ICCC. Interest income recorded by IMH related to finance receivables due from ICCC for the year ended December 31,
1999 was $93,000.

IMH entered into a revolving credit arrangement with a commercial bank, which was an affiliate of ICII, whereby
IMH could borrow up to a maximum amount of $10.0 million for general working capital needs. The revolving credit
agreement was converted to a reverse repurchase agreement in October 1998. Advances under the reverse repurchase
agreement were at an interest rate of LIBOR plus 2.00%, with interest paid monthly. As of December 31, 1999, IMH
had no outstanding borrowings under the reverse repurchase arrangement. Interest expense recorded by IMH for the
year ended December 31, 1999 related to such advances was $348,000. This agreement was terminated in 1999.

Until March 31, 2000, IWLG maintained a warehouse financing facility with Walsh Securities, Inc. (WSI), a firm
affiliated with James Walsh, a director of the Company. Advances under the line of credit bore interest at a rate
determined at the time of each advance. As of December 31, 2000 and 1999, finance receivables outstanding to WSI
were none, and $48,000, respectively. Interest income recorded by IWLG related to finance receivables due from WSI
for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 was $1,000, and $729,000, respectively.

Transactions with IFC
Purchase of Mortgage-Backed Securities: During the year ended December 31, 1999, the Company purchased

$22.0 million of mortgage-backed securities issued by IFC for $18.3 million net of discounts of $3.7 million. During
2001 and 2000, the Company purchased no mortgage-backed securities from IFC.
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Purchase of Mortgage Loans: During the vears ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company purchased
mortgage loans from IFC having a principal balance of $1.5 billion and $450.7 million, respectively. The loans were
purchased with premiums of $24.4 million and $3.3 million, respectively. Servicing rights on all mortgages purchased
by IMH were retained by IFC.

Sub-Servicing Agreement: IFC acts as a servicer of mortgage loans acquired on a “servicing-released” basis by the
Company in its long-term investment operations pursuant to the terms of a Servicing Agreement, which became
effective on November 20, 1995. IFC subcontracts all of its servicing obligations under such loans to independent third
parties pursuant to sub-servicing agreements.

Note O—Commitments and Contingencies
Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk

IMH is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of business. Such
instruments include short-term commitments to extend credit to borrowers under warehouse lines of credit, which
involve elements of credit risk, lease commitments, and exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the
counterparties to the various agreements associated with loan purchases. Unless noted otherwise, IMH does not require
collateral or other security to support such commitmen's. The Company uses the same credit policies in making
commitments and conditional obligations as it does for on-balance sheet instruments.

Short-Term Loan Commitments

IWLG’s warehouse lending program provides secured short-term revolving financing to small-and medium-size
mortgage originators and affiliated companies to finance mortgages from the closing of the loans unmtil sold to
permanent investors. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company had 57 and 55 committed lines of credit,
respectively, extended in the aggregate principal amount of $1.7 billion and $1.0 billion, respectively.

Lease Commitments
The Company entered into a premises operating sublease agreement for approximately 74,000 square feet of office

space in Newport Beach, California which expires in May 2008. Minimum premises rental commitments under non-
cancelable leases are as follows (in thousands):

YRAT 2002 ...iiveiiiieie ittt rie st sttt s et et beses e re et e besaesat e b et R e R se b e s b e arerer e e ars $ 1,901
YEAT 2003 .ooeiie ettt e e et et e e ea ettt et et e eeeaeeeate et aeeaneseabesere e e treennns 1,946
YEAT 2004 ... ieeeeeeee ettt ettt et ettt ettt et rt e nasente e et ar s atssnns 1,990
YEAT 2003 .ottt ettt et e e a ettt e e e er e e et eeatbesibeeerateaeareees 2,035
YEAT 2006 ...oevveeiiiteirenee ettt et ee e et e s b e e sae et e st e s ean s e e eseeeeaneenneeertearssessaseerareeinen 2,080
Year 2007 and thereafler.........o..oiviiioeeeee ettt s se e eb e e b e sanen b eenees 3,017

Total 16aS€ COMMULIMENTS .......c.ovieeeeeeeee et eeee e eeeesae s resste s e sreesabesssananas $ 12,969

Rent expense associated with the premises operating lease is allocated between IMH, IWLG and IFC based on
square footage. IMH and IWLG’s combined portion of premises rental expense for the years ended December 31, 2001,
2000, and 1999 was $121,000, $113,000, and $100,000, respectively.

Loan Purchase Commitments
In the ordinary course of business, IFC is exposed to lability under representations and warranties made to

purchasers and insurers of mortgage loans and the purchasers of servicing rights. Under certain circumstances, IFC is
required to repurchase mortgage loans if there had been a breach of representations or warranties. IMH has guaranteed
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the performance obligation of IFC under such representation and warranties related to loans included in securitizations.
However, IMH does not anticipate nonperformance by such borrowers or counterparties.

Note P—Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

As the Company acquires and originates mortgage loans, it purchases caps at interest rate strike prices that are tied
to a forward yield curve to hedge forecasted borrowings. The Company purchases caps at strike prices over the one-
month LIBOR forward yield curve to correspond to CMO botrowing costs, which are indexed to one-month LIBOR. A
cap allows the yield on an ARM to rise in an increasing interest rate environment just as the cost of related borrowings
would rise as we receive cash payments if one-month LIBOR were to reach the contractual strike price of the cap. The
cap would provide protection for (1) periodic and lifetime cap limitations on the mortgage loan that are absent on the
related borrowings, and (2) mismatched interest rate adjustment periods. Simultaneously with the purchase of caps, the
Company may also sell floors, or collars, at interest rate strike prices that are below the one-month LIBOR forward
yield curve. The sale of a floor allows the Company to offset the cost that the Company pays for the cap. The
Company's yield on ARMs would decrease in a decreasing interest rate environment just as the cost of related
borrowings would decrease as the Company makes cash payments if one-month LIBOR were to reach the contractual
strike price of the floor. The Company also purchases swaps whereby it receives cash payments based on one-month
LIBOR and makes cash payments at a fixed rate. Swaps have the effect of fixing outstanding borrowing on a similar
notional amount of swaps and, as a result, can reduce the interest rate variability of borrowings. The purchase of caps,
collars and swaps allows the Company to protect net interest income during periods of increasing interest rates while
maintaining a steady stream of cash flows if interest rates decline.

At December 31, 2001, caps allocated to CMO borrowings had a remaining notional balance of $1.6 billion with a
weighted average maturity of approximately 28 months. Pursuant to the terms of the caps, the Company will receive
cash payments if one-month LIBOR reaches certain strike prices, ranging from 1.66% to 10.25%, with a weighted
average strike price of 4.65% over the life of the caps. At December 31, 2001, collars allocated to CMO borrowings
had a remaining notional balance of $758.9 million with a weighted average maturity of approximately 25 months.
Pursuant to the terms of the collars, the Company will receive cash payments if one-month LIBOR reaches strike prices,
ranging from 1.91% to 6.52%, with a weighted average strike price of 4.04% over the life of the collars. The Company
will make cash payments if one-month LIBOR reaches strike prices, ranging from 1.16% to 5.88%, with a weighted
average strike price of 3.38%. At December 31, 2001, swaps allocated to CMO borrowings had a remaining notional
balance of $71.8 million with a weighted average maturity of approximately 19 months. Pursuant to the terms of the
swaps, the Company will receive cash payments based on one-month LIBOR and make cash payments at fixed rates
ranging from 4.83% to 5.18%, with a weighted average fixed rate of 4.93% over the life of the swaps. The notional
amounts of caps, collars and swaps are amortized according to projected prepayment rates on CMO borrowings.
However, regarding the floor component of the collar, the notional amount equals the actual principal balance of the
CMO borrowings. As of December 31, 2001, the fair market value of the caps, collars and swaps was $(4.4) million.
These hedges are marked to market each reporting period with the entire change in market value being recognized in
other comprehensive income on the balance sheet.

During 2001, we purchased a collar, or balance sheet hedge, at strike prices tied to the one-month LIBOR forward
yield curve to protect cash flows on CMO borrowings that are secured by hybrid loans with remaining fixed terms,
which did not have allocated hedges. The balance sheet hedge protects cash flows on CMO borrowings with unallocted
hedges just as interest rate hedges would protect cash flows on CMO structures with allocated hedges. As of December
31, 2001, the balance sheet hedge had a notional amount of $815.6 million with a one-month LIBOR cap strike price of
4.38% and a weighted average strike price of 4.79% over the life of the cap. The balance sheet hedge has a one-month
LIBOR floor strike price of 3.98% and a weighted average strike price of 4.42% over the life of the floor. The balance
sheet hedge matures on March 25, 2004. The notional amount of the balance sheet hedge is amortized according to
projected prepayment rates reflected in CMO borrowings. As of December 31, 2001, the fair market value of the
balance sheet hedge was $5.1 million. The balance sheet hedge is marked to market each reporting period with the
entire change in market value being recognized in other comprehensive income on the balance sheet.
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The following table presents certain information related to derivative instruments and hedging activities as of
December 31, 2001 (dollars in thousands):

Original Fair Related Related
Notional Value Related Unamortized Amount in Amount
Face of Amount Derivative Derivative in CMO
Amount Derivatives Index in OCl1 Instruments  Asset Account Collateral
Caps and collars not
associated with
CMOs ........ PROUOTN $ 1,860,790 $ (13,659) 1mo.LIBOR $ (15240) $ 1,581 § (13,659) $ —
Cash in margin
acCOUNt......cocvevvnnnne. 18,787 18,787 N/A —_ — 18,787 —
Caps, collars and
swaps associated
with CMOs ............... 1,070,500 (4,372) 1 mo. LIBOR (12,722) 8,350 — (4,372)
99% of OCI activity
atIFC...oovereeeenn. 36,000 (158) FNMA (90) — — —
Totals ....coovvvvenerenen, $ 2,986,077 $ 598 $ (28,052) % 9931 §$ 5,128 3 (4,372)
Note Q—Stock Option Plans

The Company currently has a 1995 Stock Option, Deferred Stock and Restricted Stock Plan (1995 Plan). During
2001, the board of directors and stockholders approved a new Stock Option, Deferred Stock and Restricted Stock Plan
(2001 Plan) (collectively, the Stock Option Plans). Each Stock Option Plan provides for the grant of qualified incentive
stock options (ISOs), options not qualified (NQSOs), deferred stock, and restricted stock, and, in the case of the 2001
Plan, dividend equivalent rights and in the case of the 1995 Plan, stock appreciation rights and limited stock
appreciation rights awards (Awards). The Stock Option Plans are administered by the board of directors (the
Administrator). ISOs may be granted to the officers and kev employees of the Company. NQSOs and Awards may be
granted to the directors, officers and key employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and to the directors,
officers and key employees of IFC. The exercise price for any NQSO or ISO granted under the Stock Option Plans may
not be less than 100% (or 110% in the case of ISOs granted to an employee who is deemed to own in excess of 10% of
the outstanding common stock) of the fair market value of the shares of common stock at the time the NQSO or ISO is
granted.

The total number of shares initially reserved and available for issuance under the 2001 Plan was 1.0 million shares.
However, on the beginning of each calendar year the maximum number of shares available for issuance may increase by
3.5% of the total number of shares of stock outstanding or a lesser amount determined by the board of directors.
Pursuant to this provision, in January 2002, the 2001 Plan increased by an additional 1,120,069 shares available for
grant. Unless previously terminated by the board of directors, no options or Awards may be granted under the 2001 Plan
after March 27, 2011. The total number of shares reserved and available for issuance under the 1995 Plan is 67,390.
Unless previously terminated by the board of directors, no options nor awards may be granted under the 1995 Plan after
August 31, 2005.

Options granted under the Stock Option Plans will become exercisable in accordance with the terms of the grant
made by the Administrator. Awards will be subject to the terms and restrictions of the award made by the
Administrator. The Administrator has discretionary authority to select participants from among eligible persons and to
determine at the time an option or Award is granted and, in the case of options, whether it is intended to be an ISO or a
NQSO, and when and in what increments shares covered by the option may be purchased. As of December 31, 2001
and 2000, options to purchase 761,163 shares and 207,207 shares, respectively, were exercisable and 225,390 shares
and 767,144 shares, respectively, were reserved for future grants under the Stock Option Plans.

Option transactions for the years shown are summarized as follows:
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For the year ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999

Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-

Number Average Number Average Number Average

of Exercise of Exercise of Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Options outstanding at beginning of year.. 253,856 § 4.15 674,891 $ 9.89 737,781 $ 10.06
Options granted. ......cc.ccooenvvciercncenianeas 1,571,000 6.06 112,500 3.56 35,500 4.92
Options exercised .......c.ocouervevcrereeercirienas (161,109) 4.03 — — — —
Options forfeited/cancelled...................... (29,246) 434 (533,53%) 11.28 (98,390) 9.45
Options outstanding at end of year-............ 1,634,501 $ 5.99 253,856 § 4.15 674,891 § 9.89

As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, total notes receivable from common stock sales were $920,000 and $902,000,
respectively. Interest on all loans secured by the Company’s common stock is payable quarterly upon receipt of the
Company’s dividend payment. At each dividend payment date, 50% of excess quarterly stock dividends, after applying
the dividend payment to interest due, is required to reduce the principal balance outstanding on the loans. The interest
rate on these loans adjusts annually and is set at the discretion of the board of directors. There were no loans made in
2001, 2000, and 1999 in connection with the exercise of stock options under the 1995 Stock Plan. The following table
presents information about fixed stock options outstanding at December 31, 2001:

Stock Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-
Average
Remaining Weighted- Weighted-
Exercise Number Contractual Life average Number Average
Prices Qutstanding {mos.) exercise price ($) Exercisable exercise price ($)
$2.70 64,334 4.29 $3.82 5,498 $3.77
4.00 1,500 2.16 4.00 — —
4.18 657,500 9.24 4.18 657,500 4.18
4.44 39,500 5.70 4.44 39,500 4.44
4.56 1,667 0.72 4.56 , —_ -—
5.08 22,500 9.31 ’ 5.08 —_ —
5.75 5,500 0.15 5.75 3,665 5.75
7.20 4,500 3.73 7.20 — —
7.60 55,000 9.96 7.60 55,000 7.60
7.68 782,500 3.56 7.68 — —
1,634,501 6.20 5.99 761,163 4.45

In November 1995, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (SFAS 123).
This statement establishes financial accounting standards for stock-based employee compensation plans. SFAS 123
permits the Company to choose either a new fair value based method or the current APB 25 intrinsic value based
method of accounting for its stock-based compensation arrangements. SFAS 123 requires pro forma disclosures of net
earnings (loss) computed as if the fair value based method had been applied in financial statements of companies that
continue to follow current practice in accounting for such arrangements under APB 25. SFAS 123 applies to all stock-
based employee compensation plans in which an employer grants shares of its stock or other equity instruments to
employees except for employee stock ownership plans. SFAS 123 also applies to plans in which the employer incurs
liabilities to employees in amounts based on the price of the employer’s stock, i.e., stock option plans, stock purchase
plans, restricted stock plans, and stock appreciation rights. The statement also specifies the accounting for transactions
in which a company issues stock options or other equity instruments for services provided by nonemployees or to
acquire goods or services from outside suppliers or vendors. :

The Company elected to continue to apply APB 25 in accounting for its Stock Option Plans and, accordingly, no
compensation cost has been recognized for its stock options in the financial statements. If the Company determined its
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compensation cost based on the fair value, at the grant date of the stock options exercisable under SFAS 123, the
Company’s net earnings (loss) and net earnings (loss) per share would have decreased to the pro forma amounts
indicated below (dollars in thousands, except per share data):

For the year ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Net earnings (loss) before extraordinary item and cumulative effect
- of change in accounting principle as reported ...........ocoveveevvrriirvnrriiniinnns $ 34,801 $(54,233) § 227317
Pro forma net €arnings (1085).......vcevreuecmieeniririsieins oo e $ 34,493 $(54,306) $ 22,308
Net earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary item and cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle as reported:
BASIC ..ot e et et $ 141 § (2700 $ 0.83
DIIIEED ..ottt e $ 125 8§ (270) $§ 076
Pro forma net earnings (loss) per share before extraoidinary item and
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle:
BRASIC ..veviceitieirir et sae ettt e sttt e bt b b ae e ae e eas b nn e $ 140 $§ (2700 § 0.83
Diluted................ e eeeeteee et et b bt ek e s b aa b ea et s er st ane R eneseennenes 3 123 $ (2700 § 076
Net earnings (loss) per share as reported:
BASIC .ovtriiirer oottt ettt n e e e aeaennenas ) 1.3 § (2700 $ 0.83
DIIUEE .ovvevereneceenn et treensensrenseesenrnee e st sevesaaes s saebe b sesasbesesnsnsanne $ 1.19 § (270) $ 076
Pro forma net earnings (10SS).....covvverimiienrncnvirerin s e
BASIC ..ottt bt a et rennes $ 133 § (270) § 0.83
DIRLE ...co.voeeere oot tesin ettt e ettt e sttt n s aaens $ 118 § (2700 § 0.76

The derived fair value of the options granted during 2001, 2000 and 1999 was approximately $1.18, $0.75, and
$1.35, respectively. The fair value of options granted, which is amortized to expense over the option vesting period in
determining the pro forma impact, is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with

the following weighted average assumptions:
For the year ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Risk-Free Interest Rate .......cooveveivieneceiciiiee e 2.22% 4.80% 4.98%
Expected Lives (N YEarS) «.cevuvuvveerieeiiceenrirs ettt eevteeensasebenrenscnns 3-10 1-3 3-5
Expected VOIAtility .......ocovrererrereninniciniiereinerne e oo eseseeteseresesnas 52.87% 62.64% 60.17%
Expected Dividend Yield.........ccovinieeiiiiiiicicrins e 10.00% 11.20% 9.50%

Note R—Stockholders’ Equity

During 2000, the Company’s board of directors authcrized the Company to repurchase up to $3.0 million of the
Company’s common stock, $0.01 par value, in open ma‘ket purchases from time to time at the discretion of the
Company’s management; the timing and extent of the repurchases depend on market conditions. For the year ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company repurchased none and 991,000 shares of its common stock for $2.3 million.
The acquired shares were canceled. In October 1998, the board of directors authorized the Company to repurchase up to
$5.0 million of the Company’s common stock in the open market. In 1999, the board of directors approved additional
common stock repurchases up to an additional $5.0 million, or a total of $10.0 million. During 1999, the Company
repurchased 2.0 million shares of common stock for $9.9 million.

During 1999, certain stockholders of the Company exchanged 1,359,507 shares of their common stock for 11%
senior subordinated debentures due February 15, 2004. The debentures were unsecured obligations of the Company
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subordinated and subject in right of payment to all existing and future senior indebtedness of the Company and
effectively subordinated to all indebtedness of the Company's subsidiaries. The debentures bore interest at 11% per
annum from their date of issuance, payable quarterly, commencing May 15, 1999, until the debentures were paid in full
on June 20, 2001.

On December 22, 1998, the Company completed the sale of 1,200,000 shares of Series B 10.5% Cumulative
Convertible Preferred Stock (Series B Preferred Stock) at $25.00 per share. The Series B Preferred Stock was
convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock at a conversion price of $4.95 per share. Accordingly, each
share of Series B Preferred Stock was convertible into 5.050505 shares of the Company’s common stock. The terms of
the acquisition provided for a downward adjustment of the conversion price if, among other things, certain earnings
levels were not attained by the Company through June 30, 1999. In February 2000, the Series B Preferred Stock was
exchanged for Series C 10.5% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (Series C Preferred Stock) and the conversion
rate was adjusted to $4.72 per share convertible into 5.29661 shares of common stock or an aggregate of 6,355,932
shares of common stock. Dividends on the preferred stock accumulate from the date of issuance and were paid
quarterly, in cash or the Company’s common stock, starting April 27, 1999. The dividend rate per share was the greater
of $0.65625 or the quarterly cash dividend declared on the number of shares of common stock into which a share of
preferred stock is convertible. In August 2001, the Series C Preferred Stock was converted into 6,355,932 shares of
common stock. The Company is authorized to issue shares of preferred stock designated in one or more classes or
series. The preferred stock may be issued from time to time with such designations, rights and preferences as shall be
determined by the board of directors. The preferred stock has a preference on dividend payments, takes priority over
dividend distributions to the common stockholders.

On October 7, 1998, the Company’s board of directors adopted a stockholder rights plan in which preferred stock
purchase rights were distributed as a dividend at the rate of one right for each outstanding share of common stock. The
dividend distribution was made on October 19, 1998 payable to stockholders of record on that date. The rights are
attached to the Company’s common stock. The rights will be exercisable and trade separately only in the event that a
person or group acquires or announces the intent to acquire 10 percent or more of the Company’s common stock (unless
the offer to acquire the shares is approved by a majority of the board of directors who are not affiliates of the acquirer).
Each right will entitle stockholders to buy one-hundredth of a share of a new series of junior participating preferred
stock at an exercise price of $30.00. If the Company is acquired in a merger or other transaction after a person has
acquired 10 percent or more of Company outstanding common stock, each right will entitle the stockholder to purchase,
at the right’s then-current exercise price, a number of the acquiring Company’s common shares having a market value
of twice such price. In addition, if a person or group acquires 10 percent or more of the Company's common stock, each
right will entitle the stockholder, other than the acquiring person, to purchase, at the right’s then-current exercise price,
a number of shares of the Company's common stock having a market value of twice such price. Following the
acquisition by a person of 10 percent or more of the Company’s common stock and before an acquisition of 50 percent
or more of the common stock, the board of directors may exchange the rights, other than the rights owned by such
person, at an exchange ratio of one share of common stock per right. Before a person or group acquires beneficial
ownership of 10 percent or more of the Company’s common stock, the rights are redeemable for $0.0001 per right at the
option of the board of directors. The rights will expire on October 19, 2008. The rights distribution is not taxable to
stockholders. The rights are intended to enable all the Company stockholders to realize the long-term value of their
investment in the Company.

Note S—Reconciliation of Earnings (Loss) Per Share
The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per share, as if all stock

options and cumulative convertible preferred stock (Preferred Stock) was outstanding for the periods shown (in
thousands, except per share data):
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For the year ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Numerator for basic earnings per share:
Earnings (loss) before extraordinary item and cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle ........c.cocoeeviiiininieces e $ 34801 § (54,233) $ 22,317
EXtraordinary item . .......c.occeieev i e eiereee e e S (1,006) — —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle.........c..c.c.... (617) — —
Eamings (loss) after extraordinary item and cumulative effict
change in accounting principle ..........ccoviveereeneecie e e 33,178 (54,233) 22,317
Less: Cash dividends on cumulative convertible preferred stock............ (1,575) (3,150) (3,290)
Net earnings (loss) available to common stockholders....................... $ 31603 $ (57,383) § 19,027

Denominator for basic earnings per share:
Basic weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period..........ccocovviuiiiiiricirrec e e ens 23,510 21,270 22,824

Denominator for diluted earnings per share:
Diluted weighted average number of common shares

outstanding during the period ..........ccoceiinini e 27,730 21,270 22,824
Impact of assumed conversion of Preferred Stock .........cccccuvunnne. — — 6,356
Net effect of dilutive stock Options.......c.ccccevrvivnrinvevcnecnneccnienen, 222 — 16

Diluted weighted average common Shares ............ccoceveveecrieeensiesennnns 27,952 21,270 29,196

Net earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary item and
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle:

BASIC e ettt as et e r e $ 141 § 2.70) $ 0.83

DIIUEA  coooocoeoveeeeveveee et ss e sss e srt s ts e rrenen $ 125 §  (270) § 0.76
Net earnings (loss) per share: ‘

BASIC  coorrreiirine et et ar e et nas $ 134 § 2.70) § 0.83

DilUted oo e e e e 3 1.19 % 2700 § 0.76

The antidilutive effects of stock options outstanding; as of December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was 348,475,
669,391, and none, respectively. The antidilutive effects of outstanding Preferred Stock as of December 31, 2001, 2000
and 1999 was none, 6,355,932, and none, respectively. Terms of the Preferred Stock acquisition provided for a
downward adjustment of the conversion price if, among other things, certain earnings levels were not attained by the
Company through June 30, 1999. The change in the Preferred Stock conversion price during 2000 from $4.95 to $4.72
per share resuited in 6,355,932 in common stock equivalent shares outstanding at December 31, 2000.

Note T—Subsequent Events
On February 13, 2002, the Company completed the issuance of 7,300,000 shares of common stock and received

net proceeds of $56.6 million from the sale. On March 8, 2002, the Company completed the issuance of an additional
102,000 shares of common stock and received net proceeds of $791,000 from the sale.
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Note U—Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)
Selected quarterly financial data for 2001 follows (in thousands, except per share data):

For the Three Months Ended,
' December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,
Net INTErest INCOME.....ovi ittt b 13,772 §$ 11,387 $ 10,551 § 8,893

Provision for 10an 10SSeS...........ovevvreioe i 6,255 2,615 3,905 4,038
NON-INLETESE INCOME .. vt 6,104 4,361 4,789 2,125
NON-INETESt EXPENSE ....evooveeeietieeeiem e eeeetreve e (1,341) 4,842 2,652 5,838
NEt CAIMUNES . ...eovcviie ettt ettt 14,962 8,291 8,783 1,142
Net earnings per share — diluted ) ... 0.48 0.31 0.33 0.04
Dividends declared per share..........cccovoiviciniienicinc 0.44 0.25 — —

Selected quarterly financial data for 2000 follows (in thousands, except per share data):

For the Three Months Ended,
December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,

Net INterest iICOME. .....covvevieiriiirriectereeeee e st $ 5853 $ 5377 § 5338 $ 6415
Provision for 10an 10SSeS.........coovviieieeie e 1,104 1,248 3,304 13,183
Non-interest income (10SS)........oceevveeiiveeieieeeeeeiieeeeeereeeee e 1,314 886 (1,048) 1,361
NOD-INEETESE EXPEIISE w..vuvireveerireeeteice st ereveseetesrneeseeesesberenanterens 2,387 1,716 31,301 25,486
Net arnings (L0SS5)......oecvveeiieiiiirierieeinere et easaens 3,676 3,299 (30,315) (30,893)
Net earnings (loss) per share ~ dituted  .............cooccooivviirrn, 0.14 0.12 (145)  (1.4%)
Dividends declared per share............cccccoceiveieiniiiiecee e — 0.12 0.12 0.12

(1) Diluted earnings per share are computed independently for each of the quarters presented. Therefore, the sum of
the quarterly earnings per share may not equal the total for the year.
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Note V—Impac Funding Corporatioﬁ

The following condensed financial information summarizes the financial condition and results of operations of
Impac Funding Corporation:

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands)

At December 31,
2001 2000
ASSETS
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS ..........ccoirieiiiiiieice et eeeeene $ 28612 § 8,281
Securities available-for-sale ... e s 3,394 266
Mortgage 10ans held-for-sale..........c.ocovvuniiiiaiiiii e et s aeene 174,172 275,570
Mortgage SErvICING FIZIIS.....cooveririitiiiiere ettt er e 8,468 10,938
Premises and eqUIPMENT, NEL ........cocoviiiiuiiiieeiiriiee et cee v et eeaeenesaeses 5,333 5,037
Accrued interest reCeiVabIe .. .o..oooiiiiiiiiece et 130 1,040
OhEr ASSEES. ..ottt ettt et et et e e e et te e ae e te et e r st erbe s aeeaneennreanents 19,693 16,031
TOTAL @SSELS ....eeerieerecereniietive st e sreie st e teetearreseaeasetsere et sstseseseererneteessesestsaseabesssessssnssssnsennan $ 239802 $ 317,163
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Borrowings from IWLG .....coooviiiiice ettt n e bnenseren $ 174,136 $ 266,994
DU 10 AFFTHHALES ...vveeeeeiceei ettt ettt et e e e b et a e e aeean e sraesarenns 14,500 14,500
DEfCITEA TEVEIUE ... ettt s e e eee s seaesabe s 4,479 5,026
ACCTUE INLETEST EXPENSE .....eeerverveeeeieeeetieteeteteeeeeeatiseeeceseteseese e evebseseteete e esetsesesbessennasesnnseas 453 2,176
Other HaDIIItIES ....oveveiiericeccteeeee ettt ettt e et aeas seveasnanssenes 26914 12,546
Total HabilItIES. ... eeeieerri et e ee e e st see st e enrees 220,482 301,242

Shareholders’ equity:
PreferTed STOCK . .ooiiiiieiiieeeet ettt et r e et ee et e stee e eebe s abaennra s 18,053 18,053
COMIMON SEOCK .....ccuiiiteiiiieecee ettt cre st eae et e et et s besebestaesessen sanessesnsesanenns 182 182
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)...........c.ccooiiiiiiiiie i 8,722 (2,300)
Cumulative dividends declared .............o.occoviuiviriiiiiie e e er et (8,984) —
Accumulated other comprehensive income (1085) ........c..ocoviieieeeeininere e 1,347 (14)
Total shareholders’ eqUItY .........ecerueimiiieiiiiecc e s 19,320 15,921
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity ..............ccococooieiercieecee e $ 239,802 § 317,163
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Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands)

For the year ended December 31,

Net interest income:
Total interest income
Total interest expense

Net interest income (expense)

Non-interest income:
Gain on sale of loans
Loan servicing income
Other income

Total non-interest income

Non-interest expense:
General and administrative and other expense
Amortization of mortgage servicing rights
Write-down of securities available-for-sale
Impairment of mortgage servicing rights
Provision for repurchases

Total non-interest expense

Eamnings (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes

Earnings (loss) before cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

2001 2000 1999
$ 24175 $ 28,649 $ 21,225
20.865 30,056 20,953
3310 (1,407 %P
46949 19,727 27,098
2,140 6,286 5221
5.005 1,105 979
54,004 27,118 33.208
29257 19,634 14,965
4519 5,179 5331

— 1537 © 4252

825 — 1078

3,498 371 385
38099 26,721 26,011
19305 (1,010) 7,559
$.300 770 3227
11,005 (1,780) 4,332

17 —

Net earnings (loss)

11,022

$ (1,780) § 4,332




INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors
Impac Funding Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Impac Funding Corporation and subsidiaries as
of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive earnings
(loss), changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2001. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Impac Funding Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and

the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2001 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note A to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting
for derivative instuments and hedging activities in 2001.

KPMGLLP

Orange County, California
January 28, 2002
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(dollar amounts in thousands)

At December 31,
2001 2000
ASSETS
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENTS ..ottt et $ 28612 § 8,281
Securities available-for-sale ............c.co. oo 3,394 266
Mortgage 10ans held-for-sale............cooiviir i 174,172 275,570
Mortgage servicing rights........cccoeld ettt a bbbttt en s banns 8,468 10,938
Premises and eqQUIPIMIENT, NET.........coceeviiriiieiiiirie ettt es st sr et erearaenes 5,333 5,037
Accrued INterest TECEIVADIE ........o.oviviiiie ettt 130 1,040
BT BSOS ... eieiticet ettt et e et ettt e et et et ettt ettt e et e eat e e s e s nar e 19,693 16,031
TOLAL ASSELS ... eeeeee e seee e ereeseeseesee s e s ee s e e s eseseseereee e nesseenes $ 239,802 $ 317,163
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Borrowings fTom IWLG ..o ettt s $§ 174,136 § 266,994
DU L0 AFTHHHALES ...ttt st sttt ena et et eaen 14,500 14,500
DeEfeIT@A TEVEIUE ......ooveveerieieee ettt ettt eb s caeeee st st asbeen s ot esesanenrnas 4,479 5,026
AcCCrued INTETESt EXPEIISE ..eveuetiiiiieiiitietiir et itaees et s e s etebessebesesaessssesrbesessensarasessesnssene 453 2,176
Other HabilItIES .o.evviiriiieeisic ittt ere ettt ee s e ee et et art et enaerssnnas 26,914 12,546
TOtAL LADI IS ..ottt ettt se et ae et e e st e e easeeesaene st eeesesene sneaeesars sessanese 220,482 301,242
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, no par value; 10,000 shares authorized; 10,000 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 2000..........coeceierecenrecirnreneiee st eereee e 18,053 18,053
Common stock, no par value; 10,000 shares anthorized; 10,000 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 2000..........cccccoonerrineeceneeeerineenene. 182 182
Retained earnings (accurnulated deficit).........ccoovoiiivecii e e 8,722 (2,300)
Cumulative dividends declared ...............oovvev ittt e eere et (8,984) —_
Accumulated other comprehensive iNCome (10SS) ......ovovvvvrerererineerenrerseroreesssresnrenens 1,347 (14)
Total sShareholders’ EQUILY ......ccoovireiciin ittt rsaa e rena e 19,320 15,921
Total liabilities and shareholders’ eqUIty........ccceevcvieeieiic e e $ 239802 § 317,163

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AND COMPREHENSIVYE EARNINGS (LOSS)

{(in thousands)

INTEREST INCOME:

Mortgage loans held-for-sate.......c.coooovvnniinniiniee
Other INTETESE INCOME. ... .veeeiieeeereeieeereerreeeesrt e e eeirresseeeeasetesesereeeeeessieaeeenn
Total INtETESt COIMIE ..eeneeeteceeeee ettt e eeee ettt te et e v ere e

INTEREST EXPENSE:

Borrowings from IWLG ..o
Other affiliated bOrrOWIngS ......cccoccveomrivinririneniicis e
Other non-affiliated BOITOWINES ....cvvvveceiererrerncree e e s

Total INerest EXPENSE ......cvvcvrereemirieireintrrereeneen e reies e enene

Net interest inCOME (EXPENSE) .....verveeuierirriiereireiceerie et

NON-INTEREST INCOME:

Gain on sale 0f 10ANS . ...ocviveecieeeee s
Loan SErviCing INMCOMIE. ......cocovrvereverrcrienieeecienc ettt e eanens
"Gain on sale of InveStment SECUTIHES .....vcvveeveeirerrereieeeei e
Other INCOIME ....veiiveiie ettt eve et eabe s e sabe st sae e beseesreseaeenessrees

NON-INTEREST EXPENSE:

Personnel EXPense .......ccceveeeeneiriiiereiene it ean
Amoertization of mortgage servicing rights.........ocooeveevinneiceieencnenne
General and administrative and other eXpense .........c.ccoceevvenerercrirenenne
Provision for repurchases ..........oceureerrnennrerineneirre e
EQUIPIENt XPEMSE...c.evrvenirrereriieeeerieaerainenseessesreessteneemsosencssssesasnsesenes
Professional SEIVICES......iviveieriririeeireireiie ettt eras
OCCUPANCY EXPEIISE 1evvvervrereiartesierierieesureserareesesseasrersesnt svcessranssnsessasasens
Data ProCessing EXPENSE......coruererviaruereriirerreerncrasreeaass: srreressessessessessenes
Impairment of mortgage servicing rights........coceooivniveenivennneeceeares
Mark-to-market gain — SFAS 133 ..ot e
Write-down of investment securities available-for-sale ...........c.c.cocveneee.

Total DON-INLETESt EXPENSE. ....ccovivriiiirricie et e

Earnings (loss) before income taxes and cumulative effect of change

in accounting PrinCiple .....covvvrerirerirnere sttt
JNCOIMNE LAXES ....vvcerereicreicreeeecevrsieeeeeetseee e stes e rtesecareaesettaaansssssnssrasraesanns

Eamings (loss) before cumulative effect of change in accounting

PIICIPIE ..ottt ettt sttt eb et et s en e
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle .......coovrreerevnrnnnes

Net earnings (loss)

Other comprehensive earnings:
Unrealized gains on securities:

Unrealized holding gains (losses) arising during period...........c.ccc......
Less: Reclassification of gains included in income ..........ccceceeveucnnnn.

Net unrealized gains arising during period...........ccccevvevveverirnvnnne
Comprehensive earnings (10SS).........ccoeuvcreieiieveneeiece e etesesrenrinnns

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
23,044 $ 28009 S 20,352
1,131 640 873
24,175 28,649 21,225
18,362 28,063 18,366
2,010 1,604 1,673
493 389 914
20,865 30,056 20,953
3,310 (1,407) 272
46,949 19,727 27,098
2,140 6,286 5,221
3,710 51 —
1,295 1,054 979
54,094 27,118 33,298
16,559 9,766 7,299
4,519 5,179 5,331
3,757 3,636 2,492
3,498 371 385
2,583 1,414 1,218
2,286 2,535 2,524
1,983 1,626 1,095
1,743 657 337
825 — 1,078
346 — —
— 1,537 4252
38,099 26,721 26,011
19,305 (1,010) 7,559
8,300 770 3,227
11,005 (1,780) 4,332
17 — —
11,022 (1,780) 4332
1,361 (15) 329
— 168 24
1,361 153 353
12383 § (1,627) 8 4,685




IMPAC FUNDING CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balance, December 31, 1998....
Net earnings, 1999 ...................
Other comprehensive income...
Balance, December 31, 1999....

Net loss, 2000.......ccccvevveeennne,
Other comprehensive income ...
Balance, December 31, 2000....

Net earnings, 2001 ..................
Securities valuation allowance..
Other comprehensive income ...
Dividends declared....................
Balance, December 31, 2001....

(dollar amounts in thousands)

Retained

Accumulated

Number of Number of Earnings Cumulative Other Total
Preferred Preferred Common  Common (Accumulated Dividends Comprehensive Sharehotders’
Shares Stock Shares Stock Deficit) Declared Gain(Loss) Equity
10,000 $ 18,053 10,000 § 182 § (4,852) § — 5 (520) § 12,863
—_ — —_ — 4,332 — — 4,332
— — —_— — — — 353 353
10,000 18,053 10,000 182 (520) — (167) 17,548
— — — — (1,780) — — (1,780)
_— _ . — —_ — — 153 153
10,000 18,053 10,000 182 (2,300) —_— (14) 15,921
— — — — 11,022 — — 11,022
—_— —_ — — _ — 1,452 1,452
— — — — — — on [C2Y)
_ — _ — — (8,984) — (8,984)
10,000 $ 18,0353 10,000 $ 182 $§ 8,722 § (8984) § 1,347 § 19,320

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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IMPAC FUNDING CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

For the year ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net earnings (1088) .vo.oiveviveenirieceinnnnn, ettt b 5 11,022 $ (1,780) $ 4,332
Adjustments to reconcile net eamnings to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities:

Provision for repurchases ..........cccocvevveciirnnimvinneene s e e e 3,498 371 385
Gain on Sale 0T LOANS .o\ vvvieiii e ettt et e e s naennas 46,949 19,727 27,098
Depreciation and amortiZation.........coocccireneeineirenie oo 7,011 6,280 6,453
Amortization of deferred revenue.............ccocooveevieieve e (1,914) (2,313) (12,751)
Impairment of mortgage Servicing rights.........cc..ooevvrveeireeroriirnnnio. 825 — 1,078
Net change in accrued interest receivable.........ocoveenienerciiivieniceinns 910 (992) 1,848
Net change in other assets and Liabilities .......oceveieevieerenenee e 3,355 6,058 (6,826)
Net change in deferred taXes......cooiveuerierinierene e 5,547 (150) 568
Net change in deferred revenue..........ccooeeveeeivriinees e 1,367 {296) 9,781
Purchase of securities held-for-trading.........c.c.coecorvernrcrrceeecncnene, — — 5,300
Write-down of investment securities available-for-sale ...................... — 1,537 4,252
Purchase of mortgage loans held-for-sale.........ccccoocvciiinnniiccnnnnnn, (3,203,559)  (2,112,724) (1,671,777)
Sale of and principal reductions on mortgage loans held-for-sale....... 3,256,542 1,884,847 1,827,638
Net change in accrued INterest EXPENSE.......vorvvveeeviererererserrrnrne e (1,723) 1,333 843
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities...........cccevvrunneee 129,830 (198,102) 198,222
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Additions to mortgage Servicing rghts.........cocrerinecec rennesescescereesens (2,874) (496) (7,968)
Issuance of note from Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. .....coocoveeinnnn. — — 14,500
Purchase of securities available-for-sale.............ccocvevmieeiinnnn (10,250) — (5,413)
Gain on sale of investment SECUTITIES ......c.vevvveievrieiieeier e (3,710) 51 —
Sale of securities available-for-sale ............ccocovvviniivivriieoereeeei e 11,965 — 5,413
Purchase of premises and equIpmMent...........occeeveeenvnrevencenenicrrereeneeicne (2,788) (2,563) (2,719)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ............cc.coene... (7,657) (3,110) 3,813
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Net change in borrowings from Impac Warehouse Lending Group........ (92,858) 200,869 (126,775)
Dividends paid...........cccvveerrrenierernieiees et (8,984) — —
Net change in other bOITOWINGS.........ccoverevevieerereieiceret et — (181) (66,877)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities...............ccovean.. (101,842) 200,688 (193,652)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents.........ccccoccruierennnn. e —————- 20,331 (524) 8,383
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ...........ccoecoceievviveieieennnnn, 8,281 8,805 422
Cash and cash equivalents at end of YEar ........oecvevevveeveecerer e, $ 28612 § 8,281 § 8,805
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:
INEETESE PAIA 1.eovevereevecreeerere ettt et se st sttt etes ¢ 22588 $ 28,723 $ 20,109
TaXes PAI.....c.oeieiie ettt et sttt et r e s 7,010 24 385
Conversion of IMH preferred stock to common stock .........co.coeveevivennnne 10,250 — —

See accompanying notes to consiolidated financial statements.
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Note A—Summary of Business and Significant Accounting Policies
1. Business and Financial Statement Presentation

IFC is a mortgage loan conduit organization, which purchases primarily non-conforming Alt-A mortgage
loans from a network of correspondent sellers and mortgage brokers and originates loans with retail customers.
IFC subsequently securitizes or sells non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans to permanent investors or IMH. On
March 31, 1997, ownership of all of the common stock of IFC was transferred from Imperial Credit Industries, Inc.
(ICII) to Joseph R. Tomkinson, Chief Executive Officer of IMH and IFC, William S. Ashmore, President of IMH
and IFC, and Richard J. Johnson, Chief Financial Officer of IMH and IFC, who are entitled to 1% of the earnings
or losses of IFC.

The consolidated financial statements include the operations of IFC and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Impac
Secured Asset Corporation and Novelle Financial Services, collectively, IFC, and have been prepared in
conformity with-accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and prevailing practices
within the mortgage banking industry.

All significant intercompany balances and transactions with IFC’s consolidated subsidiaries have been
eliminated in consolidation. Interest income on affiliated short-term advances, due from affiliates, has been earned
at the rate of 8.0% per annum. Interest expense on affiliated short-term borrowings, due to affiliates, has been
incurred at the rate of 8.0% per annum. Costs and expenses of IFC have been charged to Impac Commercial
Holdings, Inc. (ICH) in proportion to services provided per the submanagement agreement between FIC
Management Inc. (FIC), IMH and IFC, not to exceed an annual fee of $250,000. The submanagement agreement
between FIC, IMH and [FC expired December 31, 1999. Certain amounts in the prior year’s consolidated
financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation.

Management of IFC has made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period to prepare these financial statements in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

2. Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consists of cash and
money market mutual funds. IFC considers investments with maturities of three months or less at date of
acquisition to be cash equivalents.

3. Gain on Sale of Loans

IFC recognizes gains or losses on the sale of loans when the sales transaction settles or upon the securitzation
of the mortgage loans when the risks of ownership have passed to the purchasing party. Gains and losses may be
increased or decreased by the amount of any servicing released premiums received and costs associated with the
acquisition or origination of mortgage loans. Gain on sale of loans or securities to IMH are deferred and accreted
over the estimated life of the loans or securities using the interest method.

A transfer of financial assets in which control is surrendered is accounted for as a sale to the extent that
consideration other than a beneficial interest in the transferred assets is received in the exchange. Liabilities and
derivatives incurred or obtained by the transfer of financial assets are required to be measured at fair value, if
practicable. Also, servicing assets and other retained interests in the transferred assets must be measured by
allocating the previous carrying value between the asset sold and the interest retained, if any, based on their
relative fair values at the date of transfer. To determine the value of the securities, IFC estimates future rates of
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prepayments, prepayment penalties to be received, delinquencies, defaults and default loss severity and their
impact on estimated cash flows.

4. Securities Available-for-Sale and Securities Helcl-for-Trading

IFC classifies investment and mortgage-backed securities as held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, and/or
trading securities. Held-to-maturity investment and mortgage-backed securities are reported at amortized cost,
available-for-sale securities are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses, net of related income taxes,
as a separate component of shareholders’ equity, and trading securities are reported at fair value with unrealized
gains and losses reported in operations. IFC’s investment securities are held as available-for-sale, reported at fair
value with unrealized gains and losses net of related income taxes reported as a separate component of
shareholders’ equity. Premiums or discounts obtained on investment securities are accreted or amortized to interest
income over the estimated life of the investment securitizs using the interest method.

Residual interests in securitization of mortgage loans are recorded as a result of the sale of mortgage loans
through securitizations. IFC sells a portfolio of mortgage: loans to a special purpose entity that has been established
for the limited purpose of buying and reselling IFC’s mortgage loans. The special purpose entity then transfers the
same mortgage loans to a Real Estate Mortgage Investment Conduit or owners trust (the Trust). The Trust issues
interest-bearing asset-backed securities in an amount ¢qual to the aggregate principal balance of the mortgage
loans. IFC typicaily sells these certificates at face value and without recourse except that representations and
warranties customary to the mortgage banking industry are provided by IFC. IFC may provide a credit
enhancement for the benefit of the investors in the form of additional collateral (over-coliateralization) held by the
Trust. The over-collateralization account is required to be maintained at specified levels.

At the closing of each securitization, IFC removes f-om its consolidated balance sheets the loans held-for-sale
and adds to its consolidated balance sheet the cash rec:ived, and the estimated fair value of the portion of the
mortgage loans retained from the securitizations (Residuals). The Residuals consist of the over-collateralization
account and the net interest receivables which represent the estimated cash flows to be received by the Trust in the
future. The excess of the cash received and the assets retained by IFC over the carrying value of the mortgage
loans sold, less transaction costs, equals the net gain on sale of mortgage loans recorded by IFC.

IFC allocates its basis in the mortgage loans between the portion of the mortgage loans sold through the
certificates and the portion retained based on the relative fair values of those portions on the date of the sale. IFC
may recognize gains or losses attributable to the changes in the fair value of the residuals, which are recorded at
estimated fair value and accounted for as held-for-trading securities at IFC. The market for the purchase or sale of
residuals is not considered liquid. IFC determines the estimated fair value of the residuals by discounting the
expected cash flows using a discount rate which IFC believes is commensurate with the risks involved. Some of
the residual interests generated by IFC are sold to IMH and accounted for as available-for-sale securities at IMH.

IFC receives periodic servicing fees for the servicing; and collection of the mortgage loans as master servicer
of the securitized loans. IFC is also entitled to the cash flows from the residual that represent collections on the
mortgage loans in excess of the amounts required to pay the certificate principal and interest, the servicing fees and
certain other fees such as trustee and custodial fees. At the end of each collection period, cash collected from the
mortgage loans are allocated to the base servicing and other fees for the period, then to the certificate holders for
interest at the pass-through rate on the certificates pius principal as defined in the servicing agreements. If the
amount of cash required for the above allocations exceeds the amount collected during the collection period, the
shortfall is drawn from the over-collateralization account. If the cash collected during the period exceeds the
amount necessary for the above allocations, and there is no shortfall in the related over-collateralization account,
the excess is released to IFC. If the over-collateralization account balance is not at the required credit enhancement
level, the excess cash collected is retained in the over-collateralization account until the specified level is achieved.
The cash and collateral in the over-collateralization acccunt is restricted from use by IFC. Pursuant to certain
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servicing agreements, cash held in the over-collateralization accounts may be used to make accelerated principal
paydowns on the certificates to create additional excess collateral in the over-collateralization account.

5. Mortgage Loans Held-for-Sale

Mortgage loans held-for-sale are stated at the lower of cost or market in the aggregate as determined by
outstanding commitments from investors or current investor yield requirements. Interest is recognized as revenue
when earned according to the terms of the mortgage loans and when, in the opinion of management, it is
collectible. Nonrefundable fees and direct costs associated with the origination or purchase of loans are deferred
and recognized when the loans are sold as gain or loss on sale of mortgage loans.

6. Premises and Equipment

Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation or amortization. Depreciation on
premises and equipment is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of individual
assets, typically, three to seven years.

7. Mortgage Servicing Rights

IFC allocates a portion of the cost of acquiring a mortgage loan to the mortgage loan servicing rights based
on its fair value relative to the components of the loan. To determine the fair value of the servicing rights created,
IFC uses a valuation model that calculates the present value of future net servicing revenues to determine the fair
value of the servicing rights. In using this valuation method, IFC incorporates assumptions that it believes market
participants would use in estimating future net servicing, an inflation rate, ancillary income per loan, a prepayment
rate, a default rate and a discount rate commensurate with the risk involved. MSRs are amortized in proportion to,
and over the period of expected net servicing income. The mortgage servicing rights are considered impaired when
the fair value using a discounted cash flow analysis is less than the carrying value. In that event, an impairment
loss is recognized in the respective period. IFC uses certain assumptions and estimates in determining the fair
value allocated to the retained interest at the time of initial sale and each subsequent sale. As of December 31,
2001, IFC used estimates for loan prepayment rates ranging from 20% to 129%.

As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, IFC is the master servicer for $3.1 billion and $2.6 billion of loans
collateralizing REMIC securities and $2.1 billion and $1.3 billion of mortgage loans collateralizing CMOs,
respectively. IFC recognizes gain or loss on the sale of servicing rights when the sales contract has been executed
and ownership is determined to have passed to the purchasing party. Gains and losses are computed by deducting
the basis in the servicing rights and any other costs associated with the sale from the purchase price.

8. Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax base.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

9. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by SFAS No. 137 and
SFAS No. 138, collectively, SFAS 133. SFAS 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative
instruments, including a number of derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, collectively referred to as
derivatives, and for hedging activities. It requires that an entity recognize all derivatives as either assets or

F-43




IMPAC FUNDING CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

liabilities in the statement of financial position and measure those instruments at fair value. If specific conditions
are met, a derivative may be specifically designated as (1)) a hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value of a
recognized asset or liability or an unrecognized firm commitment; (2) a hedge of the exposure to variable cash
flows of a forecasted transaction; or (3) a hedge of the fcreign currency exposure of a net investment in a foreign
operation, an unrecognized firm commitment, an available for sale security or a foreign-currency-denominated
forecasted transaction.

Under SFAS 133, an entity that elects to apply hedge accounting is required to establish at the inception of the
hedge the method it will use for assessing the effectiveness of the hedging derivative and the measurement and
approach for determining the ineffective aspect of the hedge. Those methods must be consistent with the entity's
approach to managing risk. This statement is effective for all fiscal quarters of fiscal years beginning after June 15,
2000.

On January 1, 2001, IFC adopted SFAS 133, and at that time, designated the derivative instruments in
accordance with the requirements of the new standard. These cash flow derivative instruments hedge the
variability of forecasted cash flows attributable to interest rate risk. Cash flow hedges are accounted for by
recording the value of the derivative instrument on the balance sheet as either an asset or liability with a
corresponding offset recorded in other comprehensive income within stockholders' equity, net of tax. Amounts are
reclassified from other comprehensive income to the inccme statement in the period the hedged cash flow occurs.
Derivative gains and losses not considered effective in hedging the change in expected cash flows of the hedged
item are recognized immediately in the income statement. With the implementation of SFAS 133, IFC recorded
pre-tax ftransition amounts associated with establishing the fair values of the derivative instruments and hedged
items outstanding as of December 31, 2000. The effect of pre-tax transition adjustments on the balance sheet and
statement of operations as of December 31, 2000 in compliance with SFAS 133 are as follows (in thousands):

Balance Sheet Adjustments:

OHDEE BSSELS ..erevvenerrrresceer e st e tssses s eaesb e s esese e s ees sesesesbese e s st sers et sene e res $ 260

Other Habilities. . ...cooeiorieerecreeereetectee ettt ettt en e ereereeereeais 1,191

Other comprehensive earnings .......co..ocvveiuiiecvesereeriire e e (914)
Statement of Operations Adjustment:

NELCAIMUIES ...vetoietiereresiiire i tr et se etk e st st teae ek st a b et eae e et r s enssonan 17

On August 10, 2001, the Derivatives Implementation Group (DIG) of the FASB published DIG G20, which
further interpreted SFAS 133. On October 1, 2001, IFC adopted the provisions of DIG G20 and net income and
accumulated other comprehensive income were adjusted »y the amount needed to reﬂect the cumulative impact of
adopting the provisions of DIG G20.

IFC hedges interest rate risk and price volatility on its mortgage loan portfolio during the time it commits to
acquire or originate mortgage loans at a pre-determined rate and the time it sells or securitizes mortgage loans. To
mitigate interest rate and price volatility risks, IFC enters into forward commitments and futures transactions. The
nature and quantity of hedging transactions are determinzd based on various factors, including market conditions
and the expected volume of mortgage loan acquisitions ard originations.

IFC enters into forward commitments and futures transactions to mitigate changes in the value of its "locked
pipeline." The locked pipeline are mortgage loans that have not yet been acquired, however, IFC has committed to
acquire the mortgage loans in the future at pre-determined rates through rate-lock commitments. IFC records the
value of its locked pipeline as it qualifies as a derivative instrument under the provisions of SFAS 133, however, it
does not qualify for hedging treatment. Therefore, the locked pipeline and the related value of forward and future
contracts is marked to market each reporting period along with a corresponding entry to non-interest income or
expense.
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IFC also enters into forward commitments and futures transactions to lock in the forecasted sale profitability
of fixed rate loans being held-for-sale. IFC generaily sells call or buys put options on U.S. Treasury bonds and
mortgage-backed securities to hedge against adverse movements of interest rates affecting the value of its
mortgage loans held-for-sale. The risk in writing a call option is that IFC gives up the opportunity for profit if the
market price of the mortgage loans increases and the option is exercised. IFC also has the additional risk of not
being able to enter into a closing transaction if a liquid secondary market does not exist. The risk of buying a put
option is limited to the premium paid for the put option. These hedges are treated as cash flow hedges under the
provisions of SFAS 133 to hedge forecasted transactions with the entire change in market value of the hedges
recorded through other comprehensive income.

10. Servicing Income

Servicing income is reported as earned, principally on a cash basis when the majority of the service process is
completed.

11. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2000, FASB issued SFAS No. 140 (SFAS 140) to replace SFAS No. 125, “Accounting for
Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities.” SFAS 140 provides the
accounting and reporting guidance for transfers and servicing of financial assets and extinguishments of liabilities.
Statement No. 140 will be the authoritative accounting literature for: (1) securitization transactions involving
financial assets; (2) sales of financial assets (including loan participations); (3) factoring transactions, (4) wash
sales; (5) servicing assets and liabilities; (6) collateralized borrowing arrangements; (7) securities lending
transactions; (8) repurchase agreements; and (9) extinguishment of liabilities. The accounting provisions are
effective for fiscal years beginning after March 31, 2001. The reclassification and disclosure provisions are
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2000. IFC adopted the disciosure required by SFAS 140
and has included all appropriate and necessary disclosures required by SFAS 140 in its financial statements and
footnotes. The adoption of the accounting provision did not have a material impact on IFC’s consolidated balance
sheet or results of operations.

In November 2000, the FASB issued Emerging Issues Task Force No. 99-20 (EITF 99-20) “Recognition of
Interest Income and Impairment on Purchased and Retained Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial Assets.”
EITF 99-20 sets forth the rules for (1) recognizing interest income, including amortization of premium or discount,
on (a) all credit sensitive mortgage assets and asset-backed securities and (b) certain prepayment-sensitive
securities and (2) determining whether these securities must be written down to fair value because of impairment.
EITF 99-20 was effective for IFC after March 31, 2001. The adoption of EITF 99-20 did not have a material
impact on IFC's consolidated balance sheet or results of operation.

Note B—Securities Available-for-Sale

On February 20, 2001, IFC purchased $5.0 million of the IMH’s Preferred Stock from LBP, Inc. (LBPI) at
cost plus accumulated dividends. On March 27, 2001, IFC purchased an additional $5.0 million of the IMH’s
Preferred Stock from LBPI for $5.25 million plus accumulated dividends. The Preferred Stock was converted into
2,118,644 shares of IMH common stock in August 2001. Subsequently, IFC sold 1.7 million shares of IMH
common stock for a gain of $3.5 million. As of December 31, 2001, IFC owned 377,028 shares of IMH common
stock with a carrying value of $3.2 million.

During 2000, IFC wrote-off substantially all of its investment securities available-for-sale, which were

secured by franchise loan receivables. As of December 31, 2001, the carrying value of franchise loan receivables
was $189,000.
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Note C-—Mortgage Loans Held-for-Sale

Mortgage loans acquired and originated by IFC are fixed rate and adjustable rate non-conforming Alt-A
mortgage loans secured by first and second liens on single-family residential properties. During the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000, IFC acquired $3.2 billion and $2.1 billion, respectively, of mortgage loans and sold
$3.3 billion and $1.9 billion, respectively, of mortgage loans. Of the mortgage loans sold by IFC during 2001 and
2000, $1.5 billien and $454.0 million, respectively, were sold to IMH including premiums of $24.4 million and
$3.3 million, respectively. At December 31, 2001 and 2000, approximately 50% and 51%, respectively, of
mortgage loans held-for-sale were collateralized by properties located in California. Mortgage loans held-for-sale
consisted of the following:

At December 31,
2001 2000
(in thousands)
Mortgage loans held-for-sale.........ococoiiinniininiiinn e s 172,204 $ 270,356
Premiums on mortgage loans held-for-sale ..........cooeovvevvvnninnnnnccnnns 2,126 5,221
Mark-to-market 1oss = SFAS 133 e, (158) —

$ 174172 § 275570

Mark-to-market loss - SFAS 133 reflects the fair valﬁe of $36.0 million in notional balance of derivative
instruments hedging mortgage loans held-for-sale. A $91,000 offset to mark-to-market loss -SFAS 133 is reflected
in other comprehensive income (loss), after applying a 42% tax rate, and $67,000 reflected in deferred taxes.

Included in other liabilities at December 31, 2001 znd 2000 is an allowance for repurchases of $2.3 million
and $300,000, respectively. '

Note D—Premises and Equipment

Premises and equipment consisted of the following:

At December 31,
2001 2000
(in thousands)
Premises and qUIPMENt.........ccoo.ooveieiiiriceciciecee sttt saa s $ 11,733 $ 8,774
Less: Accumulated depreciation............evvviieereeniineerenieecenereseeereeeeeses (6,400) (3,737
- $ 5,333 3 5,037

Note E—Mortgage Servicing Rights

Activity for mortgage servicing rights was as follows:
For the year ended December 31,

2001 2000
(in thousands)
Beginning Balance ........ccccoveiviiiivireciecercsrs st st evsee s ae e nenes $ 10,938 $ 15,621
NEt AAAIIONS ....ooveiiivicee et sree e s st e s sase et be e saesnnenseas 2,874 496
Impairment of mortgage servicing rights ........coeeeevenreennincncvescenen. (825) —
AIMOTHZAON. ....coveeerierceteerieriesieiiet st este e e sassesseses s sesese s esesesssnsnsnases (4,519) (5,179
$ 8,468 $ 10,938
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Note F—Income Taxes

[FC’s income taxes are as follows:
For the year ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(in thousands)

Current income taxes:

FeAEral....c.oovieiiee et $ 7260 §$ 42 3 248
State 2,167 1,832 2
Total current iNCOME taXES ......ocoeoviiiiiire e 9,427 1,874 250
Deferred income taxes:

Federal... oottt (924) (960) 2,115
State (203) (144) 862
Total deferred iNCOME tAXES woeveevvvmee et (1,127) (1,104) 2,977
Total ICOME tAXES.....ooeiviiie e et $ 8300 $ 770§ 3,227

IFC's effective income taxes differ from the amount determined by applying the statutory Federal rate of 35%,
34%, and 34% for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively, as follows:

2001 2000 1999
(in thousands)
Income taxes (benefit) at Federal tax rate ..........oocoeveevervievennenenne $ 6,763 § (343) § 2,570
State tax, net of Federal income tax (benefit)......... et 1,277 (89) 370
California franchise tax accrual, net of Federal income tax......... — 1,203 —
01T T 260 (1) 87
Total INCOME LAXES. ... cevivereeireeireee et et eeeeeeeee e eeeeeresenereeeresnanes $ 8300 $§ 770 § 3,227

The tax effected cumulative temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities as of

December 31, 2001 and 2000 are as follows:
2001 2000

(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Deferred TEVEIUE ......c...ooivieiceeee e ettt ee e st evbe e e e ranabe e $ 1,867 §$ 2,041
Forward COmMMIMENTS. .....o..ocoii ittt ss et e ere v raesensnenn — 8
Depreciation and amortiZation .............ccc.coveviveivoueesees i ersses e eresssessasnesese 505 105
SAlArY ACCIUALS. ...cveecvieviiieie ittt e bt e et e e et ae s e erbeasae e ensesasressans 1,086 328
Other ACCTUALS....eeueieci ettt r et creestaass e s e ss s e et eansaasssenss s ssnsansnasn 1,035 831
Loan mark-t0-Market..........c..ooecvvveieiiiiee e et steere e et s s sesaanenene s 252 94
NON-2CCTUAL L0AMS....coi ittt a e b s sa e st areens 55 100
ACCIUEH INLETESE.......oviiieiieiiiceiciiee ettt iee et e beebeeeassnesasseetesssesbaeesssnseensenas 281 273
REMIC IIEEIESE ..ovviveectiete ettt ettt eev et eeb st e ester et sesssvesebesnbesnaesasenne — 118
State FANCHISE TAX ..ovveciiiiiiiecce ettt 759 620
Provision for TEpUIChases .......cccc.oceieiiiiiniici vt ce e e et 972 121
CONtIIDULION CAITYOVET .....ooviiieieiieiiiec v eeeievee et evesaesse s st e ssnsesnasssesesneneessesenas —_ 5
Minimum tax credit:........coovivreiiiieec e erertre et e e — et be s areaneraeererren — 233
NEt OPETALING 10SS......vvveieriririrereis ettt tent ittt rase s sanbens — 1,458
Total gross deferred taX @SSEIS.......ccviirieeiieiorierieereereee et seeenee e ereseseseans 6,812 6,335
Deferred tax liabilities:
Mortgage servicing rights........ccccoieeeiriieiicerin e cveseveennd rreeareenreareeseeanne 3,530 4269
Deferred ZaiN.....ccoooo. oottt ettt 223 174
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REMIC 0ETESt <..orreee oot 40 —
Total gross deferred tax Habilities .............cccevvveecenrierninin e, 3,793 4,443
Net deferred tax (asset) Hability ..........c.ccoveveiiiiiiiie e $ (3,019 $ (1,892)

As of December 31, 2001, IFC has no net operatitg loss carry-forwards for federal and state income tax
purposes, and no minimum tax carry-forward for federal purposes.

IFC believes that the deferred tax asset will more likely than not be realized due to the reversal of the deferred
tax Hability and expected future taxable income. In determining the possible future realization of deferred tax
assets, future taxable income from the following sources are taken into account: (a) the reversal of taxable
temporary differences, (b) future operations exclusive of reversing temporary differences and (c) tax planning
strategies that, if necessary, would be implemented to accelerate taxable income into years in which net operating
losses might otherwise expire.

Note G—Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The estimated fair value amounts have been determined by IFC using available market information and
appropriate valuation methodologies, however, considerable judgment is necessarily required to interpret market
data to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented are not necessarily indicative of
the amounts IFC could realize in a current market exchange. The use of different market assumptions and/or
estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Assets (in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents..........cc..ccovvrerrrcrmvrcnrrirrerirennnnes $ 28612 § 28612 § 8,281 § 8,281
Securities available-for-sale ........c.coooevevveinneviiieecerieee, 3,394 3,394 266 266
Mortgage loans held-for-sale, including derivative assets .. 174,172 174,187 275,570 281,126
Liabilities

Borrowings from IWLG ........cccoveviveiinenvenceeerec e . 174,136 174,136 266,994 266,994
Due t0 affiliates .....coceererereervereeieierenisiereceee s sees e ecranens 14,500 14,500 14,500 14,500
— 20

LOAN COMMILINENES ...o.vcvverevrvercrerreermsrosissssesemsessrmsssssessssesesssesss — —

The fair value estimates as of December 31, 2001 ind 2000 are based on pertinent information available to
management as of that date. Although management is nct aware of any factors that would significantly affect the
estimated fair value amounts, such amounts have not been comprehensively revalued for purposes of these
financial statements since those dates and, therefore, current estimates of fair value may differ significantly from

the amounts presented.
The following describes the methods and assumptions used by IFC in estimating fair values:
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Fair value approximates carrying amounts as these instruments are demand deposits and do not present
unanticipated interest rate or credit concerns.

Securities Available-for-Sale

To determine the value of the securities, IFC estimates future rates of prepayments, prepayment penalties to
be received, delinquencies, defaults and default loss severity and their impact on estimated cash flows.
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Mortgage Loans Held-for-Sale

Fair value of mortgage loans held-for-sale is estimated based on quoted market prices from dealers and
brokers for similar types of mortgage loans. '

Borrowings from IWLG

Fair value approximates carrying amounts because of the short-term maturity of the liabilities.
Other Borrowings |

Fair value approximates carrying amounts because of the short-term maturity of the liabilities.
Due From / To Affiliates

Fair value approximates carrying amounts because of the short-term maturity of the liabilities and does not
present unanticipated interest rate or credit concerns.

Loan Commitments
Fair value of loan commitments is determined in the aggregate based on current investor yield requirements.
Note H—Employee Benefit Plans
Profit Sﬁaring and 401(k) Plan

After meeting certain employment requirements, employees of I[FC can participate in the 401(k) plan. Under
IFC’s 401(k) plan, employees may contribute up to 15% of their salaries. [FC will match 50% of the first 4% of
employee contributions. Additional contributions may be made at the discretion of IFC. IFC recorded
approximately $604,000, $384,000 and $135,000 for matching and discretionary contributions during 2001, 2000
and 1999, respectively.

Note I—Related Party Transactions
Related Party Cost Allocations

IFC charges IMH and IWLG for management and operating services based upon-usage which management
believes is reasonable. Total cost allocations charged by IFC to IMH and IWLG for the years ended December 31,
2001, and 2000 were $1.7 million, and $1.5 million, respectively.

During 1999, IMH and IWLG were allocated data processing, executive and operations management, and
accounting services that IFC incurred during the normal course of business per IFC’s submanagement agreement
with RAI Advisors Inc. (RAI). IFC, through RAI, charged Impac Commercial Holdings, Inc. (ICH) for
management and operating services based upon usage which management believes was reasonable. In May 1999,
the submanagement agreement with RAI was terminated and IFC entered into a new submanagement agreement
with FIC Management, Inc., pursuant to which IFC continue to provide services to ICH. This agreement expired in
December 1999. IMH and IWLG were allocated data processing, executive and operations management, and
accounting services that IFC incurred during the normal course of business under the submanagement agreement
with RAI IFC charged IMH and IWLG for these services based upon usage, which management believes was
reasonable. Total cost allocations charged to IMH and IWLG by IFC for the year ended December 31, 1999 were
$1.2 million. '
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In December 1997, IFC entered into a services agreement with Imperial Credit Advisors, Inc. (ICAI), a
subsidiary of ICII, under which ICAI provided various services to IFC, including data processing, human resource
administration, general ledger accounts, check processing, remittance processing and payment of accounts payable.
ICAI charged fees for each of the services based upon usage. The charge to IFC for coverage was based upon a pro
rata portion of costs ICAI incurred for its various services. Total allocation of expense for the years ended
December 31, 2000, and 1999 was $215,000 and $18(,000, respectively. IFC began providing its own services in
January 2001.

On December 10, 2001, IFC provided William B. Ashmore, President and Chief Operating Officer of IFC,
with a $600,000 adjustable rate mortgage loan to provide financing with an initial rate of 4.13%. In the opinion of
management, the loan was in the ordinary course of business, substantially on the same terms, including interest
rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with unrelated persons.

On November 15, 2001, IFC provided Richard J. Johnson, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of IFC, with a $140,000 fixed rate loan to provide mortgage financing with an interest rate of 6.50%. In the
opinion of management, the loan was in the ordinary course of business, substantially on the same terms, including
interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the tiine for comparable transactions with unrelated persons.

Lease Agreement. IMH and IFC entered into a premises operating sublease agreement to rent approximately
74,000 square feet of office space in Newport Beach, California, for a ten-year term, which expires in May 2008.
IMH and IFC pay monthly rental expenses and allocate the cost to subsidiaries and affiliated companies on the
basis of square footage occupied. The majority of occapancy charges incurred were paid by IFC as most of the
Company’s employees are employed by the mortgage operations. Total rental expense for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 were $2.0 million, $1.6 million, and $1.1 million, respectively, of which $1.9
million, $1.5 million and $1.0 million, respectively, was paid by IFC.

Credit Arrangements — Current

IFC maintains a warehouse financing facility with IWLG. Advances under the warehouse facility bears
interest at Bank of America’s prime rate minus 0.50%. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, amounts outstanding
on IFC’s warehouse line with IWLG were $174.1 million and $267.0 million, respectively. Interest expense
recorded by IFC related to warehouse line with IWLG for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999,
was $18.4 million, $28.1 million, and $18.4 million, respectively.

During the normal course of business, IFC may advance or borrow funds on a short-term basis with affiliated
companies. Advances to affiliates are reflected as “Due from affiliates,” while borrowings are reflected as “Due to
affiliates” on IFC’s balance sheet. These short-term advances and borrowings bear interest at a fixed rate of 8.00%
per annum. Interest income recorded by IFC related tc short-term advances with affiliates for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 was $758,000, $161,000 and $463,000, respectively. Interest expense
recorded by IFC related to short-term advances with affiliates for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999 was $632,000, $226,000 and $977,000, respectively.

During 1999, IFC was advanced $14.5 million in cash from IMH at an interest rate of 9.50% per annum in
exchange for an interest only note due June 30, 2004, in anticipation of the initial capitalization of a California
Thrift and Loan and to fund the operations of IFC and other strategic opportunities deemed appropriate by IFC.
Interest expense recorded by IFC for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 related to this note was
$1.4 million $1.4 million, and $696,000, respectively.
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Credit Arrangements — Expired

In January 1999, ILG obtained a warehouse financing facility with IWLG. Advances under the warchouse
facility bore interest at prime. As of December 31, 1999, amounts outstanding on ILG's warehouse line with
IWLG were $1.2 million. Interest expense recorded by ILG related to its warehouse line provided by IWLG for
the year ended December 31, 1999 was $293,000. At January 1, 2000, ILG became a division of IFC and
borrowings from IWLG were consolidated with [FC's borrowings.

Transactions with IMH and IWLG .

Sale of Mortgage Loans: During the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, IFC sold to IMH mortgage
loans having a principal balance of $1.5 billion and $450.7 million, respectively, at premiums of $22.4 million and
$3.3 million, respectively. Servicing rights on all mortgages purchased by IMH were retained by IFC.

Note J—Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

. As part of IFC's secondary marketing activities, IFC utilizes option and futures contracts to hedge the value of
loans originated for sale against adverse changes in interest rates. These cash flow derivative instruments hedge the
variability of forecasted cash flows attributable to interest rate risk. Cash flow hedges are accounted for by
recording the value of the derivative instrument on the balance sheet as either an asset or liability with a
corresponding offset recorded in other comprehensive income within stockholders' equity, net of tax. Amounts are

- reclassified from other comprehensive income to the income statement in the period the hedged cash flow occurs.
Derivative gains and losses not considered effective in hedging the change in expected cash flows of the hedged
item are recognized immediately in the income statement.

IFC hedges interest rate risk and price volatility on its mortgage loan portfolio during the time it commits to
acquire or originate mortgage loans at a pre-determined rate and the time it sells or securitizes mortgage loans. To
mitigate interest rate and price volatility risks, IFC enters into forward commitments and futures transactions. The
nature and quantity of hedging transactions are determined based on various factors, including market conditions
and the expected volume of mortgage loan acquisitions and originations.

IFC enters into forward commitments and futures transactions to mitigate changes in the value of its "locked
pipeline.” The locked pipeline are mortgage loans that have not yet been acquired, however, IFC has committed to
acquire the mortgage loans in the future at pre-determined rates through rate-lock commitments. IFC records the
value of its locked pipeline as it qualifies as a derivative instrument under the provisions of SFAS 133, however, it
does not qualify for hedging treatment. Therefore, the locked pipeline and the related value of forward and future
contracts is marked to market each reporting period along with a corresponding entry to non-interest income or
expense.

IFC also enters into forward commitments and futures transactions to lock in the forecasted sale profitability
of fixed rate loans being held-for-sale. IFC generally sells call or buys put options on U.S. Treasury bonds and
mortgage-backed securities to hedge against adverse movements of interest rates affecting the value of its
mortgage loans held-for-sale. The risk in writing a call option is that IFC gives up the opportunity for profit if the
market price of the mortgage loans increases and the option is exercised. IFC also has the additional risk of not
being able to enter into a closing transaction if a liquid secondary market does not exist. The risk of buying a put
option is limited to the premium paid for the put option. These hedges are treated as cash flow hedges under the
provisions of SFAS 133 to hedge forecasted transactions with the entire change in market value of the hedges
recorded through other comprehensive income.

As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, IFC had $48.0 million and $29.0 million, respectively, in outstanding

commitments-to sell mortgage loans through mortgage-backed securities. These commitments allow IFC to enter
into mandatory commitments when IFC notifies the investor of its intent to exercise a portion of the forward
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complaint captioned Hayes v Impac Funding Corporation, et al was filed in the Circuit Court of Vanderburgh
County, Indiana as Case No. 82C01-0110-CP580. This is stated as a purported class action lawsuit alleging a
violation of the Indiana Uniform Consumer Credit Code when the loans were originated. On November 30, 2001 a
complaint captioned Garry Lee Skinner and Judy Cooper Skinner, et al. v. Preferred Credit, et al. was filed in the
Superior Court of Durham County, North Carolina as Case No. 1CV-05596. This is stated as a purported class
action alleging a violation of the North Carolina Inierest Statutes and Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act
when the secondary mortgage loans were originated by the defendants.

All of the purported class action lawsuits are similar in nature in that they allege that the mortgage loan
originators violated the respective state’s statutes by charging excessive. fees and costs when making second
mortgage loans on residential real estate. The complaints allege that IFC was a purchaser, and is a holder, along
with other IMH-related entities, of second mortgage loans originated by other lenders. The plaintiffs in the
lawsuits are seeking damages that include disgorgement, restitution, rescission, actual damages, statutory damages,
exemplary damages, and punitive damages. Damages are unspecified in each of the complaints.

Additionally, on November 26, 2001, a complaint captioned Sumner N. Doxie v. Impac Funding Corp. was
filed in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois as Case No. 011015153, which was subsequently removed to
the United States District Court for the Northern District of [llinois, Eastern Division, as Case No. 01C9835. This
is stated as a purported class action alleging consumer fraud in connection with the defendant’s practice of
charging appraisal review fees on its mortgage loans, and alleging violations of the [llinois Consumer Fraud Act
for the unauthorized practice of law by performing dccument preparation services for a fee in connection with its
mortgage loans. The plaintiffs in the lawsuit are seeking damages that include punitive damages, compensatory
damages, attorney’s fees, and litigation costs.

The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the above claims and intends to defend these claims
vigorously. Nevertheless, litigation is uncertain, and the Company may not prevail in the lawsuits and can express
no opinion as to its ultimate outcome. :

The Company is a party to litigation and claims, vhich are normal in the course of its operations. While the
results of such litigation and claims cannot be predictec| with certainty, the Company believes the final outcome of
such matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Note L—Retained Interests in Securitizations

During 2001, IFC sold $1.7 billion of mortgage loans through the issuance of REMIC securitizations. IFC sold
to third party investors all mortgage-backed securities and MSRs created from REMICs at the time of
securitization. However, IFC retained master servicing fees on all securitizations by virtue of its responsibilities as
master servicer. IFC generally earns 0.03% per annum cn the declining principal balance of loans master serviced.
The vaiue of master servicing fees is subject to prepayment and interest rate risks on the transferred financial
assets. The retained interest in master servicing fees is included in mortgage servicing rights on the balance sheet.
During 2001, the fair value assigned to the retained interest in master servicing fees at the date of securitization
was $2.9 million. :

IFC uses certain assumptions and estimates in deteimining the fair value allocated to the retained interest at
the time of initial sale and each subsequent sale in accordance with SFAS 140. These assumptions and estimates
include projections for loan prepayment rates and discount rates commensurate with the risks involved. These
assumptions are reviewed periodically by management. 1T these assumptions change, the related asset and income
would be affected. At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the carrying amount and estimated fair value of MSRs was
$8.5 million and $10.9 million, respectively. As of Deceraber 31, 2001, IFC had $174.2 million of mortgage loans
held-for-sale that were available for securitization.
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Note F—Income Taxes

1FC’s income taxes are as follows:
For the year ended December 31,
2601 2000 1999

(in thousands)

Current income taxes:

FEACTAL...o. oottt $ 7,260 $ 42 8 248
State 2,167 1,832 2
Total current INCOME TAXES .vvveeiiiriieeri e ceieere e 9,427 1,874 250
Deferred income taxes:

Federal....ooooeiriiieie et e (924) (960) 2,115
State {203) (144) 362
Total deferred INCOME tAXES c..ovveeiiieiieicee e e (1,127 (1,104) 2,977
Total INCOME tAXES. ...eveeeeeecer et etr e $ 3,300 $ 770 3§ 3,227

IFC's effective income taxes differ from the amount determined by applying the statutory Federal rate of 35%,
34%, and 34% for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively, as follows:

2001 2000 1999
(in thousands)
Income taxes (benefit) at Federal tax rate .......c..ccceveveviiecnrcnnnnn $ 6,763 % (343) § 2,570
State tax, net of Federal income tax (benefit)...........ooooeiine. 1,277 (89) 570
California franchise tax accrual, net of Federal income tax ......... — 1,203 —
ORET ettt ettt stere et sn e e e ae et b s enbens 260 (1) 87
TOtal INCOMIE LAXES. ... oot eeeeseee e e eeeeeeernen 3 8,300 $ 770 $ 3,227

The tax effected cumulative temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities as of
December 31, 2001 and 2000 are as follows:

2001 2000
(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets: ‘
DEfEITEA FEVEIUE ...t ea et e ee ettt ove vt et e se et eeeneseenssnnesanerssaneeareen $ 1,867 § 2,041
Forward COMMILMENTS. ..ottt eee st seecein e teererenaesas s sranetnanas — 8
Depreciation and amortiZalion ..........cccvveiiieeccicienvc e crercecsirceaeresseesasnas 505 105
SAlAIY ACCIUAIS. covvrviere ettt sttt et nere e sessasabe e 1,086 328
OthEr ACCTUALS. ..o e et s et e s e s e esaneraaae s b aasrenaranetee 1,035 831
Loan mark-f0-Markel............ccoeeveiriiie ittt ees e s sseeeseseeess s soboeonas 252 94
NOR-ACCTUAL IOANS ...cvivieteiiere ettt e s e e senens 55 100
ACCTUEA INLETEST...c..eeveiiietiieiier i ettt et ebe s s v st ras et seer e e sae s senesaores 281 273
REMIC IRLBIESE ......ocveviciieiii ettt ekt sa st e sabe sesanan — 118
State franchisSe taX ....coociiove et st et ne e 759 620
Provision for repurchases ........c.ccovrverrn e e 972 121
CORITIDULION CAITYOVET .....vovviieiiiiiecire e svctere e e restsess st s e e as e sesbe b s svensens — 5
Minimum tax credit.........coooeerereiiieeiii e, tereer et et e e s st b et rons — 233
Net Operating 10SS......c.covieriiiieii e — 1,458

Total gross deferred tax 8SSetS.......coovivivreirrererrenirieercrercreere s sseneaes 6,812 6,335
Deferred tax liabilities:
Mortgage serviCing TIZHS.....cccocciiriiriniiricccse e e s e 3,530 4,269
Deferred ZaiN.......ooce i ettt e 223 174




——ETE

IMPAC FUNDING CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMIC INEEIESE ..ottt eeeeeee et e s eea st e et sseessan s e s e e sbesnnesanees 40 —
Total gross deferred tax liabilities .............ocecvirmvecnniiice e 3,793 4,443
Net deferred tax (asset) Hability ..............ccccovirevecirieceiiee e creererieens $ (3019 $ (1,892

As of December 31, 2001, IFC has no net operating loss carry-forwards for federal and state income tax
purposes, and no minimum tax carry-forward for federal purposes.

IFC believes that the deferred tax asset will more likely than not be realized due to the reversal of the deferred
tax liability and expected future taxable income. In determining the possible future realization of deferred tax
assets, future taxable income from the following sources are taken into account: (a) the reversal of taxable
temporary differences, (b) future operations exclusive of reversing temporary differences and (c) tax planning
strategies that, if necessary, would be implemented to accelerate taxable income into years in which net operating
losses might otherwise expire.

Note G—Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The estimated fair value amounts have been determined by IFC using available market information and
appropriate valuation methodologies, however, considerable judgment is necessarily required to interpret market
data to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented are not necessarily indicative of
the amounts IFC could realize in a current market exchange. The use of different market assumptions and/or
estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Assets (in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents........ccocoeeeervvevievcrieeeeeceeene $ 28612 § 28612 § 8,281 § 8,281
Securities available-for-sale..........cccovvvrevvrveerercicririirns . 3,394 3,394 266 266
Mortgage loans held-for-sale, including derivative assets .. 174,172 174,187 275,570 281,126
Liabilities
Borrowings from IWLG..........ccceevvvvnviiinireccsisc s, 174,136 174,136 266,994 266,994
Due t0 affiliates ......ccovveverecenrvennrerieneirnne e erecee s snserinns 14,500 14,500 14,500 14,500

Loan COIMMULIMENLS .......coeevimerrenssieesisisimsssssssessasessesssssssrosasens — —_ — 20

The fair value estimates as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 are based on pertinent information available to
management as of that date. Although management is not aware of any factors that would significantly affect the
estimated fair value amounts, such amounts have not been comprehensively revalued for purposes of these
financial statements since those dates and, therefore, current estimates of fair value may differ significantly from

the amounts presented.
The following describes the methods and assumptions used by IFC in estimating fair values:
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Fair value approximates carrying amounts as these instruments are demand deposits and do not present
unanticipated interest rate or credit concerns.

Securities Available-for-Sale
To determine the value of the securities, IFC estimates future rates of prepayments, prepayment penalties to

be received, delinquencies, defaults and default loss severity and their impact on estimated cash flows.
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Mortgage Loans Held-for-Sale

Fair value of mortgage loans held-for-sale is estimated based on quoted market prices from dealers and
brokers for similar types of mortgage loans. ’

Borrowings from IWNLG

Fair value approximates carrying amounts because of the short-term maturity of the liabilities.
Other Borrowings |

Fair value approximates carrying amounts because of the short-term maturity of the liabilities.
Due From/ To Affiliates

Fair value approximates carrying amounts because of the short-term maturity of the liabilities and does not
present unanticipated interest rate or credit concerns.

Loan Commitments
Fair value of loan commitments is determined in the aggregate based on current investor yield requirements.
Note YH—-E mployee Benefit Plans
Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan

After meeting certain employment requirements, employees of IFC can participate in the 401(k) plan. Under
IFC’s 401(k) plan, employees may contribute up to 15% of their salaries. IFC will match 50% of the first 4% of
employee contributions. Additional contributions may be made at the discretion of IFC. IFC recorded
approximately $604,000, $384,000 and $135,000 for matching and discretionary contributions during 2001, 2000
and 1999, respectively.

Note I—Related Party Transactions
Related Party Cost Allocations

IFC charges IMH and IWLG for management and operating services based upon usage which management
believes is reasonable. Total cost allocations charged by IFC to IMH and IWLG for the years ended December 31,
2001, and 2000 were $1.7 million, and $1.5 million, respectively.

During 1999, IMH and IWLG were allocated data processing, executive and operations management, and
accounting services that IFC incurred during the normal course of business per IFC’s submanagement agreement
with RAI Advisors Inc. (RAI). IFC, through RAIL charged Impac Commercial Holdings, Inc. (ICH) for
management and operating services based upon usage which management believes was reasonable. In May 1999,
the submanagement agreement with RAI was terminated and IFC entered into a new submanagement agreement
with FIC Management, Inc., pursuant to which IFC continue to provide services to ICH. This agreement expired in
December 1999. IMH and IWLG were allocated data processing, executive and operations management, and
accounting services that IFC incurred during the normal course of business under the submanagement agreement
with RAL IFC charged IMH and IWLG for these services based upon usage, which management believes was
reasonable. Total cost allocations charged to IMH and IWLG by IFC for the year ended December 31, 1999 were
$1.2 million. '
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In December 1997, IFC entered into a services agreement with Imperial Credit Advisors, Inc. (ICAI), a
subsidiary of ICII, under which ICAI provided various services to IFC, including data processing, human resource
administration, general ledger accounts, check processing, remittance processing and payment of accounts payable.
ICAI charged fees for each of the services based upon usage. The charge to IFC for coverage was based upon a pro
rata portion of costs ICAI incurred for its various services. Total allocation of expense for the years ended
December 31, 2000, and 1999 was $215,000 and $180,000, respectively. IFC began providing its own services in
January 2001.

On December 10, 2001, IFC provided William B. Ashmore, President and Chief Operating Officer of IFC,
with a $600,000 adjustable rate mortgage loan to provide financing with an initial rate of 4.13%. In the opinion of
management, the loan was in the ordinary course of business, substantially on the same terms, including interest
rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with unrelated persons.

On November 15, 2001, IFC provided Richard . Johnson, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of IFC, with a $140,000 fixed rate loan to provide mortgage financing with an interest rate of 6.50%. In the
opinion of management, the loan was in the ordinary course of business, substantially on the same terms, including
interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with unrelated persons.

Lease Agreement: IMH and IFC entered into a premises operating sublease agreement to rent approximately
74,000 square feet of office space in Newport Beach, California, for a ten-year term, which expires in May 2008.
IMH and IFC pay monthly rental expenses and allocate the cost to subsidiaries and affiliated companies on the
basis of square footage occupied. The majority of occupancy charges incurred were paid by IFC as most of the
Company’s employees are employed by the mortgage operations. Total rental expense for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 were $2.0 million, $1.6 million, and $1.1 million, respectively, of which $1.9
million, $1.5 million and $1.0 million, respectively, was paid by IFC.

Credit Arrangements — Current

IFC maintains a warehouse financing facility with IWLG. Advances under the warehouse facility bears
interest at Bank of America’s prime rate minus 0.50%. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, amounts outstanding
on IFC’s warehouse line with IWLG were $174.1 million and $267.0 million, respectively. Interest expense
recorded by IFC related to warehouse line with IWLG for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999,
was $18.4 million, $28.1 million, and $18.4 million, respectively.

During the normal course of business, IFC may advance or borrow funds on a short-term basis with affiliated
companies. Advances to affiliates are reflected as “Due from affiliates,” while borrowings are reflected as “Due to
affiliates” on IFC’s balance sheet. These short-term advances and borrowings bear interest at a fixed rate of 8.00%
per annum. Interest income recorded by IFC related to short-term advances with affiliates for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 was $758,000, $161,000 and $463,000, respectively. Interest expense
recorded by IFC related to short-term advances with affiliates for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999 was $632,000, $226,000 and $977,000, respectively.

During 1999, IFC was advanced $14.5 million in cash from IMH at an interest rate of 9.50% per annum in
exchange for an interest only note due June 30, 2004, in anticipation of the initial capitalization of a California
Thrift and Loan and to fund the operations of IFC and cther strategic opportunities deemed appropriate by IFC.
Interest expense recorded by IFC for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 related to this note was
$1.4 million $1.4 million, and $696,000, respectively.
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Credit Arrangements — Expired

In January 1999, ILG obtained a warehouse financing facility with IWLG. Advances under the warehouse
facility bore interest at prime. As of December 31, 1999, amounts outstanding on ILG’s warehouse line with
IWLG were $1.2 million. Interest expense recorded by ILG related to its warehouse line provided by IWLG for
the year ended December 31, 1999 was $293,000. At January 1, 2000, ILG became a division of [FC and
borrowings from IWLG were consolidated with IFC's borrowings.

Transactions with IMH and IWLG

Sale of Mortgage Loans: During the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, IFC sold to IMH mortgage
loans having a principal balance of $1.5 billion and $450.7 million, respectively, at premiums of $22.4 million and
$3.3 million, respectively. Servicing rights on all mortgages purchased by IMH were retained by IFC.

Note J—Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

- As part of IFC's secondary marketing activities, IFC utilizes option and futures contracts to hedge the value of
loans originated for sale against adverse changes in interest rates. These cash flow derivative instruments hedge the
variability of forecasted cash flows attributable to interest rate risk. Cash flow hedges are accounted for by
recording the value of the derivative instrument on the balance sheet as either an asset or liability with a
corresponding offset recorded in other comprehensive income within stockholders’ equity, net of tax. Amounts are
reclassified from other comprehensive income to the income statement in the period the hedged cash flow occurs.
Derivative gains and losses not considered effective in hedging the change in expected cash flows of the hedged
item are recognized immediately in the income statement.

IFC hedges interest rate risk and price volatility on its mortgage loan portfolio during the time it commits to
acquire or originate mortgage loans at a pre-determined rate and the time it sells or securitizes mortgage loans. To
mitigate interest rate and price volatility risks, IFC enters into forward commitments and futures transactions. The
nature and quantity of hedging transactions are determined based on various factors, including market conditions
and the expected volume of mortgage loan acquisitions and originations.

IFC enters into forward commitments and futures transactions to mitigate changes in the value of its "locked
pipeline." The locked pipeline are mortgage loans that have not yet been acquired, however, IFC has committed to
acquire the mortgage loans in the future at pre-determined rates through rate-lock commitments. IFC records the
value of its locked pipeline as it qualifies as a derivative instrument under the provisions of SFAS 133, however, it
does not qualify for hedging treatment. Therefore, the locked pipeline and the related value of forward and future
contracts is marked to market each reporting period along with a corresponding entry to non-interest income or
expense.

IFC also enters into forward commitments and futures transactions to lock in the forecasted sale profitability
of fixed rate loans being held-for-sale. IFC generally sells call or buys put options on U.S. Treasury bonds and
mortgage-backed securities to hedge against adverse movements of interest rates affecting the value of its
mortgage loans held-for-sale. The risk in writing a call option is that IFC gives up the opportunity for profit if the
market price of the mortgage loans increases and the option is exercised. IFC also has the additional risk of not
being able to enter into a closing transaction if a liquid secondary market does not exist. The risk of buying a put
option is limited to the premium paid for the put option. These hedges are treated as cash flow hedges under the
provisions of SFAS 133 to hedge forecasted transactions with the entire change in market value of the hedges
recorded through other comprehensive income.

As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, IFC had $48.0 million and $29.0 million, respectively, in outstanding

commitments to sell mortgage loans through mortgage-backed securities. These commitments allow IFC to enter
into mandatory commitments when IFC notifies the investor of its intent to exercise a portion of the forward
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delivery contracts. IFC was not obligated under mindatory commitments to deliver loans to such investors at
December 31, 2001 and 2000. The credit risk of forward contracts relates to the counterparties’ ability to perform
under the contract. IFC evaluates counterparties besed on their ability to perform prior to entering into any
agreements.

As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, IFC had written option contracts with an outstanding principal balance of
$5.0 million and $10.0 million, respectively. IFC may sell call or buy put options on U.S. Treasury bonds and
morigage-backed securities. The risk in writing a call option is that IFC gives up the opportunity for profit if the
market price of the mortgage loans increases and the option is exercised. IFC also has the additional risk of not
being able to enter into a closing transaction if a liquid secondary market does not exist. The risk of buying a put
option is limited to the premium IFC paid for the put option.

The following table preseﬁts certain information related to derivative instruments and hedging activities as of
December 31, 2001 (dollars in thousands):

Related
Original Fair Amount Related Amount
Notional Value Related Amount in Amount in Other
Face of Amount in Deferred in Loans Assets/
Amount _ Derivatives _in OCI _ _ Earnings Taxes Held-for-Sale _Liabilities
FNMA forward
commitments
hedging loans held-
for-sale.............c...... $ 36,000 $ (158) $ ©®on 3 — 8 67) $ (158) $ —
FNMA forward :
ﬁoglminnqntsl_
edging pipeline ....... 12,000 — — 72) — — 72
Valu% _o% Igcg(ed
Opipelme ..................... 140,379 —_ — 401 — — (401)
tion on FNMA
orward ..o, 5,000 2 — 2) — — 2
Totals....ccoeeveerennnns $ 193,379 $ (156) § 91 $ 327 § 67 $ (158) $ (327)

Note K—Commitments and Contingencies
Master Servicing

Properties securing mortgage loans in IFC’s master servicing portfolio are primarily located in California. As
of December 31, 2001 and 2000, approximately 46% and 39%, respectively, of mortgage loans in IFC’s master
servicing portfolio were located in California. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, IFC was master servicing loans
totaling approximately $5.6 billion and $4.0 billion, respectively, of which $3.8 billion and $3.9 billion,
respectively, were serviced for others. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, IFC is the master servicer for $3.1
billion and $2.6 billion, respectively, of loans collateralizing fixed rate REMIC securities and $2.1 billion and $1.3
billion, respectively, of loans collateralizing CMOs. Related fiduciary funds are held in trust for investors in non-
interest bearing accounts. These funds are segregated in special bank accounts.

Master Commitments

IFC establishes mortgage loan purchase commitments (Master Commitments) with sellers that, subject to
certain conditions, entitle the seller to sell and obligate IFC to purchase a specified dollar amount of non-
conforming mortgage loans over a period generally ranging from six months to one year. The terms of each Master
Commitment specify whether a seller may sell loans to II°C on a mandatory, best efforts or optional basis. Master
commitments generally do not obligate IFC to purchase loans at a specific price, but rather provide the seller with
a future outlet for the sale of its originated loans based on IFC’s quoted prices at the time of purchase. As of
December 31, 2001 and 2000, IFC had outstanding short term Master Commitments with 156 and 135 sellers,
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respectively, to purchase mortgage loans in the aggregate principal amount of $2.5 billion and $2.1 billion,
respectively, over periods ranging from six months to one year, of which $1.3 billion and $1.2 billion, respectively,
had been purchased or committed to be purchased pursuant to rate locks. These rate-locks were made pursuant to
Master Commitments, bulk rate-locks and other negotiated rate-locks. There is no exposure to credit loss in this
type of commitment until the loans are funded, and interest rate risk associated with the short-term commitments is
mitigated by the use of forward contracts to sell loans to investors.

Following the issuance of a specific rate-lock, IFC is subject to the risk of interest rate fluctuations and enters
into hedging transactions to diminish such risk. Hedging transactions may include mandatory or optional forward
sales of mortgage loans or mortgage-backed securities, interest rate caps, floors and swaps, mandatory forward
sales, mandatory or optional sales of futures, and other financial futures transactions. The nature and quantity of
hedging transactions are determined by the management of IFC based on various factors, including market
conditions and the expected volume of mortgage loan purchases.

Sales of Loans and Servicing Rights

In the ordinary course of business, IFC is exposed to liability under representations and warranties made to
purchasers and insurers of mortgage loans and the purchasers of servicing rights. Under certain circumstances, IFC
is required to repurchase mortgage loans if there has been a breach of representations or warranties. In the opinion
of management, the potential exposure related to these representations and warranties will not have a material
adverse effect on IFC's financial condition and results of operations. At December 31, 2001 and 2000, included in
other liabilities are $2.3 million and $300,000, respectively, in allowances for repurchases related to possible off-
balance sheet recourse and repurchase agreement provisions.

Lease Commitiments

IFC has entered in premise operating leases with minimum rental commitments under non-cancelable leases
of $1.1 million through 2004.

Legal Proceedings

On September 1, 2000, a complaint captioned Michael P. and Shellie Gilmor v. Preferred Credit Corporation
and Impac Funding Corporation, et. al. was filed in the United States District Court for the Western District of
Missouri, Case No. 4-00-00795-SOW, as a purported class action lawsuit alleging that the defendants violated
Missouri’s Second Loans Act and Merchandising Practices Act. In July 2001, the Missouri complaint was
amended to include IMH and other IMH-related entities. The plaintiffs in the Gilmor lawsuit are also alleging a
defendant class action. On July 26, 2001, a complaint captioned James and Jill Baker, et al. v. Century Financial
Group, Inc., et al., was filed in the Circuit Court of Clay County, Missouri, Case No. CV100-4294CC as a
purported class action. This lawsuit alleges violations of Missouri’s Second Loans Act and Merchandising
Practices Act. The plaintiffs in the Baker action also allege a defendant class action. The Company has filed a
Motion to Dismiss this action and the Plaintiffs have agreed not to oppose the motion and to allow the matter to be
dismissed without prejudice. On August 2, 2001, a complaint captioned Frazier, et al. v. Preferred Credit, et al.,
was filed in the Circuit Court of Tennessee for the Thirtieth Judicial District at Memphis, Case No. CT004762-01.
This is also stated as a purported class action lawsuit alleging violations of Tennessee’s usury statute and
Consumer Protection Act. On August 8, 2001, a complaint captioned Mattie L. Street v. PSB Lending Corp., et
al., was filed in the Circuit Court of Tennessee for the Thirtieth Judicial District at Memphis, Case No. CT004888-
01. The Street action is also stated as a purported class action lawsuit alleging violations of Tennessee’s usury
statute and Consumer Protection Act. On October 2, 2001, a complaint captioned Deborah Searcy, Shirley
Walker, et. al. vs. Impac Funding Corporation, Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. et. al. was filed in the Wayne
County Circuit Court, State of Michigan, as a purported class action lawsuit alleging that the defendants violated
Michigan’s Secondary Mortgage Loan Act, Credit Reform Act and Consumer Protection Act. Except for the
Searcy case in Michigan, all of the foregoing cases have been removed to federal court. On October 10, 2001 a
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complaint captioned Hayes v Impac Funding Corporation, et al was filed in the Circuit Court of Vanderburgh
County, Indiana as Case No. 82C01-0110-CP580. This is stated as a purported class action lawsuit alleging a
violation of the Indiana Uniform Consumer Credit Cod: when the loans were originated. On November 30, 2001 a
complaint captioned Garry Lee Skinner and Judy Cooper Skinner, et al. v. Preferred Credit, et al. was filed in the
Superior Court of Durham County, North Carolina as Case No. 1CV-05596. This is stated as a purported class
action alleging a violation of the North Carolina Interest Statutes and Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act
when the secondary mortgage loans were originated by the defendants.

All of the purported class action lawsuits are similar in nature in that they allege that the mortgage loan
originators violated the respective state’s statutes by charging excessive fees and costs when making second
mortgage loans on residential real estate. The complaints allege that IFC was a purchaser, and is a holder, along
with other IMH-related entities, of second mortgage loans originated by other lenders. The plaintiffs in the
lawsuits are seeking damages that include disgorgement, restitution, rescission, actual damages, statutory damages,
exemplary damages, and punitive damages. Damages are unspecified in each of the complaints.

Additionally, on November 26, 2001, a complaint captioned Sumner N. Doxie v. Impac Funding Corp. was
filed in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois as Case No. 01L015153, which was subsequently removed to
the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, as Case No. 01C9835. This
is stated as a purported class action alleging consumer fraud in connection with the defendant’s practice of
charging appraisal review fees on its mortgage loans, and alleging violations of the lllinois Consumer Fraud Act
for the unauthorized practice of law by performing document preparation services for a fee in connection with its
mortgage loans. The plaintiffs in the lawsuit are seeking damages that include punitive damages, compensatory
damages, attorney’s fees, and litigation costs.

The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the above claims and intends to defend these claims
vigorously. Nevertheless, litigation is uncertain, and the Company may not prevail in the lawsuits and can express
no opinion as to its ultimate outcome. :

The Company is a party to litigation and claims, which are normal in the course of its operations. While the
results of such litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company believes the final outcome of
such matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Note L—Retained Interests in Securitizations

During 2001, IFC sold $1.7 billion of mortgage loans through the issuance of REMIC securitizations. IFC sold
to third party investors all mortgage-backed securitizs and MSRs created from REMICs at the time of
securitization. However, IFC retained master servicing fees on all securitizations by virtue of its responsibilities as
master servicer. IFC generally earns 0.03% per annum on the declining principal balance of loans master serviced.
The value of master servicing fees is subject to prepayment and interest rate risks on the transferred financial
assets. The retained interest in master servicing fees is included in mortgage servicing rights on the balance sheet.
During 2001, the fair value assigned to the retained interest in master servicing fees at the date of securitization
was $2.9 million.

IFC uses certain assumptions and estimates in determining the fair value allocated to the retained interest at
the time of initial sale and each subsequent sale in accordance with SFAS 140. These assumptions and estimates
include projections for loan prepayment rates and disccunt rates commensurate with the risks involved. These
assumptions are reviewed periodically by management. If these assumptions change, the related asset and income
would be affected. At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the carrying amount and estimated fair value of MSRs was
$8.5 million and $10.9 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2001, IFC had $174.2 million of mortgage loans
held-for-sale that were available for securitization.




IMPAC FUNDING CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note M—Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)
Selected quarterly financial data for 2001 follows (in thousands):

For the Three Months Ended,
December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,

Net interest iNCOME..........ocovviereerrereeeriiree et e $ 1,597 § 940 § 479 § 294
NON-INLErest INCOME ......oovvereeveerirrererereeereevieereceeeeeearneenas 18,518 13,140 13,709 8,727
Non-interest expense, including income taxes ................ 17,029 10,991 10,639 7,723
NEt BATNUNGS ....vveevieeveieiere et e s 3,086 3,089 3,549 1,298

Selected quarterly financial data for 2000 follows (in thousands):

For the Three Months Ended,
December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,

Net interest inCome (EXPENSe) .........covvvverarerrririerrenrasennns 3 (460) $ (325) $ 93 8§ (715)
Non-interest MCOME .....ecovveeviiree e vtere et 8,502 6,291 5,545 6,780
Non-interest expense, including income taxes ................ 8,872 5,822 7,144 5,653
Net earnings (10S8).....occvveceveimreerie e (830) 144 (1,506) 412
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